

Chief Editor: Prof. Dr. Carsten Schwarz

Co-Editors: Prof. Dr. Isabelle Sermet-Gaudelus Prof. Dr. Dorota Sands Prof. Dr. Daniel Peckham

June 2024

© 2024 European Cystic Fibrosis Society. All rights reserved.

No part of this book may be reproduced, transmitted or stored in an information retrieval system in any form or by any means, graphic, electronic or mechanical, including photoco-pying, taping and recording, without prior written permission from the publisher.

European Cystic Fibrosis Society Kastanieparken 7 7470 Karup Denmark www.ecfs.eu

ISBN XXXX



Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chief Editor: Prof. Dr. Carsten Schwarz

Co-Editors:

Prof. Dr. Isabelle Sermet-Gaudelus Prof. Dr. Dorota Sands Prof. Dr. Daniel Peckham

June 2024

Contents

Contents

List of contributors	6			
Foreword from ECFS president	13			
Chapter 1 Inflammation and CFTR dysfunction David P. Nichols, Michael Konstan, Thomas J. Kelly				
Chapter 2 Airway epithelial cells for cystic fibrosis studies Margarida D. Amaral, Violeta Railean, Cláudia S. Rodrigues, Ines Pankonien	29			
Chapter 3 Macrophages in cystic fibrosis Clemente J. Britto, Emanuela M. Bruscia, Tracey L. Bonfield	45			
Chapter 4 Regulation of immune protection and pathology by CD4+ T cells in people with cyst- ic fibrosis Alexander Scheffol, Petra Bacher	69			
Chapter 5 Airway smooth muscle cells in cystic fibrosis pathophysiology <i>Carlos M. Farinha</i>	79			
Chapter 6 Lipid mediators in cystic fibrosis: from pathophysiological roles to therapeutic opportunities Antonio Recchiuti, Giulia Ferri, Matteo Mucci, Domenico Mattoscio, Roberto Plebani, Mario Romano	89			
Chapter 7 Anti-inflammatory therapeutic approaches Mairead Kelly, Isabelle Sermet-Gaudelus	109			
Chapter 8 CFTR modulators and inflammation Daniel Peckham, Jochen G. Mainz, Isabelle Fajac	125			
Chapter 9 Animal models to study inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis Debananda Gogoi, Azeez Yusuf, Rory Baird, Noel G. McElvaney, Michelle Casey, Emer P. Reeves	137			
Chapter 10 Epidemiology of airway infection in cystic fibrosis Carsten Schwarz	151			
Chapter 11 Microbiome and CFTR modulator therapy Éva Bernadett Bényei, Sébastien Boutin, Anand Shah, Martin Welch, Emem-Fong Ukor	159			
Chapter 12 Detecting bacteria Dervla Kenna, Michael Hogardt	171			

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Contents

Chapter 13 Detecting fungi Ewa Romanowska, Jean-Philippe Bouchara, Michaela Lackner	183			
Chapter 14 Detecting viruses Zoltán Bánki, David Bante, Markus Nagl				
Chapter 15 Eradication strategies for Pseudomonas aeruginosa Alexander Yule, Giovanni Taccetti, Jane C. Davies, Alan R. Smyth	207			
Chapter 16 Suppression therapy for chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa Emem-Fong Ukor, Nicholas J. Simmonds	217			
Chapter 17 <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> in the airways of people with cystic fibrosis Kevin Southern and Marianne Muhlebach	233			
Chapter 18 Nontuberculous mycobacteria in cystic fibrosis Tavs Qvist, Astrid Lewin	249			
Chapter 19 Other bacteria Kate Hill, Marianne Skov, Tacjana Pressler	259			
Chapter 20 Treating bronchopulmonary exacerbations due to bacteria Barry Plant, Patrick A. Flume	273			
Chapter 21 Measuring response to treatment of bronchopulmonary exacerbations due to bacteria Isabelle Sermet-Gaudelus, Patience Eschenhagen, Pierre-Régis-Burgel	285			
Chapter 22 Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis (ABPA) in cystic fibrosis Malena Cohen-Cymberknoh, Silvia Gartner	295			
Chapter 23 Fungal bronchitis in cystic fibrosis Peter Barry, Dorota Sands, Andrew Jones	305			
Chapter 24 Pulmonary fungal infections in cystic fibrosis Carsten Schwarz, Amparo Solé, Christian Benden	315			

List of contributors

List of contributors

Alan R. Smyth

Dean and Head of School of Medicine, Dentistry and Biomedical Sciences, Queen's University Belfast, Honorary Professor of Child Health, University of Nottingham and Nottingham NIHR Biomedical Research Centre

Alexander Scheffold

Christian-Albrechts-University of Kiel & UKSH Schleswig-Holstein, Kiel, Germany

Alexander Yule

Lifespan and Population Health, School of Medicine, University of Nottingham, Queens Medical Centre, Nottingham, United Kingdom and Nottingham NIHR Biomedical Research Centre, Queens Medical Centre, Nottingham, United Kingdom

Amparo Solé

Lung Transplant and Cystic Fibrosis, University Hospital la FE. Universitat de Valencia, Valencia, Spain

Anand Shah

Department of Respiratory Medicine, Royal Brompton Hospital, Guy's and St. Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom and MRC Centre of Global Infectious Disease Analysis, Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, School of Public Health, Imperial College London, United Kingdom

Andrew Jones

Manchester Adult CF Centre, Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Manchester, United Kingdom

Antonio Recchiuti

Department of Medical, Oral, and Biotechnology Science, "G. d'Annunzio" University Chieti, Italy

Astrid Lewin

Unit 16 Mycotic and Parasitic Agents and Mycobacteria, Robert Koch Institute, Seestr. 10, Berlin, Germany

Azeez Yusuf

Irish Centre for Genetic Lung Disease, Department of Medicine, RCSI University of Medicine and Health Sciences, Beaumont Hospital, Dublin, Ireland

Barry Plant

Department of Medicine, University College Cork, Cork, Ireland

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

List of contributors

Carlos M. Farinha

BioISI – Biosystems & Integrative Sciences Institute, Faculty of Sciences, University of Lisboa, Campo Grande, 1749-016 Lisboa, Portugal

Carsten Schwarz

Cystic Fibrosis Center WB Potsdam, Division Cystic Fibrosis, HMU - Health and Medical University Potsdam, Germany

Christian Benden

Medical Faculty, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Cláudia S. Rodrigues

BioISI – Biosystems and Integrative Sciences Institute, Faculty of Sciences, University of Lisboa, Campo Grande C8 bdg, 1749-016 Lisboa, Portugal

Clemente J. Britto

Adult Cystic Fibrosis Program, Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, Department of Internal of Internal Medicine, Yale University School of Medicine. New Haven, Connecticut, USA

Domenico Mattoscio

Department of Medical, Oral, and Biotechnology Science, "G. d'Annunzio" University Chieti, Italy

Daniel Peckham

Leeds Institute of Medical Research at St James's, University of Leeds, Leeds, United Kingdom and Leeds Adult Cystic Fibrosis Unit, St James's University Hospital, Leeds, United Kingdom

David P. Nichols

University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle, USA

David Bante

Institute of Virology, Medical University of Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria

Debananda Gogoi

Pulmonary Clinical Science, Department of Anaesthesia and Critical Care Medicine, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, Beaumont Hospital, Dublin, Ireland

Dervla Kenna

Antimicrobial Resistance and Healthcare Associated Infections Unit-Reference Services, United Kingdom Health Security Agency, London, United Kingdom

Dorota Sands

Cystic Fibrosis Centre, Institute of Mother and Child, Warsaw, Poland

List of contributors

Emanuela M. Bruscia Departments of Pediatrics, Yale School of Medicine, New Haven, USA

Emem-Fong Ukor

Adult Cystic Fibrosis Centre, Royal Brompton Hospital, Guy's and St. Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom

Emer P. Reeves

Pulmonary Clinical Science, Department of Anaesthesia and Critical Care Medicine, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, Beaumont Hospital, Dublin, Ireland

Éva Bernadett Bényei

Department of Biochemistry, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

Ewa Romanowska

HMU-Health and Medical University Potsdam, Division Cystic Fibrosis, Clinic Westbrandenburg, Potsdam Germany

Giovanni Taccetti

Meyer Children's Hospital IRCCS, Cystic Fibrosis Regional Reference Centre, University of Florence, Italy

Giulia Ferri Department of Medical, Oral, and Biotechnology Science, "G. d'Annunzio" University Chieti , Italy

Ines Pankonien

BioISI – Biosystems and Integrative Sciences Institute, Faculty of Sciences, University of Lisboa, Campo Grande C8 bdg, 1749-016 Lisboa, Portugal

Isabelle Sermet-Gaudelus

INSERM U1151, Paris Cité University, Paris, France and Pediatric department, APHP-Necker Hospital, Paris, France

Isabelle Fajac

AP-HP. Centre - Université Paris Cité; Hôpital Cochin, Centre de Référence Maladie Rare- Mucoviscidose, Paris, France

Jane C. Davies

National Heart and Lung Institute, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom and Royal Brompton Hospital, Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom

Jean-Philippe Bouchara

Angers University, Brest University, IRF, Angers University Hospital, SFR ICAT, Angers, France

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

List of contributors

Jochen G. Mainz

Brandenburg Medical School (MHB) University, Cystic Fibrosis Center, Klinikum Westbrandenburg, Brandenburg an der Havel, Germany

Kate Hill

Northern Ireland Clinical Research Facility, Wellcome-Wolfson Institute for Experimental Medicine, Queen's University, U Floor, City Hospital, Lisburn Road, Northern Ireland

Kevin W. Southern

Department of Women's and Children's Health, University of Liverpool, Institute in the Park, Alder Hey Children's Hospital, Liverpool, United Kingdom

Mairead Kelly INSERM U1151, Paris Cité University, Paris, France

Malena Cohen-Cymberknoh

Pediatric Pulmonary Unit and Cystic Fibrosis Center, Hadassah Medical Center and Faculty of Medicine, Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Israel

Margarida D. Amaral

BioISI – Biosystems and Integrative Sciences Institute, Faculty of Sciences, University of Lisboa, Campo Grande C8 bdg, 1749-016 Lisboa, Portugal

Marianne Skov

Cystic Fibrosis Center, Department of Paediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark

Marianne S. Muhlebach Dept of Pediatrics & Marisco Lung Institute, University of North Carolina Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, USA

Mario Romano

Department of Medical, Oral, and Biotechnology Science, "G. d'Annunzio" University Chieti, Italy

Markus Nagl

Institute of Hygiene and Medical Microbiology, Medical University of Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria

Martin Welch

Department of Biochemistry, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

Matteo Mucci Department of Medical, Oral, and Biotechnology Science, "G. d'Annunzio" University Chieti, Italy

Michael W. Konstan

Case Western Reserve University School of Medicine, Cleveland, USA

List of contributors

Michael Hogardt

Institute for Medical Microbiology and Infection Control, University Hospital Frankfurt, Goethe University, Frankfurt am Main, Germany. German National Consiliary Laboratory on Cystic Fibrosis Bacteriology, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Michaela Lackner

Mycology Research Group, Institute for Hygiene and Medical Microbiology, Medical University of Innsbruck (MUI), Austria

Michelle Casey

Irish Centre for Genetic Lung Disease, Department of Medicine, RCSI University of Medicine and Health Sciences Dublin, Ireland, and Beaumont Adult Cystic Fibrosis Unit, Beaumont Hospital, Dublin, Ireland

Nicholas J. Simmonds

Adult Cystic Fibrosis Centre, Royal Brompton Hospital and Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom

Noel G. McElvaney

Irish Centre for Genetic Lung Disease, Department of Medicine, RCSI University of Medicine and Health Sciences Dublin, Ireland, and Beaumont Adult Cystic Fibrosis Unit, Beaumont Hospital, Dublin, Ireland

Patience Eschenhagen

Klinikum Westbrandenburg, CF-Zentrum Potsdam, Germany

Patrick A. Flume

Departments of Medicine and Pediatrics, Medical University of South Carolina, USA

Peter Barry

Manchester Adult CF Centre, Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Manchester, United Kingdom

Petra Bacher

Institute of Clinical Molecular Biology, Christian-Albrechts-University of Kiel, Kiel, Germany and Institute of Immunology, Christian-Albrechts-University of Kiel & UKSH Schleswig-Holstein, Kiel, Germany

Pierre-Régis Burgel

INSERM U1016, Institut Cochin, Hôpital Cochin, Assistance Publique Hôpitaux de Paris, Université de Paris, France

Roberto Plebani

Department of Medical, Oral, and Biotechnology Science, "G. d'Annunzio" University Chieti, Italy

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

List of contributors

Rory Baird

Pulmonary Clinical Science, Department of Anaesthesia and Critical Care Medicine, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, Beaumont Hospital, Dublin, Ireland

Sébastien Boutin

Department of Infectious Diseases and Microbiology, University of Lübeck, Lübeck, Germany and German Center for Lung Research (DZL), Airway Research Center North (ARCN), Germany

Silvia Gartner

Pediatric Pulmonary Unit and Cystic Fibrosis Center, Hospital Universitari Vall d' Hebron, Barcelona, Spain

Tacjana Pressler

Cystic Fibrosis Center, Department of Paediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark and Department of Infectious Diseases, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark

Tavs Qvist

Cystic Fibrosis Center Copenhagen, Department of Infectious Diseases, Copenhagen University Hospital – Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark

Thomas J. Kelley

Case Western Reserve University School of Medicine, Cleveland, USA

Tracey L. Bonfield

Department of Genetics and Genome Science, Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland Ohio, 44106, USA

Violeta Railean

BioISI – Biosystems and Integrative Sciences Institute, Faculty of Sciences, University of Lisboa, Campo Grande C8 bdg, 1749-016 Lisboa, Portugal

Zoltán Bánki

Institute of Virology, Medical University of Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria

Introduction

Foreword from ECFS president

The European Cystic Fibrosis Society (ECFS) has a proud track record of supporting our clinical and research community with concise and timely published books, each focussing on a specific area of CF. The initiative began in 2012 with 'Healthcare issues and challenges in adolescents with cystic fibrosis' followed by 'Living with Cystic Fibrosis' (2015), 'The early cystic fibrosis years' (2018) and 'Optimising pharmaceutical care' (2020).

The advances of the last few years in the treatment of cystic fibrosis are leading many to enjoy healthier and longer lives. However, despite the impacts CFTR modulators have on lung function, exacerbation rates and quality of life, most studies show that chronic infection and inflammation remain a clinical challenge. This area was therefore chosen as the topic for our latest book in the series, in which fundamental scientific and clinical experts have come together to highlight advances and remaining areas in need of research.

The book takes the reader through basic science of inflammation, cellular biology and the role of CFTR. I found it particularly refreshing to see chapters devoted to macrophages, T cells and smooth muscle cells, in addition to valuable updates on respiratory epithelial cells and neutrophils. Animal models useful for studies of inflammation, the clinical development of anti-inflammatory therapies and the effects of CFTR modulators then lead into the second half of the book with more of an infection focus. People with CF acquire a multitude of pathogens, the clinical impacts of which may differ, as do the treatments. There is a strong focus on detection, an area of increasing clinical challenge as so many people no longer expectorate sputum.

The ECFS is hugely appreciative of all the authors contributing to the book, and wish particularly to thank Carsten Schwarz, Isabelle Sermet-Gaudelus, Dorota Sands and Daniel Peckham for their leadership as the editorial team. We are sure this book will prove an invaluable learning and reference resource and are very pleased to offer it to our members.

Jane C. Davies ECFS President

Chapter 1 Inflammation and CFTR dysfunction

Authors

David P. Nichols, Michael W. Konstan, Thomas J. Kelly

Introduction

Inflammation is an important pathological feature of many systemic diseases and contributes to morbidity such as pain, tissue damage, bone loss, airway and vascular remodeling. In cystic fibrosis (CF), inflammation is an early manifestation that persists not only as a functional host response but also as an excessive, dysregulated, and injurious feature of CF [1]. In several cell types and organs, inflammation has been directly linked to the primary cellular abnormality in CF; dysfunctional or absent cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) protein. Inflammation in CF is also a response to other disease complications, particularly chronic mucostasis and bacterial infection in the airway. Related abnormalities in the sinuses and gastrointestinal tract similarly promote inflammation, which may further impair localized upper airway and intestinal clearance, thus worsening dysbiosis in a positive feedback cycle [2-4].

Inflammation at mucosal surfaces in CF has been described as having a chronic acute phenotype, reflecting a dominance of neutrophils and pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. This pattern is more typical of a transient, acute inflammatory host response that progresses to a state of resolution, typified by macrophages and regulatory signaling. However, the homeostatic transition to resolution of inflammation is impaired in CF, probably due to both the direct and indirect consequences of CFTR dysfunction. A persistent, neutrophil-dominated environment results in free proteases (e.g. neutrophil elastase) and other components that may contribute to tissue damage. In addition, leukocytes frequently necrose to release intracellular contents such as neutrophil-derived DNA into the local mucosal environment [5, 6]. Free DNA in the airways increases viscosity of mucous secretions. This manifestation of dysregulated airway inflammation is targeted by inhaled dornase alfa. a recombinant form of DNase that cleaves DNA into smaller fragments and reduces the viscosity of airway secretions [7]. Dornase alfa was the first therapy developed specifically for pwCF [8, 9].

Therapies directly focused on reducing or altering the host inflammatory response in CF have been part of drug development efforts for decades [1]. There have been successes, even though it is more complicated to pharmacologically mitigate inflammation in a condition also characterized by chronic bacterial infection and risk of immunocompromise. High-dose ibuprofen was one of the earliest anti-inflammatory approaches, and was shown to be effective in children with CF [10-13]. Chronic macrolide treatment with azithromycin, which appears to reduce inflammation through pleotropic yet uncertain effects, is another therapy proven effective in pwCF, primarily in those with P. aeruginosa airway infection [14-18]. Long-term use of systemic corticosteroids was effective at reducing pulmonary disease but often resulted in intolerable side effects and is not commonly used today [19].

Clinical trials and/or real-world clinical use of dornase alfa [9], high-dose ibuprofen [9, 12, 13], and chronic azithromycin [17] have all demonstrated that chronic treatment slows lung function decline in CF. This underscores an important role for inflammation in the pathophysiology of CF lung disease. However, the mechanism(s) by which anti-inflammatory therapies protect against loss of lung function are uncertain. Correcting the underlying defect in CF through the use of CFTR modulators is expected to decrease the downstream effects of absent or abnormal CFTR in the CF lung, including airway obstruction, infection and inflammation. Thus, one would expect that benefits would include slowing the progression of lung disease, as measured by loss of lung function over time. Real-world clinical evidence has shown slower loss of lung function over time with both ivacaftor and elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor (ETI) [20, 21]. It is difficult to discern how much of this effect is due to targeting inflammation, either directly or indirectly. However, there are data indicating that these modulators improve the inflammatory state [22-27].

1.1 The airway environment

Therapeutically targeting inflammation in CF requires an understanding of the relationship between CFTR function and the inflammatory response.

The first obvious relationship between CFTR function and inflammation is the impact of impaired CFTR activity on the lung environment. Mutations in *CFTR* lead to impaired ion transport and fluid regulation in the airways resulting in poor mucociliary clearance, obstructed airways and progressively chronic bacterial infections. Chronic infection certainly provides a persistent inflammatory stimulus that can account for CF

inflammatory responses, but multiple studies conducted early in life indicate that chronic infection is not required to observe elevated inflammatory markers in the airways [28, 29]. Studies in very young children find increased inflammation even when infection cannot be identified, which may relate to altered mucin properties and localized hypoxic conditions in the airway [30, 31]. Studies in older children and adults with CF similarly find altered mucins likely interacting with chronic infection and inflammation in the airway [31, 32]. Likewise, animal studies have shown that CF-absent or -deficient models challenged with bacteria in the airways display more aggressive or prolonged inflammatory responses than paired non-CF controls [33]. Non-microbial factors also contribute to the CF inflammatory response.

The altered airway mucus environment has been shown to contribute to CF airway inflammation. The most direct study of this phenomenon involves the development of the BENaC overexpressing mouse. This mouse model presents the phenotype of sodium hyperabsorption characteristic of CF airways, resulting in impaired mucociliary clearance and mucus accumulation. These mice have normally functioning CFTR but display chronic airway inflammation in the absence of detectable bacterial infection, strongly suggesting that impaired mucociliary clearance is an important factor of the inflammatory response [34-36]. The CF ferret model also displays poor airway clearance. Chronically treating the CF ferrets with antibiotics from birth to suppress airway infections revealed that these ferrets still displayed baseline inflammation [37].

1.2 Endoplasmic reticulum stress response

Though infection and poor mucociliary clearance are fundamentally linked with the CF air-

Chapter 1 - Inflammation and CFTR dysfunction

way inflammatory phenotype, evidence also suggests an inherent effect of lost CFTR function on epithelial inflammatory signaling pathways. Murine studies demonstrate increased airway inflammation after bacterial challenge in CF mice of multiple CFTR mutations compared to control animals of the same genetic background [38-43]. Unlike the βENaC overexpressing mice, CFTR-deficient mice do not exhibit overt mucus accumulation or airway obstruction, suggesting that there are intrinsic cellular factors related to CFTR function that influence inflammatory responses. Evidence from various immortalized and primary cell models identified elevated inflammatory signaling in CF cells, again suggesting more inherent intracellular factors are important, although contradictory results have been published with cell models [38-43].

The first mechanism proposed to link mutations in CFTR to inflammation focused on the misfolding of the CFTR protein in response to the F508del mutation. The hypothesis was that endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress from the accumulation of misfolded F508del CFTR triggers the unfolded protein response (UPR) and elevates inflammatory signaling. Expression of F508del CFTR in immortalized Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells was sufficient to stimulate NF-kB activity and inflammatory cytokine production [38-43]. Though the ER stress response is certainly a pro-inflammatory stimulus, similar inflammatory responses are seen in CF models of genotypes that do not result in CFTR misfolding. Markers of ER stress are also seen in mouse models lacking any CFTR expression at all (i.e. CFTR-null) suggesting that the UPR response is not required to link CFTR to altered intracellular signaling [44]. Oxidative stress pathways also significantly contribute to CF inflammation, particularly through nuclear factor E2-related factor-2 (Nrf2) signaling. Reduced Nrf2 activation and nuclear localization in CF cells increases production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) production [45].

Interventions targeting Nrf2 activation with triterpenoid compounds effectively reversed inflammatory signaling in preclinical CF models [46]. A recent study found that CFTR modulator therapy restored Nrf2 signaling [47].

1.3 Calcium signaling

Calcium signaling in epithelial cells may be an important link between the airway surface condition and ER stress response in CF epithelial cells. The hypothesis arises from observations that components of supernatant from CF mucopurulent material (SMM) initiate ER calcium expansion, resulting in ER stress and subsequent UPR signaling, leading to the inflammatory phenotype [38, 40, 48, 49]. This hypothesis combines the impact of CFTR dysfunction influencing calcium regulation in CF cells and how the local environment triggers this pathway. Current studies are investigating components of the ER stress response, such as IRE1, as potential anti-inflammatory therapies.

1.4 Other pathways influencing CF inflammatory signaling

Other factors and pathways have been identified that appear to influence CF inflammatory responses, though the direct link to CFTR function is not always clear. Multiple lipid pathways have been shown to be involved in inflammation signaling or in the resolution of inflammation, and lipid imbalances exist in the serum of people with CF (pwCF). More recent studies identified elevated arachidonic acid (AA) levels coupled with deficiencies in docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) production. DHA has known anti-inflammatory pathways, and its deficiency is a reasonable contributor to airway inflammation in CF. Mouse and cell studies show potential efficacy of DHA

supplementation to controlling some aspects of the inflammatory response [50-53]. Human clinical trials testing DHA supplementation have not clearly shown benefit, unfortunately.

The cholesterol pathway has also been implicated in CF inflammatory signaling. In CF epithelial cells, cholesterol abnormally accumulates in the perinuclear region in late endosomes/ lysosomes [54, 55]. Consequently, *de novo* cholesterol synthesis is upregulated. This has also been observed *in vivo* with a 2-fold increase in synthesis rates seen in the lungs and livers of CF mice [55]. Inhibiting the elevated cholesterol synthesis with statins reduced inflammatory signaling in CF cell models and could represent another avenue of anti-inflammatory therapy [56].

The IFN-γ/STAT1 pathway was influenced by statin exposure in CF cells, and impaired STAT1 activation was restored by inhibiting cholesterol synthesis, likely through a mechanism involving RhoA GTPase [56]. Additional work found that restoring STAT1 signaling in primary CF bronchial epithelial cells was important to anti-viral responses, underscoring the potential significance of this pathway [57].

Two mechanisms have been proposed to explain the accumulation of cholesterol in CF cells. The first mechanism is related to the ER stress pathway described above. CHO cells exogenously expressing F508del CFTR exhibited cholesterol accumulation while cells expressing a non-folding mutation such as G551D did not [58]. A second mechanism involves altered microtubule regulation in CF cells. Key to these changes is reduced tubulin acetylation, which can be corrected by inhibiting the tubulin deacetylase cytoplasmic histone deacetylase 6 (HDAC6). Inhibition of HDAC6 restores microtubule acetvlation and endosomal transport resulting in the normal distribution of cholesterol and normalization of inflammatory signaling pathways in CF cell models [44]. Depletion of HDAC6 expression in CF mice has multiple effects including better growth and eliminating CF-like inflammatory responses to airway bacterial challenge [59]. Microtubule function can certainly influence multiple cellular functions and may impact other inflammatory cell types.

The resolution of inflammation appears to be impaired in CF. Two lipid mediators that are known to promote the resolution of the inflammatory response, lipoxin A4 and resolvin D1, have been shown to be deficient in CF airways. Lipoxin A4 levels were found specifically to be deficient in CF airway fluid. CF mouse studies testing administration of lipoxin A4 found improved inflammatory resolution, identifying this pathway as a potential therapeutic target [60, 61]. Other CF mouse studies found that resolvin D1. a DHA-derived lipid that is also important to dampening inflammatory responses, also shows efficacy in controlling aggressive inflammation [62-64]. These data demonstrate therapeutic potential for supplementing or altering the status of lipid mediators, although human trials have not yet proven clinical benefit [65]. Modulating lipid balance using the small molecule compound fenretinide, an inhibitor of de novo ceramide synthesis, has been shown to have anti-inflammatory properties and to impact lipid balance in CF models [66-69]. Clinical studies are examining the efficacy of this treatment.

1.5 CFTR and inflammation in non-epithelial cells

Most studies of CFTR function and inflammation have focused on epithelial cell biology and cytokine production. Recent studies, however, have examined the impact of impaired CFTR activity on leukocytes. A clear example of non-epithelial involvement in the CF inflammatory responses is seen in a study where CFTR ex-

Chapter 1 - Inflammation and CFTR dysfunction

pression was conditionally knocked-out of myeloid cells in mice. These myeloid-specific *CFTR* knockout mice displayed CF-like inflammatory responses in response to bacterial challenge [70]. More specifically, accumulating evidence indicates that macrophage function is adversely affected in response to *CFTR* mutation and may improve with CFTR modulator treatment [71-73]. Toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 trafficking may be impaired in CF macrophages, which could increase pro-inflammatory cytokine production [74]. The CFTR/TLR4 pathway has also been shown to regulate anti-bacterial responses of macrophages [75].

CFTR has also been implicated in neutrophil function. Identified abnormalities in neutrophil degranulation improved with CFTR modulator drugs [24]. Lymphocyte function, and especially T cells, have also been reported as abnormal in CF. CFTR expression can be identified in CD4+ T cells, and F508del CFTR expression leads to reduced expression of the anti-inflammatory cvtokine IL 10 [76]. Most CF studies focus on regulatory T-lymphocytes (Treg) cells and TH17 cells. Treg cells are suppressed in CF in both mouse models and in human clinical studies. This is relevant since Tregs work to suppress, among other T-lymphocytes, Th17 cell responses [77, 78]. The imbalance between Tregs and Th17 cells results in excessive IL-17 production in CF airways, contributing to neutrophil recruitment [79, 80]. CFTR has a functional role in several cell types beyond the epithelium, suggesting that therapies rescuing CFTR function may have broad effects on host response.

1.6 Conclusion

Chronic lung inflammation is a hallmark of CF, leading to lung damage that remains an important pathologic feature of this disease. Thus, much effort has been expended over the years to develop anti-inflammatory therapies to decrease inflammation in the CF lung, with the aim of slowing or halting disease progression. Although some approaches show promise, a better understanding is sorely needed of how abnormal or absent CFTR causes an excessive inflammatory response to infection, but also promotes inflammation even in the absence of infection. In this opening chapter, we discuss the airway environment and several of the mechanistic pathways that influence inflammation, including many with direct links to CFTR. The following chapters explore these mechanisms in greater detail and shed further light on therapeutic targets and approaches to combat inflammation.

Bibliography

- Roesch EA, Nichols DP, Chmiel JF. Inflammation in cystic fibrosis: an update. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2018;53:S30–50. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.24129
- [2] Kimple AJ, Senior BA, Naureckas ET, Gudis DA, Meyer T, Hempstead SE, et al. Cystic Fibrosis Foundation otolaryngology care multidisciplinary consensus recommendations. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. 2022;12:1089–103. DOI:10.1002/alr.22974
- [3] Tam RY, van Dorst JM, McKay I, Coffey M, Ooi CY. Intestinal inflammation and alterations in the gut microbiota in cystic fibrosis: a review of the current evidence, pathophysiology and future directions. J Clin Med. 2022;11:649. DOI:10.3390/jcm11030649
- [4] Nichols DP, Chmiel JF. Inflammation and its genesis in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2015;50:S39–56. DOI:10.1002/ppul.23242
- [5] Keown K, Brown R, Doherty DF, Houston C, McKelvey MC, Creane S, et al. Airway inflammation and host responses in the era of CFTR modulators. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21:6379. DOI:10.3390/ijms21176379
- [6] McElvaney OJ, Wade P, Murphy M, Reeves EP, McElvaney NG. Targeting airway inflammation in cystic fibrosis. Expert Rev Respir Med. 2019;13:1041–55. DOI:10.1080/17476348. 2019.1666715
- [7] Shak S, Capon DJ, Hellmiss R, Marsters SA, Baker CL. Recombinant human DNase I reduces the viscosity of cystic fibrosis sputum. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1990;87:9188– 92. DOI:10.1073/pnas.87.23.9188

- [8] Fuchs HJ, Borowitz DS, Christiansen DH, Morris EM, Nash ML, Ramsey BW, et al. Effect of aerosolized recombinant human DNase on exacerbations of respiratory symptoms and on pulmonary function in patients with cystic fibrosis. The Pulmozyme Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1994;331:637–42. DOI:10.1056/ nejm199409083311003
- [9] Konstan MW, Wagener JS, Pasta DJ, Millar SJ, Jacobs JR, Yegin A, et al. Clinical use of dornase alpha is associated with a slower rate of FEV₁ decline in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2011;46:545–53. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.21388
- [10] Konstan MW, Byard PJ, Hoppel CL, Davis PB. Effect of high-dose ibuprofen in patients with cystic fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 1995;332:848–54. DOI:10.1056/ nejm199503303321303
- [11] Konstan MW, Schluchter MD, Xue W, Davis PB. Clinical use of Ibuprofen is associated with slower FEV₁ decline in children with cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2007;176:1084–9. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200702-1810C
- [12] Konstan MW, VanDevanter DR, Sawicki GS, Pasta DJ, Foreman AJ, Neiman EA, et al. Association of high-dose ibuprofen use, lung function decline, and long-term survival in children with cystic fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2018;15:485–93. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201706-4860C
- [13] Lands LC, Milner R, Cantin AM, Manson D, Corey M. High-dose ibuprofen in cystic fibrosis: Canadian safety and effectiveness trial. J Pediatr. 2007;151:249–54. DOI:10.1016/j. jpeds.2007.04.009
- [14] Mayer-Hamblett N, Retsch-Bogart G, Kloster M, Accurso F, Rosenfeld M, Albers G, et al. Azithromycin for early Pseudomonas infection in cystic fibrosis. The optimize randomized trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2018;198:1177–87. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201802-0215OC

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 1 - Inflammation and CFTR dysfunction

- [15] Saiman L, Mayer-Hamblett N, Anstead M, Lands LC, Kloster M, Goss CH, et al. Open-label, follow-on study of azithromycin in pediatric patients with CF uninfected with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2012;47:641–8. DOI:10.1002/ppul.21601
- [16] Clement A, Tamalet A, Leroux E, Ravilly S, Fauroux B, Jais JP. Long term effects of azithromycin in patients with cystic fibrosis: a double blind, placebo controlled trial. Thorax. 2006;61:895–902. DOI:10.1136/ thx.2005.057950
- [17] Nichols DP, Odem-Davis K, Cogen JD, Goss CH, Ren CL, Skalland M, et al. Pulmonary outcomes associated with long-term azithromycin therapy in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2020;201:430–7. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201906-12060C
- [18] Denis A, Touzet S, Diabaté L, Durieu I, Lemonnier L, Poupon-Bourdy S, et al. Quantifying long-term changes in lung function and exacerbations after initiation of azithromycin in cystic fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2020;17:195–201. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201812-8820C
- [19] Cheng K, Ashby D, Smyth RL. Oral steroids for long-term use in cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;2015:Cd000407. DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD000407.pub4
- [20] Volkova N, Moy K, Evans J, Campbell D, Tian S, Simard C, et al. Disease progression in patients with cystic fibrosis treated with ivacaftor: data from national US and UK registries. J Cyst Fibros. 2020;19:68–79. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2019.05.015
- [21] Lee T, Sawicki GS, Altenburg J, Millar SJ, Geiger JM, Jennings MT, et al. Effect of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor on annual rate of lung function decline in people with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2023;22:402–6. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2022.12.009

- [22] Hisert KB, Heltshe SL, Pope C, Jorth P, Wu X, Edwards RM, et al. Restoring cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator function reduces airway bacteria and inflammation in people with cystic fibrosis and chronic lung infections. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2017;195:1617–28. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.201609-1954OC
- [23] Gabillard-Lefort C, Casey M, Glasgow AMA, Boland F, Kerr O, Marron E, et al. Trikafta rescues CFTR and lowers monocyte P2X7R-induced inflammasome activation in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2022;205:783–94. DOI:10.1164/rccm.202106-1426OC
- [24] Pohl K, Hayes E, Keenan J, Henry M, Meleady P, Molloy K, et al. A neutrophil intrinsic impairment affecting Rab27a and degranulation in cystic fibrosis is corrected by CFTR potentiator therapy. Blood. 2014;124:999– 1009. DOI:10.1182/blood-2014-02-555268
- [25] Lepissier A, Bonnel AS, Wizla N, Weiss L, Mittaine M, Bessaci K, et al. Moving the dial on airway inflammation in response to trikafta in adolescents with cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2023;207:792–5. DOI:10.1164/rccm.202210-1938LE
- [26] Sheikh S, Britt RD, Jr., Ryan-Wenger NA, Khan AQ, Lewis BW, Gushue C, et al. Impact of elexacaftor-tezacaftor-ivacaftor on bacterial colonization and inflammatory responses in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2023;58:825–33. DOI:10.1002/ppul.26261
- [27] Westhölter D, Raspe J, Uebner H, Pipping J, Schmitz M, Straßburg S, et al. Regulatory T cell enhancement in adults with cystic fibrosis receiving Elexacaftor/ Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor therapy. Front Immunol. 2023;14:1107437. DOI:10.3389/fimmu.2023.1107437

- [28] Balough K, McCubbin M, Weinberger M, Smits W, Ahrens R, Fick R. The relationship between infection and inflammation in the early stages of lung disease from cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 1995;20:63–70. DOI:10.1002/ppul.1950200203
- [29] Bouzek DC, Abou Alaiwa MH, Adam RJ, Pezzulo AA, Reznikov LR, Cook DP, et al. Early lung disease exhibits bacteria-dependent and -independent abnormalities in cystic fibrosis pigs. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2021;204:692–702. DOI:10.1164/rccm.202102-04510C
- [30] Montgomery ST, Mall MA, Kicic A, Stick SM. Hypoxia and sterile inflammation in cystic fibrosis airways: mechanisms and potential therapies. Eur Respir J. 2017;49:1600903. DOI:10.1183/13993003.00903-2016
- [31] Esther CR, Jr., Muhlebach MS, Ehre C, Hill DB, Wolfgang MC, Kesimer M, et al. Mucus accumulation in the lungs precedes structural changes and infection in children with cystic fibrosis. Sci Transl Med. 2019;11:eaav3488. DOI:10.1126/scitranslmed.aav3488
- [32] Batson BD, Zorn BT, Radicioni G, Livengood SS, Kumagai T, Dang H, et al. Cystic fibrosis airway mucus hyperconcentration produces a vicious cycle of mucin, pathogen, and inflammatory interactions that promotes disease persistence. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2022;67:253–65. DOI:10.1165/rcmb.2021-0359OC
- [33] Keiser NW, Birket SE, Evans IA, Tyler SR, Crooke AK, Sun X, et al. Defective innate immunity and hyperinflammation in newborn cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator-knockout ferret lungs. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2015;52:683–94. DOI:10.1165/ rcmb.2014-02500C

- [34] Livraghi A, Grubb BR, Hudson EJ, Wilkinson KJ, Sheehan JK, Mall MA, et al. Airway and lung pathology due to mucosal surface dehydration in {beta}-epithelial Na+ channel-overexpressing mice: role of TNF-{alpha} and IL-4R{alpha} signaling, influence of neonatal development, and limited efficacy of glucocorticoid treatment. J Immunol. 2009;182:4357–67. DOI:10.4049/jimmunol.0802557
- [35] Mall MA, Harkema JR, Trojanek JB, Treis D, Livraghi A, Schubert S, et al. Development of chronic bronchitis and emphysema in beta-epithelial Na+ channel-overexpressing mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2008;177:730–42. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200708-1233OC
- [36] Zhou Z, Treis D, Schubert SC, Harm M, Schatterny J, Hirtz S, et al. Preventive but not late amiloride therapy reduces morbidity and mortality of lung disease in betaENaC-overexpressing mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2008;178:1245–56. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.200803-442OC
- [37] Rosen BH, Evans TIA, Moll SR, Gray JS, Liang B, Sun X, et al. Infection is not required for mucoinflammatory lung disease in CFTR-Knockout ferrets. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2018;197:1308–18. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201708-1616OC
- [38] Hybiske K, Fu Z, Schwarzer C, Tseng J, Do J, Huang N, et al. Effects of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator and DeltaF508CFTR on inflammatory response, ER stress, and Ca2+ of airway epithelia. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2007;293:L1250–60. DOI:10.1152/ ajplung.00231.2007
- [39] Kerbiriou M, Le Drévo MA, Férec C, Trouvé P. Coupling cystic fibrosis to endoplasmic reticulum stress: Differential role of Grp78 and ATF6. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2007;1772:1236– 49. DOI:10.1016/j.bbadis.2007.10.004

Chapter 1 - Inflammation and CFTR dysfunction

- [40] Martino ME, Olsen JC, Fulcher NB, Wolfgang MC, O'Neal WK, Ribeiro CM. Airway epithelial inflammation-induced endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ store expansion is mediated by X-box binding protein-1. J Biol Chem. 2009;284:14904–13. DOI:10.1074/jbc. M809180200
- [41] Ribeiro CM, Boucher RC. Role of endoplasmic reticulum stress in cystic fibrosis-related airway inflammatory responses. Proc Am Thorac Soc. 2010;7:387–94. DOI:10.1513/ pats.201001-017AW
- [42] Ribeiro CM, O'Neal WK. Endoplasmic reticulum stress in chronic obstructive lung diseases. Curr Mol Med. 2012;12:872–82. DOI:10.2174/156652412801318791
- [43] Weber AJ, Soong G, Bryan R, Saba S, Prince A. Activation of NF-kappaB in airway epithelial cells is dependent on CFTR trafficking and Cl- channel function. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2001;281:L71–8. DOI:10.1152/ ajplung.2001.281.1.L71
- [44] Rymut SM, Harker A, Corey DA, Burgess JD, Sun H, Clancy JP, et al. Reduced microtubule acetylation in cystic fibrosis epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2013;305:L419–31. DOI:10.1152/ ajplung.00411.2012
- [45] Chen J, Kinter M, Shank S, Cotton C, Kelley TJ, Ziady AG. Dysfunction of Nrf-2 in CF epithelia leads to excess intracellular H2O2 and inflammatory cytokine production. PLoS One. 2008;3:e3367. DOI:10.1371/journal. pone.0003367
- [46] Nichols DP, Ziady AG, Shank SL, Eastman JF, Davis PB. The triterpenoid CDDO limits inflammation in preclinical models of cystic fibrosis lung disease. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2009;297:L828–36. DOI:10.1152/ ajplung.00171.2009

- [47] Borcherding DC, Siefert ME, Lin S, Brewington J, Sadek H, Clancy JP, et al. Clinically-approved CFTR modulators rescue Nrf2 dysfunction in cystic fibrosis airway epithelia. J Clin Invest. 2019;129:3448–63. DOI:10.1172/ jci96273
- [48] Ribeiro CM, Paradiso AM, Carew MA, Shears SB, Boucher RC. Cystic fibrosis airway epithelial Ca2+ i signaling: the mechanism for the larger agonist-mediated *Ca2+ i signals* in human cystic fibrosis airway epithelia. J Biol Chem. 2005;280:10202–9. DOI:10.1074/ jbc.M410617200
- [49] Ribeiro CM, Paradiso AM, Schwab U, Perez-Vilar J, Jones L, O'Neal W, et al. Chronic airway infection/inflammation induces a Ca2+i-dependent hyperinflammatory response in human cystic fibrosis airway epithelia. J Biol Chem. 2005;280:17798–806. DOI:10.1074/jbc.M410618200
- [50] Beharry S, Ackerley C, Corey M, Kent G, Heng YM, Christensen H, et al. Long-term docosahexaenoic acid therapy in a congenic murine model of cystic fibrosis. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2007;292:G839– 48. DOI:10.1152/ajpgi.00582.2005
- [51] Freedman SD, Weinstein D, Blanco PG, Martinez-Clark P, Urman S, Zaman M, et al. Characterization of LPS-induced lung inflammation in *cftr-/-* mice and the effect of docosahexaenoic acid. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2002;92:2169–76. DOI:10.1152/japplphysiol.00927.2001
- [52] Leggieri E, De Biase RV, Savi D, Zullo S, Halili I, Quattrucci S. Clinical effects of diet supplementation with DHA in pediatric patients suffering from cystic fibrosis. Minerva Pediatr. 2013;65:389–98.

- [53] Pall H, Zaman MM, Andersson C, Freedman SD. Decreased peroxisome proliferator activated receptor alpha is associated with bile duct injury in cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator-/- mice. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2006;42:275–81. DOI:10.1097/01.mpg.0000189368.37535.42
- [54] White NM, Corey DA, Kelley TJ. Mechanistic similarities between cultured cell models of cystic fibrosis and niemann-pick type C. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2004;31:538–43. DOI:10.1165/rcmb.2004-01170C
- [55] White NM, Jiang D, Burgess JD, Bederman IR, Previs SF, Kelley TJ. Altered cholesterol homeostasis in cultured and *in vivo* models of cystic fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2007;292:L476–86. DOI:10.1152/ ajplung.00262.2006
- [56] Kreiselmeier NE, Kraynack NC, Corey DA, Kelley TJ. Statin-mediated correction of STAT1 signaling and inducible nitric oxide synthase expression in cystic fibrosis epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2003;285:L1286–95.
- [57] Xu W, Zheng S, Goggans TM, Kiser P, Quinones-Mateu ME, Janocha AJ, et al. Cystic fibrosis and normal human airway epithelial cell response to influenza a viral infection. J Interferon Cytokine Res. 2006;26:609–27. DOI:10.1089/jir.2006.26.609
- [58] Gentzsch M, Choudhury A, Chang XB, Pagano RE, Riordan JR. Misassembled mutant DeltaF508 CFTR in the distal secretory pathway alters cellular lipid trafficking. J Cell Sci. 2007;120:447–55. DOI:10.1242/jcs.03350
- [59] Rosenjack J, Hodges CA, Darrah RJ, Kelley TJ. HDAC6 depletion improves cystic fibrosis mouse airway responses to bacterial challenge. Sci Rep. 2019;9:10282. DOI:10.1038/ s41598-019-46555-4

- [60] Wu H, Yang J, Su EM, Li L, Zhao C, Yang X, et al. Lipoxin A4 and platelet activating factor are involved in E. coli or LPS-induced lung inflammation in CFTR-deficient mice. PLoS One. 2014;9:e93003. DOI:10.1371/journal. pone.0093003
- [61] Yang Y, Cheng Y, Lian QQ, Yang L, Qi W, Wu DR, et al. Contribution of CFTR to alveolar fluid clearance by lipoxin A4 via PI3K/Akt pathway in LPS-induced acute lung injury. Mediators Inflamm. 2013;2013:862628. DOI:10.1155/2013/862628
- [62] Codagnone M, Cianci E, Lamolinara A, Mari VC, Nespoli A, Isopi E, et al. Resolvin D1 enhances the resolution of lung inflammation caused by long-term *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa infection. Mucosal Immunol. 2018;11:35–49. DOI:10.1038/mi.2017.36
- [63] Eickmeier O, Fussbroich D, Mueller K, Serve F, Smaczny C, Zielen S, et al. Pro-resolving lipid mediator Resolvin D1 serves as a marker of lung disease in cystic fibrosis. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0171249. DOI:10.1371/ journal.pone.0171249
- [64] Isopi E, Mattoscio D, Codagnone M, Mari VC, Lamolinara A, Patruno S, et al. Resolvin D1 reduces lung infection and inflammation activating resolution in cystic fibrosis. Front Immunol. 2020;11:581. DOI:10.3389/ fimmu.2020.00581
- [65] López-Neyra A, Suárez L, Muñoz M, de Blas A, Ruiz de Valbuena M, Garriga M, et al. Long-term docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) supplementation in cystic fibrosis patients: a randomized, multi-center, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids. 2020;162:102186. DOI:10.1016/j.plefa.2020.102186

Chapter 1 - Inflammation and CFTR dysfunction

- [66] Centorame A, Dumut DC, Youssef M, Ondra M, Kianicka I, Shah J, et al. Treatment with LAU-7b complements CFTR modulator therapy by improving lung physiology and normalizing lipid imbalance associated with CF lung disease. Front Pharmacol. 2022;13:876842. DOI:10.3389/ fphar.2022.876842
- [67] Garić D, Dumut DC, Shah J, De Sanctis JB, Radzioch D. The role of essential fatty acids in cystic fibrosis and normalizing effect of fenretinide. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2020;77:4255– 67. DOI:10.1007/s00018-020-03530-x
- [68] Garić D, De Sanctis JB, Dumut DC, Shah J, Peña MJ, Youssef M, et al. Fenretinide favorably affects mucins (MUC5AC/MUC5B) and fatty acid imbalance in a manner mimicking CFTR-induced correction. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids. 2020;1865:158538. DOI:10.1016/j.bbalip.2019.158538
- [69] Lachance C, Wojewodka G, Skinner TA, Guilbault C, De Sanctis JB, Radzioch D. Fenretinide corrects the imbalance between omega-6 to omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and inhibits macrophage inflammatory mediators via the ERK pathway. PLoS One. 2013;8:e74875. DOI:10.1371/journal. pone.0074875
- [70] Bonfield TL, Hodges CA, Cotton CU, Drumm ML. Absence of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator (CFTR) from myeloid-derived cells slows resolution of inflammation and infection. J Leukoc Biol. 2012;92:1111-22. DOI:10.1189/jlb.0412188
- [71] Assani K, Shrestha CL, Robledo-Avila F, Rajaram MV, Partida-Sanchez S, Schlesinger LS, et al. Human cystic fibrosis macrophages have defective calcium-dependent protein kinase C activation of the NADPH oxidase, an effect augmented by Burkholderia cenocepacia. J Immunol. 2017;198:1985–94. DOI:10.4049/jimmunol.1502609

- [72] Tazi MF, Dakhlallah DA, Caution K, Gerber MM, Chang SW, Khalil H, et al. Elevated Mirc1/Mir17-92 cluster expression negatively regulates autophagy and CFTR (cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator) function in CF macrophages. Autophagy. 2016;12:2026–37. DOI:10.1080/1554862 7.2016.1217370
- [73] Zhang S, Shrestha CL, Kopp BT. Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) modulators have differential effects on cystic fibrosis macrophage function. Sci Rep. 2018;8:17066. DOI:10.1038/s41598-018-35151-7
- [74] Bruscia EM, Zhang PX, Satoh A, Caputo C, Medzhitov R, Shenoy A, et al. Abnormal trafficking and degradation of TLR4 underlie the elevated inflammatory response in cystic fibrosis. J Immunol. 2011;186:6990–8. DOI:10.4049/jimmunol.1100396
- [75] Di Pietro C, Zhang PX, O'Rourke TK, Murray TS, Wang L, Britto CJ, et al. Ezrin links CFTR to TLR4 signaling to orchestrate anti-bacterial immune response in macrophages. Sci Rep. 2017;7:10882. DOI:10.1038/s41598-017-11012-7
- [76] Moss RB, Bocian RC, Hsu YP, Dong YJ, Kemna M, Wei T, et al. Reduced IL-10 secretion by CD4+ T lymphocytes expressing mutant cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR). Clin Exp Immunol. 1996;106:374–88. DOI:10.1046/j.1365-2249.1996.d01-826.x
- [77] Iannitti RG, Carvalho A, Cunha C, De Luca A, Giovannini G, Casagrande A, et al. Th17/Treg imbalance in murine cystic fibrosis is linked to indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase deficiency but corrected by kynurenines. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;187:609–20. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.201207-1346OC

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 1 - Inflammation and CFTR dysfunction

- [78] Hector A, Schäfer H, Pöschel S, Fischer A, Fritzsching B, Ralhan A, et al. Regulatory T-cell impairment in cystic fibrosis patients with chronic Pseudomonas infection. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;191:914-23. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201407-13810C
- [79] Hagner M, Albrecht M, Guerra M, Braubach P, Halle O, Zhou-Suckow Z, et al. IL-17A from innate and adaptive lymphocytes contributes to inflammation and damage in cystic fibrosis lung disease. Eur Respir J. 2021;57:1900716. DOI:10.1183/13993003.00716-2019
- [80] McAllister F, Henry A, Kreindler JL, Dubin PJ, Ulrich L, Steele C, et al. Role of IL-17A, IL-17F, and the IL-17 receptor in regulating growth-related oncogene-alpha and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in bronchial epithelium: implications for airway inflammation in cystic fibrosis. J Immunol. 2005;175:404-12. DOI:10.4049/jimmunol.175.1.404

27

www.ecfs.eu

European Cystic Fibrosis Society

Chapter 2 Airway epithelial cells for cystic fibrosis studies

Authors

Margarida D. Amaral, Violeta Railean, Cláudia S. Rodrigues, Ines Pankonien

Introduction

The respiratory system consists of organs and tissues that allow the movement of air between the lungs and the environment, enabling the gas exchange of oxygen (O_2) inwards by carbon dioxide (CO_2) outwards. This gas exchange also contributes to the maintenance of the acid-base balance in the blood. Other non-vital functions of the respiratory system include odor sensing and phonation [1-3].

Functionally, the respiratory system can be divided into two main regions: the conducting zone (upper airway tract) and the respiratory zone (lower airway tract) (Figure 1). The conducting zone includes all the structures that provide a passage for air to go in and out of the lungs, such as the nasal cavity, mouth, pharynx, larynx, trachea, bronchi (large airways), and the bronchioles (small airways). In the upper airways, the incoming air is warmed, humidified, filtered and cleaned before gas exchange in the respiratory zone, which includes the terminal bronchioles and alveoli [1-3].

Since the air contains microorganisms and debris that can be pathogenic, the respiratory system has a robust defense system. A mucous layer and beating cilia constitute the potent mucociliary clearance (MCC) mechanism that traps and removes particles and microorganisms from the lungs. In addition, the airways have a rich lymphatic system, allowing a local influx of lymphatic fluid that helps absorb and remove damaged tissue (e.g., due to inflammation) [2-4]. MCC abnormalities, whether related to impaired fluid secretion, ciliary dysfunction or disruption of epithelial cells lining the respiratory tract, contribute to lung disease, including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), asthma and cystic fibrosis (CF) [5].

COPD is a heterogenous group of diseases, all associated with chronic systemic inflammation affecting primarily the lungs. This disease is characterized by chronic overproduction and hypersecretion of mucus by goblet cells and decreased MCC due to poor ciliary function, leading to airway obstruction [6].

Asthma is an airway disease caused by chronic inflammation of the lower respiratory tract. It is characterized by over-responsiveness of the lungs to environmental allergens, viral and bacterial respiratory infections, leading to mucus hypersecretion and bronchoconstriction [7, 8].

In contrast to COPD and asthma, CF is a genetic recessive disorder characterized by variants in the gene encoding the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) protein. Dysfunctional CFTR and abnormal ion transport impair MCC, leading to chronic airway infection and inflammation [9].

2.1 The airway epithelium and cell types

The airway tract is lined by epithelium, a primary tissue made up of epithelial cells [10, 11]. When classified by shape, epithelial cells can be classified as squamous when they are flat (Figure 2A), cuboidal when their width, height, and depth are the same (Figure 2B), and columnar when they are tall and slender (Figure 2C). Epithelial cells can be organized into one layer of cells (called a simple epithelium) (Figure 2A-C) or into multiple cell layers (called a stratified epithelium) (Figure 2D-F). They can also be organized in a pseudostratified epithelium, in which there is only one cell layer, however, the cells have different sizes, having the appearance of a stratified epithelium (Figure 2G). A transitional epithelium is when the organization of the epithelial cells allows them to flatten and slide over one another (Figure 2H). This is only present in stretching organs like the bladder [12].

Epithelial cells are polarized, which means they are spatial-temporally compartmentalized, with apical, basal, and lateral regions which are functionally and structurally different (Figure 3). The apical side faces the lumen area or the external environment, and can have specialized structures such as microvilli, cilia, and stereocilia, that confer different functions to the cells. For example, the intestine and kidney microvilli are associated with fluid absorption, while in the lungs, cilia movement contributes to MCC. The basal side of epithelial cells faces the internal environment, and is where the cell is anchored to the extracellular matrix supporting the epithelial tissue. The lateral side is where adjacent cells are attached by adherent proteins; it is also where epithelial cells communicate with each other through tight and gap junctions (Figure 3) [13-15].

The upper airway tract is lined with a pseudostratified polarized columnar epithelium mainly composed of progenitor basal cells, ciliated cells and goblet cells (Figure 4). As the epithelium nears the gas exchange region, it becomes thinner, and the cellular composition changes, with increased expression of club secretory cells and decreased expression of ciliated cells in the bronchioles (Figure 4). Near the alveoli, the epithelium is simple and composed of two types of pneumocytes. These alveolar epithelial (AT) cells are either squamous shaped type I AT (ATI) or cuboidal-shaped type II AT (ATII) (Figure 4). The endothelium of the surrounding capillaries, together with the alveolar epithelium, forms the respiratory membrane, where gas exchange occurs by simple diffusion [2, 3, 14].

The different respiratory cell types and their characteristics. and molecular markers are summarized in Figure 4. Basal cells are adult stem cells underlying the basal lamina of airways and their principal role is to maintain and repair the tissue [16]. Basal cells represent 6 to 30% of airway epithelium, depending on the location in the respiratory tract [17]. They are responsible for attaching the columnar epithelium to the basement membrane zone as well as interacting with immune cells and neurons [18]. Basal cells are also important to promote regeneration after injury, due to their ability to self-renew and to differentiate into specialized cells such as ciliated and secretory cells. These specialized cells go on to form the pseudostratified airway epithelium (Figure 2G). Basal cells can be identified by several cellular markers, including tumor protein 63 (TP63), cytoskeletal protein keratin 5 (KRT5) and nerve growth factor receptor (NGFR) [19].

Multi-ciliated cells are responsible for MCC by providing a mechanism for trapping and expelling the pathogens and chemicals from the airways [20]. The rhythmic beating of cilia, essential for MCC, is achieved by the presence of

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 2 - Airway epithelial cells for cystic fibrosis studies

abundant mitochondria at the apical region of ciliated cells, to ensure the availability of ATP to fuel ciliary motion [21].

Goblet cells are responsible for synthesis and secretion of gel-forming polymeric glycoproteins called mucins [22]. The mucins are the major constituents of the mucus which protects the airways by capturing pathogens and inhaled particles and expelling them through MCC. The mucus also contains water, ions, proteins and other macromolecules with anti-microbial, anti-protease and antioxidant activity, which are also important for local defense of the airways [23, 24]. Mucin-producing cells highly express the mucins MUC5AC and MUC5B, specific markers of goblet cells [24].

Club cells are non-ciliated epithelial cells that can differentiate into more specialized ciliated or goblet cells, depending on the environment. These cells play a role in airway repair after injury, in which they can dedifferentiate back to basal cells. Club cells secrete anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory proteins, particularly club cell secretory protein CC-10/16, also known as SCGB1A1 [10, 25].

ATI cells, comprising 95% of the alveolar surface area, are responsible for the gas exchange process [26]. ATII cells produce pulmonary surfactant, which reduces surface tension during respiration, preventing the collapse of the alveoli [26].

The pseudostratified epithelium also contains rare cell types such as tuft/brush cells, pulmonary neuroendocrine cells (PNECs) and pulmonary ionocytes. These rare cell types represent about 1% of the airways (Figure 4) [10, 11].

The brush or tuft cells are rare chemosensory epithelial cells containing long and thick microvilli on their apical side. Their chemosensory function derives from their ability to secrete different biological mediators in response to diverse stimulus, such as bacterial signaling molecules [27].

PNECs are rare airway epithelial cells sharing both neurosensory and endocrine functions due to their ability to sense the environmental stimulus [28].

Ionocytes are the most recently discovered rare cell type, and their function is associated with ion transport, fluid and pH regulation. This cell type expresses high levels of CFTR protein and transcription factors FOXI1 and ASCL3 [29].

In summary, from the upper to the lower airway the epithelium lining changes in organization and cell content according to its function.

Airway epithelial cell models for respiratory research

Currently, several human-derived cell models are used for respiratory disease research, including primary cells from different regions of the respiratory tract and immortalized cell lines generated from primary cells.

2.2.1 Human primary cells

One of the most physiologically relevant models for respiratory disease studies are primary human airway epithelial (pHAE) cells. Those include human nasal epithelial (HNE) cells obtained from nasal brushing and human bronchial epithelial (HBE) cells obtained from explanted lungs. The first step involves the isolation of basal cells, which expand when cultured in well-defined media, increasing the cell population. When cultured under airway-liquid interface (ALI) conditions, these cells have the ability to polarize and to differentiate into specialized cell types forming the pseudostratified epithelium (Figure 2G) with mucociliary differentiation.

Chapter 2 - Airway epithelial cells for cystic fibrosis studies

The formation of the pseudostratified epithelium with functional cilia beating and mucus secretion reproduce the key features of *in vivo* airways [30, 31].

Recently, 3D-models called organoids have emerged. Organoids are self-organizing 3D-structures that can be generated both from basal cells and ALI-differentiated cultures [31, 32]. Airway organoids are used to model different airway diseases [32], allowing a better understanding of the organ complexity.

However, primary cells have limited expansion and lose the capacity to differentiate after a few passages (typically 4). Furthermore, usage of primary cells for research requires both hospital ethical approval along with patient informed consent.

2.2.2 Immortalized cell lines

One way to overcome primary cell senescence is to use immortalized cell lines. These in vitro models can be generated from primary cells by lentiviral transfection of oncogenes and/ or by the use of the human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) protein, a telomerase activator. Cancer cells have overcome senescence. for example, by introducing mutations in tumor suppressor genes. Immortalized cell lines are useful in vitro models for several reasons. First, they proliferate indefinitely, providing an unlimited supply of material. Second, since all cells come from the same initial cell, there is no genetic and phenotypic variation (isogenic cells), which guarantees consistent and reproducible results. Third, they are relatively easy to handle and cost-effective compared to primary cells. However, some disadvantages exist. These cells do not always recapitulate the physiological characteristics of the tissue of origin, as they have been transformed to proliferate indefinitely. Some immortalized cell lines lose the ability to differentiate or polarize.

Below, we describe the most important immortalized cell lines available to use in CF airway research.

16HBE140- cells were isolated from the bronchial epithelium of a one-year-old male heart-lung patient and immortalized with the origin-of-replication defective SV40 plasmid (pSVori-) [33]. This cell line maintains the characteristic features of normal differentiated bronchial epithelial cells. When grown in liquid-covered culture (LCC) conditions, the cells form electrically tight and polarized cell layers with microvilli, but no cilia, and can be used in drug absorption or transport studies [34-36]. However, with increased passage, these cells start to lose their ability to polarize. 16HBE14o- cells are widely used in CF research, as they express high levels of CFTR mRNA and protein.

Another cell line widely used in CF studies is the **CFBE41o- cell line** that was created from the bronchial epithelial cells of a CF patient homozygous for the F508del *CFTR* mutation [37]. CFBE41o- cells were transduced to stably express wildtype and F508del *CFTR*. This process, however, generates lines with variable numbers of integrated sequences expressing exogenous *CFTR* at high levels [38, 39]. These cells can polarize and form tight junctions under LCC conditions. They are mainly used to study CFTR function and its response to small molecules [40-42].

The **BCi-NS1.1 cell line** was generated by immortalizing basal cells from a 42-year old Hispanic male healthy nonsmoking individual using retrovirus-mediated expression of hTERT [43]. These basal cells can be grown in ALI conditions, generating an electrically tight, pseudostratified differentiated epithelial monolayer. Over the period of 30 days in ALI these cells differentiate into ciliated, club and goblet cells, as well as ionocytes, while also keeping a population of basal cells [43].

The same investigators generated the cell line hSABCi-NS1.1 using the same technique to immortalize primary epithelial cells from the small airways of a 50-year-old African American male, healthy nonsmoking individual [44]. Compared to the BCi-NS1.1 cells, hSABCi-NS1.1 cells have lower values of transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) when cultured in ALI, as well as lower expression of basal, club and ciliated cell genes, with increased expression of small airway-associated genes [44]. Both BCi-NS1.1 and hSABCi-NS1.1 emerge as very promising in vitro models for studies of cell differentiation, as well as of the human air-blood barrier. The limiting factor in using these cells is the long 30-day culture duration.

Induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells constitute a powerful cell model as they originate from an individual somatic cell and can generate any cell type if specific biological factors are provided in the media. As they are patient-specific, they can be used in personalized medicine approaches (e.g., prediction of drug efficacy). However, the lack of standardized protocols for iPS cell production and characterization, along with the laborious procedures required for their culture, hinders the wide application of these cell models [45].

2.2.3 Lung-on-a-chip

Standard cell culture techniques fail to represent the complex multifaceted interactions that take place in the respiratory system. Lung-ona-chip technology combines microfabrication techniques with modern tissue engineering, to create a new *in vitro* model that can mimic the complicated mechanical and biochemical behaviors of a human living breathing lung. This technology involves a microfluidic device for continuous delivery of nutrients and removal of waste products that is divided horizontally by a thin, porous membrane, lined on one side by epithelial lung cells in interface with air, and lined on the other side by endothelial cells in interface with media, mimicking the capillary interface of the human lung. Two vertical side chambers undergo cyclic suction that makes the sheet of cells stretch and relax rhythmically, just like lung cells during breathing. This model has great potential to be used in drug development, disease modeling, and personalized medicine. It could also replace animals in scientific research, as it can mimic human responses. However, more optimization and standardization need to occur for this to become a reality. This model recapitulates the dynamic environment and mechanical forces present in the lungs. Cells from epithelia, endothelia and the immune system can be added to this microdevice. The biggest disadvantages of this system, preventing its widespread use, are its high level of specialization and complexity, as well as the equipment, techniques and high costs. Optimized standardized protocols for this system are necessary for its broader use in laboratories all over the world. Nevertheless, it has great potential for the future of human health research [46-48]. Co-cultures are a good example of taking the next step in in vitro research. This method involves the use of different cells such as epithelial, endothelial and immune cells, to create a more physiologically relevant model of the airways [49]. However, co-culture protocols are relatively complex and time-consuming which can hinder their broad application in research. Furthermore, data obtained from such studies should be carefully interpreted because this technique involves multiple variables that can influence data reliability [49].

2.3 Conclusion

In summary, there are multiple cell lines that can be used in airway research. Depending on the research goal, cells from either the upper or lower airway can be chosen. There is also the option to choose cell lines that can polarize and differentiate, all without having to use specialized and complex cell culture techniques as those used in primary cell lines. Nowadays, the variety of cell lines available for research is vast, and new models are emerging.

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 2 - Airway epithelial cells for cystic fibrosis studies

Figure 1

Airway epithelium.

Composition of the pseudostratified epithelium of the large airway, small airway and alveoli of the human lung. The large airway is composed mainly of basal, ciliated and goblet cells, whereas the small airway is composed mainly of club cells. The alveoli are mainly composed of ATI and ATII cells. Adapted from [10].



Figure 2

Epithelial cell classification according to their shape and organization.

- **A.** Simple squamous epithelium,
- **B.** Simple cuboidal epithelium,
- C. Simples columnar epithelium,
- **D.** Stratified squamous epithelium,
- E. Stratified cuboidal epithelium,
- F. Stratified columnar epithelium,
- G. Pseudostratified columnar epithelium,
- **H.** Transitional epithelium.





G. Pseudostratified columnar



H. Transitional

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 2 - Airway epithelial cells for cystic fibrosis studies

Figure 3

Schematic representation of a polarized epithelial cell.

The apical side faces the lumen area or the external environment. The basal side is the region that faces the internal environment, and the lateral side is where adjacent cells are connected by adherent, tight and gap junctions. Adapted from [50].



Chapter 2 - Airway epithelial cells for cystic fibrosis studies

Figure 4 Respiratory cell types and characteristics [10,20,26,32,51].

Cell type	Role	Cellular marker	Localization	Progeny
Basal	Regeneration and repair of airways	TP63 KRT5 KRT14	Proximal and distal airways	
Ciliated	Mucus clearance	CDHR3 DNAI1 FOXJ1	Proximal and distal airways	-
Goblet	Mucin secretion	SPDEF TFF3 MUC5AC	Proximal and distal airways	-
Club	Precursor of ciliated and secretory cells	SCGB1A1	Proximal and distal airways	
Tuft/brush	Immune response regulator	POU2F3	Proximal and distal airways	
Neuroendocrine	Neuropeptides secretion	CHGA CGRP	Proximal and distal airways	
	Unknown/ lon transport / pH regulation	FOXI1 CFTR ASCL3	Proximal and distal airways	-
Alveolar epithelial cells type 1	Gas exchange	SPC	Alveoli	
Alveolar epithelial cells type 2	Pulmonary surfactant production	HOPX PDPN AGER	Alveoli	

Chapter 2 - Airway epithelial cells for cystic fibrosis studies

Bibliography

- Ball M, Hossain M, Padalia D. Anatomy, airway. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): Stat-Pearls Publishing; 2023.
- [2] Betts J, Young K, Wise J, Johnson E, Poe B, Kruse D, et al. Anatomy and physiology. OpenStax; 2013.
- [3] McAllister F, Henry A, Kreindler JL, Dubin PJ, Ulrich L, Steele C, et al. Role of IL-17A, IL-17F, and the IL-17 receptor in regulating growth-related oncogene-alpha and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in bronchial epithelium: implications for airway inflammation in cystic fibrosis. J Immunol. 2005;175:404–12. DOI:10.4049/jimmunol.175.1.404
- [4] Tortora GJ, Derrickson BH. Principles of anatomy and physiology. 12th ed. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons; 2010.
- [5] Whitsett JA. Airway epithelial differentiation and mucociliary clearance. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2018;15:S143–8. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201802-128AW
- [6] Ramos FL, Krahnke JS, Kim V. Clinical issues of mucus accumulation in COPD. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2014;9:139–50. DOI:10.2147/copd.S38938
- [7] Pavón-Romero GF, Serrano-Pérez NH, García-Sánchez L, Ramírez-Jiménez F, Terán LM. Neuroimmune pathophysiology in asthma. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2021;9:663535. DOI:10.3389/fcell.2021.663535
- [8] Castillo JR, Peters SP, Busse WW. Asthma exacerbations: pathogenesis, prevention, and treatment. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2017;5:918–27. DOI:10.1016/j.jaip.2017.05.001
- [9] Elborn JS. Cystic fibrosis. Lancet.
 2016;388:2519–31. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(16)00576-6

- [10] Basil MC, Katzen J, Engler AE, Guo M, Herriges MJ, Kathiriya JJ, et al. The cellular and physiological basis for lung repair and regeneration: past, present, and future. Cell Stem Cell. 2020;26:482–502. DOI:10.1016/j. stem.2020.03.009
- [11] Morrisey EE, Hogan BL. Preparing for the first breath: genetic and cellular mechanisms in lung development. Dev Cell. 2010;18:8–23. DOI:10.1016/j.devcel.2009.12.010
- [12] McMillan DB, Harris RJ. An atlas of comparative vertebrate histology: Elsevier; 2018. 10.1016/B978-0-12-410424-2.00003-2
- [13] Ngok SP, Lin WH, Anastasiadis PZ. Establishment of epithelial polarity-GEF who's minding the GAP? J Cell Sci. 2014;127:3205– 15. DOI:10.1242/jcs.153197
- [14] apazian D, Würtzen PA, Hansen SWK. Polarized airway epithelial models for immunological co-culture studies. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2016;170:1–21. DOI:10.1159/000445833
- [15] Tang V. Cell-cell adhesion interface: rise of the lateral membrane. F1000Res. 2017;6:276. DOI:10.12688/f1000research.10680.1
- [16] Ruysseveldt E, Martens K, Steelant B. Airway basal cells, protectors of epithelial walls in health and respiratory diseases. Front Allergy. 2021;2:787128. DOI:10.3389/falgy.2021.787128
- [17] Rock JR, Randell SH, Hogan BL. Airway basal stem cells: a perspective on their roles in epithelial homeostasis and remodeling. Dis Model Mech. 2010;3:545–56. DOI:10.1242/ dmm.006031
- [18] Evans M. Basal cells. In: Laurent GJ, Shapiro SD, editors. Encyclopedia of respiratory medicine. Oxford: Academic Press; 2006. p. 229–33. 10.1016/B0-12-370879-6/00041-7

- [19] Hawkins FJ, Suzuki S, Beermann ML, Barillà C, Wang R, Villacorta-Martin C, et al. Derivation of airway basal stem cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. 2021;28:79–95.e8. DOI:10.1016/j. stem.2020.09.017
- [20] Davis JD, Wypych TP. Cellular and functional heterogeneity of the airway epithelium. Mucosal Immunol. 2021;14:978–90. DOI:10.1038/ s41385-020-00370-7
- [21] Bustamante-Marin XM, Ostrowski LE. Cilia and mucociliary clearance. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2017;9:a028241. DOI:10.1101/cshperspect.a028241
- [22] Lillehoj ER, Kim KC. Airway mucus: its components and function. Arch Pharm Res. 2002;25:770–80. DOI:10.1007/bf02976990
- [23] Voynow JA, Rubin BK. Mucins, mucus, and sputum. Chest. 2009;135:505–12. DOI:10.1378/ chest.08-0412
- [24] Ma J, Rubin BK, Voynow JA. Mucins, mucus, and goblet cells. Chest. 2018;154:169–76. DOI:10.1016/j.chest.2017.11.008
- [25] Barnes PJ. Club cells, their secretory protein, and COPD. Chest. 2015;147:1447–8. DOI:10.1378/chest.14-3171
- [26] Verheyden JM, Sun X. A transitional stem cell state in the lung. Nat Cell Biol. 2020;22:1025– 6. DOI:10.1038/s41556-020-0561-5
- [27] Nevo S, Kadouri N, Abramson J. Tuft cells: from the mucosa to the thymus. Immunol Lett. 2019;210:1–9. DOI:10.1016/j.imlet.2019.02.003
- [28] Xu J, Yu H, Sun X. Less is more: rare pulmonary neuroendocrine cells function as critical sensors in lung. Dev Cell. 2020;55:123–32. DOI:10.1016/j.devcel.2020.09.024
- [29] Zuo WL, Rostami MR, Shenoy SA, LeBlanc MG, Salit J, Strulovici-Barel Y, et al. Cell-specific expression of lung disease risk-related genes in the human small airway epithelium. Respir Res. 2020;21:200. DOI:10.1186/ s12931-020-01442-9

- [30] Awatade NT, Wong SL, Hewson CK, Fawcett LK, Kicic A, Jaffe A, et al. Human primary epithelial cell models: promising tools in the era of cystic fibrosis personalized medicine. Front Pharmacol. 2018;9:1429. DOI:10.3389/ fphar.2018.01429
- [31] Amatngalim GD, Rodenburg LW, Aalbers BL, Raeven HH, Aarts EM, Sarhane D, et al. Measuring cystic fibrosis drug responses in organoids derived from 2D differentiated nasal epithelia. Life Sci Alliance. 2022;5:e202101320. DOI:10.26508/ lsa.202101320
- [32] Sachs N, Papaspyropoulos A, Zomer-van Ommen DD, Heo I, Böttinger L, Klay D, et al. Long-term expanding human airway organoids for disease modeling. EMBO J. 2019;38:e100300. DOI:10.15252/ embj.2018100300
- [33] Cozens AL, Yezzi MJ, Yamaya M, Steiger D, Wagner JA, Garber SS, et al. A transformed human epithelial cell line that retains tight junctions post crisis. In vitro Cell Dev Biol. 1992;28A:735–44. DOI:10.1007/bf02631062
- [34] Alenmyr L, Uller L, Greiff L, Högestätt ED, Zygmunt PM. TRPV4-mediated calcium influx and ciliary activity in human native airway epithelial cells. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 2014;114:210–6. DOI:10.1111/bcpt.12135
- [35] Ehrhardt C, Kneuer C, Fiegel J, Hanes J, Schaefer UF, Kim KJ, et al. Influence of apical fluid volume on the development of functional intercellular junctions in the human epithelial cell line 16HBE140-: implications for the use of this cell line as an *in* vitro model for bronchial drug absorption studies. Cell Tissue Res. 2002;308:391–400. DOI:10.1007/s00441-002-0548-5
- [36] Wan H, Winton HL, Soeller C, Stewart GA, Thompson PJ, Gruenert DC, et al. Tight junction properties of the immortalized human bronchial epithelial cell lines Calu-3 and 16HBE140. Eur Respir J. 2000;15:1058–68. DOI:10.1034/j.1399-3003.2000.01514.x

- [37] Goncz KK, Kunzelmann K, Xu Z, Gruenert DC. Targeted replacement of normal and mutant CFTR sequences in human airway epithelial cells using DNA fragments. Hum Mol Genet. 1998;7:1913–9. DOI:10.1093/ hmg/7.12.1913
- [38] Bebok Z, Collawn JF, Wakefield J, Parker W, Li Y, Varga K, et al. Failure of cAMP agonists to activate rescued deltaF508 CFTR in CFBE410- airway epithelial monolayers. J Physiol. 2005;569:601–15. DOI:10.1113/jphysiol.2005.096669
- [39] Veit G, Bossard F, Goepp J, Verkman AS, Galietta LJ, Hanrahan JW, et al. Proinflammatory cytokine secretion is suppressed by TMEM16A or CFTR channel activity in human cystic fibrosis bronchial epithelia. Mol Biol Cell. 2012;23:4188–202. DOI:10.1091/mbc.E12-06-0424
- [40] Ehrhardt C, Collnot EM, Baldes C, Becker U, Laue M, Kim KJ, et al. Towards an in vitro model of cystic fibrosis small airway epithelium: characterisation of the human bronchial epithelial cell line CFBE410. Cell Tissue Res. 2006;323:405–15. DOI:10.1007/ s00441-005-0062-7
- [41] Phuan PW, Veit G, Tan J, Roldan A, Finkbeiner WE, Lukacs GL, et al. Synergy-based small-molecule screen using a human lung epithelial cell line yields ΔF508-CFTR correctors that augment VX-809 maximal efficacy. Mol Pharmacol. 2014;86:42–51. DOI:10.1124/mol.114.092478
- [42] Veit G, Avramescu RG, Perdomo D, Phuan PW, Bagdany M, Apaja PM, et al. Some gating potentiators, including VX-770, diminish ΔF508-CFTR functional expression. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6:246ra97. DOI:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3008889

- [43] Walters MS, Gomi K, Ashbridge B, Moore MA, Arbelaez V, Heldrich J, et al. Generation of a human airway epithelium derived basal cell line with multipotent differentiation capacity. Respir Res. 2013;14:135. DOI:10.1186/1465-9921-14-135
- [44] Wang G, Lou HH, Salit J, Leopold PL, Driscoll S, Schymeinsky J, et al. Characterization of an immortalized human small airway basal stem/progenitor cell line with airway region-specific differentiation capacity. Respir Res. 2019;20:196. DOI:10.1186/s12931-019-1140-9
- [45] Rowe RG, Daley GQ. Induced pluripotent stem cells in disease modelling and drug discovery. Nat Rev Genet. 2019;20:377–88.
 DOI:10.1038/s41576-019-0100-z
- [46] Dellaquila A, Thomée EK, McMillan AH, Lesher-Pérez SC. Lung-on-a-chip platforms for modeling disease pathogenesis. In: Hoeng J, Bovard D, Peitsch MC, editors. Organon-a-chip: Academic Press; 2020. p. 133–80. 10.1016/B978-0-12-817202-5.00004-8
- [47] Huh DD. A human breathing lung-on-a-chip. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2015;12 Suppl 1:S42–4. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201410-442MG
- [48] Shrestha J, Razavi Bazaz S, Aboulkheyr Es H, Yaghobian Azari D, Thierry B, Ebrahimi Warkiani M, et al. Lung-on-a-chip: the future of respiratory disease models and pharmacological studies. Crit Rev Biotechnol. 2020;40:213–30. DOI:10.1080/07388551.2 019.1710458
- [49] Selo MA, Sake JA, Kim KJ, Ehrhardt C. In vitro and ex vivo models in inhalation biopharmaceutical research - advances, challenges and future perspectives. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2021;177:113862. DOI:10.1016/j. addr.2021.113862
- [50] Pankonien I, Quaresma MC, Rodrigues CS, Amaral MD. CFTR, cell junctions and the cytoskeleton. Int J Mol Sci. 2022;23. DOI:10.3390/ijms23052688

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 2 - Airway epithelial cells for cystic fibrosis studies

[51] Hewitt RJ, Lloyd CM. Regulation of immune responses by the airway epithelial cell landscape. Nat Rev Immunol 2021;21:347–62. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-020-00477-9

Chapter 3 Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

Authors

Clemente J. Britto, Emanuela M. Bruscia, Tracey L. Bonfield

Introduction

Immune dysfunction is a hallmark of cystic fibrosis (CF) pathophysiology. Host defense and immune defects impair infection clearance and inflammation resolution, contributing to CF pathogenesis. The role of macrophages and monocytes in CF has been investigated since 1982, when the first reports of altered monocyte and macrophage activation emerged, outlining metabolic hyperactivity and increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, elastase, and tissue-damaging mediators such as matrix metalloproteinases. Nearly half a century later, there remains much to learn about the role of these cells in CF pathogenesis. Novel technologies enable the interrogation of macrophage and monocyte phenotypes and function at unprecedented resolution. Thus, our understanding of the essential role of monocytes and macrophages as drivers and modulators of pathogenic innate and adaptive immunity in CF continues to evolve. Here, we review the fundamentals of macrophage and monocyte biology in the context of CF pathogenesis, outline areas of ongoing interest and controversy, and look into the future for emerging fields of study that aim to leverage the contributions of these cells as a target for therapeutic intervention to delay or mitigate CF lung disease.

Macrophages: key contributors to lung disease

3.1.1 Role of macrophages in host defense and inflammation

Macrophages are present throughout the human body and populate nearly every tissue [1]. The 19th century Nobel laureate Elie Metchnikoff described macrophages as the "phagocytic" component of the immune system [2], combating infections directly through bacteria internalization and degradation. Macrophages are the first line of tissue immune surveillance through their unique capability to recognize pathogens. In the presence of microorganisms, a vast array of pathogen recognition receptors (e.g. complement receptors, Toll-like receptors [TLR], RIG-I-like receptors, NOD-like receptors, and C-type lectin receptors [3]) activates a regulated inflammatory response that ensures microbial clearance and promotes inflammation resolution [4, 5]. In addition, macrophages continuously patrol and scan tissues for perturbations in their environment, responding to minute disruptions in pH, oxygen level, and metabolite concentrations, among others, to promote a return to tissue homeostasis [6]. Functionally, macrophages remove dying or dysfunctional cells, products of tissue damage, and cellular waste. In addition, macrophage molecular signatures demonstrate their plasticity in response to the surrounding environment [7-9] to perform unique tissue-specific tasks, such as removing phospholipid surfactant components in the alveoli or recycling iron in the spleen.

Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

3.1.2 Advances in macrophage biology: role of tissue-resident and circulating subpopulations

Tissue-resident macrophages differ in respect of ontogeny, location, and function [10]. For example, alveolar and interstitial macrophages in the lungs originate during the embryonic and fetal waves of hematopoiesis and retain self-renewal capability [10]. However, over the life span of an organism, in response to aging and various insults (e.g., infection damage, pollution, etc.), damaged/senescent macrophages are replaced by circulating classical monocytes (defined as CD115+CD14+CD16- in humans [11]) in a CC-chemokine receptor 2 (CCR2)-dependent manner [12-24]. Influenced by the microenvironment, recruited monocytes undergo extensive reprogramming, and their gene profile becomes similar to tissue-resident macrophages, forming a complex mixture of embryonic- and monocyte-derived cells [10, 25, 26]. Meanwhile, circulating non-classical monocyte populations (CD115+CD14lowCD16+ in humans) patrol blood vessel walls of peripheral organs [27], replenish resident macrophages in a steady state, and help repair damaged tissues [22-28].

3.2 Advances in macrophage biology trained immunity

Until recently, innate immune cells were not thought to retain the "memory" of previous microbial encounters. However, it is now established that initial exposures to microorganisms, microbial products, or vaccines shape the epigenome of monocytes/macrophages through a biological process named trained immunity [29]. Long-term "memory" is ensured by the retention of epigenetic information in hematopoietic stem cells that give rise to the myeloid lineage [30]. This "learning" ability of innate immune cells from the first encounter with a microorganism constitutes an encoded ancestral host defense mechanism to address recurrent infections. It shapes the strength and duration of a future encounter with pathogens, ensuring a much faster, efficient, and less noxious response for the host [31-33]. However, an emerging line of investigation also shows that maladaptive trained immunity can lead to pathogenic responses, contributing to the severity of cardiovascular, autoinflammatory, and chronic inflammatory diseases [29, 30, 34].

3.2.1 Macrophages as therapeutic targets in inflammatory disease

Many inflammatory acute and chronic diseases are characterized by alterations in macrophage/ monocyte abundance, heterogeneity, and function [35, 36]. Evidence suggests that macrophages are major drivers of exaggerated inflammation and pathogenesis in inflammatory diseases [37, 38]. Macrophage dysfunction is associated with pulmonary conditions (including CF. chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, asthma, pulmonary fibrosis [39-43]), severe infections (e.g., Covid-19 [44]), atherosclerosis, autoimmune disorders (e.g., rheumatoid arthritis [45], non-alcoholic steatohepatitis [46], Crohn's disease [47]) and metabolic diseases. The literature also extensively describes how tumor-associated macrophages create an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment and contribute to cancer pathogenesis, by producing cytokines and growth factors and triggering the inhibitory immune checkpoint proteins released in T cells [48]. Based on the broad range of clinical conditions and pathogenic processes modulated by macrophages, therapeutic interventions targeting these cells may become the next frontier in the treatment of inflammatory disease. It remains unknown whether therapeutic interventions targeting pathogenic macrophage populations would be sufficient to prevent or ameliorate the pathogenesis of complex diseases with multiple pathogenic cell types. Further, macrophage heterogeneity creates challenges

Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

in the development and targeting of therapeutics aimed at specific subsets of cells. A lack of drug specificity that can distinguish pathogenic macrophages from their functional counterparts may render drugs ineffective or cause adverse effects. Understanding the biology of different macrophage subpopulations participating in the progression of diseases, identifying unique markers, and developing subset-targeted nanotechnologies for delivery will help refine therapeutic approaches that are safe and precise [44, 49-53].

3.3 Macrophages and monocytes in CF lung disease

3.3.1 CFTR expression on macrophages

Macrophages express low levels of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) on their plasma membrane and cellular vesicles involved in the clearance of intracellular bacteria (e.g. autophagosomes) [54], and contain a low number of CFTR mRNA transcripts in their nuclei and cytoplasm (Figure 1) [55-57]. While overall CFTR transcript abundance is low, CF macrophages and monocytes harbor extensive abnormalities in antigen presentation, pro-inflammatory signaling, phagocytic activity, and cell survival transcriptional programs [57-59].

3.3.2 Transcriptional and functional transformation of monocytes and macrophages upon recruitment to CF airways

Macrophage numbers are elevated in the airways of fetuses and young children with CF before pathogen acquisition [60, 61]. This suggests that non-infectious lung inflammation occurs even in the early stages of CF. Increased numbers of pro-inflammatory monocytes and macrophages disrupt inflammation resolution, promote pathogen colonization, foster pathogenic remodeling in CF airways [23, 60, 62], and drive lung tissue damage [63]. Upon transmigration from the circulation, monocytes recruited into the lungs acquire a unique CF tissue-resident phenotype, suggesting that the lung environment (e.g., interaction with pathogens, pro-inflammatory milieu) modulates the phenotype and function of CF monocyte/macrophages [57]. For example, transmigrated CF macrophages display altered expression of immune receptors (e.g., TLR4, TLR5, CD11b, and MHC class II) and scavenger receptors involved in phagocytosis [23, 64]. Single-cell RNA sequencing studies allow detailed characterization of monocyte/macrophage subpopulations and their CF-specific gene expression profiles [65], including transcriptional transformations after exposure to pathogens such as Burkholderia cepacia [66] or Mycobacterium abscessus [67]. Epigenetic changes associated with these infections or muco-obstructive disease can also alter macrophage phenotypes and activity, contributing to defective function that exacerbates both infection and a dysregulated inflammatory response [68].

3.3.3 Metabolic dysfunction and metabolic reprogramming in CF macrophages

Macrophages from humans with CF and animal models exhibit numerous metabolic abnormalities. Mitochondrial dysfunction has also been reported in CF macrophages after infection [69, 70]. CF-associated defects in the balance of mitochondrial membrane potential, sustainability of available ATP, succinate, NADPH, protein kinase C, and calcium release contribute to impaired bacterial clearance in CF [58, 71]. Hosts require efficient phagocytosis, autophagy, and oxidative antimicrobial activity to clear extracellular and intracellular pathogens such as Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Staphylococcus aureus, B. cenocepacia, and M. abscessus [70, 72-74]. While epigenomic alterations contribute to impaired autophagy and bacterial clearing, other metabolic abnormalities in CF may further disrupt bacterial clearance, including impaired management of

Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

iron metabolism through ferroportin and heme oxygenase-1 dysfunction [53, 72, 75, 76]. Adequate macrophage function is essential to mitigate the intensity and duration of the exaggerated CF inflammatory response.

Metabolic reprogramming of CF macrophages has been implicated via the IRE1α-XBP1 pathway, which can contribute to the exacerbated inflammatory response related to ER stress, contributing to macrophage polarization toward a pro-inflammatory phenotype followed by altered metabolic activity [77]. The transcriptional and functional diversity of CF macrophage polarization actively participates in the inflammatory environment [78]. For example, the activation of the IRE1 α -XBP1 pathway can be enhanced by the production of TNF- α [79] and microRNAs [80, 81]. This could represent a new direction for anti-inflammatory therapeutic development in CF. Further, epigenetic reprogramming of airway macrophages contributes to muco-obstructive lung disease [68]. In these studies, mucostasis induces polarization of macrophages toward an inflammatory phenotype that exacerbates pro-inflammatory phenotypes and enhances tissue damage.

3.3.4 Macrophage-specific phagocytic defects in CF

Defective autophagy, autophagosome formation, and pathogen-induced signaling defects in CF result in ineffective phagocytosis and phagolysosomal formation. Several mechanisms [58, 82] have been proposed as the underlying cause of these defects, including abnormal phagocytic priming by TLR4 [83], abnormal calcium conduction through TRPV2 [84], or direct pathogen recognition defects in NRF2 [85], Fcy receptors, MARCO, CD36, Dectin-1 or Scavenger receptor A [86, 87]. The advent of CFTR modulators has provided more insight into these mechanisms of host defense in CF [88].

3.3.5 Mechanisms of excessive inflammatory signaling and impaired inflammation resolution in CF macrophages

Uncontrolled activation of PPARy and PTEN-PI3K-AKT immune signaling, autophagy, the unfolded protein response, and inflammasome activation contribute to hyperinflammatory responses to environmental conditions in CF airways, including dehydrated mucus, presence of inflammatory mediators, and pathogen colonization [64, 76, 89, 90]. Macrophages isolated from *Cftr^{-/-}* mice have low basal levels of PPARy expression and attenuated lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-driven induction of PPARδ and LXRα [91]. In addition, in response to TLR-MyD88 signaling, CF macrophages display low activation of the PI3K/ AKT signaling [92], which plays a key role in regulating immune function and in down-regulating levels of microRNAs that amplify TLR4 signaling (e.g. miR-155, let7e, miR-125b, and miR199a-5p) in macrophages.

Functionally, CF macrophages have a hyper-inflammatory phenotype. Studies have demonstrated that in vitro cultures of macrophages from peripheral blood of CF patients have an exaggerated inflammatory response to several inflammatory mediators, such as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) abundant in CF airways [92-95]. Consistent with in vitro human data, macrophages from CF mice, rats, ferrets, and pigs have also been shown to be pro-inflammatory with increased production of pro-inflammatory mediators, such as interleukin (IL)-8, IL-6, reactive oxygen species (ROS), and lipid metabolites [92, 93, 95-99]. Further, studies in which bone marrow chimeras were made by transplanting wild-type and CF mice with either wild-type or CF bone marrow demonstrated that monocytes and macrophages exacerbate hyper-inflammation in CF lungs through defective CFTR function [100-102]. These data were corroborated in a P. aeruginosa infection

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

model using myeloid-specific *cftr* knock-out and knock-in mouse models [96, 102].

3.4 Insights from human studies of macrophage distribution and function in CF

The past decade has seen an accelerated expansion of physiologic and molecular knowledge of macrophage function and how it correlates in clinical models of CF pulmonary and extrapulmonary disease [64, 65, 90, 103]. While these models may closely reflect specific aspects of CF pathogenesis, the fundamental roles of macrophages and monocytes in human CF disease are not fully understood. Emerging areas of interest in human-based research are noted below.

3.4.1 Airway macrophage distribution is influenced by age and disease state

The airways of children with CF may exhibit early signs of tissue damage and inflammatory cell recruitment [64]. Despite the presence of modest inflammation, children harbor an increased number of dysfunctional alveolar macrophages, with lower percentages of recruited monocytes, macrophages, and neutrophils, as shown in observational cohorts such as the Australian Respiratory Early Surveillance Team for Cystic Fibrosis (AREST CF) [60, 104, 105]. During teenage years and into adulthood, as respiratory pathogen acquisition and exacerbation frequency increase, reports of macrophage-to-neutrophil ratios vary, likely representing a wide variability between those with residual CFTR function and milder clinical phenotypes and those with more severe and established disease [106, 107]. In adults, the distribution of airway monocytes and macrophages is also variable; however, adults often exhibit increased numbers of recruited monocytes and macrophage subpopulations that may represent the beginning of an exaggerated inflammatory response [57, 108]. Immune cells from respiratory secretions may be obtained from different sites, and therefore are likely to reflect microenvironment influences from microbial pathogens, microbiome, local inflammation and tissue injury, and pH/solute transport balance. While pro-inflammatory monocytes and heat-shock-activated macrophages may be detected in sputum samples [57], bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) may exhibit a predominance of alveolar macrophage subpopulations [108].

3.4.2 Macrophages as drivers or effectors of CF lung disease

The knowledge gap between transcriptional and proteomic profiles of individuals at different stages of disease and therapy, and the mechanism by which these profiles are associated with clinical outcomes in CF, raises the question of how monocytes and macrophages participate in CF lung disease pathogenesis. A specific question is whether monocytes and macrophages are initiators or effectors of pro-inflammatory signaling and impaired host defense that promote tissue injury and foster disease progression. For example, neutrophils are well-established contributors to inflammation, tissue damage, and CF disease in CF airways. While the number of neutrophils is proportionally larger in some CF airway samples, macrophages and monocytes are also enriched in the airways of stable children and adults with CF [57, 106, 108-110]. In the first single-cell RNA sequencing characterization of sputum from the airways of adults with CF, neutrophils accounted for 64% of all CF airway immune cells, while monocytes and macrophages only accounted for approximately 20% [57]. Yet, monocytes and macrophages exhibited a much higher number of differentially expressed genes than neutrophils, underscoring critical deficits in transcriptional programs associated with phagocytic activity, antigen presentation, cell survival, and exaggerated inflammatory responses [57]. While transcriptional differences do not prove causality, these impaired host de-

Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

fense and inflammatory programs are consistent with previously reported monocyte and macrophage functional defects contributing to CF lung disease. Recently, another single-cell RNA sequencing study of BALF immune cells demonstrated that monocyte and macrophage cell populations also vary in CF airways according to the site of sampling, and uncovered several alveolar macrophage clusters with abnormal transcriptional programs that may contribute to CF lung disease [108]. These findings are consistent with previously reported observations [60, 111] and underscore the importance of considering age, sex, disease state, and area of sampling when interpreting the functional role and contribution of cell populations to CF pathogenesis

3.4.3 Impact of CFTR modulators on monocyte and macrophage function

Recent studies have investigated macrophage function in human primary monocytes from individuals treated with the potentiator ivacaftor alone or in combination with correctors lumacaftor and tezacaftor [65, 112-116]. These studies highlighted the broad impact of CFTR modulators on transcriptomic and proteomic profiles of blood mononuclear cells. Yet, these studies did not establish a relationship between transcriptomic or proteomic profiles and longterm clinical outcomes reported in clinical trials of these drugs [117-120]. More recently, these studies were extended to elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor (ETI), a highly effective modulator therapy now available for pwCF with at least one F508del mutation [121]. These studies demonstrated that ETI treatment improves both important clinical outcomes and the antimicrobial function of monocytes/macrophages [122, 123]. One of these studies also reported that changes in macrophage CFTR function after ETI therapy had a strong correlation with improvements in percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second (ppFEV₁), body mass index (BMI), and bacterial clearance in patients [123],

suggesting that the effect of ETI on macrophages may predict the clinical response to ETI treatment in patients.

3.5 Future studies of importance

The significance of innate immunity in the pathogenesis of CF and for future therapeutic development becomes important in the era of CFTR modulator therapy which is expected to extend life expectancy of individuals with CF. Below, we discuss line of investigations that will need to be implemented.

3.5.1 Role of sex in monocyte and macrophage function

In the era of highly effective modulator therapy, variability in treatment response between men and women raises questions about the role of sex in immune contributions to CF disease [124-126]. Despite increased interest in this field, few data are available on the role of sex on monocyte and macrophage function. For example, women with CF experience increased rates of exacerbation and lung function decline than men, which may be partially attributed to monocyte and macrophage dysregulation [125-128]. In vitro studies have demonstrated that sex hormones modulate the inflammatory and antigen presentation functions of macrophages [107, 129, 130]. Therefore, it is reasonable to think that sex hormone fluctuations may also consistently modulate human monocytes and macrophages in vivo.

Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

3.5.2 Role of monocytes and macrophages in extrapulmonary manifestations in CF

Pancreatic disease, diabetes, gastrointestinal disease, bone metabolism, liver disease, and cardiovascular issues are increasingly common complications of CF, as patients live longer in the age of modulators [131-133]. Hyper-inflammation and the presence of immune cell infiltrates, including macrophages, are observed in these extrapulmonary organs affected by CF [134-140]. Diabetes has been associated with dysfunctional macrophage autophagy [141], which would be consistent with defective CF macrophages [142]. Macrophage dysfunction in aging or chronic disease has been a focus outside of CF, and has also become a new research direction in CF [133]. Aging introduces the concepts of cellular senescence [86] and how this impacts macrophage function. Since many of the attributes of aging may or may not be related to deficient CFTR, but to chronic disease, therapeutics aimed at supporting immunity and susceptibility and management of infections may be beneficial [102, 143]. Future research should investigate how pulmonary and extra-pulmonary CF manifestations are linked to inflammation and organ remodeling due to the dynamic shift in the composition of resident and monocyte-derived macrophage populations.

3.5.3 Targeting monocytes and macrophages to impact CF disease severity and progression

Preclinical studies of CF suggest that therapeutic approaches to immunomodulate monocytes/ macrophages can help improve lung inflammation [110], host defense mechanisms [82], and tissue remodeling [144]. Monocytes primed to express high levels of heme-oxygenase 1, an anti-inflammatory and antioxidant mediator, decreased pathological lung neutrophilic inflammation and IL-17 airway concentration without compromising the host defense against *P. aeruginosa* [51, 53, 92]. Moreover, treatment with recombinant resolvin (Rv) D1, a specialized pro-resolving lipid mediator, has considerable beneficial effects on CF macrophages, inducing pathways that favor the resolution of the pro-inflammatory response and increase phagocytic activity, thus improving morbidity in a CF mouse model of P. aeruginosa infection [145]. Drugs that modulate the IL-1 pathway and the downstream activation of NLRP3 (NOD-, LRRand pyrin domain-containing protein 3) [146, 147], and therapeutic interventions that act to establish macrophage's autophagy flux during bacterial infections [148-150], are also effective in immunomodulating monocytes/macrophages, and improving the host response to bacterial challenges in pre-clinical models of CF. Future studies must investigate whether these observations in animal models can be confirmed in human studies.

3.6 Conclusions

CFTR-deficient macrophages exhibit a dysfunctional response to the challenging conditions of CF airways (Figure 2). This abnormal immune response is multifactorial, with epigenetic, transcriptional, metabolic, and functional contributions. The complex and wide-reaching abnormalities in CF macrophages result in abnormal innate and adaptive immune regulatory functions that foster excessive inflammation, delay resolution, and drive clinical manifestations. CFTR modulator therapy shows promise to mitigate the role of macrophages in CF lung disease. We look forward to future studies that elucidate the role of sex and aging in macrophage-driven CF pathogenesis and whether targeting macrophage subsets with immunomodulatory drugs to mitigate excessive inflammation delays the development of CF lung disease.

Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

3.7 Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Catarina Di Pietro for developing the figures for the chapter.

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

Figure 1

ScRNAseq reveals an airway immune cell repertoire shift from alveolar macrophages to recruited monocytes and polymorphonuclear neutrophils in CF.

Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection (UMAP) visualization of 20,095 sputum cells from nine pwCF and five controls. Each dot represents a single cell, and cells are labelled by **(A)** cell type, **(B)** disease status, and **(C)** *CFTR* expression. Note the overall low *CFTR* expression in airway immune cells.

Abbreviations: Mo=monocyte; MoMΦ=monocyte-derived macrophage; alvMΦ=alveolar macrophage; cDC: classical dendritic cell, pDC: plasmacytoid dendritic cell; B: B-lymphocyte; T & NK: T-lymphocytes and NK-cells; PMN: polymorphonuclear neutrophil.

Reprinted with permission from [57]. Copyright © 2022 American Thoracic Society. All rights reserved.



Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

Figure 2

Pathways of macrophage and monocyte dysregulation in CF lung disease.

The macrophage/monocyte populations have an altered distribution in CF lungs (A) and display dysregulation of many vital pathways required for a normal immune response to pathogens and maintaining lung tissue homeostasis (B).



Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

Bibliography

- [1] Means Jr RJ, Rodgers G, Glader B, Arber DA, Appelbaum FR, Dispenzieri A, et al. Wintrobe's clinical hematology. 13th ed. United States: Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Lippincott Williams & Wilkins Health; 2014.
- [2] Metschnikoff E. Lecture on phagocytosis and immunity. Br Med J. 1891;1:213-7. DOI:10.1136/bmj.1.1570.213
- [3] Takeuchi O, Akira S. Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. Cell. 2010:140:805-20. DOI:10.1016/i. cell.2010.01.022
- [4] Hussell T, Bell TJ, Fujimori T. Airway macrophages: sentinels of health. In: Biswas SK, Mantovani A, editors. Macrophages: biology and role in the pathology of diseases. New York, NY: Springer New York; 2014. p. 171-82. 10.1007/978-1-4939-1311-4 8
- [5] Joshi N. Walter JM. Misharin AV. Alveolar macrophages. Cell Immunol. 2018;330:86-90. DOI:10.1016/j.cellimm.2018.01.005
- [6] Okabe Y, Medzhitov R. Tissue biology perspective on macrophages. Nat Immunol. 2016;17:9-17. DOI:10.1038/ni.3320
- [7] Gautier E. A transcriptional network underlies the identity and diversity of tissue macrophages. Acta Ophthalmol. 2014;92. DOI:10.1111/j.1755-3768.2014.1751.x
- [8] Gosselin D, Glass CK. Epigenomics of macrophages. Immunol Rev. 2014;262:96-112. DOI:10.1111/imr.12213
- [9] Lavin Y, Merad M. Macrophages: gatekeepers of tissue integrity. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1:201-9. DOI:10.1158/2326-6066.Cir-13-0117
- [10] Blériot C, Chakarov S, Ginhoux F. Determinants of resident tissue macrophage identity and function. Immunity. 2020:52:957-70. DOI:10.1016/j.immuni.2020.05.014

56

- [11] Ingersoll MA, Platt AM, Potteaux S, Randolph GJ. Monocyte trafficking in acute and chronic inflammation. Trends Immunol. 2011;32:470-7. DOI:10.1016/j.it.2011.05.001
- [12] Ginhoux F, Greter M, Leboeuf M, Nandi S, See P, Gokhan S, et al. Fate mapping analysis reveals that adult microglia derive from primitive macrophages. Science. 2010;330:841-5. DOI:10.1126/science.1194637
- [13] Schulz C, Gomez Perdiguero E, Chorro L, Szabo-Rogers H, Cagnard N, Kierdorf K, et al. A lineage of myeloid cells independent of Myb and hematopoietic stem cells. Science. 2012;336:86-90. DOI:10.1126/science.1219179
- [14] Hashimoto D, Chow A, Noizat C, Teo P, Beasley MB, Leboeuf M, et al. Tissue-resident macrophages self-maintain locally throughout adult life with minimal contribution from circulating monocytes. Immunity. 2013;38:792-804. DOI:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.04.004
- Yona S, Kim KW, Wolf Y, Mildner A, Varol [15] D, Breker M, et al. Fate mapping reveals origins and dynamics of monocytes and tissue macrophages under homeostasis. Immunity. 2013;38:79-91. DOI:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.12.001
- [16] Gomez Perdiguero E, Klapproth K, Schulz C, Busch K, Azzoni E, Crozet L, et al. Tissue-resident macrophages originate from yolk-sac-derived erythro-myeloid progenitors. Nature. 2015;518:547-51. DOI:10.1038/ nature13989
- [17] Perdiguero EG, Geissmann F. The development and maintenance of resident macrophages. Nat Immunol. 2016;17:2-8. DOI:10.1038/ni.3341
- [18] Ginhoux F, Guilliams M. Tissue-resident macrophage ontogeny and homeostasis. Immunity. 2016;44:439-49. DOI:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.024

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

- [19] Schyns J, Bai Q, Ruscitti C, Radermecker C, De Schepper S, Chakarov S, et al. Non-classical tissue monocytes and two functionally distinct populations of interstitial macrophages populate the mouse lung. Nat Commun. 2019;10:3964. DOI:10.1038/s41467-019-11843-0
- [20] Chakarov S, Lim HY, Tan L, Lim SY, See P, Lum J, et al. Two distinct interstitial macrophage populations coexist across tissues in specific subtissular niches. Science. 2019;363:eaau0964. DOI:10.1126/science. aau0964
- [21] Kaur M, Bell T, Salek-Ardakani S, Hussell T. Macrophage adaptation in airway inflammatory resolution. Eur Respir Rev. 2015;24:510-5. DOI:10.1183/16000617.0030-2015
- [22] Watanabe S, Alexander M, Misharin AV, Budinger GRS. The role of macrophages in the resolution of inflammation. I Clin Invest. 2019;129:2619-28. DOI:10.1172/jci124615
- [23] Morales-Nebreda L, Misharin AV, Perlman H, Budinger GR. The heterogeneity of lung macrophages in the susceptibility to disease. Eur Respir Rev. 2015;24:505-9. DOI:10.1183/16000617.0031-2015
- [24] Mould KJ, Barthel L, Mohning MP, Thomas SM, McCubbrey AL, Danhorn T, et al. Cell origin dictates programming of resident versus recruited macrophages during acute lung injury. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2017:57:294-306. DOI:10.1165/rcmb.2017-0061OC
- [25] Bonnardel J, T'Jonck W, Gaublomme D, Browaeys R, Scott CL, Martens L, et al. Stellate cells, hepatocytes, and endothelial cells imprint the kupffer cell identity on monocytes colonizing the liver macrophage niche. Immunity. 2019;51:638-54.e9. DOI:10.1016/i.immuni.2019.08.017
- [26] Sakai M, Troutman TD, Seidman JS, Ouyang Z, Spann NJ, Abe Y, et al. Liver-derived signals sequentially reprogram myeloid en-

hancers to initiate and maintain kupffer cell identity. Immunity. 2019;51:655-70.e8. DOI:10.1016/j.immuni.2019.09.002

- [27] Auffray C, Fogg D, Garfa M, Elain G, Join-Lambert O, Kayal S, et al. Monitoring of blood vessels and tissues by a population of monocytes with patrolling behavior. Science. 2007;317:666-70. DOI:10.1126/science.1142883
- [28] Schiller HB, Montoro DT, Simon LM, Rawlins EL, Meyer KB, Strunz M, et al. The human lung cell atlas: a high-resolution reference map of the human lung in health and disease. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2019;61:31-41. DOI:10.1165/rcmb.2018-0416TR
- [29] Netea MG, Quintin J, van der Meer JW. Trained immunity: a memory for innate host defense. Cell Host Microbe. 2011;9:355-61. DOI:10.1016/j.chom.2011.04.006
- [30] Chavakis T, Wielockx B, Hajishengallis G. Inflammatory modulation of hematopoiesis: linking trained immunity and clonal hematopoiesis with chronic disorders. Annu Rev Physiol. 2022;84:183-207. DOI:10.1146/ annurev-physiol-052521-013627
- [31] Saeed S, Quintin J, Kerstens HH, Rao NA, Aghajanirefah A, Matarese F, et al. Epigenetic programming of monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation and trained innate immunity. Science. 2014;345:1251086. DOI:10.1126/science.1251086
- [32] Locati M, Curtale G, Mantovani A. Diversity, mechanisms, and significance of macrophage plasticity. Annu Rev Pathol. 2020;15:123-47. DOI:10.1146/annurev-pathmechdis-012418-012718
- [33] Zhang B, Moorlag SJ, Dominguez-Andres J, Bulut Ö, Kilic G, Liu Z, et al. Single-cell RNA sequencing reveals induction of distinct trained-immunity programs in human monocytes. | Clin Invest. 2022:132:e147719. DOI:10.1172/jci147719

Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

- [34] Bekkering S, Domínguez-Andrés J, Joosten LAB, Riksen NP, Netea MG. Trained immunity: reprogramming innate Immunity in health and disease. Annu Rev Immunol. 2021;39:667–93. DOI:10.1146/annurev-immunol-102119-073855
- [35] Lee JW, Chun W, Lee HJ, Min JH, Kim SM, Seo JY, et al. The role of macrophages in the development of acute and chronic inflammatory lung diseases. Cells. 2021;10:897. DOI:10.3390/cells10040897
- [36] Parisi L, Gini E, Baci D, Tremolati M, Fanuli M, Bassani B, et al. Macrophage polarization in chronic inflammatory diseases: killers or builders? J Immunol Res. 2018;2018:8917804. DOI:10.1155/2018/8917804
- [37] Ross EA, Devitt A, Johnson JR. Macrophages: the good, the bad, and the gluttony. Front Immunol. 2021;12:708186. DOI:10.3389/fimmu.2021.708186
- [38] Yue Z, Nie L, Zhang P, Chen Q, Lv Q, Wang Q. Tissue-resident macrophage inflammaging aggravates homeostasis dysregulation in age-related diseases. Cell Immunol. 2021;361:104278. DOI:10.1016/j.cellimm.2020.104278
- [39] Fricker M, Gibson PG. Macrophage dysfunction in the pathogenesis and treatment of asthma. Eur Respir J. 2017;50:1700196. DOI:10.1183/13993003.00196-2017
- [40] Byrne AJ, Mathie SA, Gregory LG, Lloyd CM. Pulmonary macrophages: key players in the innate defence of the airways. Thorax. 2015;70:1189–96. DOI:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-207020
- [41] Koch CM, Chiu SF, Misharin AV, Ridge KM. Lung interstitial macrophages: establishing identity and uncovering heterogeneity. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2017;57:7–9. DOI:10.1165/ rcmb.2017-0150ED

- [42] Reyfman PA, Walter JM, Joshi N, Anekalla KR, McQuattie-Pimentel AC, Chiu S, et al. Single-cell transcriptomic analysis of human lung provides insights into the pathobiology of pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2019;199:1517–36. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201712-24100C
- [43] Joshi N, Watanabe S, Verma R, Jablonski RP, Chen CI, Cheresh P, et al. A spatially restricted fibrotic niche in pulmonary fibrosis is sustained by M-CSF/M-CSFR signalling in monocyte-derived alveolar macrophages. Eur Respir J. 2020;55:1900646. DOI:10.1183/13993003.00646-2019
- [44] Merad M, Martin JC. Pathological inflammation in patients with COVID-19: a key role for monocytes and macrophages. Nat Rev Immunol. 2020;20:355–62. DOI:10.1038/s41577-020-0331-4
- [45] Moore KJ, Tabas I. Macrophages in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Cell. 2011;145:341–55. DOI:10.1016/j. cell.2011.04.005
- [46] Daemen S, Gainullina A, Kalugotla G, He L, Chan MM, Beals JW, et al. Dynamic shifts in the composition of resident and recruited macrophages influence tissue remodeling in NASH. Cell Rep. 2021;34:108626. DOI:10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108626
- [47] Chapuy L, Sarfati M. Single-cell protein and RNA expression analysis of mononuclear phagocytes in intestinal mucosa and mesenteric lymph nodes of ulcerative colitis and crohn's disease patients. Cells. 2020;9:813. DOI:10.3390/cells9040813
- [48] Li C, Xu X, Wei S, Jiang P, Xue L, Wang J. Tumor-associated macrophages: potential therapeutic strategies and future prospects in cancer. J Immunother Cancer. 2021;9:e001341. DOI:10.1136/jitc-2020-001341

- [49] Noel M, O'Reilly EM, Wolpin BM, Ryan DP, Bullock AJ, Britten CD, et al. Phase 1b study of a small molecule antagonist of human chemokine (C-C motif) receptor 2 (PF-04136309) in combination with nab-paclitaxel/gemcitabine in first-line treatment of metastatic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Invest New Drugs. 2020;38:800–11. DOI:10.1007/s10637-019-00830-3
- [50] Bewley MA, Budd RC, Ryan E, Cole J, Collini P, Marshall J, et al. Opsonic phagocytosis in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is enhanced by Nrf2 agonists. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2018;198:739–50. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.201705-0903OC
- [51] Di Pietro C, Öz HH, Zhang PX, Cheng EC, Martis V, Bonfield TL, et al. Recruitment of monocytes primed to express heme oxygenase-1 ameliorates pathological lung inflammation in cystic fibrosis. Exp Mol Med. 2022;54:639–52. DOI:10.1038/s12276-022-00770-8
- [52] Hu G, Guo M, Xu J, Wu F, Fan J, Huang Q, et al. Nanoparticles targeting macrophages as potential clinical therapeutic agents against cancer and inflammation. Front Immunol. 2019;10:1998. DOI:10.3389/fimmu.2019.01998
- [53] Di Pietro C, Öz HH, Murray TS, Bruscia EM. Targeting the heme oxygenase 1/carbon monoxide pathway to resolve lung hyper-inflammation and restore a regulated Immune response in cystic fibrosis. Front Pharmacol. 2020;11:1059. DOI:10.3389/ fphar.2020.01059
- [54] Badr A, Eltobgy M, Krause K, Hamilton K, Estfanous S, Daily KP, et al. CFTR modulators restore acidification of autophago-lysosomes and bacterial clearance in cystic fibrosis macrophages. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2022;12:819554. DOI:10.3389/ fcimb.2022.819554

- [55] Del Porto P, Cifani N, Guarnieri S, Di Domenico EG, Mariggiò MA, Spadaro F, et al. Dysfunctional CFTR alters the bactericidal activity of human macrophages against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. PLoS One. 2011;6:e19970. DOI:10.1371/journal. pone.0019970
- [56] Paemka L, McCullagh BN, Abou Alaiwa MH, Stoltz DA, Dong Q, Randak CO, et al. Monocyte derived macrophages from CF pigs exhibit increased inflammatory responses at birth. J Cyst Fibros. 2017;16:471–4. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2017.03.007
- [57] Schupp JC, Khanal S, Gomez JL, Sauler M, Adams TS, Chupp GL, et al. Single-cell transcriptional archetypes of airway inflammation in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2020;202:1419–29. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.202004-09910C
- [58] Zhang S, Shrestha CL, Kopp BT. Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) modulators have differential effects on cystic fibrosis macrophage function. Sci Rep. 2018;8:17066. DOI:10.1038/s41598-018-35151-7
- [59] Riquelme SA, Liimatta K, Wong Fok Lung T, Fields B, Ahn D, Chen D, et al. Pseudomonas aeruginosa utilizes host-derived itaconate to redirect Its metabolism to promote biofilm formation. Cell Metab. 2020;31:1091– 106.e6. DOI:10.1016/j.cmet.2020.04.017
- [60] Brennan S, Sly PD, Gangell CL, Sturges N, Winfield K, Wikstrom M, et al. Alveolar macrophages and CC chemokines are increased in children with cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2009;34:655–61. DOI:10.1183/09031936.00178508
- [61] Gami A, Rinaldi K, Degefe YT, Vosoughi AS, Lee D, Maleki Z. Bronchoalveolar lavage in a pediatric population. Am J Clin Pathol. 2022;157:678–84. DOI:10.1093/ajcp/aqab177

Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

- [62] Hubeau C, Puchelle E, Gaillard D. Distinct pattern of immune cell population in the lung of human fetuses with cystic fibrosis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2001;108:524–9. DOI:10.1067/mai.2001.118516
- [63] Öz HH, Cheng EC, Di Pietro C, Tebaldi T, Biancon G, Zeiss C, et al. Recruited monocytes/macrophages drive pulmonary neutrophilic inflammation and irreversible lung tissue remodeling in cystic fibrosis. Cell Rep. 2022;41:111797. DOI:10.1016/j.celrep.2022.111797
- [64] Bruscia EM, Bonfield TL. Cystic fibrosis lung immunity: the role of the macrophage. J Innate Immun. 2016;8:550–63. DOI:10.1159/000446825
- [65] Hisert KB, Birkland TP, Schoenfelt KQ, Long ME, Grogan B, Carter S, et al. CFTR modulator therapy enhances peripheral blood monocyte contributions to immune responses in people with cystic fibrosis. Front Pharmacol. 2020;11:1219. DOI:10.3389/ fphar.2020.01219
- [66] Schaefers MM, Liao TL, Boisvert NM, Roux D, Yoder-Himes D, Priebe GP. An oxygen-sensing two-component system in the Burkholderia cepacia complex regulates biofilm, intracellular invasion, and pathogenicity. PLoS Pathog. 2017;13:e1006116. DOI:10.1371/ journal.ppat.1006116
- [67] Aulicino A, Dinan AM, Miranda-CasoLuengo AA, Browne JA, Rue-Albrecht K, MacHugh DE, et al. High-throughput transcriptomics reveals common and strain-specific responses of human macrophages to infection with Mycobacterium abscessus Smooth and Rough variants. BMC Genomics. 2015;16:1046. DOI:10.1186/s12864-015-2246-1

- [68] Hey J, Paulsen M, Toth R, Weichenhan D, Butz S, Schatterny J, et al. Epigenetic reprogramming of airway macrophages promotes polarization and inflammation in muco-obstructive lung disease. Nat Commun. 2021;12:6520. DOI:10.1038/s41467-021-26777-9
- [69] Hamilton K, Krause K, Badr A, Daily K, Estfanous S, Eltobgy M, et al. Defective immunometabolism pathways in cystic fibrosis macrophages. J Cyst Fibros. 2021;20:664–72. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2020.10.006
- [70] Assani K, Shrestha CL, Robledo-Avila F, Rajaram MV, Partida-Sanchez S, Schlesinger LS, et al. Human cystic fibrosis macrophages have defective calcium-dependent protein kinase C activation of the NADPH oxidase, an effect augmented by Burkholderia cenocepacia. J Immunol. 2017;198:1985–94. DOI:10.4049/jimmunol.1502609
- [71] Kratz M, Coats BR, Hisert KB, Hagman D, Mutskov V, Peris E, et al. Metabolic dysfunction drives a mechanistically distinct proinflammatory phenotype in adipose tissue macrophages. Cell Metab. 2014;20:614–25. DOI:10.1016/j.cmet.2014.08.010
- [72] Caution K, Pan A, Krause K, Badr A, Hamilton K, Vaidya A, et al. Methylomic correlates of autophagy activity in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2019;18:491–500. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2019.01.011
- [73] Li C, Wu Y, Riehle A, Ma J, Kamler M, Gulbins E, et al. Staphylococcus aureus survives in cystic fibrosis macrophages, forming a reservoir for chronic pneumonia. Infect Immun. 2017;85:e00883-16. DOI:10.1128/ iai.00883-16
- [74] Estfanous S, Krause K, Anne MNK, Eltobgy M, Caution K, Abu Khweek A, et al. Gasdermin D restricts Burkholderia cenocepacia infection in vitro and in vivo. Sci Rep. 2021;11:855. DOI:10.1038/s41598-020-79201-5

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

- [75] Hazlett HF, Hampton TH, Aridgides DS, Armstrong DA, Dessaint JA, Mellinger DL, et al. Altered iron metabolism in cystic fibrosis macrophages: the impact of CFTR modulators and implications for Pseudomonas aeruginosa survival. Sci Rep. 2020;10:10935. DOI:10.1038/s41598-020-67729-5
- [76] Riquelme SA, Prince A. Pseudomonas aeruginosa consumption of airway metabolites promotes lung infection. Pathogens. 2021;10:957. DOI:10.3390/pathogens10080957
- [77] Lara-Reyna S, Scambler T, Holbrook J, Wong C, Jarosz-Griffiths HH, Martinon F, et al. Metabolic reprograming of cystic fibrosis macrophages via the IRE1α Arm of the unfolded protein response results in exacerbated inflammation. Front Immunol. 2019;10:1789. DOI:10.3389/fimmu.2019.01789
- [78] Gharib SA, McMahan RS, Eddy WE, Long ME, Parks WC, Aitken ML, et al. Transcriptional and functional diversity of human macrophage repolarization. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2019;143:1536–48. DOI:10.1016/j. jaci.2018.10.046
- [79] Yap J, Chen X, Delmotte P, Sieck GC. TNFα selectively activates the IRE1α/XBP1 endoplasmic reticulum stress pathway in human airway smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2020;318:L483–93. DOI:10.1152/ajplung.00212.2019
- [80] Catellani C, Cirillo F, Graziano S, Montanini L, Marmiroli N, Gullì M, et al. MicroRNA global profiling in cystic fibrosis cell lines reveals dysregulated pathways related with inflammation, cancer, growth, glucose and lipid metabolism, and fertility: an exploratory study. Acta Biomed. 2022;93:e2022133. DOI:10.23750/abm.v93i3.12842

- [81] Luly FR, Lévêque M, Licursi V, Cimino G, Martin-Chouly C, Théret N, et al. MiR-146a is over-expressed and controls IL-6 production in cystic fibrosis macrophages. Sci Rep. 2019;9:16259. DOI:10.1038/s41598-019-52770-w
- [82] Jaganathan D, Bruscia EM, Kopp BT. Emerging concepts in defective macrophage phagocytosis in cystic fibrosis. Int J Mol Sci. 2022;23:7750. DOI:10.3390/ijms23147750
- [83] Di Pietro C, Zhang PX, O'Rourke TK, Murray TS, Wang L, Britto CJ, et al. Ezrin links CFTR to TLR4 signaling to orchestrate anti-bacterial immune response in macrophages. Sci Rep. 2017;7:10882. DOI:10.1038/s41598-017-11012-7
- [84] Lévêque M, Penna A, Le Trionnaire S, Belleguic C, Desrues B, Brinchault G, et al. Phagocytosis depends on TRPV2-mediated calcium influx and requires TRPV2 in lipids rafts: alteration in macrophages from patients with cystic fibrosis. Sci Rep. 2018;8:4310. DOI:10.1038/s41598-018-22558-5
- [85] Pang Z, Xu Y, Zhu Q. Early growth response 1 suppresses macrophage phagocytosis by inhibiting NRF2 activation through upregulation of autophagy during *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2021;11:773665. DOI:10.3389/ fcimb.2021.773665
- [86] Bezzerri V, Piacenza F, Caporelli N, Malavolta M, Provinciali M, Cipolli M. Is cellular senescence involved in cystic fibrosis? Respir Res. 2019;20:32. DOI:10.1186/s12931-019-0993-2
- [87] Hartl D, Gaggar A, Bruscia E, Hector A, Marcos V, Jung A, et al. Innate immunity in cystic fibrosis lung disease. J Cyst Fibros. 2012;11:363–82. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2012.07.003

Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

- [88] Rezende GL, Nakanishi M, Couto SCP, Martins C, Sampaio ALL, Albuquerque LFF, et al. Alterations in innate immune responses of patients with chronic rhinosinusitis related to cystic fibrosis. PLoS One. 2022;17:e0267986. DOI:10.1371/journal. pone.0267986
- [89] Lara-Reyna S, Holbrook J, Jarosz-Griffiths HH, Peckham D, McDermott MF. Dysregulated signalling pathways in innate immune cells with cystic fibrosis mutations. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2020;77:4485–503. DOI:10.1007/ s00018-020-03540-9
- [90] Gillan JL, Davidson DJ, Gray RD. Targeting cystic fibrosis inflammation in the age of CFTR modulators: focus on macrophages. Eur Respir J. 2021;57. DOI:10.1183/13993003.03502-2020
- [91] Andersson C, Zaman MM, Jones AB, Freedman SD. Alterations in immune response and PPAR/LXR regulation in cystic fibrosis macrophages. J Cyst Fibros. 2008;7:68–78. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2007.05.004
- [92] Zhang PX, Cheng J, Zou S, D'Souza AD, Koff JL, Lu J, et al. Pharmacological modulation of the AKT/microRNA-199a-5p/CAV1 pathway ameliorates cystic fibrosis lung hyper-inflammation. Nat Commun. 2015;6:6221. DOI:10.1038/ncomms7221
- [93] Bruscia EM, Zhang PX, Satoh A, Caputo C, Medzhitov R, Shenoy A, et al. Abnormal trafficking and degradation of TLR4 underlie the elevated inflammatory response in cystic fibrosis. J Immunol. 2011;186:6990–8. DOI:10.4049/jimmunol.1100396
- [94] Zaman MM, Gelrud A, Junaidi O, Regan MM, Warny M, Shea JC, et al. Interleukin 8 secretion from monocytes of subjects heterozygous for the deltaF508 cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator gene mutation is altered. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol. 2004;11:819–24. DOI:10.1128/cdli.11.5.819-824.2004

- [95] Kopp BT, Abdulrahman BA, Khweek AA, Kumar SB, Akhter A, Montione R, et al. Exaggerated inflammatory responses mediated by Burkholderia cenocepacia in human macrophages derived from Cystic fibrosis patients. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2012;424:221–7. DOI:10.1016/j. bbrc.2012.06.066
- [96] Bonfield TL, Hodges CA, Cotton CU, Drumm ML. Absence of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator (CFTR) from myeloid-derived cells slows resolution of inflammation and infection. J Leukoc Biol. 2012;92:1111–22. DOI:10.1189/jlb.0412188
- [97] Zhang PX, Murray TS, Villella VR, Ferrari E, Esposito S, D'Souza A, et al. Reduced caveolin-1 promotes hyperinflammation due to abnormal heme oxygenase-1 localization in lipopolysaccharide-challenged macrophages with dysfunctional cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator. J Immunol. 2013;190:5196–206. DOI:10.4049/ jimmunol.1201607
- [98] Lamothe J, Valvano MA. Burkholderia cenocepacia-induced delay of acidification and phagolysosomal fusion in cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR)-defective macrophages. Microbiology (Reading). 2008;154:3825–34. DOI:10.1099/ mic.0.2008/023200-0
- [99] Abdulrahman BA, Khweek AA, Akhter A, Caution K, Kotrange S, Abdelaziz DH, et al. Autophagy stimulation by rapamycin suppresses lung inflammation and infection by Burkholderia cenocepacia in a model of cystic fibrosis. Autophagy. 2011;7:1359–70. DOI:10.4161/auto.7.11.17660
- [100] Bruscia EM, Zhang PX, Ferreira E, Caputo C, Emerson JW, Tuck D, et al. Macrophages directly contribute to the exaggerated inflammatory response in cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator-/- mice. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2009;40:295-304. DOI:10.1165/rcmb.2008-01700C

- [101] Fan Z, Pitmon E, Wen L, Miller J, Ehinger E, Herro R, et al. Bone marrow transplantation rescues monocyte recruitment defect and improves cystic fibrosis in mice. J Immunol. 2022;208:745–52. DOI:10.4049/jimmunol.1901171
- [102] van Heeckeren AM, Sutton MT, Fletcher DR, Hodges CA, Caplan AI, Bonfield TL. Enhancing cystic fibrosis immune regulation. Front Pharmacol. 2021;12:573065. DOI:10.3389/ fphar.2021.573065
- [103] Barnaby R, Koeppen K, Nymon A, Hampton TH, Berwin B, Ashare A, et al. Lumacaftor (VX-809) restores the ability of CF macrophages to phagocytose and kill Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2018;314:L432–8. DOI:10.1152/ ajplung.00461.2017
- [104] Sagel SD, Wagner BD, Anthony MM, Emmett P, Zemanick ET. Sputum biomarkers of inflammation and lung function decline in children with cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2012;186:857–65. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.201203-05070C
- [105] Ishak A, Stick SM, Turkovic L, Ranganathan SC, King L, Harrison J, *et al.* BAL inflammatory markers can predict pulmonary exacerbations in children with cystic fibrosis. Chest. 2020;158:2314–22. DOI:10.1016/j. chest.2020.06.044
- [106] Levy H, Kalish LA, Huntington I, Weller N, Gerard C, Silverman EK, *et al.* Inflammatory markers of lung disease in adult patients with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2007;42:256–62. DOI:10.1002/ppul.20563
- [107] Jaillon S, Berthenet K, Garlanda C. Sexual dimorphism in innate immunity. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2019;56:308–21. DOI:10.1007/ s12016-017-8648-x

- [108] Li X, Kolling FW, Aridgides D, Mellinger D, Ashare A, Jakubzick CV. ScRNA-seq expression of IFI27 and APOC2 identifies four alveolar macrophage superclusters in healthy BALF. Life Sci Alliance. 2022;5:e202201458. DOI:10.26508/lsa.202201458
- [109] Mayer-Hamblett N, Aitken ML, Accurso FJ, Kronmal RA, Konstan MW, Burns JL, et al. Association between pulmonary function and sputum biomarkers in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2007;175:822–8. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200609-1354OC
- [110] Cantin AM, Hartl D, Konstan MW, Chmiel JF. Inflammation in cystic fibrosis lung disease: Pathogenesis and therapy. J Cyst Fibros. 2015;14:419–30. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2015.03.003
- [111] Murphy BS, Bush HM, Sundareshan V, Davis C, Hagadone J, Cory TJ, et al. Characterization of macrophage activation states in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2010;9:314–22. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2010.04.006
- [112] Bratcher PE, Rowe SM, Reeves G, Roberts T, Szul T, Harris WT, et al. Alterations in blood leukocytes of G551D-bearing cystic fibrosis patients undergoing treatment with ivacaftor. J Cyst Fibros. 2016;15:67–73. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2015.02.010
- [113] Sun T, Sun Z, Jiang Y, Ferguson AA, Pilewski JM, Kolls JK, et al. Transcriptomic responses to ivacaftor and prediction of ivacaftor clinical responsiveness. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2019;61:643–52. DOI:10.1165/rcmb.2019-0032OC
- [114] Guerra L, D'Oria S, Favia M, Castellani S, Santostasi T, Polizzi AM, et al. CFTR-dependent chloride efflux in cystic fibrosis mononuclear cells is increased by ivacaftor therapy. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2017;52:900–8. DOI:10.1002/ppul.23712

Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

- [115] Hisert KB, Schoenfelt KQ, Cooke G, Grogan B, Launspach JL, Gallagher CG, et al. Ivacaftor-induced proteomic changes suggest monocyte defects may contribute to the pathogenesis of cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2016;54:594–7. DOI:10.1165/ rcmb.2015-0322LE
- [116] Kopp BT, Fitch J, Jaramillo L, Shrestha CL, Robledo-Avila F, Zhang S, et al. Whole-blood transcriptomic responses to lumacaftor/ ivacaftor therapy in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2020;19:245–54. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2019.08.021
- [117] Volkova N, Moy K, Evans J, Campbell D, Tian S, Simard C, *et al.* Disease progression in patients with cystic fibrosis treated with ivacaftor: data from national US and UK registries. J Cyst Fibros. 2020;19:68–79. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2019.05.015
- [118] Taylor-Cousar JL, Munck A, McKone EF, van der Ent CK, Moeller A, Simard C, et al. Tezacaftor-ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis homozygous for Phe508del. N Engl J Med. 2017;377:2013–23. DOI:10.1056/NEJ-Moa1709846
- [119] Davies JC, Moskowitz SM, Brown C, Horsley A, Mall MA, McKone EF, et al. VX-659-Tezacaftor-ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis and one or two Phe508del alleles. N Engl J Med. 2018;379:1599–611. DOI:10.1056/ NEJMoa1807119
- [120] Shaw M, Khan U, Clancy JP, Donaldson SH, Sagel SD, Rowe SM, et al. Changes in LCI in F508del/F508del patients treated with lumacaftor/ivacaftor: results from the Prospect study. J Cyst Fibros. 2020;19:931–3. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2020.05.010
- [121] Middleton PG, Mall MA, Dřevínek P, Lands LC, McKone EF, Polineni D, et al. Elexacaftor-tezacaftor-ivacaftor for cystic fibrosis with a single Phe508del allele. N Engl J Med. 2019;381:1809–19. DOI:10.1056/NEJ-Moa1908639

- [122] Cavinato L, Luly FR, Pastore V, Chiappetta D, Sangiorgi G, Ferrara E, *et al.* Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor corrects monocyte microbicidal deficiency in cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2023;61:2200725. DOI:10.1183/13993003.00725-2022
- [123] Zhang S, Shrestha CL, Robledo-Avila F, Jaganathan D, Wisniewski BL, Brown N, et al. Cystic fibrosis macrophage function and clinical outcomes after elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor.EurRespirJ.2023;61:2102861. DOI:10.1183/13993003.02861-2021
- [124] Sutton S, Rosenbluth D, Raghavan D, Zheng J, Jain R. Effects of puberty on cystic fibrosis related pulmonary exacerbations in women versus men. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2014;49:28– 35. DOI:10.1002/ppul.22767
- [125] Harness-Brumley CL, Elliott AC, Rosenbluth DB, Raghavan D, Jain R. Gender differences in outcomes of patients with cystic fibrosis.
 J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2014;23:1012– 20. DOI:10.1089/jwh.2014.4985
- [126] Lam GY, Goodwin J, Wilcox PG, Quon BS. Sex disparities in cystic fibrosis: review on the effect of female sex hormones on lung pathophysiology and outcomes. ERJ Open Res. 2021;7:00475-2020. DOI:10.1183/23120541.00475-2020
- [127] Montemayor K, Claudio AT, Carson S, Lechtzin N, Christianson MS, West NE. Unmasking catamenial hemoptysis in the era of CFTR modulator therapy. J Cyst Fibros. 2020;19:e25–7. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2020.01.005
- [128] Chotirmall SH, Smith SG, Gunaratnam C, Cosgrove S, Dimitrov BD, O'Neill SJ, et al. Effect of estrogen on *Pseudomonas* mucoidy and exacerbations in cystic fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:1978–86. DOI:10.1056/NEJ-Moa1106126
- [129] Rettew JA, Huet YM, Marriott I. Estrogens augment cell surface TLR4 expression on murine macrophages and regulate sepsis susceptibility *in vivo*. Endocrinology. 2009;150:3877–84. DOI:10.1210/en.2009-0098

- [130] Buskiewicz IA, Huber SA, Fairweather D. Sex hormone receptor expression in the immune system. In: Neigh GN, Mitzelfelt MM, editors. Sex differences in physiology. Boston: Academic Press; 2016. p. 45–60. 10.1016/ B978-0-12-802388-4.00004-5
- [131] Liou TG. The clinical biology of cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator protein: its role and function in extrapulmonary disease. Chest. 2019;155:605–16. DOI:10.1016/j. chest.2018.10.006
- [132] West NE, Flume PA. Unmet needs in cystic fibrosis: the next steps in improving outcomes. Expert Rev Respir Med. 2018;12:585– 93. DOI:10.1080/17476348.2018.1483723
- [133] Manti S, Parisi GF, Papale M, Marseglia GL, Licari A, Leonardi S. Type 2 inflammation in cystic fibrosis: new insights. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. 2022;33 Suppl 27:15–7. DOI:10.1111/ pai.13619
- [134] Ooi CY, Durie PR. Cystic fibrosis from the gastroenterologist's perspective. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;13:175–85. DOI:10.1038/nrgastro.2015.226
- [135] Ramsey ML, Li SS, Lara LF, Gokun Y, Akshintala VS, Conwell DL, *et al.* Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator modulators and the exocrine pancreas: a scoping review. J Cyst Fibros. 2023;22:193– 200. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2022.08.008
- [136] Rotti PG, Xie W, Poudel A, Yi Y, Sun X, Tyler SR, et al. Pancreatic and islet remodeling in cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) knockout ferrets. Am J Pathol. 2018;188:876–90. DOI:10.1016/j.ajpath.2017.12.015
- [137] Gibson-Corley KN, Meyerholz DK, Engelhardt JF. Pancreatic pathophysiology in cystic fibrosis. J Pathol. 2016;238:311–20. DOI:10.1002/path.4634

- [138] Hart NJ, Aramandla R, Poffenberger G, Fayolle C, Thames AH, Bautista A, *et al.* Cystic fibrosis-related diabetes is caused by islet loss and inflammation. JCI Insight. 2018;3:e98240. DOI:10.1172/jci.insight.98240
- [139] Tam RY, van Dorst JM, McKay I, Coffey M, Ooi CY. Intestinal inflammation and alterations in the gut microbiota in cystic fibrosis: a review of the current evidence, pathophysiology and future directions. J Clin Med. 2022;11:649. DOI:10.3390/jcm11030649
- [140] Dana J, Debray D, Beaufrère A, Hillaire S, Fabre M, Reinhold C, et al. Cystic fibrosis-related liver disease: clinical presentations, diagnostic and monitoring approaches in the era of CFTR modulator therapies. J Hepatol. 2022;76:420–34. DOI:10.1016/j. ihep.2021.09.042
- [141] Ye X, Zhou XJ, Zhang H. Autophagy in immune-related renal disease. J Immunol Res. 2019;2019:5071687. DOI:10.1155/2019/5071687
- [142] Coderre L, Debieche L, Plourde J, Rabasa-Lhoret R, Lesage S. The potential causes of cystic fibrosis-related diabetes. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2021;12:702823. DOI:10.3389/fendo.2021.702823
- [143] Bonfield TL, Sutton MT, Fletcher DR, Folz MA, Ragavapuram V, Somoza RA, et al. Donor-defined mesenchymal stem cell antimicrobial potency against nontuberculous mycobacterium. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2021;10:1202–16. DOI:10.1002/sctm.20-0521
- [144] Bruscia EM, Zhang PX, Barone C, Scholte BJ, Homer R, Krause DS, et al. Increased susceptibility of CFTR-/- mice to LPS-induced lung remodeling. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2016;310:L711–9. DOI:10.1152/ ajplung.00284.2015
- [145] Isopi E, Mattoscio D, Codagnone M, Mari VC, Lamolinara A, Patruno S, et al. Resolvin D1 reduces lung infection and inflammation activating resolution in cystic fibrosis. Front Immunol. 2020;11:581. DOI:10.3389/ fimmu.2020.00581

Chapter 3 - Macrophages in cystic fibrosis

[146] Pariano M, Pieroni S, De Luca A, Iannitti RG, Borghi M, Puccetti M, et al. Anakinra activates superoxide dismutase 2 to mitigate inflammasome activity. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22:6531. DOI:10.3390/ijms22126531 [147] McElvaney OJ, Zaslona Z, Becker-Flegler K, Palsson-McDermott EM, Boland F, Gunaratnam C, et al. Specific inhibition of the NLRP3 inflammasome as an antiinflammatory strategy in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2019;200:1381-91. DOI:10.1164/

[148] Shrestha CL, Assani KD, Rinehardt H, Albastroiu F, Zhang S, Shell R, et al. Cysteamine-mediated clearance of antibiotic-resistant pathogens in human cystic fibrosis macrophages. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0186169.

DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0186169 [149] Ferrari E, Monzani R, Villella VR, Esposito S, Saluzzo F, Rossin F, et al. Cysteamine re-establishes the clearance of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa by macrophages bearing the cystic fibrosis-relevant F508del-CF-TR mutation. Cell Death Dis. 2017;8:e2544.

DOI:10.1038/cddis.2016.476

7.2016.1217370

[150] Tazi MF, Dakhlallah DA, Caution K, Gerber MM, Chang SW, Khalil H, et al. Elevated Mirc1/Mir17-92 cluster expression negatively regulates autophagy and CFTR (cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator) function in CF macrophages. Autophagy. 2016;12:2026-37. DOI:10.1080/1554862

rccm.201905-1013OC

68

Chapter 4 Regulation of immune protection and pathology by CD4+ T cells in people with cystic fibrosis

Authors

Alexander Scheffold, Petra Bacher

Introduction

People with cystic fibrosis (CF) suffer from chronic respiratory infections and inflammation caused by bacterial, viral, or fungal pathogens, leading to progressive impairment of lung function. CD4+ T helper cells, as well as CD8+ T cells, innate gamma/delta (y/δ) T cells and natural killer (NK). T cells orchestrate adaptive immune responses and therefore play an essential role in both host defense against pathogens as well as immune pathology, such as chronic inflammation or allergy. In this chapter we focus on the role of CD4+ T cells in lung pathology of people with CF (pwCF) with CF, including the role of specific pathogens known to play a role in disease exacerbation and loss of lung function.

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

CD4+ T cells are central orchestrators of adaptative immune responses

CD4+ T cells express T cell receptors (TCRs) with a single specificity enabling selective recognition of pathogen-derived peptides (antigenic epitopes) presented by antigen-presenting cells on human leukocyte antigen (HLA) molecules. Following antigen recognition, CD4+ T cells differentiate into various effector subsets for an immune response optimized for the particular pathogen. In the thymus, differentiation occurs into mainly two distinct lineages. Firstly, conventional Th cells (Tcons) are essential for protective

immune responses against pathogens, although insufficient or dysregulated Tcon responses can lead to immune pathologies such as allergies, autoimmunity, or inflammatory diseases. The second major Th cell lineage are the "regulatory" T cells (Tregs). Their main function is to control or suppress inappropriate immune responses against host and harmless antigens or to limit immune responses against pathogens to prevent immune pathologies. Tregs are characterized by expression of the transcription factor forkhead box protein P3 (Foxp3) and a specific epigenetic and transcriptional gene expression profile. Tregs and Tcons can be divided, according to their phenotype, into naive cells that have not been exposed to their antigen in vivo and antigen-experienced "memory" T cells.

Memory Tcons can further be divided into several Th subgroups according to their functional properties, e.g., their ability to produce specific effector cytokines: interferon (IFN)y (Th1), interleukin (IL)-4, IL-5, IL-13 (Th2), IL-17, IL-22 (Th17, Th22), IL-21 (T follicular helper cells, TFH). These effector programs, which also include different migration and homing capacities, are centrally regulated by so-called master transcription factors that determine the overall effector program of the Th subset, such as T-bet for Th1, GATA-3 (Th2), ROR-gt (Th17) or BCL-6 (TFH). Although this functional classification has been helpful in the past, recent data revealed a variable degree of plasticity of T cell phenotypes, which is an active area of research.

Chapter 4 - Regulation of immune protection and pathology by CD4+ T cells in people with CF

Chapter 4 - Regulation of immune protection and pathology by CD4+ T cells in people with CF

Several lines of evidence suggest that both exaggerated inflammatory CD4+ T subsets and a deficiency in the number and function of Tregs may contribute to chronic airway inflammation in pwCF.

4.2 Alterations of regulatory T cells

Although Tregs are central for immune tolerance, few studies have investigated alterations of Tregs in pwCF. Reduced frequencies of peripheral Tregs were identified in patients with allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis (ABPA) [1], as well as in children with CF [2] which correlated with reduced lung function [2]. Hector et al. quantified Tregs in peripheral blood and airway samples from a larger number of children with CF (n>50) and showed that absolute numbers and percentages of CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ Tregs were significantly decreased in peripheral blood and also in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) compared to controls [3]. The decreased number of peripheral Treg correlated with loss of lung function [3], as previously shown [2]. However, no differences in the frequencies of peripheral Tregs were observed between adults with CF and control adults [4]. Such variability may be due to the different ages of the study participants (see below) and/or technical differences to quantitate Tregs.

In addition, chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection has been linked to a particular decline in Treg cells numbers, as compared to pwCF who never tested positive for *P. aeruginosa* [3, 5]. Colonization of pwCF with other pathogens, such as *Staphylococcus aureus, Haemophilus influenzae, Aspergillus fumigatus,* or *Candida albicans* had no effect on the Treg frequencies [3]. Furthermore, a link between *P. aeruginosa* infection and reduced Treg numbers was confirmed in a *Cftr*^{-/-}

mouse model of acute P. aeruginosa pneumonia [3]. In addition to Treg numbers, the suppressive capacity of polyclonal Tregs from pwCF was also impaired, when tested in in vitro suppression assays [3, 6]. However, the mechanisms underlying the reduced Treg numbers and function and how they may be influenced by *P. aeruginosa* remain poorly understood. CFTR modulator therapy had no effect on Treg frequencies in pwCF [5]. In Cftr-/- mice, dysfunctional indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-1 (IDO) activity has been suggested that was associated with reduced Treg cell activities and inflammatory responses [7]. Furthermore, decreased levels of 1a,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3, the biologically active form of vitamin D, were reported in pwCF, and in vitro treatment of CD4+ T cells with 1a,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 resulted in an increase of transforming growth factor beta $(TGF-\beta)$ -expressing Tregs [1]. Thus, enhancement of Treg function might be a novel approach to control chronic inflammation in pwCF.

The reduction in Treg numbers was more pronounced in older children with CF and affected memory, but not naive, Tregs [3]. This is partially in line with our own recent data, showing a marked increase of Tregs with a naive-like phenotype in pwCF [6]. The age-dependent differences in Treg decline suggest that Treg impairment in CF is acquired and not inherent to CF Tregs themselves [8]. Consistently, pwCF do not have clinical manifestations of general Treg dysfunction such as systemic autoimmunity, intestinal or skin inflammation, as observed in patients with immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) who carry a functionally impaired Foxp3 gene [9, 10]. Accordingly, we observed no differences in the frequencies or suppressive capacity of A. fumigatus-reactive Tregs in pwCF [6]. This supports the concept that Treg alterations in CF might be due to other mechanisms like an enhanced Treg turnover or exhaustion [3], which might be further enhanced by infections such as

P. aeruginosa, but may not affect all Treg specificities to the same degree. It will be important to further disentangle the mechanisms underlying Treg alterations and the affected target specificities in pwCF in future studies, in order to develop targeted therapeutic strategies.

4.3 Increased Th2 responses in people with CF

The best documented evidence for a role of T cells in the pathogenesis of CF exists for Th2 mediated allergic inflammation in the context of fungal sensitization [11]. Although Th2 cells can exhibit many host-protective functions such as maintenance of barrier defense and regulation of tissue regeneration, excessive and chronic activation of the type 2 cells contributes to reduced pathogen defense and fibrosis [12]. In particular, fungal pathogens have been identified as triggers of allergic Th2 reactions in pwCF [1, 13-19]. In particular, ABPA, a detrimental hypersensitivity reaction against the ubiquitous airborne fungus A. fumigatus, is a frequent severe allergic complication, affecting approximately 5-15% of pwCF [20]. In addition to ABPA, sensitization to A. fumigatus is common in pwCF and recent data show that 40% of pwCF display a Th2 response against the fungus that is virtually absent in healthy individuals [6]. This suggests that altered host-pathogen interaction in pwCF contribute to the development of Th2 responses, such as more intense or prolonged fungal exposure, fungal filamentation and release of additional antigens and/ or a local lung tissue barrier defect. In healthy individuals, A. fumigatus generates a mainly Treg response. This suggests that in healthy individuals, A. fumigatus is a major tolerogen rather than an immunogen [21], similar to harmless plant pollen or house dust mite [13] (and reviewed in [21]).

The reasons why some pwCF develop ABPA, while others do not, are still not understood. Furthermore, Th2 responses are focused on A. fumigatus but not on other environmental fungi. Recently, cross-reactivity of A. fumigatus-reactive Th2 cells to other common filamentous fungi, such as Scedosporium apiospermum has been identified, in particular in patients with ongoing or a history of ABPA [6]. This suggests that the development of multi-fungal cross-reactive Th2-cells might be a potential risk factor for ABPA with several environmental fungal species contributing to the development and/or exacerbation of ABPA [6]. As mentioned before, A. fumigatus-specific Treg responses are not impaired in pwCF [13, 15]. However, like for other hypersensitivities, Th2 responses against A. fumigatus are focused on distinct allergenic proteins [6, 13, 22] and many of these proteins are secreted by the fungus. Comparison of Treg versus Th2 specificity revealed that Th2 cells only develop against A. fumigatus proteins that are not protected by specific Tregs. This indicates that antigen specific escape of Th2 effector cells from Treg-mediated tolerance is an important mechanism for allergy development [13].

Besides A. fumigatus, P. aeruginosa has also been shown to increase Th2 responses in pwCF [23-25]. P. aeruginosa-infected patients had significantly higher levels of Th2 cells and Th2-related cytokines in BALF compared to non-infected patients [23], which negatively correlated with lung function parameters [23]. However, it remains unclear whether P. aeruginosa itself triggers Th2 responses in pwCF or whether rather a pre-existing Th2-type cytokine milieu predisposes for P. aeruginosa colonization [25]. S. aureus, which is emerging as an important player in allergic inflammation [26], is frequently found in CF lungs and Th2 responses against certain secreted S. aureus proteins are elevated in pwCF [27].
Chapter 4 - Regulation of immune protection and pathology by CD4+ T cells in people with CF

Chapter 4 - Regulation of immune protection and pathology by CD4+ T cells in people with CF

Understanding the conditions which control Th2 cell development and maintenance in the CF lung and the characterization of their specific target antigens will be important to develop therapeutic or preventive immune modulation, targeting immune pathology without compromising protective immunity.

4.4 Th17 cells in CF

Human and murine studies suggest that pwCF display an increased Th17 immune response in the lung [14, 25, 28]. Increased levels of Th17-derived cytokines can be identified in lungs, bronchial mucosa, lung draining lymph nodes, sputum and BALF of pwCF [25, 28-31]. IL-17A production has been shown to be mainly attributable to CD4+ T helper cells in CF lung tissue, but also to several innate-like lymphocytes [28. 31, 32]. In experimental systems, Th17 has been described to mediate protection against fungi and different bacterial microbes. In humans, genetic or treatment-induced deficiencies of the Th17 system lead to increased colonization with C. albicans and to a lesser degree with S. aureus. This suggests that these two commensal microbes are major Th17 targets [33, 34]. We recently showed that among a panel of 30 different members of the human mycobiome, C. albicans was the only fungal species driving dominant Th17 responses in humans [14]. However, C. albicans-reactive T cell responses also induce a population of Th17 cells that is cross-reactive against the airborne fungus A. fumigatus, and these cross-reactive cells are strongly expanded in people with asthma, COPD and CF [14]. A. fumigatus-reactive Th17 cells were detected in lungs of pwCF [14, 28] where they may contribute to local tissue inflammation. Furthermore. increased A. fumigatus-reactive Th17 responses were identified in pwCF with untreated acute ABPA, but not in patients who were treated with anti-fungal treatment and corticosteroids or in patients with a history of ABPA [14]. In contrast, no difference in the Th2 compartment was observed between these patient groups, indicating that the selective increase of cross-reactive Th17 cells might be an initiator or exaggerator of acute ABPA [14], as has been shown in a murine lung allergy model [35]. In addition, increased Th17 responses have been linked to chronic P. aeruginosa infection, and specific Th17 cells against P. aeruginosa can be detected in peripheral blood of pwCF [25, 36]. However, a Th17skewed immune response has been suggested to precede the colonization with P. aeruginosa [25], indicating that additional microbes may contribute to the expansion of Th17 cells in pwCF.

Th17 cells are known to contribute to recruitment, activation, and migration of neutrophils to sites of inflammation. Accordingly, a significant correlation of IL-17A and neutrophil counts in BALF was observed in pwCF [25, 31, 37]. Furthermore, increased IL-17A levels in BALF [25] and IL-17A secreting T cells in blood [4] negatively correlated with lung function parameters, as well as computed tomography (CT)-based assessment of lung tissue destruction [25]. Overall, this suggests that Th17 cells might play a central role for promoting pathogenic inflammation in CF and that inhibition of IL-17A might be a therapeutic strategy to reduce tissue destruction in pwCF [32]. Indeed, ablation of IL-17A in mouse models of CF resulted in reduced neutrophilic airway inflammation and structural lung damage [32, 38-40]. However, the role of Th17 cells for protection against lung colonizing pathogens and/ or chronic inflammation, as observed in pwCF, is still not fully understood. For example, in murine models of acute pulmonary P. aeruginosa infection there is evidence that Th17 cells might play an important role in vaccine-induced protection [41]. Furthermore, the reasons for a Th17-skewed immune response in pwCF remain unknown. Further investigation is required to determine whether the Th17-skewed response reflects a genetic or environmental bias to preferentially prime Th17 responses, or whether it is rather a consequence of multiple infections with Th17-inducing pathogens.

4.5 Conclusion

Emerging data suggest that exaggerated Th2 and Th17 responses against lung microbes are a key feature of immune pathology in the CF lung. Key questions for the future are 1) what antigens are targeted by the pathogenic T cells, 2) which signals contribute to the pathogenic T cell phenotype development, 3) how to stratify patients according to the underlying specific immune pathology and 4) how the immune pathology can be specifically targeted therapeutically either via neutralization of the contributing cytokines or ideally via the direct elimination of the pathogenic microbe-specific T cells.

Chapter 4 - Regulation of immune protection and pathology by CD4+ T cells in people with CF

Chapter 4 - Regulation of immune protection and pathology by CD4+ T cells in people with CF

Bibliography

- [1] Kreindler JL, Steele C, Nguyen N, Chan YR, Pilewski JM, Alcorn JF, et al. Vitamin D3 attenuates Th2 responses to Aspergillus fumigatus mounted by CD4+ T cells from cystic fibrosis patients with allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis. J Clin Invest. 2010;120:3242–54. DOI:10.1172/jci42388
- Anil N, Singh M. CD4(+)CD25(high) FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells correlate with FEV₁ in North Indian children with cystic fibrosis. Immunol Invest. 2014;43:535–43. DOI:10.310 9/08820139.2014.888447
- [3] Hector A, Schäfer H, Pöschel S, Fischer A, Fritzsching B, Ralhan A, et al. Regulatory T-cell impairment in cystic fibrosis patients with chronic Pseudomonas infection. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;191:914–23. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201407-13810C
- [4] Mulcahy EM, Hudson JB, Beggs SA, Reid DW, Roddam LF, Cooley MA. High peripheral blood Th17 percent associated with poor lung function in cystic fibrosis. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0120912. DOI:10.1371/journal. pone.0120912
- [5] Westhölter D, Beckert H, Straßburg S, Welsner M, Sutharsan S, Taube C, et al. Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection, but not mono or dual-combination CFTR modulator therapy affects circulating regulatory T cells in an adult population with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2021;20:1072–9. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2021.05.001
- [6] Schwarz C, Eschenhagen P, Schmidt H, Hohnstein T, Iwert C, Grehn C, et al. Antigen specificity and cross-reactivity drive functionally diverse anti-Aspergillus fumigatus T cell responses in cystic fibrosis. J Clin Invest. 2023;133:e161593. DOI:10.1172/jci161593

- [7] Iannitti RG, Carvalho A, Cunha C, De Luca A, Giovannini G, Casagrande A, et al. Th17/Treg imbalance in murine cystic fibrosis is linked to indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase deficiency but corrected by kynurenines. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;187:609–20. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.201207-1346OC
- [8] McGuire JK. Regulatory T cells in cystic fibrosis lung disease. More answers, more questions. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;191:866–8. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201502-0315ED
- [9] Barzaghi F, Passerini L, Bacchetta R. Immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, x-linked syndrome: a paradigm of immunodeficiency with autoimmunity. Front Immunol. 2012;3:211. DOI:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00211
- [10] Bennett CL, Christie J, Ramsdell F, Brunkow ME, Ferguson PJ, Whitesell L, *et al.* The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3. Nat Genet. 2001;27:20–1. DOI:10.1038/83713
- [11] Li E, Rodriguez A, Luong AU, Allen D, Knight JM, Kheradmand F, et al. The immune response to airway mycosis. Curr Opin Microbiol. 2021;62:45–50. DOI:10.1016/j. mib.2021.04.009
- [12] Gieseck RL, 3rd, Wilson MS, Wynn TA. Type 2 immunity in tissue repair and fibrosis. Nat Rev Immunol. 2018;18:62–76. DOI:10.1038/ nri.2017.90
- [13] Bacher P, Heinrich F, Stervbo U, Nienen M, Vahldieck M, Iwert C, et al. Regulatory T cell specificity directs tolerance versus allergy against aeroantigens in humans. Cell. 2016;167:1067–78.e16. DOI:10.1016/j. cell.2016.09.050

- [14] Bacher P, Hohnstein T, Beerbaum E, Röcker M, Blango MG, Kaufmann S, et al. Human anti-fungal Th17 immunity and pathology rely on cross-reactivity against Candida albicans. Cell. 2019;176:1340–55.e15. DOI:10.1016/j.cell.2019.01.041
- [15] Bacher P, Kniemeyer O, Schönbrunn A, Sawitzki B, Assenmacher M, Rietschel E, et al. Antigen-specific expansion of human regulatory T cells as a major tolerance mechanism against mucosal fungi. Mucosal Immunol. 2014;7:916–28. DOI:10.1038/mi.2013.107
- [16] Becker KL, Gresnigt MS, Smeekens SP, Jacobs CW, Magis-Escurra C, Jaeger M, et al. Pattern recognition pathways leading to a Th2 cytokine bias in allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis patients. Clin Exp Allergy. 2015;45:423–37. DOI:10.1111/cea.12354
- [17] Jolink H, de Boer R, Willems LN, van Dissel JT, Falkenburg JH, Heemskerk MH. T helper 2 response in allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis is not driven by specific Aspergillus antigens. Allergy. 2015;70:1336–9. DOI:10.1111/all.12688
- [18] Knutsen AP, Mueller KR, Levine AD, Chouhan B, Hutcheson PS, Slavin RG. Asp f I CD4+ TH2-like T-cell lines in allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1994;94:215–21. DOI:10.1016/0091-6749(94)90043-4
- [19] Knutsen AP, Slavin RG. Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in asthma and cystic fibrosis. Clin Dev Immunol. 2011;2011:843763. DOI:10.1155/2011/843763
- [20] Hartl D. Immunological mechanisms behind the cystic fibrosis-ABPA link. Med Mycol. 2009;47 Suppl 1:S183–91. DOI:10.1080/13693780802189938
- [21] Bacher P, Scheffold A. Antigen-specific regulatory T-cell responses against aeroantigens and their role in allergy. Mucosal Immunol. 2018;11:1537–50. DOI:10.1038/ s41385-018-0038-z

- [22] Knutsen AP, Hutcheson PS, Slavin RG, Kurup VP. IgE antibody to Aspergillus fumigatus recombinant allergens in cystic fibrosis patients with allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis. Allergy. 2004;59:198–203. DOI:10.1046/j.1398-9995.2003.00310.x
- [23] Hartl D, Griese M, Kappler M, Zissel G, Reinhardt D, Rebhan C, et al. Pulmonary T(H)2 response in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*-infected patients with cystic fibrosis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2006;117:204–11. DOI:10.1016/j. jaci.2005.09.023
- [24] Moser C, Kjaergaard S, Pressler T, Kharazmi A, Koch C, Høiby N. The immune response to chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* lung infection in cystic fibrosis patients is predominantly of the Th2 type. Apmis. 2000;108:329– 35. DOI:10.1034/j.1600-0463.2000.d01-64.x
- [25] Tiringer K, Treis A, Fucik P, Gona M, Gruber S, Renner S, et al. A Th17- and Th2-skewed cytokine profile in cystic fibrosis lungs represents a potential risk factor for Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;187:621–9. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.201206-11500C
- [26] Winslow A, Keet CA. Preventing allergies through the skin. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2022;129:276–85. DOI:10.1016/j. anai.2022.04.013
- [27] Nordengrün M, Abdurrahman G, Treffon J, Wächter H, Kahl BC, Bröker BM. Allergic reactions to serine protease-like proteins of *Staphylococcus aureus*. Front Immunol. 2021;12:651060. DOI:10.3389/fimmu.2021.651060
- [28] Chan YR, Chen K, Duncan SR, Lathrop KL, Latoche JD, Logar AJ, et al. Patients with cystic fibrosis have inducible IL-17+IL-22+ memory cells in lung draining lymph nodes. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2013;131:1117–29.e5. DOI:10.1016/j.jaci.2012.05.036

Chapter 4 - Regulation of immune protection and pathology by CD4+ T cells in people with CF

Chapter 4 - Regulation of immune protection and pathology by CD4+ T cells in people with CF

- [29] Decraene A, Willems-Widyastuti A, Kasran A, De Boeck K, Bullens DM, Dupont LJ. Elevated expression of both mRNA and protein levels of IL-17A in sputum of stable cystic fibrosis patients. Respir Res. 2010;11:177. DOI:10.1186/1465-9921-11-177
- [30] Iwanaga N, Kolls JK. Updates on T helper type 17 immunity in respiratory disease. Immunology. 2019;156:3–8. DOI:10.1111/ imm.13006
- [31] Tan HL, Regamey N, Brown S, Bush A, Lloyd CM, Davies JC. The Th17 pathway in cystic fibrosis lung disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;184:252–8. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201102-02360C
- [32] Hagner M, Albrecht M, Guerra M, Braubach P, Halle O, Zhou-Suckow Z, et al. IL-17A from innate and adaptive lymphocytes contributes to inflammation and damage in cystic fibrosis lung disease. Eur Respir J. 2021;57:1900716. DOI:10.1183/13993003.00716-2019
- [33] Patel DD, Kuchroo VK. Th17 cell pathway in human immunity: lessons from genetics and therapeutic interventions. Immunity. 2015;43:1040–51. DOI:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.12.003
- [34] Yamanaka-Takaichi M, Ghanian S, Katzka DA, Torgerson RR, Alavi A. Candida infection associated with anti-IL-17 medication: a systematic analysis and review of the literature. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2022;23:469–80. DOI:10.1007/s40257-022-00686-z
- [35] De Luca A, Pariano M, Cellini B, Costantini C, Villella VR, Jose SS, et al. The IL-17F/IL-17RC axis promotes respiratory allergy in the proximal airways. Cell Rep. 2017;20:1667–80. DOI:10.1016/j.celrep.2017.07.063
- [36] Bayes HK, Bicknell S, MacGregor G, Evans TJ. T helper cell subsets specific for Pseudomonas aeruginosa in healthy individuals and patients with cystic fibrosis. PLoS One. 2014;9:e90263. DOI:10.1371/journal. pone.0090263

- [37] McAllister F, Henry A, Kreindler JL, Dubin PJ, Ulrich L, Steele C, et al. Role of IL-17A, IL-17F, and the IL-17 receptor in regulating growth-related oncogene-alpha and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in bronchial epithelium: implications for airway inflammation in cystic fibrosis. J Immunol. 2005;175:404–12. DOI:10.4049/jimmunol.175.1.404
- [38] Dubin PJ, Kolls JK. IL-23 mediates inflammatory responses to mucoid *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* lung infection in mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2007;292:L519– 28. DOI:10.1152/ajplung.00312.2006
- [39] Hsu D, Taylor P, Fletcher D, van Heeckeren R, Eastman J, van Heeckeren A, et al. Interleukin-17 pathophysiology and therapeutic intervention in cystic fibrosis lung infection and inflammation. Infect Immun. 2016;84:2410–21. DOI:10.1128/iai.00284-16
- [40] Lorè NI, Cigana C, Riva C, De Fino I, Nonis A, Spagnuolo L, et al. IL-17A impairs host tolerance during airway chronic infection by Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Sci Rep. 2016;6:25937. DOI:10.1038/srep25937
- [41] Priebe GP, Walsh RL, Cederroth TA, Kamei A, Coutinho-Sledge YS, Goldberg JB, et al. IL-17 is a critical component of vaccine-induced protection against lung infection by lipopolysaccharide-heterologous strains of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J Immunol. 2008;181:4965–75. DOI:10.4049/jimmunol.181.7.4965

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 5 Airway smooth muscle cells in cystic fibrosis pathophysiology

Author

Carlos M. Farinha

Introduction

This chapter covers the basics about smooth muscle, its role in the airways and how changes in airway smooth muscle can contribute to the cystic fibrosis (CF) disease phenotype. We also discuss how these changes are interconnected with other changes associated with CF, namely the impact of both cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) absence and the inflammatory environment.

Airway smooth muscle

Smooth muscle (SM) is a type of tissue present in the walls of hollow and passage organs, such as the intestine, the stomach, the uterus, arteries and veins of the cardiovascular system, and in the tracts of the urinary, reproductive, and respiratory systems. In SM, fibers group in branching bundles, which do not run parallel and ordered as in skeletal muscle, allowing SM cells to contract much strongly than striated muscle [1].

SM cells are in general 3-10 µm thick and 20-200 µm long. The cytoplasm is homogenously eosinophilic and consists mainly of myofilaments. In SM cells, nuclei are located in the center and the cell membrane forms small invaginations into the cytoplasm that are functionally similar to T-tubules formed in the skeletal musculature. SM cells anchor to the connective tissue by a basal lamina. Their cytoplasm contains large amounts of actin and myosin and a calcium-containing sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR), which participates in contraction regulation. Figure 1 presents the different cell types at the bronchi [1].

The main function of SM is contraction and its function in each organ system is quite specific - in the airway, the main function of SM is to regulate bronchiole diameter.

SM contracts in response to Ca²⁺ levels (see Figure 2) [2]. Intracellular calcium (Ca²⁺) effluxes from stores in the SR in response to several stimuli. Upon release from the SR, Ca²⁺ binds to and activates calmodulin, which activates myosin light chain (MLC) kinase (MLCK) which in turn phosphorylates a regulatory light chain in myosin. Phosphorylation of MLC induces a conformational change which activates myosin ATPase activity and promotes the interaction between myosin and actin. This interaction triggers cross-bridge cycling, generating tension which is proportional to the amount of Ca²⁺ in the cell. SM contraction is further enhanced due to the presence of connexins that allow intercellular communication and Ca²⁺ flow to neighbor cells.

Pathological activation of SM cells in the airway is associated with respiratory diseases, especially with asthma - where hypercontractility of SM leads to airway narrowing and obstruction. A large proportion of individuals with CF present signs and symptoms like those of asthma,

such as cough and wheezing, as well as airway hyper-responsiveness to histamine or methacholine [3, 4] and some degree of airway obstruction [5]. This suggests that airway SM (ASM) plays a role in CF pathophysiology. However, few studies have addressed what has been coined "cystic fibrosis asthma" – a term that is used to describe people with CF (pwCF) who experience episodes of acute airway obstruction, who have family history of asthma or evidence of atopy [6].

5.2 Increased ASM mass associated with CF

Early studies assessing the dimensions of the airways in pwCF found an increased area of both the inner wall area and SM in lungs obtained from pwCF compared to samples from people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). These changes probably contribute to the severity of airflow obstruction and to the bronchial hyperresponsiveness which is characteristic of pwCF [7]. Later studies used bronchoscopy and design-based stereology to assess if the previously observed increased ASM content associated with CF was due to hyperplasia (increased ASM cell proliferation) or to hypertrophy (an increase in the structural and contractile machinery in individual cells). Although a small number of subjects were analyzed, an increase in ASM mean cell size was not detected, indicating hyperplasia without hypertrophy. This suggested that an accumulation of ASM cells is a possible mechanism contributing to airway narrowing and bronchial hyperresponsiveness in CF [8]. ASM hyperplasia was also observed in another study in school-age children with CF, suggesting that airway remodeling associated with CF occurs early in life [9]. However, this pediatric study also found that the increased ASM cell number was related to an increase in ASM cell size, suggesting that hyperplasia and hypertrophy can both play a part in the increased mass of ASM associated with CF. ASM changes observed in this study were similar between children with CF and children with bronchiectasis, suggesting that the abnormalities may not depend directly on CFTR [9]. Increased neutrophil levels are characteristic of both CF and bronchiectasis, therefore it is possible that the inflammatory environment is a key player in the changes in mass and function of ASM in CF.

5.3 CFTR expression and function in ASM cells

Although CFTR is primarily expressed in epithelial cells (in the airways and other organs), there is evidence that it is also expressed in several types of non-epithelial cells including lymphocytes, endothelial cells and cardiac myocytes [10-14]. *CFTR* expression has also been reported in SM cells, including tracheal smooth muscle, rat and mouse aortic and ileal smooth muscle, as well as in the bronchi of individuals with CF [10-12, 15-19].

Given its expression in ASM cells, it is plausible that the CFTR chloride (Cl-) channel has a relevant role. Considering that Cl⁻ transport affects SM membrane potential and thus Ca2+ signaling, the absence of CFTR could potentially affect properties of contraction, relaxation and signaling. Primary cultures of human ASM cells obtained from the main or lobar bronchi of pwCF had a decreased Ca²⁺ release in response to histamine. In non-CF cells, a similar result was obtained upon CFTR inhibition (chemical or antisense oligonucleotide-mediated knockdown). These results suggest that CFTR in ASM cells modulates the release of Ca²⁺ in response to contractile agents, and its absence may explain the asthma diathesis observed in pwCF [20]. Similar results were obtained in a porcine model where the absence of CFTR resulted in ASM hypercontractility due to increased muscle

Chapter 5 - Airway smooth muscle cells in cystic fibrosis pathophysiology

tone, prolonged activation of the actomyosin network and deficient Ca²⁺ reuptake to the SR. This later defect was attributed to the absence of CFTR in the SR membrane, and thus to the lack of a Cl⁻ current that contributes to the driving force for Ca²⁺ inward flow [21]. Although this hypothesis is logical, there is no definitive proof of CFTR expression and function in the SR membrane – especially due to the lack of any obvious similarity of the biophysical properties of the SR membrane Cl⁻ conductance and CFTR [22].

Recent data using the CF pig model identified a transcriptional signature characteristic of CF ASM with changes in muscle contraction-related genes, ontologies, and pathways. Interestingly, proline-rich tyrosine kinase 2 (PYK) stood out as a relevant player in ASM physiology, being over-phosphorylated in CF, and therefore a target to decrease SM contraction [23].

5.4 Signaling and inflammation

Inflammation has a central role in CF lung pathology and disease progression. In CF airways, the inflammatory environment is characterized by a large number of neutrophils and increased concentrations of pro-inflammatory mediators, such as TNF- α , interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, IL-18, IL-17, IL-33, GM-CSF, G-CSF, and HMGB-1 [24]. Many of these mediators have the potential to increase contractile signaling in ASM.

In the presence of increased concentrations of inflammatory mediators, ASM becomes hypercontractile. Although ASM contractile properties are not different between pwCF and controls, the response in pwCF is significantly altered in the presence of IL-13, evidencing an impairment of β -adrenergic-induced relaxation, in association with increased MLCK expression which further contributes to the hypercontractile phenotype [25]. The IL-13 effect occurs through mediation of the Ca²⁺ response to stimulation with histamine. IL-13 promotes activation of c-jun N-terminal kinase and extracellular MAPKs and it also upregulates CD38, which leads to Ca²⁺ release in response to agonist stimulation [26].

IL-8 was also described to induce greater contraction in ASM cells from pwCF, which was apparently associated with increased levels of the contractile protein MLC_{20} . Similar to IL-13, the hypercontractile response to IL-8 suggests that the changes in ASM observed in pwCF are at least partially mediated by the inflammatory environment [27].

IL-17 is markedly increased and further promotes inflammatory signaling. Once chronic infection is established (particularly with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*), IL-17 further promotes neutrophil influx. IL-17 has also been shown to promote airway hyperresponsiveness associated with ASM contraction. In addition, human bronchi pretreated with IL-17 exhibit increased contraction in response to methacholine [28].

Besides the contractility effect, the pro-inflammatory environment can also affect ASM cell migration and proliferation. IL-13 has been shown to inhibit ASM proliferation [26], but Th17 cytokines have been shown to increase ASM proliferation [29]. This latter study [29], in combination with the observation that IL-17 is increased in pwCF, could explain the observed increase in ASM mass in pwCF.

Although the relation between inflammation and ASM dysregulation in CF is a complex process, bacterial infection appears to be one of the main triggers, as it stimulates IL-8 secretion by epithelial cells leading to neutrophil recruitment, which then further release TNF- α and IL-8. This large increase in IL-8 induces greater ASM contraction, in part due also to increased MLC

expression and phosphorylation. Further IL-8 production may occur also due to activation of EGFR mediated by TLR signaling. Furthermore, the Th2 proallergic phenotype of CF T-helper cells is characterized by high concentrations of IL-4 and IL-13, which induce production of IgE, and altogether lead to airway hyperresponsiveness. Finally, IL-17, also raised in pwCF, increases ASM contraction and proliferation. IL-17 is also a key contributor to the asthma symptoms present in pwCF.

5.5 Conclusion

In summary, although the relation between ASM and CF has not been explored in detail, ASM is affected in CF. There is an increase in ASM mass (due to either hypertrophy or hyperplasia). CF is associated with ASM hypercontractility which can be attributed to either 1) ASM response to the characteristically inflammatory CF environment, or 2) the lack of CFTR (an aspect needing further clarification, despite the confirmed expression of *CFTR* in ASM).

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 5 - Airway smooth muscle cells in cystic fibrosis pathophysiology

Figure 1

Schematic representation of the cellular organization of the intralobar bronchi.

The main cell types of the surface epithelium are shown, together with the basal lamina and the airway smooth muscle cells.



Chapter 5 - Airway smooth muscle cells in cystic fibrosis pathophysiology

Figure 2

Overview of the signalling pathways driving airway smooth muscle contraction.

Cyclic cross-bridging of actin and myosin generate the contractile force and depends on phosphorylation of myosin. This occurs in response to an elevation of cytosolic Ca²⁺, which activates calmodulin (caM) and consequently myosin light chain kinase (MLCK). Increase of cytosolic Ca²⁺ occurs mainly in response to G protein-coupled receptor activation by agonists such as methacholine and histamine, which leads to an increase in IP3 that promotes Ca²⁺ release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum.



Chapter 5 - Airway smooth muscle cells in cystic fibrosis pathophysiology

Bibliography

- Jaslove JM, Nelson CM. Smooth muscle: a stiff sculptor of epithelial shapes. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2018;373:20170318. DOI:10.1098/rstb.2017.0318
- [2] Jackson WF, Boerman EM. Voltage-gated Ca(2+) channel activity modulates smooth muscle cell calcium waves in hamster cremaster arterioles. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2018;315:H871–8. DOI:10.1152/ ajpheart.00292.2018
- [3] Sanchez I, Powell RE, Pasterkamp H. Wheezing and airflow obstruction during methacholine challenge in children with cystic fibrosis and in normal children. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1993;147:705–9. DOI:10.1164/ajrccm/147.3.705
- [4] van Haren EH, Lammers JW, Festen J, van Herwaarden CL. Bronchial vagal tone and responsiveness to histamine, exercise and bronchodilators in adult patients with cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 1992;5:1083–8.
- [5] Weinberger M. Airways reactivity in patients with CF. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2002;23:77–85. DOI:10.1385/criai:23:1:077
- [6] Morgan WJ, Butler SM, Johnson CA, Colin AA, FitzSimmons SC, Geller DE, et al. Epidemiologic study of cystic fibrosis: design and implementation of a prospective, multicenter, observational study of patients with cystic fibrosis in the U.S. and Canada. Pediatr Pulmonol. 1999;28:231–41. DOI:10.1002/ (sici)1099-0496(199910)28:4<231::aidppul1>3.0.co;2-2
- [7] Tiddens HA, Koopman LP, Lambert RK, Elliott WM, Hop WC, van der Mark TW, et al. Cartilaginous airway wall dimensions and airway resistance in cystic fibrosis lungs. Eur Respir J. 2000;15:735–42. DOI:10.1034/ j.1399-3003.2000.15d18.x

- [8] Hays SR, Ferrando RE, Carter R, Wong HH, Woodruff PG. Structural changes to airway smooth muscle in cystic fibrosis. Thorax. 2005;60:226–8. DOI:10.1136/thx.2004.028340
- [9] Regamey N, Ochs M, Hilliard TN, Mühlfeld C, Cornish N, Fleming L, et al. Increased airway smooth muscle mass in children with asthma, cystic fibrosis, and non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2008;177:837–43. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200707-977OC
- [10] Tousson A, Van Tine BA, Naren AP, Shaw GM, Schwiebert LM. Characterization of CFTR expression and chloride channel activity in human endothelia. Am J Physiol. 1998;275:C1555–64. DOI:10.1152/ajpcell.1998.275.6.C1555
- [11] Robert R, Norez C, Becq F. Disruption of CFTR chloride channel alters mechanical properties and cAMP-dependent Cl- transport of mouse aortic smooth muscle cells. J Physiol. 2005;568:483–95. DOI:10.1113/jphysiol.2005.085019
- [12] Robert R, Thoreau V, Norez C, Cantereau A, Kitzis A, Mettey Y, et al. Regulation of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator channel by beta-adrenergic agonists and vasoactive intestinal peptide in rat smooth muscle cells and its role in vasorelaxation. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:21160–8. DOI:10.1074/jbc.M312199200
- [13] Vandebrouck C, Melin P, Norez C, Robert R, Guibert C, Mettey Y, et al. Evidence that CFTR is expressed in rat tracheal smooth muscle cells and contributes to bronchodilation. Respir Res. 2006;7:113. DOI:10.1186/1465-9921-7-113
- [14] Gadsby DC, Nairn AC. Control of CFTR channel gating by phosphorylation and nucleotide hydrolysis. Physiol Rev. 1999;79:S77–107. DOI:10.1152/physrev.1999.79.1.S77

- Büscher R, Eilmes KJ, Grasemann H, Torres B, Knauer N, Sroka K, et al. beta2 adrenoceptor gene polymorphisms in cystic fibrosis lung disease. Pharmacogenetics. 2002;12:347–53. DOI:10.1097/00008571-200207000-00002
- [16] Dong YJ, Chao AC, Kouyama K, Hsu YP, Bocian RC, Moss RB, et al. Activation of CFTR chloride current by nitric oxide in human T lymphocytes. EMBO J. 1995;14:2700–7. DOI:10.1002/j.1460-2075.1995.tb07270.x
- [17] Weyler RT, Yurko-Mauro KA, Rubenstein R, Kollen WJ, Reenstra W, Altschuler SM, et al. CFTR is functionally active in GnRH-expressing GT1-7 hypothalamic neurons. Am J Physiol. 1999;277:C563–71. DOI:10.1152/ajpcell.1999.277.3.C563
- [18] Wong KR, Trezise AE, Bryant S, Hart G, Vandenberg JI. Molecular and functional distributions of chloride conductances in rabbit ventricle. Am J Physiol. 1999;277:H1403–9. DOI:10.1152/ajpheart.1999.277.4.H1403
- [19] Risse PA, Kachmar L, Matusovsky OS, Novali M, Gil FR, Javeshghani S, et al. Ileal smooth muscle dysfunction and remodeling in cystic fibrosis. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2012;303:G1–8.
- [20] Michoud MC, Robert R, Hassan M, Moynihan B, Haston C, Govindaraju V, et al. Role of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance channel in human airway smooth muscle. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2009;40:217–22. DOI:10.1165/rcmb.2006-0444OC
- [21] Cook DP, Rector MV, Bouzek DC, Michalski AS, Gansemer ND, Reznikov LR, et al. Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator in sarcoplasmic reticulum of airway smooth muscle. Implications for airway contractility. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;193:417–26. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201508-1562OC

- [22] Takeshima H, Venturi E, Sitsapesan R. New and notable ion-channels in the sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum: do they support the process of intracellular Ca²⁺ release? J Physiol. 2015;593:3241–51. DOI:10.1113/jphysiol.2014.281881
- [23] Cook DP, Adam RJ, Zarei K, Deonovic B, Stroik MR, Gansemer ND, et al. CF airway smooth muscle transcriptome reveals a role for PYK2. JCI Insight. 2017;2:e95332. DOI:10.1172/ jci.insight.95332
- [24] Nichols DP, Chmiel JF. Inflammation and its genesis in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2015;50:S39–56. DOI:10.1002/ppul.23242
- [25] Matusovsky OS, Kachmar L, Ijpma G, Panariti A, Benedetti A, Martin JG, et al. Contractile properties of intrapulmonary airway smooth muscle in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2019;60:434–44. DOI:10.1165/rcmb.2018-0005OC
- [26] Risse PA, Jo T, Suarez F, Hirota N, Tolloczko B, Ferraro P, et al. Interleukin-13 inhibits proliferation and enhances contractility of human airway smooth muscle cells without change in contractile phenotype. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2011;300:L958–66. DOI:10.1152/ajplung.00247.2010
- [27] Govindaraju V, Michoud MC, Ferraro P, Arkinson J, Safka K, Valderrama-Carvajal H, et al. The effects of interleukin-8 on airway smooth muscle contraction in cystic fibrosis. Respir Res. 2008;9:76. DOI:10.1186/1465-9921-9-76
- [28] Kudo M, Melton AC, Chen C, Engler MB, Huang KE, Ren X, et al. IL-17A produced by αβ T cells drives airway hyper-responsiveness in mice and enhances mouse and human airway smooth muscle contraction. Nat Med. 2012;18:547–54. DOI:10.1038/nm.2684
- [29] Chang Y, Al-Alwan L, Risse PA, Halayko AJ, Martin JG, Baglole CJ, et al. Th17-associated cytokines promote human airway smooth muscle cell proliferation. FASEB J. 2012;26:5152–60. DOI:10.1096/fj.12-208033

Chapter 6 Lipid mediators in cystic fibrosis: from pathophysiological roles to therapeutic opportunities

Authors

Antonio Recchiuti, Giulia Ferri, Matteo Mucci, Domenico Mattoscio, Roberto Plebani, Mario Romano

Introduction

Acute inflammation is a primordial response meant to protect against injuries or infections. The ideal and most common outcome is resolution, which eliminates the noxious stimuli and allows tissue return to homeostasis. Celsus' cardinal signs of inflammation rubor (redness). tumor (swelling), calor (heat), and dolor (pain) are macroscopic manifestations of cellular and molecular processes that occur in the microscopic scale. Polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMN) are among the first leukocyte responders that swarm and accumulate in inflamed tissues. Monocytes enter the inflammatory site as a second wave and differentiate into macrophages that start resolution by clearing microbes, cellular debris, and apoptotic leukocytes through non-phlogistic phagocytosis. On the contrary, failure to resolve inflammation leads to further damage to the host.

Non-resolving inflammation is a hallmark and a contributor to morbidity and mortality in cystic fibrosis (CF). Inflammation in CF starts early after birth, affects almost every organ, and is strictly intertwined with the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) basic defect [1]. Evidence indicates that absence or defects in CFTR result in excessive responses of cells involved in inflammation, such as leukocytes [2], platelets [3, 4], and endothelial cells [5]. Our group reported that CFTR loss-of-function triggers enhanced platelet activation, PMN recruitment, and impairment of pro-resolving mechanisms, such as PMN apoptosis, and production of selected specialized pro-resolving lipid mediators (SPM).

CF endothelial cells exhibit impaired barrier function, enhanced interleukin (IL)-8 production, reduced nitric oxide release, and increased vesiculation [5, 6]. An airway microfluidic chip with CF bronchial epithelial cells interfaced with endothelial cells demonstrated increased mucous production, ciliary beating and cytokine release, as well as enhanced PMN migration [7], thus mirroring *in vivo* hallmarks of airway inflammation in patients.

6.1 Lipid mediators in inflammation

Lipids are commonly associated with two basic biological functions: as building blocks of cells and as an energy source. However, there is also a third fundamental function of lipids, where slight modifications of lipid chemical structures generate signaling and regulatory mediators that are bioactive at relative low concentrations *in vivo*. Omega-6 and omega-3, the two main families of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) which are bio precursors of chemical mediators, have a prominent immuno-biological role and value as pharmacological therapeutic targets.

European Cystic Fibrosis Society

The biosynthesis of omega-6 PUFA and omega-3 proceeds through subsequential and alternating regiospecific desaturation and elongation reactions of linoleic acid (LA, 18:2n-6) or α -linolenic acid (ALA, 18:3n-3) (Figure 1). The term oxylipins refers to PUFA-derived compound produced by non-enzymatic or enzymatic oxidation by cyclooxygenases (COX), lipoxygenases (LO), and cytochrome P450 [8]. Octadecanoids are oxylipins derived from LA, ALA or other C18 PUFA. Eicosanoids are derived from C20 fatty acids such as arachidonic acid (AA) or eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA). Docosanoids are derived from C22 PUFA like docosapentaenoic acids (DPAs, 22:5n-3 or 22:5n-6), and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, 22:6n-3).

Oxylipins can act near the production site, in an autocrine or paracrine manner, or have endocrine functions, but unlike other chemical mediators (hormones, cytokines, and growth factors) have a very short half-life (in the order of seconds) *in vivo*.

Seminal work of Ulf Svante von Euler at the Karolinska Institute of Sweden in 1935 led to the identification of eicosanoids, which he named "prostaglandins" (PG), from seminal gland extracts [9].

In the early 1960s, the structural elucidation of PG by Bergstrom, Samuelsson and colleagues, identified the omega-6 AA as a precursor of series 2-PG and series 4 leukotrienes (LT) [10]. Since these early works, a vast repertoire of chemical mediators biosynthesized from PUFA has been identified. AA is normally present in cell membranes as phosphatidylserine (PS) or phosphatidylinositol (PI) ester. In response to various stimuli (cytokines, growth factors, bacterial toxins), cells activate phospholipase A2 (PLA2), which in turn liberates AA. Further metabolism of AA via COX leads to the formation of 2-series PG and thromboxanes (Figure 2) that are key mediators of vasodilation, vascular leakage, edema formation, pain, and blood cell activation (e.g., leukocyte, platelet) during inflammation. Moreover, thromboxanes are endowed with many homeostatic functions in the cardiovascular, renal, gastro-intestinal, and genito-urinary system (Figure 1) [11]. For this reason, classical anti-inflammatory pharmacological approaches that block these eicosanoids can have serious side effects (e.g., thrombosis, bleeding, gastric ulcer, renal failure) [12].

Leukotrienes are a different class of eicosanoids generated from AA by 5-LO, a dioxygenase that introduces hydroperoxyl groups into the PUFA backbone (Figure 2). This class includes LTB4 and cysteinyl-LT, i.e., LTC4, LTD4, and LTE4 that are among the most potent mediators of immune cell chemotaxis and activation in inflammatory loci and have pivotal roles in bronchoconstriction, vasodilation, and allergic responses (Figure 1) [13]. For more detailed coverage, readers are directed to the following excellent papers [9, 14-17].

6.2 Lipid mediators in resolution of inflammation

One of the most significant strides in our comprehension of inflammation and immunity was the discovery that resolution of inflammation is not a passive process, due to disappearance of igniting agents (e.g., infectious microbes) and/or dilution of pro-inflammatory mediators. Inflammation resolves when noxious agents are actively removed, dead cells cleared, and destroyed tissues repaired [18]. Serhan and colleagues demonstrated that the resolution of inflammation is an active process initiated by the production of "proresolving molecules" (or immunoresolvents). To mathematically define cellular and biochemical components of active resolution, as

Chapter 6 - Lipid mediators in CF: from pathophysiological roles to therapeutic opportunities

well as to establish roles of proresolving mediators, quantitative resolution indices have been introduced in experimental settings [19]. Applying these indices into clinics could help monitor disease progression or response to therapies.

Among proresolving molecules are the proteins annexin A1 and melanocortins (linked to the corticosteroid pathway) and the lipid molecules derived from omega-3 and omega-6 PUFA lipoxins, resolvins, protectins, and maresins, collectively named as "specialized proresolving lipid mediators".

SPM stop excessive PMN infiltration and activation, counter pro-inflammatory signals, enhance the active clearance of pathogens and death cells by macrophages, protect organ from loss of function, and stimulate tissue regeneration thus accelerating the resolution of inflammation (Figure 3).

Using a system lipidomics-informatics approach to self-resolving inflammation, pioneering research from the lab of Dr. Serhan led to the discovery of SPM in inflammatory exudates during resolution [19]. SPM act locally and on different cell types by transiently binding to multiple receptors. Notably, SPM biosynthesis is inhibited by pro-inflammatory mediators, for instance PGE₂, generated during the onset of the inflammatory response [20], indicating that the beginning of inflammation programs its end (Figure 3). The main biosynthetic pathways and members of SPM families are shown in Figure 4.

LXA₄ and B₄, the first SPMs identified [21], arise from the transcellular metabolism of AA including PMN 5-LO and platelet 12-LO [22, 23]. In a second LX biosynthetic pathway, AA is converted into LX by the systemic activity of 15-LO in epithelial cells or macrophages and 5-LO in leukocytes [24, 25]. A third pathway produces isomers of LX 15-epi-LXA4 and B4 [26]. The four members of the E Rv system (RvE1, RvE2, RvE3 and 18S-Rv1) identified are derived from EPA via COX-2 and 5-LO transcellular biosynthesis [27] (Figure 4).

n-3 DPA is the second most abundant omega-3 PUFA in human tissues and is an intermediate in the biosynthetic route from EPA to DHA. n-3 DPA is also converted into a wide number of SPM, including RvD n-3 DPA, MaR n-3 DPA, PD n-3 DPA, and 13-series Rv (Rv); these SPM have a unique OH group in the C13 position of the PUFA chain, in contrast to other SPM [28-31] (Figure 4).

D-series resolvins (RvD) include six distinct molecules (RvD1-6) differing in the number, position, and chirality of their hydroxyl residues, and by position and isomerism of their C=C bonds [32]. RvD can carry a C17 hydroxyl group in the S (when derived via LO-initiated biosynthesis) or in *R* configuration (from acetylated COX-2-initiated routes). Aspirin and N-acetyl sphingosine acetylate COX-2 and raise 17*R*- RvD levels (e.g., 17*R*-*R*vD1) [33, 34].

Protectins are SPM of DHA produced by PMN, macrophages, and eosinophils, following enzymatic activity of 15-LO (PD1 or neuroprotectin when produced in neural system) or aspirin-acetylated COX-2 (AT-PD1) and subsequent enzymatic epoxidation and hydrolysis. PD1 isomerization leads to the production of PDX, a less-characterized PD [35].

Maresins (MaR1 and MaR2) are a third family of SPMs produced from DHA at sites of inflammation via 12-LO enzymatic activity in macrophages [36, 37], probably during the resolution of inflammation.

In addition, recent works uncovered additional SPM containing sulfido-conjugates derived from glutathione conjugation to DHA. These cystei-

nyl-SPM include resolvin conjugates in tissue regeneration (MCTR) and protectin conjugates in tissue regeneration (PCTR). cys-SPM also have tissue-protective activities, in addition to their pro-resolution role [38-40].

SPM regulate inflammation and resolution by activating different cells' G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCR) (recent reviewed in [41, 42]), which transmit signals quickly and activate intracellular pathways to promote resolution. Several SPM receptors have been identified to date, primarily using library screening, labeling ligands for specific binding, integrated with GPCR- β -arrestin systems, and functional cellular responses that include gain and loss of function in prototypical pharmacology approaches (Figure 5).

Readers interested in cell- and tissue/organ-specific SPM bioactions are directed to more recent reviews [15, 41].

6.3 Lipid mediators in cystic fibrosis

6.3.1 Lipid unbalances in CF

In 1929-30 George Burr and Mildred Burr conclusively established that PUFA are nutritionally essential for the growth and functions of almost every organ of mammals, settling a long-standing debate at the time [43, 44]. A vast literature demonstrates deficits or disequilibrium of PUFA in tissues from pwCF. Several studies reported a significant imbalance of omega-6:omega-3, with AA and decreased DHA levels in CF [45-47]. The main cause of these lipid abnormalities is fat malabsorption due to pancreatic insufficiency. However, the increased expression and activity of PLA2 associated with CFTR dysfunction represents another possible mechanism of elevated AA in CF [48]. Clinical studies aimed at restoring lipid imbalances in pwCF using dietary omega-3 were inconclusive, however these studies suffered from a lack of standardized dose and regimen, use of non-pharmaceutical-grade lipid supplements, or poor compliance of study participants. A recent randomized controlled trial on intravenous omega-3 PUFA treatment of Covid-19 met its primary endpoint of changes in inflammatory biomarkers for leukocyte counts and lipid metabolites, highlighting the important immunoresolving actions of omega-3 PUFA [49].

6.3.2 Lipid-derived chemical mediators in CF

It is now clear, that in addition to these lipid deficit and omega-6:omega-3 imbalances, the ability to produce endogenous SPM and to resolve inflammation is defective in pwCF, while the production of pro-inflammatory PG and LT is higher. Initial work by Konstan et al. found 5-15 times higher concentrations of LTB₄, TXB₂, PGE_2 , and $PGF_{2\alpha}$ in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) from pwCF compared to healthy subjects. and in sufficient amounts to recruit and activate PMN into the airways [50]. This has been confirmed recently using more advanced lipidomics approaches [51]. A significant decrease in LXA, and LXA,:LTB, ratio in BAL [52, 53] and of RvD1 in sputum from pwCF were demonstrated [54, 55]. Results from our group demonstrate that CFTR dysfunction directly alters 12-LO activity in platelets required for LXA₄ biosynthesis [4] and subsequent studies demonstrated lower expression of 15-LO in CF cells [53, 56]. Collectively, these results indicate that defective SPM biosynthesis in CF is mechanistically linked to the CFTR basic defect through cellular mechanisms that remain unclear. On the contrary, the higher production of LTB4 could reflect the enhanced expression and activity of PLA2 or 5-LO. A second possible explanation could be that the higher amount of AA released in CF cells is preferentially converted by 5-LO into LTB₄ rather than SPM. Along this line. Freedman and coworkers provided an elegant demonstration that 5-LO cellular localization is crucial to dictate LT or SPM biosynthesis in macrophages [57]. Finally, results

Chapter 6 - Lipid mediators in CF: from pathophysiological roles to therapeutic opportunities

from our group demonstrate that the ability to transduce SPM proresolving signals through GPCR is impaired in CF. In their studies, Simiele *et al.* and Pierdomenico *et al.* demonstrated a reduced promoter activity and negative epigenetic regulation of LXA₄ and RvD1 receptor ALX by the microRNA miR-1841b in cells from pwCF [58, 59], opening an intriguing line of investigation on the mechanisms the impaired resolution of inflammation in CF.

6.3.3 Pro-resolving lipid mediators in CF

SPM are endowed with exquisite protective actions to control excessive inflammation and tissue damage, and to enhance an active return to homeostasis. Wild type and Cftr knockout mice with chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection are a gold standard preclinical system for testing new anti-inflammatory agents for CF. Using this system, we demonstrated that RvD1 stops further PMN airway infiltration. reduces bacterial load, and prevents lung damage, survival, and weight recovery [55]. RvD1 also lowers level of several cytokines and chemokines that are increased in CF airways and stimulates clearance of P. aeruginosa through phagocytosis [55]. In acute *P. aeruginosa* in mice, a LXA₄ stable analog reduced PMN recruitment and bacterial load in the short term [52].

LXA₄ and RvD1 also restore airway surface hydration activating CFTR-independent Cl⁻ efflux and inhibiting Na⁺ reabsorption in CF bronchial epithelia [60-63], which is particularly relevant for people with *CFTR* mutations who do not respond to CFTR modulator therapies. RvD1 and LXA₄ also dampen cytokine production and epithelial damage induced by bacterial infection [60, 63, 64], upregulating the expression of genes that promote cell survival, such as tumor protein 63 [55]. SPM counteract excessive inflammation during viral infections or viral and bacterial coinfections. For example, RvD1 and RvD2 shut down cytokine storm with human macrophages from pwCF and stimulate bacterial clearance [65]. 17R-RvD1 is protective during influenza A and pneumococcal pneumonia, and PD1 has direct antiviral activity on influenza virus. RvE1 reduces inflammation caused by herpes simplex virus. In light of the impact that respiratory viruses have on the CF population, these proresolving functions of SPM may be useful in controlling disease severity and perhaps long-term symptoms.

SPM regulate inflammatory responses in the circulation. They counter LTB_4 -induced PMN adhesion and migration [66-68] and vascular permeability in lungs [69]. Further, SPM stop endothelial cells-leukocyte interactions activating nitric oxide release [70, 71] and reduce neutrophil extracellular traps that contribute to thrombosis and lung injury in CF [72, 73]. RvE1 has the unique property of reducing platelet:leukocyte interactions [74] and platelet aggregation and activation [75], which are enhanced in pwCF.

6.3 Conclusion

Acute inflammation is a protective host response, and its ideal outcome is complete resolution. Non-resolving inflammation characterizes CF and contributes to its morbidity and mortality. Lipid mediators play essential roles in inflammation and resolution, an active process where SPM are biosynthesized from omega-3 and omega-6. SPM include lipoxins, resolvins, maresins, and protectins. SPM biosynthesis and GPCR expression are defective in CF, leading to impaired resolution of inflammation. SPM act at multiple levels on cells and mechanisms involved in the pathophysiology of CF airway inflammation. Preclinical and clinical studies

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 6 - Lipid mediators in CF: from pathophysiological roles to therapeutic opportunities

suggest that SPM can activate resolution of infection and inflammation, thus opening the door for SPM-based human resolution pharmacology for individuals with CF.

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 6 - Lipid mediators in CF: from pathophysiological roles to therapeutic opportunities

Table 1

List of mediators, their G-protein coupled receptors and biological action.

Mediator	Target GCPR	Biological action		
TXA ₂	TP	 Contraction and proliferation of vascular smooth muscl cells Platelet aggregation Bronchoconstriction 		
$PGF_{2\alpha}$	FP	BronchoconstrictionContraction of the uterus		
PGI ₂	IP	 Release of vascular smooth muscle cells Inhibition of platelet aggregation Bronchodilation Increased secretion of mucus in the gastrointestinal tract Increased renin secretion (hypertension) Hyperalgesia 		
PGD ₂	DP1 DP2	 Bronchoconstriction Chemotaxis of eosinophils and Th2 lymphocytes Inhibition of platelet aggregation Increased renin secretion 		
PGE ₂	EP1 EP2 EP3 EP4	 Vasodilation and vasoconstriction Increase or inhibition of platelet aggregation Angiogenesis Immune response inhibition Fever and hyperalgesia Angioedema Increased gastrointestinal mucus secretion Bronchodilation Remodeling of bone tissue Increased renal blood flow (diuresis) Birth induction (high dose inhibition) 		
LTB4	BLT1 BLT2	Smooth muscle contractionChemotaxis of neutrophils		
LTC4, LTD4, LTE4	cysLT1 cysLT2	BronchoconstrictionContraction of airway smooth muscles cells		

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 6 - Lipid mediators in CF: from pathophysiological roles to therapeutic opportunities

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 6 - Lipid mediators in CF: from pathophysiological roles to therapeutic opportunities

Figure 1

Biosynthesis of omega-3 and omega-6 PUFAs.

The biosynthesis of longer-chain omega-3 and omega-6 PUFAs proceeds via a series of alternating position specific desaturation and elongation steps from ALA and LA, respectively. See [15] for further details.

Figure 2

Biosynthesis of prostaglandins and leukotrienes from arachidonic acid (AA) via cyclooxygenase (COX)-1 and 2 and 5-lipoxygenase (5-LO) and subsequent enzymes.

For further details see [14]. 5-HpETE, 5-hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid.





Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 6 - Lipid mediators in CF: from pathophysiological roles to therapeutic opportunities

Figure 3

Schematic illustration of the acute inflammatory response with the temporal position of lipid mediators in this tissue protective response.

Injuries or infections ignite the acute inflammatory response that is normally a host protective mechanism. The first event in acute inflammation is oedema formation, followed by infiltration of polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMN), and then monocyte and macrophages that clear PMN, dead cells, debris, and bacteria leading to resolution, which is essential for ensuring host protection and sparing from tissue damage. Prostaglandins and leukotrienes are local mediators of edema, swelling, leukocyte recruitment, and pain. A lipid mediator class switch introduces the active phase of resolution leading to the biosynthesis of specialized proresolving mediators (SPM). SPM controls resolution by actively ceasing excessive leukocyte recruitment and activation, reducing vascular permeability and oedema, regulating leukocyte differentiation and actions, and enhancing efferocytosis (i.e., non phlogistic phagocytosis of dead cells), microbial killing, and tissue repair.



Figure 4

Biosynthesis of specialized pro-resolving lipid mediators (SPM).

SPM are biosynthesized from arachidonic acid (AA), eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), docosapentaenoic acid (DPAn-3), and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) through cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 and different lipoxygenases (LO)



Chapter 6 - Lipid mediators in CF: from pathophysiological roles to therapeutic opportunities

Figure 5 Structure of identified GPCR of SPM.

In addition to binding as an agonist ERV1/ChemR23, RvE1 also is an antagonist of BLT1 receptor. Molecular graphics and analyses of GPCR were performed with UCSF ChimeraX, developed by the Resource for Biocomputing, Visualization, and Informatics at the University of California, San Francisco, with support from National Institutes of Health R01-GM129325 and the Office of Cyber Infrastructure and Computational Biology, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases.











Chapter 6 - Lipid mediators in CF: from pathophysiological roles to therapeutic opportunities

Bibliography

- Nichols DP, Chmiel JF. Inflammation and its genesis in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2015;50:S39–56. DOI:10.1002/ppul.23242
- [2] Bonfield TL, Hodges CA, Cotton CU, Drumm ML. Absence of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator (CFTR) from myeloid-derived cells slows resolution of inflammation and infection. J Leukoc Biol. 2012;92:1111–22. DOI:10.1189/jlb.0412188
- [3] Ortiz-Muñoz G, Yu MA, Lefrançais E, Mallavia B, Valet C, Tian JJ, et al. Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator dysfunction in platelets drives lung hyperinflammation. J Clin Invest. 2020;130:2041–53. DOI:10.1172/jci129635
- [4] Mattoscio D, Evangelista V, De Cristofaro R, Recchiuti A, Pandolfi A, Di Silvestre S, et al. Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) expression in human platelets: impact on mediators and mechanisms of the inflammatory response. FASEB J. 2010;24:3970–80. DOI:10.1096/fj.10-159921
- [5] Totani L, Plebani R, Piccoli A, Di Silvestre S, Lanuti P, Recchiuti A, et al. Mechanisms of endothelial cell dysfunction in cystic fibrosis. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis. 2017;1863:3243–53. DOI:10.1016/j. bbadis.2017.08.011
- [6] Plebani R, Tripaldi R, Lanuti P, Recchiuti A, Patruno S, Di Silvestre S, et al. Establishment and long-term culture of human cystic fibrosis endothelial cells. Lab Invest. 2017;97:1375–84. DOI:10.1038/ labinvest.2017.74
- Plebani R, Potla R, Soong M, Bai H, Izadifar Z, Jiang A, *et al.* Modeling pulmonary cystic fibrosis in a human lung airway-on-a-chip. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:606–15. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2021.10.004

- [8] Gerwick WH, Moghaddam M, Hamberg M. Oxylipin metabolism in the red alga Gracilariopsis lemaneiformis: mechanism of formation of vicinal dihydroxy fatty acids. Arch Biochem Biophys. 1991;290:436–44. DOI:10.1016/0003-9861(91)90563-x
- von Euler US. History and development of prostaglandins. Gen Pharmacol. 1983;14:3–
 6. DOI:10.1016/0306-3623(83)90053-8
- [10] Bergstroem S, Danielsson H, Klenberg D, Samuelsson B. The enzymatic conversion of essential fatty acids into prostaglandins. J Biol Chem. 1964;239:Pc4006–8.
- [11] Radmark O. Formation of eicosanoids and other oxylipins in human macrophages. Biochem Pharmacol. 2022;204:115210. DOI:10.1016/j.bcp.2022.115210
- [12] Sinniah A, Yazid S, Flower RJ. From NSAIDs to glucocorticoids and beyond. Cells. 2021;10:3524. DOI:10.3390/cells10123524
- [13] Hammarström S. Leukotrienes. Annu Rev Biochem. 1983;52:355–77. DOI:10.1146/annurev.bi.52.070183.002035
- [14] Calder PC. Eicosanoids. Essays Biochem. 2020;64:423-41. DOI:10.1042/ebc20190083
- [15] Dyall SC, Balas L, Bazan NG, Brenna JT, Chiang N, da Costa Souza F, et al. Polyunsaturated fatty acids and fatty acid-derived lipid mediators: recent advances in the understanding of their biosynthesis, structures, and functions. Prog Lipid Res. 2022;86:101165. DOI:10.1016/j.plipres.2022.101165
- [16] Serhan CN. The discovery and characterization of the leukotrienes. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2006;118:972–6. DOI:10.1016/j. jaci.2006.08.018
- [17] Samuelsson B. Prostaglandins, thromboxanes, and leukotrienes: formation and biological roles. Harvey Lect. 1979;75:1–40.
- [18] Ortega-Gómez A, Perretti M, Soehnlein O. Resolution of inflammation: an integrated view. EMBO Mol Med. 2013;5:661-74. DOI:10.1002/emmm.201202382

- [19] Bannenberg GL, Chiang N, Ariel A, Arita M, Tjonahen E, Gotlinger KH, et al. Molecular circuits of resolution: formation and actions of resolvins and protectins. J Immunol. 2005;174:4345–55. DOI:10.4049/jimmunol.174.7.4345
- [20] Levy BD, Clish CB, Schmidt B, Gronert K, Serhan CN. Lipid mediator class switching during acute inflammation: signals in resolution. Nat Immunol. 2001;2:612–9. DOI:10.1038/89759
- [21] Serhan CN, Hamberg M, Samuelsson B. Lipoxins: novel series of biologically active compounds formed from arachidonic acid in human leukocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1984;81:5335–9. DOI:10.1073/ pnas.81.17.5335
- [22] Serhan CN, Sheppard KA. Lipoxin formation during human neutrophil-platelet interactions. Evidence for the transformation of leukotriene A4 by platelet 12-lipoxygenase *in vitro*. J Clin Invest. 1990;85:772–80. DOI:10.1172/jci114503
- [23] Romano M, Chen XS, Takahashi Y, Yamamoto S, Funk CD, Serhan CN. Lipoxin synthase activity of human platelet 12-lipoxygenase. Biochem J. 1993;296 (Pt 1):127–33. DOI:10.1042/bj2960127
- [24] Edenius C, Kumlin M, Björk T, Anggård A, Lindgren JA. Lipoxin formation in human nasal polyps and bronchial tissue. FEBS Lett. 1990;272:25–8. DOI:10.1016/0014-5793(90)80440-t
- [25] Levy BD, Romano M, Chapman HA, Reilly JJ, Drazen J, Serhan CN. Human alveolar macrophages have 15-lipoxygenase and generate 15(S)-hydroxy-5,8,11-cis-13-trans-eicosatetraenoic acid and lipoxins. J Clin Invest. 1993;92:1572–9. DOI:10.1172/jci116738
- [26] Clària J, Serhan CN. Aspirin triggers previously undescribed bioactive eicosanoids by human endothelial cell-leukocyte interactions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92:9475– 9. DOI:10.1073/pnas.92.21.9475

- [27] Serhan CN, Clish CB, Brannon J, Colgan SP, Chiang N, Gronert K. Novel functional sets of lipid-derived mediators with antiinflammatory actions generated from omega-3 fatty acids via cyclooxygenase 2-nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and transcellular processing. J Exp Med. 2000;192:1197–204. DOI:10.1084/jem.192.8.1197
- [28] Dalli J, Chiang N, Serhan CN. Elucidation of novel 13-series resolvins that increase with atorvastatin and clear infections. Nat Med. 2015;21:1071–5. DOI:10.1038/nm.3911
- [29] Frigerio F, Pasqualini G, Craparotta I, Marchini S, van Vliet EA, Foerch P, et al. n-3 Docosapentaenoic acid-derived protectin D1 promotes resolution of neuroinflammation and arrests epileptogenesis. Brain. 2018;141:3130–43. DOI:10.1093/brain/awy247
- [30] Gobbetti T, Dalli J, Colas RA, Federici Canova D, Aursnes M, Bonnet D, et al. Protectin D1(n-3 DPA) and resolvin D5(n-3 DPA) are effectors of intestinal protection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017;114:3963–8. DOI:10.1073/ pnas.1617290114
- [31] Walker ME, Souza PR, Colas RA, Dalli J. 13-Series resolvins mediate the leukocyte-platelet actions of atorvastatin and pravastatin in inflammatory arthritis. FASEB J. 2017;31:3636-48. DOI:10.1096/fj.201700268
- [32] Serhan CN. Treating inflammation and infection in the 21st century: new hints from decoding resolution mediators and mechanisms. FASEB J. 2017;31:1273–88. DOI:10.1096/ fj.201601222R
- [33] Lee JY, Han SH, Park MH, Song IS, Choi MK, Yu E, et al. N-AS-triggered SPMs are direct regulators of microglia in a model of Alzheimer's disease. Nat Commun. 2020;11:2358. DOI:10.1038/s41467-020-16080-4

- [34] Serhan CN, Hong S, Gronert K, Colgan SP, Devchand PR, Mirick G, et al. Resolvins: a family of bioactive products of omega-3 fatty acid transformation circuits initiated by aspirin treatment that counter proinflammation signals. J Exp Med. 2002;196:1025–37. DOI:10.1084/jem.20020760
- [35] Serhan CN, Dalli J, Colas RA, Winkler JW, Chiang N. Protectins and maresins: new pro-resolving families of mediators in acute inflammation and resolution bioactive metabolome. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2015;1851:397–413. DOI:10.1016/j.bbalip.2014.08.006
- [36] Serhan CN, Yang R, Martinod K, Kasuga K, Pillai PS, Porter TF, et al. Maresins: novel macrophage mediators with potent antiinflammatory and proresolving actions. J Exp Med. 2009;206:15–23. DOI:10.1084/ jem.20081880
- [37] Serhan CN, Dalli J, Karamnov S, Choi A, Park CK, Xu ZZ, et al. Macrophage proresolving mediator maresin 1 stimulates tissue regeneration and controls pain. FASEB J. 2012;26:1755–65. DOI:10.1096/fj.11-201442
- [38] Dalli J, Ramon S, Norris PC, Colas RA, Serhan CN. Novel proresolving and tissue-regenerative resolvin and protectin sulfido-conjugated pathways. FASEB J. 2015;29:2120–36. DOI:10.1096/fj.14-268441
- [39] Dalli J, Sanger JM, Rodriguez AR, Chiang N, Spur BW, Serhan CN. Identification and actions of a novel third maresin conjugate in tissue regeneration: MCTR3. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0149319. DOI:10.1371/journal. pone.0149319
- [40] Dalli J, Vlasakov I, Riley IR, Rodriguez AR, Spur BW, Petasis NA, et al. Maresin conjugates in tissue regeneration biosynthesis enzymes in human macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113:12232–7. DOI:10.1073/ pnas.1607003113

- [41] Chiang N, Serhan CN. Specialized pro-resolving mediator network: an update on production and actions. Essays Biochem. 2020;64:443–62. DOI:10.1042/ebc20200018
- [42] Romano M, Patruno S, Pomilio A, Recchiuti A. Proresolving lipid mediators and receptors in stem cell biology: concise review. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2019;8:992–8. DOI:10.1002/sctm.19-0078
- [43] Burr GO, Burr MM. A new deficiency disease produced by the rigid exclusion of fat from the diet. J Biol Chem. 1929;82:345–67. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(20)78281-5
- [44] Burr GO, Burr MM. On the nature and rôle of the fatty acids essential in nutrition. J Biol Chem. 1930;86:587–621. DOI:https://doi. org/10.1016/S0021-9258(20)78929-5
- [45] Freedman SD, Blanco PG, Zaman MM, Shea JC, Ollero M, Hopper IK, et al. Association of cystic fibrosis with abnormalities in fatty acid metabolism. N Engl J Med. 2004;350:560–9. DOI:10.1056/NEJMoa021218
- [46] Gilljam H, Strandvik B, Ellin A, Wiman LG. Increased mole fraction of arachidonic acid in bronchial phospholipids in patients with cystic fibrosis. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 1986;46:511–8. DOI:10.3109/00365518609083706
- [47] Underwood BA, Denning CR, Navab M. Polyunsaturated fatty acids and tocopherol levels in patients with cystic fibrosis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1972;203:237–47. DOI:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1972.tb27879.x
- [48] Strandvik B. Fatty acid metabolism in cystic fibrosis. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids. 2010;83:121–9. DOI:10.1016/j.plefa.2010.07.002

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 6 - Lipid mediators in CF: from pathophysiological roles to therapeutic opportunities

- [49] Arnardottir H, Pawelzik SC, Sarajlic P, Quaranta A, Kolmert J, Religa D, *et al.* Immunomodulation by intravenous omega-3 fatty acid treatment in older subjects hospitalized for COVID-19: a single-blind randomized controlled trial. Clin Transl Med. 2022;12:e895. DOI:10.1002/ctm2.895
- [50] Konstan MW, Walenga RW, Hilliard KA, Hilliard JB. Leukotriene B4 markedly elevated in the epithelial lining fluid of patients with cystic fibrosis. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1993;148:896–901. DOI:10.1164/ajrccm/148.4_ Pt_1.896
- [51] Carnovale V, Castaldo A, Di Minno A, Gelzo M, Iacotucci P, Illiano A, et al. Oxylipin profile in saliva from patients with cystic fibrosis reveals a balance between pro-resolving and pro-inflammatory molecules. Sci Rep. 2022;12:5838. DOI:10.1038/s41598-022-09618-7
- [52] Karp CL, Flick LM, Park KW, Softic S, Greer TM, Keledjian R, et al. Defective lipoxin-mediated anti-inflammatory activity in the cystic fibrosis airway. Nat Immunol. 2004;5:388–92. DOI:10.1038/ni1056
- [53] Ringholz FC, Buchanan PJ, Clarke DT, Millar RG, McDermott M, Linnane B, et al. Reduced 15-lipoxygenase 2 and lipoxin A4/ leukotriene B4 ratio in children with cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2014;44:394–404. DOI:10.1183/09031936.00106013
- [54] Eickmeier O, Fussbroich D, Mueller K, Serve F, Smaczny C, Zielen S, et al. Pro-resolving lipid mediator Resolvin D1 serves as a marker of lung disease in cystic fibrosis. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0171249. DOI:10.1371/ journal.pone.0171249
- [55] Isopi E, Mattoscio D, Codagnone M, Mari VC, Lamolinara A, Patruno S, et al. Resolvin D1 reduces lung infection and inflammation activating resolution in cystic fibrosis. Front Immunol. 2020;11:581. DOI:10.3389/ fimmu.2020.00581

- [56] Jeanson L, Guerrera IC, Papon JF, Chhuon C, Zadigue P, Prulière-Escabasse V, et al. Proteomic analysis of nasal epithelial cells from cystic fibrosis patients. PLoS One. 2014;9:e108671. DOI:10.1371/journal. pone.0108671
- [57] Fredman G, Ozcan L, Spolitu S, Hellmann J, Spite M, Backs J, et al. Resolvin D1 limits 5-lipoxygenase nuclear localization and leukotriene B4 synthesis by inhibiting a calcium-activated kinase pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111:14530–5. DOI:10.1073/pnas.1410851111
- [58] Pierdomenico AM, Patruno S, Codagnone M, Simiele F, Mari VC, Plebani R, et al. microRNA-181b is increased in cystic fibrosis cells and impairs lipoxin A(4) receptor-dependent mechanisms of inflammation resolution and antimicrobial defense. Sci Rep. 2017;7:13519. DOI:10.1038/s41598-017-14055-y
- [59] Simiele F, Recchiuti A, Mattoscio D, De Luca A, Cianci E, Franchi S, et al. Transcriptional regulation of the human FPR2/ALX gene: evidence of a heritable genetic variant that impairs promoter activity. FASEB J. 2012;26:1323–33. DOI:10.1096/fj.11-198069
- [60] Higgins G, Fustero Torre C, Tyrrell J, Mc-Nally P, Harvey BJ, Urbach V. Lipoxin A4 prevents tight junction disruption and delays the colonization of cystic fibrosis bronchial epithelial cells by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2016;310:L1053–61. DOI:10.1152/ ajplung.00368.2015
- [61] Verrière V, Higgins G, Al-Alawi M, Costello RW, McNally P, Chiron R, et al. Lipoxin A4 stimulates calcium-activated chloride currents and increases airway surface liquid height in normal and cystic fibrosis airway epithelia. PLoS One. 2012;7:e37746. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0037746

Chapter 6 - Lipid mediators in CF: from pathophysiological roles to therapeutic opportunities

- [62] Al-Alawi M, Buchanan P, Verriere V, Higgins G, McCabe O, Costello RW, et al. Physiological levels of lipoxin A4 inhibit ENaC and restore airway surface liquid height in cystic fibrosis bronchial epithelium. Physiol Rep. 2014;2:e12093. DOI:10.14814/phy2.12093
- [63] Ringholz FC, Higgins G, Hatton A, Sassi A, Moukachar A, Fustero-Torre C, et al. Resolvin D1 regulates epithelial ion transport and inflammation in cystic fibrosis airways. J Cyst Fibros. 2018;17:607–15. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2017.11.017
- [64] Grumbach Y, Quynh NV, Chiron R, Urbach V. LXA4 stimulates ZO-1 expression and transepithelial electrical resistance in human airway epithelial (16HBE14o-) cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2009;296:L101– 8. DOI:10.1152/ajplung.00018.2008
- [65] Recchiuti A, Patruno S, Mattoscio D, Isopi E, Pomilio A, Lamolinara A, et al. Resolvin D1 and D2 reduce SARS-CoV-2-induced inflammatory responses in cystic fibrosis macrophages. FASEB J. 2021;35:e21441. DOI:10.1096/fj.202001952R
- [66] Sun YP, Oh SF, Uddin J, Yang R, Gotlinger K, Campbell E, et al. Resolvin D1 and its aspirin-triggered 17R epimer. Stereochemical assignments, anti-inflammatory properties, and enzymatic inactivation. J Biol Chem. 2007;282:9323–34. DOI:10.1074/jbc. M609212200
- [67] Norling LV, Dalli J, Flower RJ, Serhan CN, Perretti M. Resolvin D1 limits polymorphonuclear leukocyte recruitment to inflammatory loci: receptor-dependent actions. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2012;32:1970–8. DOI:10.1161/atvbaha.112.249508
- [68] Papayianni A, Serhan CN, Brady HR. Lipoxin A4 and B4 inhibit leukotriene-stimulated interactions of human neutrophils and endothelial cells. J Immunol. 1996;156:2264–72.

- [69] Codagnone M, Cianci E, Lamolinara A, Mari VC, Nespoli A, Isopi E, et al. Resolvin D1 enhances the resolution of lung inflammation caused by long-term *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection. Mucosal Immunol. 2018;11:35–49. DOI:10.1038/mi.2017.36
- [70] Paul-Clark MJ, Van Cao T, Moradi-Bidhendi N, Cooper D, Gilroy DW. 15-epi-lipoxin A4-mediated induction of nitric oxide explains how aspirin inhibits acute inflammation. J Exp Med. 2004;200:69–78. DOI:10.1084/ jem.20040566
- [71] Spite M, Norling LV, Summers L, Yang R, Cooper D, Petasis NA, et al. Resolvin D2 is a potent regulator of leukocytes and controls microbial sepsis. Nature. 2009;461:1287–91. DOI:10.1038/nature08541
- [72] Cherpokova D, Jouvene CC, Libreros S, DeRoo EP, Chu L, de la Rosa X, et al. Resolvin D4 attenuates the severity of pathological thrombosis in mice. Blood. 2019;134:1458– 68. DOI:10.1182/blood.2018886317
- [73] Chiang N, Sakuma M, Rodriguez AR, Spur BW, Irimia D, Serhan CN. Resolvin T-series reduce neutrophil extracellular traps. Blood. 2022;139:1222–33. DOI:10.1182/ blood.2021013422
- [74] Dona M, Fredman G, Schwab JM, Chiang N, Arita M, Goodarzi A, et al. Resolvin E1, an EPA-derived mediator in whole blood, selectively counterregulates leukocytes and platelets. Blood. 2008;112:848–55. DOI:10.1182/blood-2007-11-122598
- [75] Fredman G, Van Dyke TE, Serhan CN. Resolvin E1 regulates adenosine diphosphate activation of human platelets. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2010;30:2005–13. DOI:10.1161/atvbaha.110.209908

108

Chapter 7 Anti-inflammatory therapeutic approaches

Authors

Mairead Kelly, Isabelle Sermet-Gaudelus

Introduction

Recognition of the role of inflammation in cystic fibrosis (CF) lung disease has prompted studies on anti-inflammatory drugs with the hope to prevent or slow lung deterioration. Inflammation in CF is complex and the exact pathophysiological mechanisms linking inflammation to lung anatomical modifications remain poorly understood [1]. Muco-obstruction is an important trigger of pro-inflammatory pathways, since the mucus plug both generates a hypoxic environment and provides a reservoir for bacteria [2]. Moreover, airway inflammation is excessive and sustained relative to the infectious stimuli, reinforced by an imbalance between pro-inflammatory and pro-resolution mediators, and propagated by neutrophils, macrophages and T-lymphocyte [1]. Anti-inflammatory therapies addressing these mechanisms include well known anti-inflammatory molecules or repurposed drugs, according to the pathways targeted.

Traditionnal anti-inflammatory therapies in CF

7.1.1 Glucocorticoids

In CF patients with severe disease or during exacerbations, short-term administration of oral steroids had no benefits [3, 4]. In contrast, children with milder lung disease [5-7], particularly those colonized with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*,

had improvements in clinical parameters and inflammatory markers [7]. At higher doses, serious adverse effects prompted the early termination of one trial [7] and whereas the beneficial effects on lung function were not sustained, growth retardation persisted years after the termination of treatment [8]. For inhaled corticosteroids, short-term studies suggested little improvement in either lung function or inflammation [9-11]. Higher doses seemed more effective but had an increased frequency of adverse effects [12]. Large retrospective studies reported a decrease in forced expiratory volume in the first second (FEV₁) decline, with greater benefits in 6-12 yearolds [13, 14]. Overall, although steroids slow lung disease progression, this comes at a significant cost, with serious adverse effects that must be closely monitored.

7.1.2 Ibuprofen

High-dose ibuprofen inhibits both the cyclooxvgenase (COX) and lipoxygenase (LOX) pathways [15]. Pharmacokinetic studies stressed the need for individual adjustments in CF patients to achieve efficient plasma concentrations (50-100 µg/mL) [16]. Several trials report slower FEV1 decline, improved body mass index (BMI) and fewer exacerbations [17-19], the effects being more pronounced in patients who were younger [17] and with less severe disease [20]. Recently, ibuprofen has been linked to improved long-term survival, but only in children with mild disease [21]. Despite being well tolerated and beneficial, the narrow therapeutic window, requiring individually titrated pharmacokinetics, could partly explain why ibuprofen remains infrequently prescribed.

Chapter 7 - Anti-inflammatory therapeutic approaches

7.1.3 Azithromycin

The immunomodulatory properties of azithromycin are not fully elucidated. With treatment duration less than six months, several studies report improvements in lung function and/or exacerbations, independently of P. aeruginosa colonization [22-25]. These beneficial effects, however, rapidly recede when treatment is ended [22]. Importantly, long-term administration improved lung function in both children and adults [26-28] and gains could be greater in P. aeruginosa infected patients [26, 27]. When treated with azithromycin from diagnosis, infants with CF had fewer pulmonary exacerbations, weight gain. and improved FEV₁, however bronchiectasis at 36 months of treatment remained comparable to placebo group [28]. Overall, the pulmonary benefits of azithromycin appear to be greater in P. aeruginosa infected patients treated for less than 12 months compared to non-colonized patients [28]. Chronic administration to obtain an anti-inflammatory effect must be balanced with the risk of bacterial resistance emergence.

7.2 Targeting neutrophils

7.2.1 Antiproteases

CF inflammation is characterized by a persistent neutrophil infiltration and a release of harmful serine proteases such as neutrophil elastase (NE). Endogenous inhibitors, such as alpha1-antitrypsin (AAT) and secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor (SLPI), are rapidly overwhelmed. Antiprotease therapies in development include aerosolized purified human AAT, recombinant AAT and recombinant SLPI. Inhaled AAT and SLPI decreased NE activity, but lung function remained unchanged [29-33]. Several synthetic NE inhibitors are in clinical or preclinical trials. AZD9668 improved inflammation biomarkers although clinical outcome was unchanged [34]. POL6014 aerosols showed good results in a phase I study [35] and a phase II study is underway in CF patients (NCT03748199). Antagonists for CXCR2, a chemokine receptor on neutrophils, are expected to decrease NE activity but SB-656933, a reversible CXCR2 antagonist, failed to improve lung function [36]. Another strategy is inhibiting serine proteases before their activation. Brensocatib, a dipeptidyl peptidase 1 inhibitor, successfully reduced exacerbation rate when tested in non-CF bronchiectasis [37] and a phase II study is underway in adults with CF (NCT05090904).

7.2.2 Antioxidants

Neutrophils also release large amounts of oxidants that can overwhelm antioxidant defenses and participate in lung tissue damage. Reduced glutathione (GSH), a major antioxidant, is decreased in CF airways and can be increased locally with inhaled GSH supplementation. GSH or GSH-precursors such as N-acetylcysteine (NAC) have been shown to suppress proinflammatory oxidants [91]. They have been greatly studied whether inhaled or per os, but only a few studies reported an improvement in FEV₁ [38-41]. and when present, FEV₁ change was not always sustained throughout the duration of the study [41] or was only observed in a sub-group of patients [38]. Other antioxidants are also significantly lower in CF patients such as b-carotene. Supplementation has been associated with less pulmonary exacerbations [42, 43] although FEV1 remained unchanged [43]. Combinations of different antioxidants do not further improve clinical outcomes [44, 45].

7.3 Targeting lipid mediators: leukotrienes, eicosanoids, ceramides

As described in Chapter 6, an imbalance in fatty acids in CF has been reported, with high omega-6 poly unsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) arachidonic acid (AA) and low omega-3 PUFA docosahexaenoic acid (DHA). Catabolism of AA gives rise to a series of pro-inflammatory second messengers, including prostaglandins and leukotrienes. Omega-3 PUFA such as DHA and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) on the other hand, lead to pro-resolving mediators. Lipid imbalance in CF also includes increased ceramides, another family of lipid mediators produced from sphingolipids.

7.3.1 Restoring the AA/DHA ratio

Omega-3 supplementation, with DHA and EPA, has indeed been reported to normalize the AA/ DHA plasmatic ratio in nearly all studies [46-50]. However, studies were conducted on relatively small cohorts, only a few led to an improvement in lung function especially with short-term administration [48, 50, 51] or a decrease in inflammatory markers [50, 52, 53], and the two were rarely correlated. Compared to pediatric cohorts, adult cohorts reported a better gain in FEV₁ [48, 50, 51].

7.3.2 Leukotriene antagonists

Lipid mediators produced by the 5-lipoxygenase (LOX) generate LTA4, which is then converted to LTB4 by the LTA4 hydrolase. To date, leukotriene antagonists target either LTB4 or LTA4 hydrolase. Initial studies with the LTB4 antagonist amelubant reported no adverse effects [54], however a large clinical trial was prematurely stopped due to serious pulmonary exacerbations and respiratory signs [55]. More recently, Elborn et al. [56, 57] showed more promising results concerning safety, tolerance and efficacy with another leukotriene antagonist, acebilustat. This LTA4 hydrolase inhibitor reduced NE activity and neutrophil count. Although lung function was unaffected, pulmonary exacerbations tended to decrease in patients with better baseline lung function and in patients receiving concomitant CF transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) modulator therapy [56, 57].

7.3.3 Fenretinide

Fenretinide, or LAU-7b, is an orally available synthetic retinoid that has pleiotropic effects that are only partially understood. In mouse and cell models, fenretinide normalized AA/DHA, increased ceramide levels, reduced IL-8 release, and authors suggest benefits when combined with CFTR modulators [58-60]. In a phase I trial (NCT02141958) in adults with CF, ascending doses of LAU-7b demonstrated good safety and tolerability. A phase II study in 166 adults has been completed (NCT03265288) with full results pending.

7.3.4 Ceramides

Shingomyelinases hydrolyse sphingomyeline to ceramides. Repurposing of the antidepressant amitriptyline, a sphingomyelinase inhibitor, resulted in lower total ceramide levels and better lung function [61, 62]. Recent *in vitro* studies also showed promising results with myriocin, a sphingolipid synthesis inhibitor [63].

7.3.5 Pro-resolution

Lenabasum, a synthetic endocannabinoid-mimetic, binds to the cannabinoid type 2 (CB2) receptor on activated immune cells and fibroblasts. CB2 activation can help trigger the production of pro-resolving lipid mediators while reducing pro-inflammatory mediators [64]. A phase II, placebo-controlled study in adults with CF in 2016 assessed safety and tolerability, first at a low dose then at a higher dose. Although FEV₁ remained stable throughout the study, fewer exacerbations were reported, especially with the highest dose. Sputum neutrophils, and inflammatory mediators were also improved [65].

7.4 CFTR modulators

Studies in vitro show that pre-treatment with ivacaftor, ivacaftor/lumacaftor or ivacaftor/tezacaftor reduced cytokine production upon different stimuli (P. aeruginosa, lipopolysaccharide) [66-68]. Transcriptomic studies on whole blood cells from CF patients revealed differentially expressed genes in pre-ivacaftor/lumacaftor versus post-drug profiles that highlight pathways related to immunity and inflammation [69]. A possible anti-inflammatory effect of the triple therapy through lipid mediator signaling has also been suggested, with a modification in ceramide levels [70, 71]. Rowe et al. reported no significant changes after 6 months of ivacaftor treatment in any sputum markers of inflammation, including NE activity, despite improved airway obstruction [72]. In contrast, another study reported that ivacaftor reduced NE, IL-8, IL-1β during the first years of treatment [73]. In a larger adult cohort, IL-1β and IL-6 in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) significantly decreased after 8-12 weeks of ivacaftor, and pulmonary function improved [74]. Ivacaftor/lumacaftor, ivacaftor/ tezacaftor and the triple combination showed similar improvements in cytokine decrease [75, 76].

7.5 Novel targets

7.5.1 Cytokines

Several therapeutic strategies target the increased IL-8 cytokine levels, such as anti-IL-8 antibodies, IL-8 decoys, SCH527123 (navarixin) a CXCR1/2 antagonist that inhibits IL-8 binding and miR-17 overexpression, a microRNA that targets IL-8 [77-79]. Other directions focus on IL-17 for which monoclonal antibody therapies have already been developed and approved for oth-

er inflammatory diseases. Roscovitine, an orally available, selective cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, could regulate Th17 signaling [80]. In a 4-week trial in adults with CF chronically infected with *P. aeruginosa*, roscovitine was relatively well-tolerated, but no changes in inflammation markers, lung function or clinical outcome were observed [81].

7.5.2 Matrix metalloproteinases

Along with tissue remodeling and degradation of extracellular matrix, matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) can release cytokines and chemokines. Several MMPs have been reported to be elevated in CF [82]. Andecaliximab (or GS-5745) is a monoclonal antibody that binds and inhibits MMP9 activity and has shown good tolerance in other inflammatory diseases [83]. Part 1 of a trial in CF adults to evaluate the effect of GS-5745 on FEV1 has been completed (NCT02759562) but part 2 was discontinued due to a lack of participants.

7.6 Conclusion

Once bronchiectasis has occurred in CF lungs, the structural changes may imply persistent inflammation. Further studies are required to understand whether early introduction of CFTR modulators will avoid lung inflammation. Targeted anti-inflammatory therapies require a fine tuning between deleterious inflammation and preserving physiological inflammatory host defense to avoid serious adverse effects. Many novel therapeutic approaches are under evaluation, and it is important to identify the most appropriate patient population in terms of age, severity, infection, and co-therapies. Chapter 7 - Anti-inflammatory therapeutic approaches

Table 1

Principal clinical trials with traditional anti-inflammatory therapies.

	Drug regime	Study duration	Patients (severity of lung disease)	Inflammation markers	Lung function (FEV1)	Exacer- bations	Ref
	Prednisone (2 mg/kg/48 h)	4 years	45 children (mild to moderate)	ESR and IgG: ↓	↑	\downarrow	[5]
roids	Prednisolone (2 mg/kg/day then 1 mg/kg/48 h)	12 weeks	24 children (mild)	lgG, IL1a, sIL-2R: ↓	↑ FEV ₁	na	[6]
	Prednisone (1 or 2 mg/kg) *	4 years	285 children (mild to moderate)	lgG: ↓	↑ FEV ₁ at 1 mg/kg ↑↑FEV ₁ if PA	ns	[7]
oste	Prednisone (1 or 2 mg/kg/48 h)	na	224 children (mild to moderate)	na	ns	na	[8]
ortic	Prednisone (2 mg/kg)	5 days	24 adults (acute exacerbation)	ns	ns	na	[3]
oral o	Prednisone (2 mg/kg)	7 days	53 adults and children (acute exacerbation)	na	ns	ns	[4]
	Beclomethasone	16 weeks	26 adults (chronic infections)	ns	ns	na	[9]
	Beclomethasone (1500 µg/day)	30 days	46 children (FEV ₁ ≤55%)	na	↑ FEV ₁ .	na	[12]
ş	Fluticasone (500 mg/day)	3 weeks	26 adults (chronic PA)	ns	ns	ns	[10]
eroic	na	6 months	2978 children	na	\downarrow decline rate	na	[13]
Inhaled corticost	na	2 years	852 children (mild)	na	↓ decline rate ↓↓ in <12-year- olds	na	[14]
	adjusted to 50-100 µg/mL	4 years	85 adults and children (FEV ₁ >60%)	na	↓ decline rate, ↓↓ in <13-year- olds	ns	[17]
	adjusted to 50-100 µg/mL	2 years	142 children (FEV ₁ >60%)	na	ns	Ŷ	[18]
ofen	na	2 years	17 175 children and adults (FEV ₁ >60%)	na	↓ decline rate	na	[19]
Ibupr	adjusted to 50-100 µg/mL	28 days	72 children and adults (FEV1>40%)	IL-6: ↓	ns	ns	[20]
	250 -500 mg 3 times/week	24 weeks	185 adults and children (chronic PA, FEV ₁ >30%)	NE: ↓	↑ FEV ₁	Ŷ	[22]
	250 -500 mg 3 times/week	12 months	82 children (FEV ₁ >40%)	na	ns	\downarrow	[84]
	250 mg/day versus 1.2 g/week	6 months	208 children and adults (FEV ₁ >90%)	CRP: ↓	\uparrow FEV ₁	Ŷ	[23]
	500-1250 mg/week	8 weeks	38 children and adults (chronic PA, FEV ₁ 30-80%)	CRP, IL-8: ↓	ns	na	[85]
	250-500 mg 3 times/week	24 weeks	260 children (mild to moderate, no PA)	neutrophils, SAA, CRP, cal- protectin: ↓	\uparrow FEV ₁	Ŷ	[25], [24]
çi.	na	3 years	4715 adults and children	na	↓ decline rate if PA+	ns	[26]
romy	na	7 years	2055 children and adults	na	↓ decline rate	\downarrow	[27]
Azithı	10 mg/kg 3 times/week	3 years	130 infants from diagnosis to 3 years	NE and IL-8: ↓	\uparrow FEV ₁	\downarrow	[28]

Abbreviations: CRP=C-reactive protein; ESR=erythrocyte sedimentation rate; FEV1=forced expiratory volume in one second; Ig=immunoglobulin; na=not assessed; NE=neutrophil elastase; ns=not significant; PA=*P. aeruginosa*; SAA= serum amyloid A

Table 2

Principal clinical trials targeting proteases and oxidants.

	Drug regime	Study duration	Patients (severity of lung disease)	Inflammation markers	Lung function (FEV1)	Exacer- bations	Ref
	Purified AAT (1.5-3 mg/kg BID)	1 week	12 adults	NE: ↓	na	na	[31]
ases	Recombinant SLPI (50-100 mg BID)	1 week	20 adults (mild)	NE, neutrophils, IL-8: ↓	na	na	[29], [30]
	Recombinant AAT (500, 250, and 125 mg BID)	8-10 weeks	39 male adults	ns	na	na	[33]
	AAT (25 mg /day)	4 weeks	52 children and adults (FEV ₁ >25%)	NE, IL-8, IL-1b, TNF-α, neutrophils: ↓	ns	na	[32]
prot	AZD9668 (60 mg BID)	4 weeks	56 adults (moderate)	IL-6: ↓	ns	ns	[34]
Anti	POL6014 (lonodelestat) 20-960 mg	24 h	74 adults (mild)	NE: ↓	na	na	[35]
nd NAC	Aerosolized GSH (66 mg/kg 4 times/day)	8 weeks	19 children	na	ns	na	[86]
	NAC (per os) (600-1000 mg NAC 3x/day)	4 weeks	18 children and adults (mild to moderate)	neutrophils, IL-8, NE: ↓	ns	na	[87]
	nebulized GSH (646 mg /12h)	6 months	153 children and adults (mild to moderate)	ns	↑ FEV ₁ only at 3 months	ns	[41]
	GSH (per os) 65 mg/kg 3 times/ day	6 months	44 children	calprotectin: \downarrow	↑ FEV ₁	na	[40]
	Inhaled GSH (10 mg/kg/12h)	12 months	105 children and adults	ns	↑ FEV ₁ if moderate lung disease	ns	[38]
	NAC (per os) (900 mg 3x/day)	24 weeks	70 children and adults (mild to moderate)	ns	Stable versus de- crease in placebo	ns	[39]
GSH a	L-glutathione (per os) 65 mg/ kg/day	24 weeks	60 children (mild)	ns	ns	ns	[88]
	β-carotene (0.5 mg/kg) & Vit E (110-450 IU)	16 months	33 children and adults	NE/α1-PI complex: ↓	na	na	[45]
	β-carotene (1 then 10 mg/kg/day)	24 weeks	38 children and adults	na	na	\downarrow	[42]
ins	β-carotene (1 then 10 mg/kg/day)	6 months	24 children and adults	na	ns	\downarrow	[43]
Vitami	Vit E & Vit A versus Vit E, Vit A, Vit C, Se and β-carotene (25 mg)	12 weeks	46 children	na	ns	ns	[44]

Abbreviations: AAT=alpha one antitrypsin; α 1-PI=alpha one proteinase inhibitor; FEV1=forced expiratory volume in one second; GSH=glutathione; Ig=immunoglobulin; IL=interleukin; na=not assessed; NAC=N-acetyl-cysteine; NE=neutrophil elastase; ns=not significant; SLPI=secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor; TNF- α =tumor necrosis factor alpha; Vit=vitamin.

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 7 - Anti-inflammatory therapeutic approaches

Table 3

Principal clinical trials targeting lipid mediators.

	Drug regime	Study duration	Patients (severity of lung disease)	Inflammation markers	Lung function (FEV1)	Exacer- bations	Ref
	EPA (2.7 g/day)	6 weeks	16 adults (PA colonization)	neutrophil chemotaxis to LTB4: ↓	\uparrow FEV ₁	na	[51]
	n-3 ethyl ester versus n-6 fatty acids	18 weeks	14 children	DHA: ↑, LTB4:↓	ns	na	[46]
	3.2 g EPA and 2.2g DHA vs olive oil ethyl esters	6 weeks	25 children (pancreatic insufficient)	AA/DHA ↓	na	na	[47]
u	EPA and DHA (1.3% caloric intake)	8 months	50 adults	AA, IgG: ↓ linoleic acid: ↑	↑ FEV ₁	Ŷ	[48]
tatic	algal oil (50 mg/kg/day of DHA)	6 months	20 children and adults	AA/DHA ↓	ns	na	[49]
men	Omega-3 PUFA (390-1170 mg/day)	1 year	17 children and adults	LTB4/LTB5↓	na	na	[52]
ga 3 supplei	n-3, n-6 PUFA or saturated FA (50 mg/kg/day)	3 months	35 children and adults (severe, pancreatic insufficient)	ESR, IL-8: ↓ with n-3 ESR, AA: ↑ with n-6	ns	ns	[53]
Ome	Seaweed DHA (50 mg/kg/day)	48 weeks	96 children and adults	ns	ns	ns	[89]
	Amelubant (BIIL284 BS) 75-150 mg /day	196 days	420 children and adults (FEV ₁ 25- 85%)	na*	na*	<u>ተ</u> ተ*	[55]
bitors	Acebilustat (CTX 4430) 50-100 mg/day	15 days	17 patients (mild to moderate)	NE: ↓ neutrophils: ↓ (100 mg group)	ns	Ns	[90]
Leukotriene inhi	Acebilustat (CTX 4430) 50-100 mg/day	48 weeks	200 adults (FEV ₁ >50%)	ns	ns	↓↓If FEV ₁ >75 and/ or CFTR modula- tors	[56], [57]
itrip-	Amitriptyline (25-75 mg/day)	84 days	23 adults (chronic infection)	ceramide: ↓	↑ FEV ₁ (25 mg group)	na	[61]
Am	Amitriptyline (25 mg/day)	28 days	40 adults (moderate)	ceramide: \downarrow	\uparrow FEV ₁	na	[62]
CB2	Lenabasum 1 or 5 mg/day then 20 mg twice a day	16 weeks	74 adults (mild to moderate)	NE, neutrophil count, IL-8: ↓	ns	ns	[65]

* trial prematurely stopped due to serious adverse effects; several parameters not completely assessed)

Abbreviations: AA=arachidonic acid; DHA=docosahexaenoic acid; EPA=eicosapentaenoic acid; ERS=erythrocyte sedimentation rate; FEV1=forced expiratory volume in one second; Ig=immunoglobulin; IL=interleukin; LT=leukotriene; na=not assessed; NE=neutrophil elastase; ns=not significant; PA=*P. aeruginosa*; PUFA=polyunsaturated fatty acid.

Chapter 7 - Anti-inflammatory therapeutic approaches

Bibliography

- Roesch EA, Nichols DP, Chmiel JF. Inflammation in cystic fibrosis: an update. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2018;53:S30–50. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.24129
- [2] Esther CR, Jr., Muhlebach MS, Ehre C, Hill DB, Wolfgang MC, Kesimer M, et al. Mucus accumulation in the lungs precedes structural changes and infection in children with cystic fibrosis. Sci Transl Med. 2019;11:eaav3488. DOI:10.1126/scitranslmed.aav3488
- [3] Dovey M, Aitken ML, Emerson J, McNamara S, Waltz DA, Gibson RL. Oral corticosteroid therapy in cystic fibrosis patients hospitalized for pulmonary exacerbation: a pilot study. Chest. 2007;132:1212–8. DOI:10.1378/ chest.07-0843
- [4] Muirhead CA, Lanocha N, Markwardt S, Mac-Donald KD. Evaluation of rescue oral glucocorticoid therapy during inpatient cystic fibrosis exacerbations. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2021;56:891–900. DOI:10.1002/ppul.25204
- [5] Auerbach HS, Williams M, Kirkpatrick JA, Colten HR. Alternate-day prednisone reduces morbidity and improves pulmonary function in cystic fibrosis. Lancet. 1985;2:686–8. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(85)92929-0
- [6] Greally P, Hussain MJ, Vergani D, Price JF. Interleukin-1 alpha, soluble interleukin-2 receptor, and IgG concentrations in cystic fibrosis treated with prednisolone. Arch Dis Child. 1994;71:35–9. DOI:10.1136/adc.71.1.35
- [7] Eigen H, Rosenstein BJ, FitzSimmons S, Schidlow DV. A multicenter study of alternate-day prednisone therapy in patients with cystic fibrosis. Cystic fibrosis foundation prednisone trial group. J Pediatr. 1995;126:515–23. DOI:10.1016/s0022-3476(95)70343-8

- [8] Lai HC, FitzSimmons SC, Allen DB, Kosorok MR, Rosenstein BJ, Campbell PW, et al. Risk of persistent growth impairment after alternate-day prednisone treatment in children with cystic fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2000;342:851–9. DOI:10.1056/ nejm200003233421204
- [9] Schiøtz PO, Jørgensen M, Flensborg EW, Faerø O, Husby S, Høiby N, et al. Chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa lung infection in cystic fibrosis. A longitudinal study of immune complex activity and inflammatory response in sputum sol-phase of cystic fibrosis patients with chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa lung infections: influence of local steroid treatment. Acta Paediatr Scand. 1983;72:283–7. DOI:10.1111/j.1651-2227.1983. tb09712.x
- [10] Dauletbaev N, Viel K, Behr J, Loitsch S, Buhl R, Wagner TO, *et al.* Effects of short-term inhaled fluticasone on oxidative burst of sputum cells in cystic fibrosis patients. Eur Respir J. 1999;14:1150–5. DOI:10.1183/0903193 6.99.14511509
- [11] van Haren EH, Lammers JW, Festen J, Heijerman HG, Groot CA, van Herwaarden CL. The effects of the inhaled corticosteroid budesonide on lung function and bronchial hyperresponsiveness in adult patients with cystic fibrosis. Respir Med. 1995;89:209–14. DOI:10.1016/0954-6111(95)90249-x
- [12] Nikolaizik WH, Schöni MH. Pilot study to assess the effect of inhaled corticosteroids on lung function in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr. 1996;128:271–4. DOI:10.1016/ s0022-3476(96)70407-9
- [13] Ren CL, Pasta DJ, Rasouliyan L, Wagener JS, Konstan MW, Morgan WJ. Relationship between inhaled corticosteroid therapy and rate of lung function decline in children with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr. 2008;153:746– 51. DOI:10.1016/j.jpeds.2008.07.010

- [14] De Boeck K, Vermeulen F, Wanyama S, Thomas M. Inhaled corticosteroids and lower lung function decline in young children with cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2011;37:1091–5. DOI:10.1183/09031936.00077210
- [15] Konstan MW, Vargo KM, Davis PB. Ibuprofen attenuates the inflammatory response to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in a rat model of chronic pulmonary infection. Implications for antiinflammatory therapy in cystic fibrosis. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1990;141:186–92. DOI:10.1164/ajrccm/141.1.186
- [16] Konstan MW, Hoppel CL, Chai BL, Davis PB. Ibuprofen in children with cystic fibrosis: pharmacokinetics and adverse effects. J Pediatr. 1991;118:956–64. DOI:10.1016/s0022-3476(05)82218-8
- [17] Konstan MW, Byard PJ, Hoppel CL, Davis PB. Effect of high-dose ibuprofen in patients with cystic fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 1995;332:848–54. DOI:10.1056/ nejm199503303321303
- [18] Lands LC, Milner R, Cantin AM, Manson D, Corey M. High-dose ibuprofen in cystic fibrosis: Canadian safety and effectiveness trial. J Pediatr. 2007;151:249–54. DOI:10.1016/j. jpeds.2007.04.009
- [19] Konstan MW, Schluchter MD, Xue W, Davis PB. Clinical use of Ibuprofen is associated with slower FEV₁ decline in children with cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2007;176:1084–9. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200702-1810C
- [20] Chmiel JF, Konstan MW, Accurso FJ, Lymp J, Mayer-Hamblett N, VanDevanter DR, et al. Use of ibuprofen to assess inflammatory biomarkers in induced sputum: implications for clinical trials in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2015;14:720–6. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2015.03.007

- [21] Konstan MW, VanDevanter DR, Sawicki GS, Pasta DJ, Foreman AJ, Neiman EA, et al. Association of high-dose ibuprofen use, lung function decline, and long-term survival in children with cystic fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2018;15:485–93. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201706-4860C
- [22] Saiman L, Marshall BC, Mayer-Hamblett N, Burns JL, Quittner AL, Cibene DA, et al. Azithromycin in patients with cystic fibrosis chronically infected with Pseudomonas aeruginosa: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2003;290:1749–56. DOI:10.1001/ jama.290.13.1749
- [23] McCormack J, Bell S, Senini S, Walmsley K, Patel K, Wainwright C, *et al.* Daily versus weekly azithromycin in cystic fibrosis patients. Eur Respir J. 2007;30:487–95. DOI:10.1183/09031936.00163306
- [24] Saiman L, Anstead M, Mayer-Hamblett N, Lands LC, Kloster M, Hocevar-Trnka J, et al. Effect of azithromycin on pulmonary function in patients with cystic fibrosis uninfected with Pseudomonas aeruginosa: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2010;303:1707–15. DOI:10.1001/jama.2010.563
- [25] Ratjen F, Saiman L, Mayer-Hamblett N, Lands LC, Kloster M, Thompson V, et al. Effect of azithromycin on systemic markers of inflammation in patients with cystic fibrosis uninfected with Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Chest. 2012;142:1259–66. DOI:10.1378/ chest.12-0628
- [26] Nichols DP, Odem-Davis K, Cogen JD, Goss CH, Ren CL, Skalland M, et al. Pulmonary outcomes associated with long-term azithromycin therapy in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2020;201:430–7. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201906-12060C

- [27] Denis A, Touzet S, Diabaté L, Durieu I, Lemonnier L, Poupon-Bourdy S, et al. Quantifying long-term changes in lung function and exacerbations after initiation of azithromycin in cystic fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2020;17:195-201. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201812-882OC
- [28] Stick SM, Foti A, Ware RS, Tiddens H, Clements BS, Armstrong DS, et al. The effect of azithromycin on structural lung disease in infants with cystic fibrosis (COMBAT CF): a phase 3, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Lancet Respir Med. 2022:10:776-84. DOI:10.1016/s2213-2600(22)00165-5
- [29] McElvaney NG, Nakamura H, Birrer P, Hébert CA, Wong WL, Alphonso M, et al. Modulation of airway inflammation in cystic fibrosis. In vivo suppression of interleukin-8 levels on the respiratory epithelial surface by aerosolization of recombinant secretory leukoprotease inhibitor. J Clin Invest. 1992:90:1296-301. DOI:10.1172/ici115994
- [30] McElvaney NG, Doujaiji B, Moan MJ, Burnham MR, Wu MC, Crystal RG. Pharmacokinetics of recombinant secretory leukoprotease inhibitor aerosolized to normals and individuals with cystic fibrosis. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1993;148:1056-60. DOI:10.1164/ ajrccm/148.4_Pt_1.1056
- [31] McElvaney NG, Hubbard RC, Birrer P, Chernick MS, Caplan DB, Frank MM, et al. Aerosol alpha 1-antitrypsin treatment for cystic fibrosis. Lancet. 1991;337:392-4. DOI:10.1016/0140-6736(91)91167-s
- [32] Griese M, Latzin P, Kappler M, Weckerle K, Heinzlmaier T, Bernhardt T, et al. alpha1-Antitrypsin inhalation reduces airway inflammation in cystic fibrosis patients. Eur Respir J. 2007;29:240-50. DOI:10.1183/09031936.00047306

- [33] Martin SL, Downey D, Bilton D, Keogan MT, Edgar J. Elborn JS. Safety and efficacy of recombinant alpha(1)-antitrypsin therapy in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2006;41:177-83. DOI:10.1002/ppul.20345
- [34] Elborn JS, Perrett J, Forsman-Semb K, Marks-Konczalik J. Gunawardena K. Entwistle N. Efficacy, safety and effect on biomarkers of AZD9668 in cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2012;40:969-76. DOI:10.1183/09031936.00194611
- [35] Barth P. Bruijnzeel P. Wach A. Sellier Kessler O. Hooftman L. Zimmermann I. et al. Single dose escalation studies with inhaled POL6014, a potent novel selective reversible inhibitor of human neutrophil elastase. in healthy volunteers and subjects with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2020;19:299-304. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2019.08.020
- [36] Moss RB. Mistry SI. Konstan MW. Pilewski IM. Kerem E. Tal-Singer R. et al. Safety and early treatment effects of the CXCR2 antagonist SB-656933 in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2013;12:241-8. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2012.08.016
- [37] Chalmers JD, Haworth CS, Metersky ML, Loebinger MR, Blasi F, Sibila O, et al. Phase 2 trial of the DPP-1 inhibitor brensocatib in bronchiectasis. N Engl J Med. 2020;383:2127-37. DOI:10.1056/NEJMoa2021713
- [38] Calabrese C, Tosco A, Abete P, Carnovale V, Basile C, Magliocca A, et al. Randomized, single blind, controlled trial of inhaled glutathione vs placebo in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2015;14:203-10. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2014.09.014
- [39] Conrad C, Lymp J, Thompson V, Dunn C, Davies Z, Chatfield B, et al. Long-term treatment with oral N-acetylcysteine: affects lung function but not sputum inflammation in cystic fibrosis subjects. A phase II randomized placebo-controlled trial. J Cyst Fibros. 2015;14:219-27. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2014.08.008

Chapter 7 - Anti-inflammatory therapeutic approaches

- [40] Visca A, Bishop CT, Hilton S, Hudson VM. Oral reduced L-glutathione improves growth in pediatric cystic fibrosis patients. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2015;60:802–10. DOI:10.1097/mpg.000000000000738
- [41] Griese M, Kappler M, Eismann C, Ballmann M, Junge S, Rietschel E, et al. Inhalation treatment with glutathione in patients with cystic fibrosis. A randomized clinical trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;188:83-9. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201303-04270C
- [42] Rust P, Eichler I, Renner S, Elmadfa I. Longterm oral beta-carotene supplementation in patients with cystic fibrosis - effects on antioxidative status and pulmonary function. Ann Nutr Metab. 2000;44:30-7. DOI:10.1159/000012818
- [43] Renner S, Rath R, Rust P, Lehr S, Frischer T, Elmadfa I, et al. Effects of beta-carotene supplementation for six months on clinical and laboratory parameters in patients with cystic fibrosis. Thorax. 2001;56:48-52. DOI:10.1136/thorax.56.1.48
- [44] Wood LG, Fitzgerald DA, Lee AK, Garg ML. Improved antioxidant and fatty acid status of patients with cystic fibrosis after antioxidant supplementation is linked to improved lung function. Am J Clin Nutr. 2003;77:150-9. DOI:10.1093/ajcn/77.1.150
- [45] Winklhofer-Roob BM, Schlegel-Haueter SE, Khoschsorur G, van't Hof MA, Suter S, Shmerling DH. Neutrophil elastase/alpha 1-proteinase inhibitor complex levels decrease in plasma of cystic fibrosis patients during long-term oral beta-carotene supplementation. Pediatr Res. 1996;40:130-4. DOI:10.1203/00006450-199607000-00022
- [46] Kurlandsky LE, Bennink MR, Webb PM, Ulrich PJ, Baer LJ. The absorption and effect of dietary supplementation with omega-3 fatty acids on serum leukotriene B4 in patients with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 1994:18:211-7. DOI:10.1002/ppul.1950180404

- [47] Henderson WR, Jr., Astley SJ, McCready MM, Kushmerick P, Casey S, Becker JW, et al. Oral absorption of omega-3 fatty acids in patients with cystic fibrosis who have pancreatic insufficiency and in healthy control subjects. J Pediatr. 1994;124:400-8. DOI:10.1016/s0022-3476(94)70362-0
- [48] De Vizia B, Raia V, Spano C, Pavlidis C, Coruzzo A, Alessio M. Effect of an 8-month treatment with omega-3 fatty acids (eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic) in patients with cystic fibrosis. JPEN I Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2003:27:52-7. DOI:10.1177/014860710302700152
- [49] Lloyd-Still JD, Powers CA, Hoffman DR, Boyd-Trull K, Lester LA, Benisek DC, et al. Bioavailability and safety of a high dose of docosahexaenoic acid triacylglycerol of algal origin in cystic fibrosis patients: a randomized, controlled study. Nutrition. 2006:22:36-46. DOI:10.1016/j.nut.2005.05.006
- [50] Olveira G, Olveira C, Acosta E, Espíldora F, Garrido-Sánchez L, García-Escobar E, et al. Fatty acid supplements improve respiratory, inflammatory and nutritional parameters in adults with cystic fibrosis. Arch Bronconeumol. 2010;46:70-7. DOI:10.1016/j. arbres.2009.11.001
- [51] Lawrence R, Sorrell T. Eicosapentaenoic acid in cystic fibrosis: evidence of a pathogenetic role for leukotriene B4. Lancet. 1993;342:465-9. DOI:10.1016/0140-6736(93)91594-c
- [52] Panchaud A, Sauty A, Kernen Y, Decosterd LA, Buclin T, Boulat O, et al. Biological effects of a dietary omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids supplementation in cystic fibrosis patients: a randomized, crossover placebo-controlled trial. Clin Nutr. 2006;25:418-27. DOI:10.1016/j.clnu.2005.10.011

- [53] Keen C, Olin AC, Eriksson S, Ekman A, Lindblad A, Basu S, et al. Supplementation with fatty acids influences the airway nitric oxide and inflammatory markers in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2010;50:537–44. DOI:10.1097/ MPG.0b013e3181b47967
- [54] Konstan M, Hilliard K, Koker P, Hamilton A, Staab A. Safety and tolerability of BIIL 284 BS (Amelubant), an oral once-daily LTB4 receptor antagonist, in adult and pediatric CF patients. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2003;36:259.
- [55] Konstan MW, Döring G, Heltshe SL, Lands LC, Hilliard KA, Koker P, et al. A randomized double blind, placebo controlled phase 2 trial of BIIL 284 BS (an LTB4 receptor antagonist) for the treatment of lung disease in children and adults with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2014;13:148–55. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2013.12.009
- [56] Elborn JS, Ahuja S, Springman E, Mershon J, Grosswald R, Rowe SM. EMPIRE-CF: a phase II randomized placebo-controlled trial of once-daily, oral acebilustat in adult patients with cystic fibrosis - study design and patient demographics. Contemp Clin Trials. 2018;72:86–94. DOI:10.1016/j.cct.2018.07.014
- [57] Elborn JS, Konstan MW, Taylor-Cousar JL, Fajac I, Horsley A, Sutharsan S, et al. Empire-CF study: a phase 2 clinical trial of leukotriene A4 hydrolase inhibitor acebilustat in adult subjects with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2021;20:1026–34. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2021.08.007
- [58] Guilbault C, De Sanctis JB, Wojewodka G, Saeed Z, Lachance C, Skinner TA, et al. Fenretinide corrects newly found ceramide deficiency in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2008;38:47–56. DOI:10.1165/ rcmb.2007-00360C

- [59] Garić D, De Sanctis JB, Wojewodka G, Houle D, Cupri S, Abu-Arish A, et al. Fenretinide differentially modulates the levels of longand very long-chain ceramides by downregulating Cers5 enzyme: evidence from bench to bedside. J Mol Med (Berl). 2017;95:1053– 64. DOI:10.1007/s00109-017-1564-y
- [60] Centorame A, Dumut DC, Youssef M, Ondra M, Kianicka I, Shah J, et al. Treatment with LAU-7b complements CFTR modulator therapy by improving lung physiology and normalizing lipid imbalance associated with CF lung disease. Front Pharmacol. 2022;13:876842. DOI:10.3389/ fphar.2022.876842
- [61] Riethmüller J, Anthonysamy J, Serra E, Schwab M, Döring G, Gulbins E. Therapeutic efficacy and safety of amitriptyline in patients with cystic fibrosis. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2009;24:65–72. DOI:10.1159/000227814
- [62] Nährlich L, Mainz JG, Adams C, Engel C, Herrmann G, Icheva V, et al. Therapy of CF-patients with amitriptyline and placebo--a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase IIb multicenter, cohort-study. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2013;31:505–12. DOI:10.1159/000350071
- [63] Signorelli P, Pivari F, Barcella M, Merelli I, Zulueta A, Dei Cas M, et al. Myriocin modulates the altered lipid metabolism and storage in cystic fibrosis. Cell Signal. 2021;81:109928. DOI:10.1016/j.cellsig.2021.109928
- [64] Motwani MP, Bennett F, Norris PC, Maini AA, George MJ, Newson J, et al. Potent anti-inflammatory and pro-resolving effects of anabasum in a human model of self-resolving acute inflammation. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2018;104:675–86. DOI:10.1002/cpt.980
- [65] Chmiel JF, Flume P, Downey DG, Dozor AJ, Colombo C, Mazurek H, et al. Safety and efficacy of lenabasum in a phase 2 randomized, placebo-controlled trial in adults with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2021;20:78– 85. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2020.09.008

Chapter 7 - Anti-inflammatory therapeutic approaches

- [66] Barnaby R, Koeppen K, Nymon A, Hampton TH, Berwin B, Ashare A, et al. Lumacaftor (VX-809) restores the ability of CF macrophages to phagocytose and kill *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2018;314:L432–8. DOI:10.1152/ ajplung.00461.2017
- [67] Ruffin M, Roussel L, Maillé É, Rousseau S, Brochiero E. Vx-809/Vx-770 treatment reduces inflammatory response to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in primary differentiated cystic fibrosis bronchial epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2018;314:L635–41. DOI:10.1152/ajplung.00198.2017
- [68] Bene Z, Fejes Z, Szanto TG, Fenyvesi F, Váradi J, Clarke LA, et al. Enhanced expression of human epididymis protein 4 (HE4) reflecting pro-inflammatory status is regulated by CFTR in cystic fibrosis bronchial epithelial cells. Front Pharmacol. 2021;12:592184. DOI:10.3389/fphar.2021.592184
- [69] Kopp BT, Fitch J, Jaramillo L, Shrestha CL, Robledo-Avila F, Zhang S, et al. Whole-blood transcriptomic responses to lumacaftor/ ivacaftor therapy in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2020;19:245–54. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2019.08.021
- [70] Liessi N, Pesce E, Braccia C, Bertozzi SM, Giraudo A, Bandiera T, *et al.* Distinctive lipid signatures of bronchial epithelial cells associated with cystic fibrosis drugs, including Trikafta. JCI Insight. 2020;5:e138722. DOI:10.1172/jci.insight.138722
- [71] Westhölter D, Schumacher F, Wülfinghoff N, Sutharsan S, Strassburg S, Kleuser B, et al. CFTR modulator therapy alters plasma sphingolipid profiles in people with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:713–20. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2022.02.005

- [72] Rowe SM, Heltshe SL, Gonska T, Donaldson SH, Borowitz D, Gelfond D, et al. Clinical mechanism of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator potentiator ivacaftor in G551D-mediated cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2014;190:175–84. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201404-07030C
- [73] Hisert KB, Heltshe SL, Pope C, Jorth P, Wu X, Edwards RM, et al. Restoring cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator function reduces airway bacteria and inflammation in people with cystic fibrosis and chronic lung infections. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2017;195:1617–28. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.201609-1954OC
- [74] Mainz JG, Arnold C, Wittstock K, Hipler UC, Lehmann T, Zagoya C, et al. Ivacaftor reduces inflammatory mediators in upper airway lining fluid from cystic fibrosis patients with a G551D mutation: serial non-invasive home-based collection of upper airway lining fluid. Front Immunol. 2021;12:642180. DOI:10.3389/fimmu.2021.642180
- [75] Jarosz-Griffiths HH, Scambler T, Wong CH, Lara-Reyna S, Holbrook J, Martinon F, et al. Different CFTR modulator combinations downregulate inflammation differently in cystic fibrosis. Elife. 2020;9:e54556. DOI:10.7554/eLife.54556
- [76] Gabillard-Lefort C, Casey M, Glasgow AMA, Boland F, Kerr O, Marron E, et al. Trikafta rescues CFTR and lowers monocyte P2X7R-induced inflammasome activation in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2022;205:783–94. DOI:10.1164/rccm.202106-14260C
- [77] Chapman RW, Minnicozzi M, Celly CS, Phillips JE, Kung TT, Hipkin RW, et al. A novel, orally active CXCR1/2 receptor antagonist, Sch527123, inhibits neutrophil recruitment, mucus production, and goblet cell hyperplasia in animal models of pulmonary inflammation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2007;322:486–93. DOI:10.1124/jpet.106.119040

- [78] Planagumà A, Domènech T, Pont M, Calama E, García-González V, López R, et al. Combined anti CXC receptors 1 and 2 therapy is a promising anti-inflammatory treatment for respiratory diseases by reducing neutrophil migration and activation. Pulm Pharmacol Ther. 2015;34:37–45. DOI:10.1016/j. pupt.2015.08.002
- [79] Oglesby IK, Vencken SF, Agrawal R, Gaughan K, Molloy K, Higgins G, et al. miR-17 overexpression in cystic fibrosis airway epithelial cells decreases interleukin-8 production. Eur Respir J. 2015;46:1350–60. DOI:10.1183/09031936.00163414
- [80] Meijer L, Nelson DJ, Riazanski V, Gabdoulkhakova AG, Hery-Arnaud G, Le Berre R, et al. Modulating innate and adaptive immunity by (R)-roscovitine: potential therapeutic opportunity in cystic fibrosis. J Innate Immun. 2016;8:330–49. DOI:10.1159/000444256
- [81] Meijer L, Hery-Arnaud G, Leven C, Nowak E, Hillion S, Renaudineau Y, et al. Safety and pharmacokinetics of roscovitine (Seliciclib) in cystic fibrosis patients chronically infected with Pseudomonas aeruginosa, a randomized, placebo-controlled study. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:529–36. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2021.10.013
- [82] Roderfeld M, Rath T, Schulz R, Seeger W, Tschuschner A, Graf J, et al. Serum matrix metalloproteinases in adult CF patients: relation to pulmonary exacerbation. J Cyst Fibros. 2009;8:338–47. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2009.06.001
- [83] Gossage DL, Cieslarová B, Ap S, Zheng H, Xin Y, Lal P, et al. Phase 1b study of the safety, pharmacokinetics, and disease-related outcomes of the matrix metalloproteinase-9 inhibitor andecaliximab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Ther. 2018;40:156– 65.e5. DOI:10.1016/j.clinthera.2017.11.011

- [84] Clement A, Tamalet A, Leroux E, Ravilly S, Fauroux B, & Jais JP. Long term effects of azithromycin in patients with cystic fibrosis: A double blind, placebo controlled trial. Thorax. 2006;61(10), 895-902. DOI. org/10.1136/thx.2005.057950
- [85] Steinkamp G, Schmitt-Grohe S, Döring G, Staab D, Pfründer D, Beck G et al. Once-weekly azithromycin in cystic fibrosis with chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection. Resp. Medicine. 2008;102(11), 1643-1653. DOI.org/10.1016/j.rmed.2008.03.009
- [86] Bishop C, Hudson VM, Hilton SC., & Wilde C. A pilot study of the effect of inhaled buffered reduced glutathione on the clinical status of patients with cystic fibrosis. Chest. 2005;127(1), 308-317. DOI.org/10.1378/ chest.127.1.308
- [87] Tirouvanziam R, Conrad CK, Bottiglieri T, Herzenberg, LA, Moss RB, & Herzenberg LA. High-dose oral N-acetylcysteine, a glutathione prodrug, modulates inflammation in cystic fibrosis. PNAS. 2006;103(12), 4628-4633. DOI.org/10.1073/pnas.0511304103
- [88] Bozic M, Goss CH, Tirouvanziam RM, Baines A, Kloster M, Antoine L, Borowitz D et al. Oral Glutathione and Growth in Cystic Fibrosis: A Multicenter, Randomized, Placebo-controlled, Double-blind Trial. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2020;71(6), 771-777. DOI. org/10.1097/MPG.00000000002948
- [89] López-Neyra A, Suárez L, Muñoz M, de Blas A, Ruiz de Valbuena M, Garriga M et al. Long-term docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) supplementation in cystic fibrosis patients: A randomized, multi-center, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids. 2020;162, 102186. DOI.org/10.1016/j.plefa.2020.102186

Chapter 7 - Anti-inflammatory therapeutic approaches

- [90] Elborn JS, Horsley A, MacGregor G, Bilton D, Grosswald R, Ahuja S, Springman EB. Phase I Studies of Acebilustat: Biomarker Response and Safety in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. Clin Transl Sci. 2017 Jan;10(1):28-34. DOI: 10.1111/cts.12428.
- [91] Roum JH, Borok Z, McElvaney NG, Grimes GJ, Bokser AD, Buhl R, Crystal RG. Glutathione aerosol suppresses lung epithelial surface inflammatory cell-derived oxidants in cystic fibrosis. J Appl Physiol (1985). 1999 Jul;87(1):438-43. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1999.87.1.438.

Authors

Daniel Peckham, Jochen G. Mainz, Isabelle Fajac

Introduction

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is one of the most common, life limiting autosomal recessive diseases to affect people of European descent. It is caused by mutations in the cystic fibrosis conductance regulator (*CFTR*) gene. To date, over 2000 mutations have been identified, of which <400 mutations are known to cause CF. The defective gene results in abnormalities in the production and function of CFTR protein, an anion channel responsible for the transport of chloride and bicarbonate ions and a regulator of other epithelial transport proteins, including epithelial sodium channels (ENaC).

The multisystem nature of CF reflects the expression of *CFTR* in a wide variety of cells and tissues. Dysfunction of this essential protein results in a debilitating disease with clinical manifestations including chronic upper and lower airway infections, bronchiectasis, pancreatic insufficiency and intestinal malabsorption, and male infertility.

CF exhibits features of autoinflammation with infiltration of neutrophils and macrophages at target sites [1-3]. This exaggerated innate immune-driven inflammatory response is a critical driver of disease progression and is accentuated by the presence of acute and chronic infection [1, 2]. CFTR modulators are oral treatments which augment CFTR function by either improving CFTR intracellular trafficking with correctors or by increasing CFTR open probability with potentiators. The first CFTR modulator, a potentiator called ivacaftor, gained marketing authorization from EMA in 2012. Three combinations of correctors and potentiators are currently available: lumacaftor/ivacaftor, tezacaftor/ivacaftor and elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor (ETI). Over 80% of people with CF (pwCF) are eligible for at least one CFTR modulator. Evidence is gathering on the impact of CFTR modulators on CF inflammation. In this chapter, we review the impact of CFTR modulators on local and systemic inflammation in CF.

8.1 The basic defect and inflammation

Mutations in the *CFTR* gene result in defective CFTR-mediated airway epithelial chloride and bicarbonate transport, with upregulation of ENaC-mediated airway epithelial sodium transport. These changes alter fluid and electrolyte homeostasis and result in dehydrated and acidified airway surface liquid (ASL), altered mucus viscoelasticity and defective mucociliary clearance. The recent introduction of the highly effective CFTR modulator combination ETI is associated with a significant improvement in lung function, reduced sputum expectoration and decrease in the frequency of pulmonary exacerbations. Clinical response to these small molecules appears to reflect the level of CFTR correction

and improvement in sweat chloride [4-7]. These drugs are likely to directly downregulate inflammation by improving CFTR function, increasing ASL hydration, normalization of mucus and reducing pulmonary exacerbations [8].

CF airways have increased sodium transport across apical ENaC with a corresponding increase in basolateral Na/K ATPase activity [3, 9]. Aberration Na⁺ transport has been shown to accentuate the NLRP3 inflammasome, potentially through an increase in potassium efflux, a known trigger of NLRP3 activation [3, 10]. Overexpression of BENaC in mice results in CF-like lung disease, with ASL dehydration, inflammation and airway mucous obstruction [11-13]. In humans, genetic variants in the β - and y- ENaC chains, with functional abnormalities in ENaC. have been associated with bronchiectasis and CF-like symptoms [14]. In contrast, mutations associated with hypomorphic ENaC activity appear to reduce disease progression in patients homozygous for F508del [15]. In vitro overexpression of BENaC in bronchial epithelial cell lines is associated with an increase in pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion, in the absence of CFTR dysfunction [3]. Similarly, in human bronchial epithelial CF cell lines, lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced NLRP3 inflammasome activity can be downregulated by S18, a SPLUNC1-derived ENaC antagonist [3]. These results suggest that dysregulated, ENaC-dependent signaling may drive exaggerated inflammatory responses in CF. It therefore follows that partial correction of CFTR function, as a result of CFTR modulator therapy, will positively impact on inflammation, by indirectly downregulating ENaC [16, 17]. However, to our knowledge, this ENaC-related effect of CFTR modulators on inflammation has not yet been reported in any in vivo or in vitro model. Other examples of triggers driving inflammation in CF include hypoxia, aberrations in mitochondrial metabolism, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and oxidative stress [18-20].

8.2 Airway inflammation

Airway inflammation in pwCF is characterized by neutrophilic inflammation, persistent activation of nuclear factor-kB, increased concentrations of neutrophil elastase (NE) and elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin (IL)-8, and chemokines [21, 22]. Dysregulation of channel function is also associated with the intracellular accumulation of misfolded proteins and ER stress, with activation of the IRE1α-XBP1 pathway that regulates a subset of unfolded protein response genes [19, 23]. There is also growing evidence of a heightened inflammasome signaling in CF airways, with IL-1 α , I-1 β , and IL-18 being elevated in the sputum of pwCF compared to controls [24]. There is varying data on the impact of CFTR modulators on CF-related airway inflammation. In the small 2014 GOAL study (n=14), inflammatory markers in induced or spontaneously expectorated sputum did not decrease after 6 months of ivacaftor treatment [25]. Even after adding further patients to this cohort, reaching a total of 31 subjects, there were no significant changes in airway microbial communities or measures of inflammation following ivacaftor treatment [26].

In contrast, Hisert *et al.* found a significant decrease in sputum inflammatory markers in repeated assessments in 12 pwCF carrying a G551D mutation and treated with ivacaftor [27]. Already during the first week of ivacaftor treatment, NE, IL-1 β and IL-8 significantly declined, and levels of these inflammatory markers continued to decline over 2 years of treatment. The decline in IL-1 β levels was confirmed by Nissen *et al*, in spontaneously expectorated sputum from 15 pwCF [28]. These findings accord well with results from non-invasively sampled upper airway epithelial lining fluid. Sequential measurement of nasal lavage fluid following ivacaftor therapy

in patients with a G551D mutation showed a significant reduction in IL-1B and IL-6 levels, with parallel improvements in sweat test and pulmonary function [29]. A more recent study reported significant reductions in sputum IL-1B and IL-8 levels after one and three months of ETI therapy. respectively [30]. Improvements in systemic inflammation appear to mirror changes in lung inflammation following modulator therapy [31, 32]. Thus, restoring CFTR function in vivo has been shown to downregulate airway inflammation in CF. The observed differences between studies could be due to variations in sample size. collection techniques such as expectorated sputum versus induced sputum, ability to collect high quality samples as a direct result of treatment, sputum processing, patient age and prevalence of P. aeruginosa status [26]. An inverse relationship between microbial community richness in sputum and inflammatory markers in blood have been observed post-ivacaftor therapy [33]. Treatment with ivacaftor has also been associated with a significant reduction in serum calprotectin and granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) and increases in calreticulin, changes which correlate with improved lung function [34].

Some discrepancies between responses to different CFTR modulators have been described. In a small cohort of preschool children, ivacaftor but not lumacaftor/ivacaftor was associated with reduced lower airway pulmonary inflammation [35]. A similar discrepancy in inflammatory markers between drug combinations has been described in CF monocytes [36]. Furthermore, short term treatment with ivacaftor/lumacaftor has also been reported to reduce sputum IL-1 β concentration in F508del homozygous patients [37].

In vitro, ivacaftor/lumacaftor reduces IL-8 transcripts and p38 MAPK phosphorylation in fully differentiated primary bronchial epithelial cells following *P. aeruginosa* exposure. This CFTR-dependent mechanism is likely to contribute to the downregulation of inflammation in CF [38].

An anti-inflammatory response to CFTR modulators has also been demonstrated in animal models. How this equates to humans is difficult to interpret. However, the administration of ivacaftor in a humanized G551D rat model is associated with reduced neutrophil influx and lower airway concentrations of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , IL-1 α , and IL-6 [39]. This anti-inflammatory response was noticeably dampened down when ivacaftor was administered after lipopolysaccharide (LPS) stimulation.

8.3 Monocytes and neutrophils in CF and inflammation

Serum monocytes from pwCF exhibit an enhanced NLRP3-inflammasome signature with increased IL-18, IL-1β, caspase-1 activity and ASC speck release [3, 36, 40]. This exaggerated pro-inflammatory response can be downregulated differentially by CFTR modulators. One of the first studies to demonstrate potent systemic anti-inflammatory properties of CFTR modulators in vivo showed that a three-month treatment with tezacaftor/ivacaftor and lumacaftor/ ivacaftor significantly decreased serum IL-18 and TNF-a levels [36]. Only tezacaftor/ivacaftor resulted in reduced IL-1B. When peripheral blood mononuclear cells were stimulated with LPS/ ATP. tezacaftor/ivacaftor and lumacaftor/ivacaftor treatments resulted in a significant decrease in IL-18, TNF- α , caspase-1, and an increase in IL-10 [36]. A significant reduction in IL-1 β and pro-IL-1β mRNA was only seen with tezacaftor/ ivacaftor treatment. Similar results have been reported with ETI using a similar protocol [41]. In this study, P2X7R overexpression was proposed as a mechanism promoting inflammasome activation in CF. ETI therapy decreased NLRP3 ex-

Chapter 8 - CFTR modulators and inflammation

pression in CF monocytes, and reduced inflammasome activation and IL-1 β secretion [41].

The increased longevity of CF neutrophils is due to decreased apoptosis, which can be reversed by ivacaftor in patients carrying the G551D mutation [42]. Delayed neutrophil apoptosis results in increased neutrophil extracellular traps formation which is likely to accentuate inflammation [42]. One study reported no demonstrable effect of ETI on *in vitro* neutrophil inflammasome driven responses [24].

In F508del/F508del monocyte-derived macrophages, lumacaftor corrected phagocytosis of *P. aeruginosa*, but this restored phagocytosis was attenuated when ivacaftor was added. In contrast, ivacaftor alone and lumacaftor/ivacaftor reduce the monocyte-derived macrophage secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α , interferon (IFN)- γ , and granulocyte-macrophage CSF, in response to *P. aeruginosa* [43].

8.4 CF pancreas and inflammation

CF is associated with exocrine and endocrine pancreatic dysfunction. Studies in children have shown improvement in both fecal elastase and diabetic status after CFTR modulator therapy [44]. Intriguingly, CF is associated with intra- and inter-islet inflammation with elevated IL-1B immunoreactivity in CF patients with and without diabetes [45, 46]. Increased IL-1ß secretion has also been reported in other tissues including the lung and monocytes, with levels falling after CFTR modulator therapy [3, 36, 41]. Furthermore, IL-1B inhibits beta-cell function in both type 1 and 2 diabetes: this may explain one of the mechanisms resulting in improved glucose excursion in children post CFTR modulators. By down regulating local and systemic inflammation, CFTR modulators may play an important role in improved pancreatic function, especially in early life [45, 46].

8.5 CF gut and inflammation

The pathogenesis of gastrointestinal inflammation is likely to be multifactorial and related to a milieu of CFTR dysfunction, pancreatic insufficiency and malabsorption, CF-related diabetes, hyperacidity, gut dysbiosis, diet and exposure to drugs such as antibiotics. The gut may also modulate inflammation systemically and impact other organs such as the lungs through the gut/ lung axis [47].

One of the commonest markers of systemic and intestinal inflammation is fecal calprotectin (FCP). This marker can be significantly elevated in pwCF compared to controls [34, 48-50]. FCP levels are increased in pancreatic insufficient individuals and levels correlate with severe CF phenotype, chronic P. aeruginosa colonization, CF-related diabetes and frequency of pulmonary exacerbations [51]. In contrast, FCP levels may fall following intravenous antibiotics, suggesting a link between bowel and lung disease [51, 52]. When obtained during clinical investigation of unexplained vomiting or for exclusion of coeliac disease, duodenal biopsy samples of pwCF (aged 2-23 years) have shown high levels of expression of ICAM-1, IL-2 receptor, IL-2, and IFN-y, consistent with persistent local activation of the immune system in the absence of mucosal injury [53].

Several small studies have investigated the impact of ivacaftor on gut inflammation, with differing conclusions. For example, FCP was decreased with ivacaftor [54] and with lumacaftor/ ivacaftor [54, 55], but another study found no significant change in gut inflammation after partial restoration of CFTR function with ivacaftor [56]. These varying results may reflect small population size and natural variation in levels of gut inflammatory markers. However, with implementation of ETI recently significant declines of FCP have been found in larger cohorts of pwCF from the US [57] as well as from Ireland and the UK [58] after 1 and 6 months of triple CFTR-modulator therapy. In parallel, in the latter study, a significant and marked decline of M2-pyruvate kinase (M2-PK) was found, which as a marker of cell proliferation is found elevated in inflammation and in malignant processes.

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

8.6 Conclusion

There is growing evidence that CFTR modulators downregulate local and systemic inflammation in CF. The effect can differ between modulator therapies and reflects a combination of improved lung and gastrointestinal physiology, reduced pulmonary infections and alteration/ normalization in the innate inflammatory response. Up to now, correcting CFTR and sodium transport is likely to be the most effective way to tackle the exaggerated inflammatory response, through normalization of the underlying mechanism rather than inhibiting selected pathways which may increase the risk of infection. Further large scale studies are needed to characterize the anti-inflammatory properties of the next generation of CFTR modulators and to see if they are able to normalize inflammation.

Chapter 8 - CFTR modulators and inflammation

Bibliography

- Peckham D, Scambler T, Savic S, McDermott MF. The burgeoning field of innate immune-mediated disease and autoinflammation. J Pathol. 2017;241:123–39. DOI:10.1002/path.4812
- [2] Scambler T, Holbrook J, Savic S, McDermott MF, Peckham D. Autoinflammatory disease in the lung. Immunology. 2018;154:563–73. DOI:10.1111/imm.12937
- [3] Scambler T, Jarosz-Griffiths HH, Lara-Reyna S, Pathak S, Wong C, Holbrook J, et al. ENaC-mediated sodium influx exacerbates NLRP3-dependent inflammation in cystic fibrosis. Elife. 2019;8:e49248. DOI:10.7554/ eLife.49248
- [4] Middleton PG, Mall MA, Dřevínek P, Lands LC, McKone EF, Polineni D, et al. Elexacaftor-tezacaftor-ivacaftor for cystic fibrosis with a single Phe508del allele. N Engl J Med. 2019;381:1809–19. DOI:10.1056/NEJ-Moa1908639
- [5] Griese M, Costa S, Linnemann RW, Mall MA, McKone EF, Polineni D, et al. Safety and efficacy of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor for 24 weeks or longer in people with cystic fibrosis and one or more F508del alleles: interim results of an open-label phase 3 clinical trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2021;203:381–5. DOI:10.1164/rccm.202008-3176LE
- [6] Zemanick ET, Taylor-Cousar JL, Davies J, Gibson RL, Mall MA, McKone EF, et al. A phase 3 open-label study of elexacaftor/ tezacaftor/ivacaftor in children 6 through 11 years of age with cystic fibrosis and at least one F508del allele. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2021;203:1522–32. DOI:10.1164/rccm.202102-0509OC

- [7] Ramsey BW, Davies J, McElvaney NG, Tullis E, Bell SC, Dřevínek P, et al. A CFTR potentiator in patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D mutation. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:1663– 72. DOI:10.1056/NEJMoa1105185
- [8] Morrison CB, Shaffer KM, Araba KC, Markovetz MR, Wykoff JA, Quinney NL, et al. Treatment of cystic fibrosis airway cells with CFTR modulators reverses aberrant mucus properties via hydration. Eur Respir J. 2022;59:2100185. DOI:10.1183/13993003.00185-2021
- [9] Peckham D, Holland E, Range S, Knox AJ. Na+/K+ ATPase in lower airway epithelium from cystic fibrosis and non-cystic-fibrosis lung. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1997;232:464-8. DOI:10.1006/bbrc.1997.6200
- [10] Koumangoye R. The role of Cl(-) and K(+) efflux in NLRP3 inflammasome and innate immune response activation. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2022;322:C645–52. DOI:10.1152/ ajpcell.00421.2021
- [11] Mall M, Grubb BR, Harkema JR, O'Neal WK, Boucher RC. Increased airway epithelial Na+ absorption produces cystic fibrosis-like lung disease in mice. Nat Med. 2004;10:487–93. DOI:10.1038/nm1028
- [12] Zhou Z, Treis D, Schubert SC, Harm M, Schatterny J, Hirtz S, et al. Preventive but not late amiloride therapy reduces morbidity and mortality of lung disease in betaENaC-overexpressing mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2008;178:1245–56. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.200803-442OC
- [13] Zhou Z, Duerr J, Johannesson B, Schubert SC, Treis D, Harm M, et al. The ENaC-overexpressing mouse as a model of cystic fibrosis lung disease. J Cyst Fibros. 2011;10 Suppl 2:S172–82. DOI:10.1016/s1569-1993(11)60021-0
- [14] Fajac I, Viel M, Sublemontier S, Hubert D, Bienvenu T. Could a defective epithelial sodium channel lead to bronchiectasis. Respir Res. 2008;9:46. DOI:10.1186/1465-9921-9-46

- [15] Agrawal PB, Wang R, Li HL, Schmitz-Abe K, Simone-Roach C, Chen J, et al. The epithelial sodium channel Is a modifier of the longterm nonprogressive phenotype associated with F508del CFTR mutations. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2017;57:711–20. DOI:10.1165/ rcmb.2017-0166OC
- [16] Rowe SM, Liu B, Hill A, Hathorne H, Cohen M, Beamer JR, et al. Optimizing nasal potential difference analysis for CFTR modulator development: assessment of ivacaftor in CF subjects with the G551D-CFTR mutation. PLoS One. 2013;8:e66955. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0066955
- [17] Graeber SY, Renz DM, Stahl M, Pallenberg ST, Sommerburg O, Naehrlich L, et al. Effects of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor therapy on lung clearance index and magnetic resonance imaging in patients with cystic fibrosis and one or two F508del alleles. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2022;206:311–20. DOI:10.1164/rccm.202201-0219OC
- [18] Moliteo E, Sciacca M, Palmeri A, Papale M, Manti S, Parisi GF, et al. Cystic fibrosis and oxidative stress: the role of CFTR. Molecules. 2022;27:5324. DOI:10.3390/molecules27165324
- [19] Ribeiro CMP, Hull-Ryde EA. Functional role of the ER stress transducer IRE1α in CF airway epithelial inflammation. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2022;65:102258. DOI:10.1016/j. coph.2022.102258
- [20] Fritzsching B, Zhou-Suckow Z, Trojanek JB, Schubert SC, Schatterny J, Hirtz S, et al. Hypoxic epithelial necrosis triggers neutrophilic inflammation via IL-1 receptor signaling in cystic fibrosis lung disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;191:902–13. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201409-16100C

- [21] Majka G, Mazurek H, Strus M, Ciszek-Lenda M, Szatanek R, Pac A, et al. Chronic bacterial pulmonary infections in advanced cystic fibrosis differently affect the level of sputum neutrophil elastase, IL-8 and IL-6. Clin Exp Immunol. 2021;205:391–405. DOI:10.1111/ cei.13624
- [22] Fischer N, Hentschel J, Markert UR, Keller PM, Pletz MW, Mainz JG. Non-invasive assessment of upper and lower airway infection and inflammation in CF patients. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2014;49:1065–75. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.22982
- [23] Lara-Reyna S, Holbrook J, Jarosz-Griffiths HH, Peckham D, McDermott MF. Dysregulated signalling pathways in innate immune cells with cystic fibrosis mutations. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2020;77:4485–503. DOI:10.1007/ s00018-020-03540-9
- [24] Forrest OA, Dobosh B, Ingersoll SA, Rao S, Rojas A, Laval J, et al. Neutrophil-derived extracellular vesicles promote feed-forward inflammasome signaling in cystic fibrosis airways. J Leukoc Biol. 2022;112:707– 16. DOI:10.1002/jlb.3ab0321-149r
- [25] Rowe SM, Heltshe SL, Gonska T, Donaldson SH, Borowitz D, Gelfond D, et al. Clinical mechanism of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator potentiator ivacaftor in G551D-mediated cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2014;190:175–84. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201404-0703OC
- [26] Harris JK, Wagner BD, Zemanick ET, Robertson CE, Stevens MJ, Heltshe SL, et al. Changes in airway microbiome and inflammation with ivacaftor treatment in patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D mutation. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2020;17:212–20. DOI:10.1513/ AnnalsATS.201907-4930C

- [27] Hisert KB, Heltshe SL, Pope C, Jorth P, Wu X, Edwards RM, et al. Restoring cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator function reduces airway bacteria and inflammation in people with cystic fibrosis and chronic lung infections. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2017;195:1617–28. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.201609-1954OC
- [28] Nissen G, Ben-Meir E, Kopp M, Shaw M, Ratjen F, Grasemann H. Interleukin-1 beta is a potential mediator of airway nitric oxide deficiency in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:623–5. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2022.02.017
- [29] Mainz JG, Arnold C, Wittstock K, Hipler UC, Lehmann T, Zagoya C, et al. Ivacaftor reduces inflammatory mediators in upper airway lining fluid from cystic fibrosis patients with a G551D mutation: serial non-invasive home-based collection of upper airway lining fluid. Front Immunol. 2021;12:642180. DOI:10.3389/fimmu.2021.642180
- [30] Schaupp L, Addante A, Völler M, Fentker K, Kuppe A, Bardua M, et al. Longitudinal effects of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor on sputum viscoelastic properties, airway infection and inflammation in patients with cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2023;62:2202153. DOI:10.1183/13993003.02153-2022
- [31] Casey M, Gabillard-Lefort C, McElvaney OF, McElvaney OJ, Carroll T, Heeney RC, et al. Effect of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor on airway and systemic inflammation in cystic fibrosis. Thorax. 2023:1–5. DOI:10.1136/thorax-2022-219943
- [32] Arooj P, Morrissy DV, McCarthy Y, Vagg T, McCarthy M, Fleming C, et al. Rock study in CF: sustained anti-inflammatory effects of lumacaftor-ivacaftor in sputum and peripheral blood samples of adult patients with cystic fibrosis-an observational study. BMJ Open Respir Res. 2023;10:e001590. DOI:10.1136/bmjresp-2022-001590

- [33] Einarsson GG, Ronan NJ, Mooney D, McGettigan C, Mullane D, NiChroinin M, et al. Extended-culture and culture-independent molecular analysis of the airway microbiota in cystic fibrosis following CFTR modulation with ivacaftor. J Cyst Fibros. 2021;20:747–53. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2020.12.023
- [34] Hoppe JE, Wagner BD, Kirk Harris J, Rowe SM, Heltshe SL, DeBoer EM, et al. Effects of ivacaftor on systemic inflammation and the plasma proteome in people with CF and G551D. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:950–8. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2022.03.012
- [35] Shanthikumar S, Ranganathan S, Neeland MR. Ivacaftor, not ivacaftor/lumacaftor, associated with lower pulmonary inflammation in preschool cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2022;57:2549–52. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.26063
- [36] Jarosz-Griffiths HH, Scambler T, Wong CH, Lara-Reyna S, Holbrook J, Martinon F, et al. Different CFTR modulator combinations downregulate inflammation differently in cystic fibrosis. Elife. 2020;9:e54556. DOI:10.7554/eLife.54556
- [37] Graeber SY, Boutin S, Wielpütz MO, Joachim C, Frey DL, Wege S, et al. Effects of lumacaftor-ivacaftor on lung clearance index, magnetic resonance imaging, and airway microbiome in Phe508del homozygous patients with cystic fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2021;18:971–80. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.202008-1054OC
- [38] Ruffin M, Roussel L, Maillé É, Rousseau S, Brochiero E. Vx-809/Vx-770 treatment reduces inflammatory response to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in primary differentiated cystic fibrosis bronchial epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2018;314:L635–41. DOI:10.1152/ajplung.00198.2017

Chapter 8 - CFTR modulators and inflammation

- [39] Green M, Lindgren N, Henderson A, Keith JD, Oden AM, Birket SE. Ivacaftor partially corrects airway inflammation in a humanized G551D rat. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2021;320:L1093–100. DOI:10.1152/ ajplung.00082.2021
- [40] Cantin AM. The P2X7 receptor in cystic fibrosis monocytes: linking CFTR deficiency to inflammation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2022;205:740–2. DOI:10.1164/rccm.202201-0008ED
- [41] Gabillard-Lefort C, Casey M, Glasgow AMA, Boland F, Kerr O, Marron E, et al. Trikafta rescues CFTR and lowers monocyte P2X7R-induced inflammasome activation in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2022;205:783–94. DOI:10.1164/rccm.202106-1426OC
- [42] Gray RD, Hardisty G, Regan KH, Smith M, Robb CT, Duffin R, et al. Delayed neutrophil apoptosis enhances NET formation in cystic fibrosis. Thorax. 2018;73:134–44. DOI:10.1136/ thoraxjnl-2017-210134
- [43] Barnaby R, Koeppen K, Nymon A, Hampton TH, Berwin B, Ashare A, et al. Lumacaftor (VX-809) restores the ability of CF macrophages to phagocytose and kill Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2018;314:L432–8. DOI:10.1152/ ajplung.00461.2017
- [44] Rosenfeld M, Wainwright CE, Higgins M, Wang LT, McKee C, Campbell D, et al. Ivacaftor treatment of cystic fibrosis in children aged
 12 to <24 months and with a CFTR gating mutation (ARRIVAL): a phase 3 single-arm study. Lancet Respir Med. 2018;6:545–53. DOI:10.1016/s2213-2600(18)30202-9
- [45] Hull RL, Gibson RL, McNamara S, Deutsch GH, Fligner CL, Frevert CW, et al. Islet interleukin-1β immunoreactivity is an early feature of cystic fibrosis that may contribute to β-cell failure. Diabetes Care. 2018;41:823–30. DOI:10.2337/dc17-1387

- [46] Merjaneh L, Hasan S, Kasim N, Ode KL. The role of modulators in cystic fibrosis related diabetes. J Clin Transl Endocrinol. 2022;27:100286. DOI:10.1016/j. jcte.2021.100286
- [47] Price CE, O'Toole GA. The gut-lung axis in cystic fibrosis. J Bacteriol. 2021;203:e0031121. DOI:10.1128/jb.00311-21
- [48] Ellemunter H, Schüller K, Steinkamp G. Faecal calprotectin concentrations in young children with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2018;17:e8–9. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2017.09.013
- [49] Ellemunter H, Engelhardt A, Schüller K, Steinkamp G. Fecal calprotectin in cystic fibrosis and its relation to disease parameters: a longitudinal analysis for 12 years. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2017;65:438–42. DOI:10.1097/mpg.00000000001544
- [50] Lazzarotto ES, Vasco JFM, Führ F, Riedi CA, Filho NAR. Systematic review on fecal calprotectin in cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr (Rio J). 2023;99:4–10. DOI:10.1016/j.jped.2022.01.006
- [51] Parisi GF, Papale M, Rotolo N, Aloisio D, Tardino L, Scuderi MG, et al. Severe disease in cystic fibrosis and fecal calprotectin levels. Immunobiology. 2017;222:582–6. DOI:10.1016/j.imbio.2016.11.005
- [52] Schnapp Z, Hartman C, Livnat G, Shteinberg M, Elenberg Y. Decreased fecal calprotectin levels in cystic fibrosis patients after antibiotic treatment for respiratory exacerbation. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2019;68:282–4. DOI:10.1097/mpg.00000000002197
- [53] Raia V, Maiuri L, de Ritis G, de Vizia B, Vacca L, Conte R, *et al.* Evidence of chronic inflammation in morphologically normal small intestine of cystic fibrosis patients. Pediatr Res. 2000;47:344–50. DOI:10.1203/00006450-200003000-00010
- [54] Ooi CY, Syed SA, Rossi L, Garg M, Needham B, Avolio J, *et al.* Impact of CFTR modulation with ivacaftor on gut microbiota and intestinal inflammation. Sci Rep. 2018;8:17834. DOI:10.1038/s41598-018-36364-6

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 8 - CFTR modulators and inflammation

Chapter 8 - CFTR modulators and inflammation

- [55] Tétard C, Mittaine M, Bui S, Beaufils F, Maumus P, Fayon M, et al. Reduced intestinal inflammation with lumacaftor/ivacaftor in aadolescents with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2020;71:778-81. DOI:10.1097/mpg.000000000002864
- [56] Ronan NJ, Einarsson GG, Deane J, Fouhy F, Rea M, Hill C, et al. Modulation, microbiota and inflammation in the adult CF gut: a prospective study. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:837-43. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2022.06.002
- [57] Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor and gastrointestinal outcomes in cystic fibrosis: Report of promise-GI. Schwarzenberg SJ, Vu PT, Skalland M, Hoffman LR, Pope C, Gelfond D, et al. J Cyst Fibros. 2023 Mar;22(2):282-289. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2022.10.003.
- [58] Reduction in abdominal symptoms (CFAbd-Score), faecal M2-pyruvate-kinase and Calprotectin over one year of treatment with Elexacaftor-Tezacaftor-Ivacaftor in people with CF aged 12 years - The RECOVER study. Mainz JG, Lester K, Elnazir B, Williamson M, McKone E, Cox D, et al. J Cyst Fibros. 2023 Oct 7:S1569-1993(23)00922-0. doi: 10.1016/j. jcf.2023.10.001.

Chapter 9 Animal models to study inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Authors

Debananda Gogoi, Azeez Yusuf, Rory Baird, Noel G. McElvaney, Michelle Casey, Emer P. Reeves

Introduction

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is a multifaceted autosomal recessive genetic chloride (Cl⁻) channelopathy, caused by mutations in the CF transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene, and presents clinically as a multisystem disorder [1, 2]. To date, more than 2.000 CFTR mutations have been identified, most resulting in defective Cl⁻ transport and/or protein misfolding. These mutations are assigned to different classes depending on whether they involve defective CFTR (Classes I, II and V) or dysregulated Cl⁻ secretion (Classes III, IV, VI). The commonest and most clinically severe is F508del (∆F508), a Class II mutation caused by a deletion of phenylalanine at position 508, present in one or both alleles in approximately 90% of people with CF (pwCF) [3].

PwCF have significantly increased morbidity and decreased life expectancy, primarily due to pulmonary disease, which is characterized by frequent exacerbations and chronic inflammation. The pathogenesis of CF lung disease is explained in part by loss of airway surface liquid (ASL) hydration, resulting in a reduction in periciliary height and a decrease in mucociliary clearance, leading to mucostasis and airway obstruction. The ensuing clinical course is hallmarked by persistent neutrophil recruitment [4, 5], with free neutrophil elastase activity detectable in airway samples of children with CF as young as 3 months old [6]. Despite the abundance of neutrophils however, the build-up of mucus secretions provides an ideal milieu for bacterial growth and colonization, initially *Haemophilus influenzae* and *Staphylococcus aureus* in infants, and later *Burkholderia cenocepacia* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. In addition to neutrophils, a range of immune cells including lymphocytes, monocytes/macrophages and dendritic cells all express *CFTR* and are directly affected by altered *CFTR* expression or CFTR function, impairing their ability to resolve infections and inflammation [7].

Extra-pulmonary clinical manifestations of CF include impairment of the gastrointestinal tract, pancreatic insufficiency, liver disease and impaired fertility. In light of the range of clinical indications and immune cell expression profile of CFTR, researchers have explored animals to facilitate CF-related research studies [8, 9]. Animal models of CF have served to further our understanding of the mechanisms of disease progression and pathology and facilitated development of certain therapeutics. Over time, genetic technology improved and transformed the field, expanding research to include large animal species that have similar pathological outcomes to humans in terms of CF, including pigs and sheep [10, 11]. The CFTR knockout pig model and a pig with the F508del mutation were developed in 2008. The pig model has a number of research benefits including long life span for evaluation of CF disease progression and efficacy of long-term therapeutics. Smaller animals of CF currently used in research include mice [12].

Chapter 9 - Animal models to study inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

rats [13], ferrets [14] and rabbits [15], with other non-mammalian models including zebrafish [16], and more recently, *Drosophila* [17], a popular insect model for studying human disease.

Over the last decade, CF care has been transformed by the development of small molecule drugs targeting the underlying CFTR protein defect. These compounds are known as potentiators and correctors, which function to improve the folding and/or trafficking of the mutated CFTR protein to the plasma membrane. The potentiator currently in clinical use to specifically target Gly551Asp (G551D) CFTR mutations is ivacaftor (VX770) [18]. The most recent and most effective CFTR modulator therapy is composed of three drugs: elexacaftor (VX-445), tezacaftor (VX-661) and ivacaftor. This triple therapy is known as ETI. Treatment with ETI is currently approved for patients either homozygous or heterozygous for the F508del CFTR mutation. This chapter provides an update on current CF animal models for the study of inflammation and infection of the airways, and highlights research exploring the impact of CFTR modulator therapy.

9.1 Mouse models to study CF pathology

The *CFTR* knockout (*Cftr^{tm1UNC}*) mouse was first proposed as a model of CF in 1992 [19] and was quickly followed by the generation of *Cftr^{tm-}* ^{1CAM}, *Cftr^{tm1HSC}*, *Cftr^{tm1BAY}* and *Cftr^{tm3BAY}* [20-23]. Models with specific CF-causing mutations were also introduced, yielding class II F508del (*Cftr^{t-}* ^{m1EUR}, *Cftr^{tm1KTH}* and *Cftr^{tm2CAM}*) and G480C (*Cftr^{tm2HGU}*) mutations [24-27], the class III G551D mutation (CFTR^{tm1G551D}) [28] and the G542X stop mutation [29] (Table 1). To further mimic human *CFTR* mutations, CF mice have been generated by transgenic expression of human *CFTR* on a mouse *CFTR* knockout background [12]. Of interest, treatment with G418, an aminoglycoside, increased read-through of the G542X mutation yielding functional CFTR protein production, making this an important murine model for further investigation of nonsense mutations [29].

The nasal epithelium of most mouse models of CF, including Cftrtm1EUR, Cftrtm2HGU and Cftrtm1G551D, mirrors the abnormal electrophysiological profile seen in humans with significant hyperpolarization of nasal potential difference compared to non-CF mice [26, 28, 30-32]. In contrast however, none of the CFTR mouse models developed spontaneous lung inflammation without challenge. No lower airway epithelial abnormalities were reported for the knockout models Cftrtm1UNC, Cftrtm1CAM, Cftrtm1BAY or Cftrtm1HGU or in models carrying F508del or G551D alleles such as Cftrtm1KTH. Cftrtm1EUR or Cftrtm1G551D [19. 21, 22, 26-28, 30]. This lack of airway abnormalities was thought to be due to the expression of a non-CFTR calcium-activated Cl⁻ channel (CACC) in mouse tissues [33]. A further mouse model of importance is the epithelial sodium (Na⁺) channel (ENaC) model, involving overexpression of the β-subunit of ENaC (β-ENaC), leading to accelerated Na⁺ absorption and a CF-like pulmonary clinical phenotype involving airway mucus obstruction and chronic airway inflammation, offering a related model for the study of CF lung disease [34].

9.1.1 Infection and inflammation therapeutic studies in mouse models of CF

As murine models of CF do not display chronic airway bacterial infection, experimentally-induced chronic bacterial infection models have evolved. Embedding bacterial cells including *P. aeruginosa* in agarose beads is widely employed, and successfully explored the impact of mucus on persistence of *P. aeruginosa* infection and the efficacy of antimicrobial therapies [35]. In turn, *Pseudomonas* lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is a driver of inflammation, triggering increased interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) levels via NLRP3 inflamChapter 9 - Animal models to study inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

masome activation. NLRP3 inhibition *in vivo* with MCC950 inhibited IL-1 β and improved *P. aeruginosa* clearance in the lungs of CF mice [36].

The cellular response of mouse CFTR to human therapeutic modulators has been explored. A recent study investigated the effect of tezacaftor and ivacaftor on mouse F508del CFTR channel conductance and reported improved CFTR-mediated Cl⁻ conductance in F508del macrophages, which impacted lysosomal activities for improved *B. cenocepacia* clearance [37]. Furthermore, an additional trigger of inflammation includes fatty acid abnormalities, involving alterations in the arachidonic acid (AA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) ratio. DHA is normally metabolized to yield anti-inflammatory resolvins and protectins. The DHA:AA ratio in CF is imbalanced in favor of AA, contributing to the increase in pulmonary inflammation. Of maior importance, airway function was significantly improved in mice homozygous for the F508del CFTR mutation upon treatment with ETI [38], and further improved by addition of LAU-7b, an oral formulation of fenretinide, previously shown in a clinical trial to normalize lipid imbalances in CF (NCT02141958). This indicates that mice treated with LAU-7b plus ETI have significantly better pulmonary function than mice treated with ETI alone [38]. This suggests that a potential clinical benefit from using ETI in combination with LAU-7b, further improving lung function in pwCF.

9.2 Pig models to study CF pathology

The pig shares 92% *CFTR* sequence homology with human *CFTR*, with anatomical similarities between the human and porcine lung [39]. The presence of submucosal glands and goblet cells makes the porcine model of CF airways disease a credible representation of the human CF phenotype, which can be assessed by computed tomography, as in humans [40]. The first CF pig was generated in 2008, resulting in two models: the null allele and the heterozygous F508del mutation [10]. Similar to people with CF [41], cAMP-stimulated Cl⁻ transport was diminished in nasal and tracheal transepithelial airways of CF piglets with the *Cftr*^{-/-} mutation [42]. In 2011, *Cftr*^{F508del}/^{F508del} homozygous pigs were generated [43]. Restoration of CFTR activity *in vivo* using an adenovirus-based vector expressing human *CFTR* re-established transepithelial Cl⁻ current, increased (ASL) pH and decreased mucus viscosity [44].

9.2.1 Airway infection and inflammation in pig models of CF

The CF pig has provided an opportunity to study the inflammatory responses of CF airways at birth. In initial studies, the early transcriptional response to S. *aureus* challenge in CF pigs was explored, and induction of apoptotic genes (i.e. CASP3, BCL10, and FASR) in CF pigs was found to differ from non-CF pigs. The authors concluded that a loss of CFTR reduced the early transcriptional host defense response in CF piglets, compared with their non-CF counterparts [45]. Single-cell RNA-sequencing data indicated that a lack of CFTR minimally affected the airway transcriptome of newborn CF pigs, suggesting that infection and inflammation drive transcriptomic alterations in progressive CF [46]. In corroboration, chronic bacterial infections of the airways by Staphylococcus, Streptococcus, and Enterococcus have been reported in CF pigs [47, 48]. Moreover, reduced extracellular antiviral defenses have been documented against Sendai virus in CF pigs, although this effect was linked to differences in ASL pH [49].

When $Cftr^{-}$ pigs are born, they have no airway inflammation or infection, yet structural abnormalities exist, including tracheal ring irregularities, narrowed proximal airways and increased baseline airway resistance, which contribute to

Chapter 9 - Animal models to study inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 9 - Animal models to study inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

obstruction [50]. Subsequently, CFTR was identified in the sarcoplasmic reticulum of porcine airway smooth muscle (ASM) cells, regulating ASM force generation. Of interest, pharmacological induced airway narrowing in healthy samples was impacted by ivacaftor, indicating that CFTR potentiators may reduce airway narrowing in people with CF with specific *CFTR* mutations [51].

9.3 Ferret and rat models of CF

The similarity in lung cell biology and anatomy between ferrets and humans makes the ferret CF model an ideal candidate for CF research. Similar to porcine CFTR, ferret CFTR also has a 92% amino acid identity with human CFTR (hCFTR) [52], with comparable submucosal gland expression of CFTR within the serous tubules. Moreover, CFTR pharmacologic and bioelectric functionality in ferret epithelia is similar to that of human epithelia. The ferret's short gestation period and time to reach adolescence (4-6 months) make it a cost-effective model to maintain. Development of this CF model utilized recombinant adenovirus gene targeting of the CFTR gene to introduce partial disruption of exon 10 or complete deletion of the CFTR gene [14], thereby generating $Cftr^{+/-}$ breeding pairs for the production of CFTR-deficient ferrets [53]. More recently, a ferret model homozygous for the G551D mutation was generated [54]. Even on antibiotics, CF ferrets are susceptible to bacterial lung infections (Streptococcus, Staphylococcus, Enterococcus, or Escherichia). Consistent with CF individuals, the Cftr^{-/-} ferret presents with dysfunction of the proximal airways including impaired submucosal gland fluid secretion. Pulmonary disease progresses and is associated with mucus obstruction, impaired clearance and air trapping [55].

The rat CFTR amino acid sequence possesses 76% identity with hCFTR [56], with CF models including Cftr knockout [13, 57], F508del rat strains [13, 58] and a strain with the Cftr G542X nonsense mutation using CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing [59]. A further model included the humanized CF rat model expressing hCFTR with the G551D mutation [60]. These rat models exhibit a CF bioelectric profile in nasal epithelium, with increased mucus in nasal [57] and tracheal airways recorded [57, 58]. As the animals age, they develop airway submucosal gland hypertrophy, increased mucus viscosity, and exhibit deficits in mucociliary transport [61], with reduced ability to clear bacterial infections of *P. aeruginosa* compared to young knockout rats, in which mucociliary transport defects had not yet developed [33]. Components of the mucus that change as the rat ages, and that contribute to the viscosity of the mucus. included increased Muc5b concentration [62].

9.3.1 Therapeutics development using the ferret and rat models of CF

CF pathology in the ferret model has numerous similarities to humans, particularly neonates. The appearance of lung infections both at the start and end of the Cftr^{-/-} ferret life span mirrors human disease, highlighting the potential benefits of this model. The development of the G551D specific mutant has established an exemplary animal model for CF. This model was used to assess whether in utero developmental abnormalities could be rescued by ivacaftor, the first study of its kind. CftrG551D/G551D mice developed fewer pathologies in the pancreas, intestine and male reproductive tract. Of major interest, CftrG551D/G551D ferrets appear to have sufficient CFTR expression to maintain normal lung clearance and innate immunity while on ivacaftor treatment. This model was then used to assess withdrawal of the modulator and subsequent progression of airway disease. CftrG551D/ KO ferrets who discontinued ivacaftor developed

lung disease with mucus obstruction in the airways and submucosal glands. Quantitative proteomics of ferret bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) prior to, and one month after ivacaftor discontinuation, demonstrated significant enrichment of proteins associated with neutrophil degranulation [54].

The impact of ivacaftor has also been assessed in the hCFTR rat expressing G551D. These rats had reduced cytokine levels (including tumor necrosis factor [TNF]- α , IL-6 and IL-1 α) after seven days of ivacaftor treatment. However, this anti-inflammatory effect of ivacaftor was absent in rats who also received LPS inflammatory stimulus [64]. This indicates that rescuing CFTR activity may not be sufficient to resolve established inflammation in the lungs of pwCF.

The G542X rat model may be valuable to assess how novel therapies can overcome premature termination codons in the CFTR transcript resulting from *CFTR* nonsense mutations [59].

9.4 Conclusion

Continued improvement of animal models will deepen our understanding of CF pathology and will be invaluable tools to test new or repurposed compounds and therapies for CF (Table 1). A recent study showed that *in utero* administration of CFTR modulators protects the animals from developmental abnormalities associated with CF [54], suggesting that early intervention could improve CF outcomes. Such studies offer a new approach to the use of existing models to understand the role of CFTR in CF pathophysiology and inform future therapies. **Funding source:** US Cystic Fibrosis Foundation (REEVES21G0).

Chapter 9 - Animal models to study inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 9 - Animal models to study inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Table 1

Studies that have employed CFTR modulators in animal models of CF.

Ref	Study year	Animal model	Mutation	Treatment	Outcome
[38]	2022	Mouse	F508del	Triple modulator (32 mg/kg ivacaftor, 21 mg/kg teza- caftor, 42 mg/kg elexacaftor) in combination with LAU-7b (25 mg/kg)	 ↓ long-chain ceramides ↓ airway hyperplasia and immune cell infiltration
[51]	2016	Pig	Cftr-/-	Ivacaftor (10 mM)	↑ transepithelial current in wildtype porcine airway epithelial cells only
[54]	2019	Ferret	Cftr G551D/G551D Cftr G551D/KO	Ivacaftor (20 mg/kg)	Improved pancreatic exo- crine function & glucose tolerance.
					↓ mucus accumulation and bacterial infections in the lung
[63]	2021	Rat	hCftr G551D	Ivacaftor (30 mg/kg)	↓ inflammatory cytokines No impact on lipopolysac- charide (LPS) response
Chapter 9 - Animal models to study inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 9 - Animal models to study inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Bibliography

- [1] Riordan JR, Rommens JM, Kerem B, Alon N, Rozmahel R, Grzelczak Z, et al. Identification of the cystic fibrosis gene: cloning and characterization of complementary DNA. Science. 1989;245:1066–73. DOI:10.1126/science.2475911
- [2] Rommens JM, Iannuzzi MC, Kerem B, Drumm ML, Melmer G, Dean M, et al. Identification of the cystic fibrosis gene: chromosome walking and jumping. Science. 1989;245:1059–65. DOI:10.1126/science.2772657
- [3] Riordan JR. CFTR function and prospects for therapy. Annu Rev Biochem. 2008;77:701–26. DOI:10.1146/annurev.biochem.75.103004.142532
- [4] Hartl D, Griese M, Kappler M, Zissel G, Reinhardt D, Rebhan C, et al. Pulmonary T(H)2 response in Pseudomonas aeruginosa-infected patients with cystic fibrosis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2006;117:204–11. DOI:10.1016/j. jaci.2005.09.023
- [5] Reinhardt N, Chen CI, Loppow D, Schink T, Kleinau I, Jörres RA, et al. Cellular profiles of induced sputum in children with stable cystic fibrosis: comparison with BAL. Eur Respir J. 2003;22:497–502. DOI:10.1183/09031 936.03.00043603
- [6] Sly PD, Gangell CL, Chen L, Ware RS, Ranganathan S, Mott LS, et al. Risk factors for bronchiectasis in children with cystic fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:1963–70. DOI:10.1056/NEJMoa1301725
- [7] Averna M, Melotti P, Sorio C. Revisiting the role of leukocytes in cystic fibrosis. Cells. 2021;10:3380. DOI:10.3390/cells10123380
- [8] Lavelle GM, White MM, Browne N, McElvaney NG, Reeves EP. Animal models of cystic fibrosis pathology: phenotypic parallels and divergences. Biomed Res Int. 2016;2016:5258727. DOI:10.1155/2016/5258727

- [9] McCarron A, Parsons D, Donnelley M. Animal and cell culture models for cystic fibrosis: which model is right for your application? Am J Pathol. 2021;191:228–42. DOI:10.1016/j. ajpath.2020.10.017
- [10] Rogers CS, Hao Y, Rokhlina T, Samuel M, Stoltz DA, Li Y, et al. Production of CFTR-null and CFTR-DeltaF508 heterozygous pigs by adeno-associated virus-mediated gene targeting and somatic cell nuclear transfer. J Clin Invest. 2008;118:1571–7. DOI:10.1172/ jci34773
- [11] Fan Z, Perisse IV, Cotton CU, Regouski M, Meng Q, Domb C, et al. A sheep model of cystic fibrosis generated by CRISPR/Cas9 disruption of the CFTR gene. JCI Insight. 2018;3:e123529. DOI:10.1172/jci.insight.123529
- [12] Gawenis LR, Hodges CA, McHugh DR, Valerio DM, Miron A, Cotton CU, et al. A BAC transgene expressing human CFTR under control of its regulatory elements rescues Cftr knockout mice. Sci Rep. 2019;9:11828. DOI:10.1038/s41598-019-48105-4
- [13] Dreano E, Bacchetta M, Simonin J, Galmiche L, Usal C, Slimani L, et al. Characterization of two rat models of cystic fibrosis-KO and F508del CFTR-generated by crispr-Cas9. Animal Model Exp Med. 2019;2:297–311. DOI:10.1002/ame2.12091
- [14] Sun X, Yan Z, Yi Y, Li Z, Lei D, Rogers CS, et al. Adeno-associated virus-targeted disruption of the CFTR gene in cloned ferrets. J Clin Invest. 2008;118:1578–83. DOI:10.1172/ jci34599
- [15] Yang D, Liang X, Pallas B, Hoenerhoff M, Ren Z, Han R, et al. Production of CFTR-ΔF508 rabbits. Front Genet. 2020;11:627666. DOI:10.3389/fgene.2020.627666
- [16] Navis A, Bagnat M. Loss of cftr function leads to pancreatic destruction in larval zebrafish. Dev Biol. 2015;399:237-48. DOI:10.1016/j.ydbio.2014.12.034

- [17] Kim K, Lane EA, Saftien A, Wang H, Xu Y, Wirtz-Peitz F, et al. Drosophila as a model for studying cystic fibrosis pathophysiology of the gastrointestinal system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2020;117:10357-67. DOI:10.1073/pnas.1913127117
- [18] Ramsey BW, Davies J, McElvaney NG, Tullis E, Bell SC, Dřevínek P, et al. A CFTR potentiator in patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D mutation. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:1663– 72. DOI:10.1056/NEJMoa1105185
- [19] Snouwaert JN, Brigman KK, Latour AM, Malouf NN, Boucher RC, Smithies O, et al. An animal model for cystic fibrosis made by gene targeting. Science. 1992;257:1083–8. DOI:10.1126/science.257.5073.1083
- [20] Hasty P, O'Neal WK, Liu KQ, Morris AP, Bebok Z, Shumyatsky GB, et al. Severe phenotype in mice with termination mutation in exon 2 of cystic fibrosis gene. Somat Cell Mol Genet. 1995;21:177–87. DOI:10.1007/bf02254769
- [21] O'Neal WK, Hasty P, McCray PB, Jr., Casey B, Rivera-Pérez J, Welsh MJ, et al. A severe phenotype in mice with a duplication of exon 3 in the cystic fibrosis locus. Hum Mol Genet. 1993;2:1561–9. DOI:10.1093/hmg/2.10.1561
- [22] Ratcliff R, Evans MJ, Cuthbert AW, MacVinish LJ, Foster D, Anderson JR, *et al.* Production of a severe cystic fibrosis mutation in mice by gene targeting. Nat Genet. 1993;4:35–41. DOI:10.1038/ng0593-35
- [23] Rozmahel R, Wilschanski M, Matin A, Plyte S, Oliver M, Auerbach W, et al. Modulation of disease severity in cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator deficient mice by a secondary genetic factor. Nat Genet. 1996;12:280–7. DOI:10.1038/ng0396-280
- [24] Colledge WH, Abella BS, Southern KW, Ratcliff R, Jiang C, Cheng SH, et al. Generation and characterization of a delta F508 cystic fibrosis mouse model. Nat Genet. 1995;10:445–52. DOI:10.1038/ng0895-445

- [25] Dickinson P, Smith SN, Webb S, Kilanowski FM, Campbell IJ, Taylor MS, et al. The severe G480C cystic fibrosis mutation, when replicated in the mouse, demonstrates mistrafficking, normal survival and organ-specific bioelectrics. Hum Mol Genet. 2002;11:243–51. DOI:10.1093/hmg/11.3.243
- [26] van Doorninck JH, French PJ, Verbeek E, Peters RH, Morreau H, Bijman J, et al. A mouse model for the cystic fibrosis delta F508 mutation. EMBO J. 1995;14:4403–11. DOI:10.1002/j.1460-2075.1995.tb00119.x
- [27] Zeiher BG, Eichwald E, Zabner J, Smith JJ, Puga AP, McCray PB, Jr., et al. A mouse model for the delta F508 allele of cystic fibrosis. J Clin Invest. 1995;96:2051–64. DOI:10.1172/ jci118253
- [28] Delaney SJ, Alton EW, Smith SN, Lunn DP, Farley R, Lovelock PK, et al. Cystic fibrosis mice carrying the missense mutation G551D replicate human genotype-phenotype correlations. EMBO J. 1996;15:955–63.
- [29] McHugh DR, Steele MS, Valerio DM, Miron A, Mann RJ, LePage DF, et al. A G542X cystic fibrosis mouse model for examining nonsense mutation directed therapies. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0199573. DOI:10.1371/journal. pone.0199573
- [30] Dorin JR, Dickinson P, Alton EW, Smith SN, Geddes DM, Stevenson BJ, et al. Cystic fibrosis in the mouse by targeted insertional mutagenesis. Nature. 1992;359:211–5. DOI:10.1038/359211a0
- [31] Griesenbach U, Smith SN, Farley R, Singh C, Alton EW. Validation of nasal potential difference measurements in gut-corrected CF knockout mice. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2008;39:490–6. DOI:10.1165/rcmb.2007-0385OC
- [32] Rowe SM, Clancy JP, Wilschanski M. Nasal potential difference measurements to assess CFTR ion channel activity. Methods Mol Biol. 2011;741:69–86. DOI:10.1007/978-1-61779-117-8_6

Chapter 9 - Animal models to study inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 9 - Animal models to study inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

- [33] Henderson AG, Davis JM, Keith JD, Green ME, Oden AM, Rowe SM, et al. Static mucus impairs bacterial clearance and allows chronic infection with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in the cystic fibrosis rat. Eur Respir J. 2022:2101032. DOI:10.1183/13993003.01032-2021
- [34] Mall M, Grubb BR, Harkema JR, O'Neal WK, Boucher RC. Increased airway epithelial Na+ absorption produces cystic fibrosis-like lung disease in mice. Nat Med. 2004;10:487–93. DOI:10.1038/nm1028
- [35] Cigana C, Ranucci S, Rossi A, De Fino I, Melessike M, Bragonzi A. Antibiotic efficacy varies based on the infection model and treatment regimen for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Eur Respir J. 2020;55:1802456. DOI:10.1183/13993003.02456-2018
- [36] McElvaney OJ, Zaslona Z, Becker-Flegler K, Palsson-McDermott EM, Boland F, Gunaratnam C, et al. Specific inhibition of the NLRP3 inflammasome as an antiinflammatory strategy in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2019;200:1381–91. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.201905-1013OC
- [37] Badr A, Eltobgy M, Krause K, Hamilton K, Estfanous S, Daily KP, et al. CFTR modulators restore acidification of autophago-lysosomes and bacterial clearance in cystic fibrosis macrophages. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2022;12:819554. DOI:10.3389/ fcimb.2022.819554
- [38] Centorame A, Dumut DC, Youssef M, Ondra M, Kianicka I, Shah J, et al. Treatment with LAU-7b complements CFTR modulator therapy by improving lung physiology and normalizing lipid imbalance associated with CF lung disease. Front Pharmacol. 2022;13:876842. DOI:10.3389/ fphar.2022.876842

- [39] McKay KO, Wiggs BR, Paré PD, Kamm RD. Zero-stress state of intra- and extraparenchymal airways from human, pig, rabbit, and sheep lung. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2002;92:1261–6. DOI:10.1152/japplphysiol.00131.2001
- [40] Xie Y, Ostedgaard L, Abou Alaiwa MH, Lu L, Fischer AJ, Stoltz DA. Mucociliary transport in healthy and cystic fibrosis pig airways. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2018;15:S171–6. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201805-308AW
- [41] Davies JC, Davies M, McShane D, Smith S, Chadwick S, Jaffe A, et al. Potential difference measurements in the lower airway of children with and without cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2005;171:1015–9. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200408-1116OC
- [42] Chen JH, Stoltz DA, Karp PH, Ernst SE, Pezzulo AA, Moninger TO, et al. Loss of anion transport without increased sodium absorption characterizes newborn porcine cystic fibrosis airway epithelia. Cell. 2010;143:911–23. DOI:10.1016/j.cell.2010.11.029
- [43] Ostedgaard LS, Meyerholz DK, Chen JH, Pezzulo AA, Karp PH, Rokhlina T, et al. The ΔF508 mutation causes CFTR misprocessing and cystic fibrosis-like disease in pigs. Sci Transl Med. 2011;3:74ra24. DOI:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3001868
- [44] Cooney AL, Thornell IM, Singh BK, Shah VS, Stoltz DA, McCray PB, Jr., et al. A novel AAV-mediated gene delivery system corrects CFTR function in pigs. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2019;61:747–54. DOI:10.1165/ rcmb.2019-0006OC
- [45] Bartlett JA, Ramachandran S, Wohlford-Lenane CL, Barker CK, Pezzulo AA, Zabner J, et al. Newborn cystic fibrosis pigs have a blunted early response to an inflammatory stimulus. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;194:845–54. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201510-2112OC

- [46] Thurman AL, Li X, Villacreses R, Yu W, Gong H, Mather SE, et al. A single-cell atlas of large and small airways at birth in a porcine model of cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2022;66:612–22. DOI:10.1165/rcmb.2021-0499OC
- [47] Bouzek DC, Abou Alaiwa MH, Adam RJ, Pezzulo AA, Reznikov LR, Cook DP, et al. Early lung disease exhibits bacteria-dependent and -independent abnormalities in cystic fibrosis pigs. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2021;204:692–702. DOI:10.1164/rccm.202102-04510C
- [48] Stoltz DA, Meyerholz DK, Pezzulo AA, Ramachandran S, Rogan MP, Davis GJ, et al. Cystic fibrosis pigs develop lung disease and exhibit defective bacterial eradication at birth. Sci Transl Med. 2010;2:29ra31. DOI:10.1126/scitranslmed.3000928
- [49] Berkebile AR, Bartlett JA, Abou Alaiwa M, Varga SM, Power UF, McCray PB, Jr. Airway surface liquid has innate antiviral activity that is reduced in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2020;62:104–11. DOI:10.1165/ rcmb.2018-0304OC
- [50] Meyerholz DK, Stoltz DA, Namati E, Ramachandran S, Pezzulo AA, Smith AR, et al. Loss of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator function produces abnormalities in tracheal development in neonatal pigs and young children. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010;182:1251–61. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.201004-0643OC
- [51] Cook DP, Rector MV, Bouzek DC, Michalski AS, Gansemer ND, Reznikov LR, et al. Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator in sarcoplasmic reticulum of airway smooth muscle. Implications for airway contractility. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;193:417–26. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201508-1562OC

- [52] Liu F, Zhang Z, Csanády L, Gadsby DC, Chen J. Molecular structure of the human CFTR ion channel. Cell. 2017;169:85–95.e8. DOI:10.1016/j.cell.2017.02.024
- [53] Sun X, Sui H, Fisher JT, Yan Z, Liu X, Cho HJ, et al. Disease phenotype of a ferret CFTR-knockout model of cystic fibrosis. J Clin Invest. 2010;120:3149–60. DOI:10.1172/ jci43052
- [54] Sun X, Yi Y, Yan Z, Rosen BH, Liang B, Winter MC, et al. In utero and postnatal VX-770 administration rescues multiorgan disease in a ferret model of cystic fibrosis. Sci Transl Med. 2019;11:eaau7531. DOI:10.1126/ scitranslmed.aau7531
- [55] Sun X, Olivier AK, Liang B, Yi Y, Sui H, Evans TI, et al. Lung phenotype of juvenile and adult cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator-knockout ferrets. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2014;50:502–12. DOI:10.1165/rcmb.2013-02610C
- [56] Trezise AE, Szpirer C, Buchwald M. Localization of the gene encoding the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) in the rat to chromosome 4 and implications for the evolution of mammalian chromosomes. Genomics. 1992;14:869–74. DOI:10.1016/s0888-7543(05)80107-7
- [57] Tuggle KL, Birket SE, Cui X, Hong J, Warren J, Reid L, *et al.* Characterization of defects in ion transport and tissue development in cystic fibrosis transmembrane conduct-ance regulator (CFTR)-knockout rats. PLoS One. 2014;9:e91253. DOI:10.1371/journal. pone.0091253
- [58] McCarron A, Cmielewski P, Reyne N, McIntyre C, Finnie J, Craig F, et al. Phenotypic characterization and comparison of cystic fibrosis rat models generated using CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing. Am J Pathol. 2020;190:977–93. DOI:10.1016/j.ajpath.2020.01.009

Chapter 9 - Animal models to study inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 9 - Animal models to study inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

- [59] Sharma J, Abbott J, Klaskala L, Zhao G, Birket SE, Rowe SM. A novel G542X CFTR rat model of cystic fibrosis is sensitive to nonsense mediated decay. Front Physiol. 2020;11:611294. DOI:10.3389/fphys.2020.611294
- [60] Birket SE, Davis JM, Fernandez-Petty CM, Henderson AG, Oden AM, Tang L, et al. Ivacaftor reverses airway mucus abnormalities in a rat model harboring a humanized G551D-CFTR. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2020;202:1271-82. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.202002-0369OC
- [61] Birket SE, Davis JM, Fernandez CM, Tuggle KL, Oden AM, Chu KK, et al. Development of an airway mucus defect in the cystic fibrosis rat. JCI Insight. 2018;3:e97199. DOI:10.1172/jci. insight.97199
- [62] Keith JD, Henderson AG, Fernandez-Petty CM, Davis JM, Oden AM, Birket SE. Muc5b contributes to mucus abnormality in rat models of cystic fibrosis. Front Physiol. 2022;13:884166. DOI:10.3389/ fphys.2022.884166
- [63] Green M, Lindgren N, Henderson A, Keith JD, Oden AM, Birket SE. Ivacaftor partially corrects airway inflammation in a humanized G551D rat. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2021;320:L1093-100. DOI:10.1152/ ajplung.00082.2021

148

Chapter 10 Epidemiology of airway infection in cystic fibrosis

Author

Carsten Schwarz

Introduction

This chapter provides a general overview of the major pathogens involved in cystic fibrosis (CF), while subsequent chapters delve deeper into specific pathogens. People with CF (pwCF) develop typically recurrent infections during their lifetime. The microbiome changes over the lifetime and is therefore age-dependent. Bronchopulmonary exacerbations are usually caused by bacteria such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* or *Staphylococcus aureus* [1-3].

10.1 Bacteria

In children with CF, *S. aureus* and *Haemophilus influenzae* are typically detected. However, in older pwCF, *P. aeruginosa* is more commonly detected, followed by *S. aureus*. Other rare bacteria (with a prevalence less than 20% in adult pwCF) are also detected.

Within the rare bacteria group, *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia*, *Achromobacter* spp. and *Burkholderia* spp. are the main bacteria that cause chronic colonization as well as acute bronchopulmonary infections [4-7]. Interestingly, the epidemiology of diagnosed bacterial infection has changed notably over the last two decades, especially for *P. aeruginosa*. As per the 2022 CF Foundation Patient Registry Annual Report, the percentage of individuals with a positive culture for P. aeruginosa has declined. The largest decline was observed in pwCF younger than 18 years, for whom the percentage with a positive P. aeruginosa culture declined from 47.0% in 1997 to 16.8% in 2021 [1]. Reasons for this decline might be multifactorial. Beside early antibiotic eradication treatment of incident infections, implementation of CFTR modulator therapy since 2012 may also play a role [8]. More scientific knowledge about the microbiome in pwCF has been gained over the last years by using methods such as 16S ribosomal ribonucleic acid (rRNA) gene sequencing of respiratory tract specimens. It helped to characterize the polymicrobial nature of lower airway infections in CF. These studies revealed that the core microbiota included Streptococcus, Prevotella, Rothia, Veillonella, and Actinomyces. However, it was observed that when common CF pathogens such as Pseudomonas, Burkholderia, Stenotrophomonas, or Achromobacter were present in the lungs, these microorganisms tended to dominate the microbial community within individuals [9-11]. A major research question in microbiology for CF is whether the current highly effective CFTR modulator therapy will impact the microbiome, even in individuals with chronic colonization of these pathogens.

Chapter 10 - Epidemiology of airway infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 10 - Epidemiology of airway infection in cystic fibrosis

10.2 Fungi

Over the last few decades, multiple studies have investigated fungal colonization and infection in the airways of pwCF. While Aspergillus fumigatus and Candida albicans remain the most common fungal species detected in pwCF, recent research has shown that the range of fungal species associated with CF has significantly diversified [12-21]. Thus, other significant fungal pathogens in CF have been recognized as potentially causing severe, frequently difficult to treat fungal infections. These pathogens include some Scedosporium species (S. boyidii, S. apiospermum, S. aurantiacum, S. minutisporium) and the closely related species Lomentospora prolificans. In addition, very rare fungal species such as Exophiala dermatitidis, Arxula adeninivorans and Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans have been described causing severe fungal pneumonia in pwCF [22-27].

Invasive fungal infections are often diagnosed late, resulting in delayed and inadequate treatment. PwCF also commonly experience allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis (ABPA) and bronchitis caused by fungal infections [28-32].

The diagnosis and treatment of *A. fumigatus*-related conditions remain a challenge in CF due to overlapping features of disease, and absence of clinical guidelines for *A. fumigatus*-related conditions outside of ABPA.

As Aspergillus spp. are the filamentous fungus detected most often in CF, the impact of this species is of high importance. A German study demonstrated a significant lower forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) in pwCF where Aspergillus spp. could be detected in respiratory samples in a meaningful number. In particular, pwCF without chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection

had a significant lower FEV1 and higher number of pulmonary exacerbations in the case of one or more positive Aspergillus spp. cultures [13]. A big question in the era of highly effective CFTR modulator therapy is whether the prevalence of pulmonary fungal diseases in CF is decreasing or not. According to the ECFS patient registry (ECFSPR), the percentage of pwCF with ABPA was comparable over the period 2018 to 2020 (4.75% in 2018, 5.12% in 2019 and 4.55% in 2020) [33]. Despite the increasing number of studies focusing on fungal pulmonary diseases in CF, an international survey revealed that huge heterogeneity still exists in terms of the availability of diagnostic tools, as well as diagnostic and therapeutic guidelines [34].

10.3 Viruses

Since the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic started in 2020, viral infections have received increased attention and concern about their threat to pwCF [35-38]. The most commonly identified viruses in pwCF are usually respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), human rhinovirus, influenza types A and B, and parainfluenza virus. However, many other viruses, including human metapneumovirus, picornavirus, coronavirus, and coxsackie/echo virus, have also been identified in pwCF [39-47]. Regarding SARS-CoV-2 infection, initial studies from Europe have shown that CF-related diabetes, impaired lung function, and lung transplantation are risk factors for severe SARS-CoV-2 infection, and therefore require special attention [37, 38, 48].

Prevention measures including vaccination are recommended, as viral infections in CF might increase the risk of pulmonary exacerbations in both children and adults with CF [45, 47] and can also increase inflammation leading to tissue damage and longer duration of intravenous therapy [49, 50].

10.4 Conclusion

In summary, bacterial infections are typically the primary focus during exacerbations in pwCF, but fungal and viral infections are also important differential diagnoses. As pwCF treated with highly effective CFTR modulator therapy produce less sputum, future studies will need to investigate whether other biomarkers, such as serological biomarkers, are useful, or whether bronchoscopy with bronchoalveolar lavage may be a good alternative for obtaining high-quality samples.

Chapter 10 - Epidemiology of airway infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 10 - Epidemiology of airway infection in cystic fibrosis

Bibliography

- Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. Patient registry. https://www.cff.org/medical-professionals/patient-registry
- [2] Orenti A, Zolin A, Rens Jv, Fox A, Krasnyk M, Daneau G, et al. ECFS patient registry annual data report 2020. European Cystic Fibrosis Society; 2022.
- [3] Waters VJ, LiPuma JJ. Airway infection in cystic fibrosis: microbiology and management. J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc. 2022;11:S1–2. DOI:10.1093/jpids/piac077
- [4] Gibson RL, Burns JL, Ramsey BW. Pathophysiology and management of pulmonary infections in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003;168:918–51. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200304-505SO
- [5] Valenza G, Tappe D, Turnwald D, Frosch M, König C, Hebestreit H, et al. Prevalence and antimicrobial susceptibility of microorganisms isolated from sputa of patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2008;7:123–7. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2007.06.006
- [6] Sanders DB, Bittner RC, Rosenfeld M, Hoffman LR, Redding GJ, Goss CH. Failure to recover to baseline pulmonary function after cystic fibrosis pulmonary exacerbation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010;182:627–32. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200909-14210C
- [7] Döring G, Flume P, Heijerman H, Elborn JS. Treatment of lung infection in patients with cystic fibrosis: current and future strategies. J Cyst Fibros. 2012;11:461–79. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2012.10.004
- [8] King JA, Nichols AL, Bentley S, Carr SB, Davies JC. An update on CFTR modulators as new therapies for cystic fibrosis. Paediatr Drugs. 2022;24:321–33. DOI:10.1007/s40272-022-00509-y

- [9] Zemanick ET, Wagner BD, Robertson CE, Stevens MJ, Szefler SJ, Accurso FJ, et al. Assessment of airway microbiota and inflammation in cystic fibrosis using multiple sampling methods. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2015;12:221–9. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201407-3100C
- [10] Hahn A, Sanyal A, Perez GF, Colberg-Poley AM, Campos J, Rose MC, et al. Different next generation sequencing platforms produce different microbial profiles and diversity in cystic fibrosis sputum. J Microbiol Methods. 2016;130:95–9. DOI:10.1016/j.mimet.2016.09.002
- [11] Pust MM, Wiehlmann L, Davenport C, Rudolf I, Dittrich AM, Tümmler B. The human respiratory tract microbial community structures in healthy and cystic fibrosis infants. NPJ Biofilms Microbiomes. 2020;6:61. DOI:10.1038/s41522-020-00171-7
- [12] Pihet M, Carrere J, Cimon B, Chabasse D, Delhaes L, Symoens F, et al. Occurrence and relevance of filamentous fungi in respiratory secretions of patients with cystic fibrosis--a review. Med Mycol. 2009;47:387–97. DOI:10.1080/13693780802609604
- [13] Düesberg U, Wosniok J, Naehrlich L, Eschenhagen P, Schwarz C. Risk factors for respiratory Aspergillus fumigatus in german cystic fibrosis patients and impact on lung function. Sci Rep. 2020;10:18999. DOI:10.1038/ s41598-020-75886-w
- [14] Schwarz C, Bouchara JP, Buzina W, Chrenkova V, Dmeńska H, de la Pedrosa EGG, et al. Organization of patient management and fungal epidemiology in cystic fibrosis. Mycopathologia. 2018;183:7–19. DOI:10.1007/ s11046-017-0205-x
- [15] Singh A, Ralhan A, Schwarz C, Hartl D, Hector A. Fungal pathogens in CF airways: leave or treat? Mycopathologia. 2018;183:119–37. DOI:10.1007/s11046-017-0184-y

- [16] Bouchara JP, Symoens F, Schwarz C, Chaturvedi V. Fungal respiratory infections in cystic fibrosis (CF): recent progress and future research agenda. Mycopathologia. 2018;183:1–5. DOI:10.1007/s11046-017-0241-6
- [17] Schwarz C, Vandeputte P, Rougeron A, Giraud S, Dugé de Bernonville T, Duvaux L, et al. Developing collaborative works for faster progress on fungal respiratory infections in cystic fibrosis. Med Mycol. 2018;56:42–59. DOI:10.1093/mmy/myx106
- [18] Chotirmall SH, McElvaney NG. Fungi in the cystic fibrosis lung: bystanders or pathogens? Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2014;52:161–73. DOI:10.1016/j.biocel.2014.03.001
- [19] Ramirez-Garcia A, Pellon A, Rementeria A, Buldain I, Barreto-Bergter E, Rollin-Pinheiro R, et al. Scedosporium and Lomentospora: an updated overview of underrated opportunists. Med Mycol. 2018;56:S102–25. DOI:10.1093/mmy/myx113
- [20] Bouchara JP, Hsieh HY, Croquefer S, Barton R, Marchais V, Pihet M, *et al.* Development of an oligonucleotide array for direct detection of fungi in sputum samples from patients with cystic fibrosis. J Clin Microbiol. 2009;47:142–52. DOI:10.1128/jcm.01668-08
- [21] Middleton PG, Chen SC, Meyer W. Fungal infections and treatment in cystic fibrosis. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2013;19:670–5. DOI:10.1097/MCP.0b013e328365ab74
- [22] Roehmel JF, Tintelnot K, Bernhardt A, Seibold M, Staab D, Schwarz C. Arxula adeninivorans causing invasive pulmonary mycosis and fungaemia in cystic fibrosis. Lancet. 2015;385:1476. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(15)60260-4
- [23] Zalar P, Novak M, de Hoog GS, Gunde-Cimerman N. Dishwashers--a man-made ecological niche accommodating human opportunistic fungal pathogens. Fungal Biol. 2011;115:997–1007. DOI:10.1016/j.funbio.2011.04.007

- [24] Kusenbach G, Skopnik H, Haase G, Friedrichs F, Döhmen H. Exophiala dermatitidis pneumonia in cystic fibrosis. Eur J Pediatr. 1992;151:344–6. DOI:10.1007/bf02113255
- [25] Haase G, Skopnik H, Kusenbach G. Exophiala dermatitidis infection in cystic fibrosis. Lancet. 1990;336:188–9. DOI:10.1016/0140-6736(90)91721-1
- [26] Hickey PW, Sutton DA, Fothergill AW, Rinaldi MG, Wickes BL, Schmidt HJ, et al. *Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans*, a novel respiratory pathogen in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Clin Microbiol. 2009;47:3091–7. DOI:10.1128/jcm.00460-09
- [27] Hirschi S, Letscher-Bru V, Pottecher J, Lannes B, Jeung MY, Degot T, et al. Disseminated Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans, Aspergillus fumigatus, and Scedosporium apiospermum coinfection after lung and liver transplantation in a cystic fibrosis patient. J Clin Microbiol. 2012;50:4168–70. DOI:10.1128/ jcm.01928-12
- [28] Jubin V, Ranque S, Stremler Le Bel N, Sarles J, Dubus JC. Risk factors for Aspergillus colonization and allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2010;45:764–71. DOI:10.1002/ppul.21240
- [29] Eschenhagen P, Grehn C, Schwarz C. Prospective evaluation of Aspergillus fumigatus-specific IgG in patients With cystic fibrosis. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2020;10:602836. DOI:10.3389/ fcimb.2020.602836
- [30] Geller DE, Kaplowitz H, Light MJ, Colin AA. Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in cystic fibrosis: reported prevalence, regional distribution, and patient characteristics. Scientific advisory group, investigators, and coordinators of the epidemiologic study of cystic fibrosis. Chest. 1999;116:639–46. DOI:10.1378/chest.116.3.639

Chapter 10 - Epidemiology of airway infection in cystic fibrosis

- [31] Baxter CG, Dunn G, Jones AM, Webb K, Gore R, Richardson MD, et al. Novel immunologic classification of aspergillosis in adult cystic fibrosis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2013;132:560–6.e10. DOI:10.1016/j. jaci.2013.04.007
- [32] Brandt C, Roehmel J, Rickerts V, Melichar V, Niemann N, Schwarz C. Aspergillus bronchitis in patients with cystic fibrosis. Mycopathologia. 2018;183:61–9. DOI:10.1007/ s11046-017-0190-0
- [33] European Cystic Fibrosis Society. ECFS patient registry: annual reports. 2023. https:// www.ecfs.eu/projects/ecfs-patient-registry/annual-reports
- [34] Hong G, Desai S, Moss RB, Eschenhagen P, Quon BS, Schwarz C. Clinician variability in the diagnosis and treatment of Aspergillus fumigatus-related conditions in cystic fibrosis: an international survey. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:136–42. DOI:10.1016/i.icf.2021.07.008
- [35] Stanton BA, Hampton TH, Ashare A. SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) and cystic fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2020;319:L408– 15. DOI:10.1152/ajplung.00225.2020
- [36] Naehrlich L, Orenti A, Dunlevy F, Kasmi I, Harutyunyan S, Pfleger A, et al. Incidence of SARS-CoV-2 in people with cystic fibrosis in Europe between February and June 2020. J Cyst Fibros. 2021;20:566–77. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2021.03.017
- [37] Corvol H, de Miranda S, Dehillotte C, Lemonnier L, Chiron R, Danner-Boucher I, et al. Cumulative incidence and risk factors for severe coronavirus disease 2019 in French people with cystic fibrosis. Clin Infect Dis. 2022;75:2135–44. DOI:10.1093/cid/ciac333
- [38] Jung A, Orenti A, Dunlevy F, Aleksejeva E, Bakkeheim E, Bobrovnichy V, et al. Factors for severe outcomes following SARS-CoV-2 infection in people with cystic fibrosis in Europe. ERJ Open Res. 2021;7:00411–2021. DOI:10.1183/23120541.00411-2021

- [39] Lotti V, Merigo F, Lagni A, Di Clemente A, Ligozzi M, Bernardi P, *et al.* CFTR modulation reduces SARS-CoV-2 infection in human bronchial epithelial cells. Cells. 2022;11:1347. DOI:10.3390/cells11081347
- [40] Frickmann H, Jungblut S, Hirche TO, Groß U, Kuhns M, Zautner AE. Spectrum of viral infections in patients with cystic fibrosis. Eur J Microbiol Immunol (Bp). 2012;2:161–75. DOI:10.1556/EuJMI.2.2012.3.1
- [41] Kiedrowski MR, Bomberger JM. Viral-bacterial co-infections in the cystic fibrosis respiratory tract. Front Immunol. 2018;9:3067. DOI:10.3389/fimmu.2018.03067
- [42] Flight W, Jones A. The diagnosis and management of respiratory viral infections in cystic fibrosis. Expert Rev Respir Med. 2017;11:221–7. DOI:10.1080/17476348.2017.128 8102
- [43] Garcia DF, Hiatt PW, Jewell A, Schoonover SL, Cron SG, Riggs M, et al. Human metapneumovirus and respiratory syncytial virus infections in older children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2007;42:66–74. DOI:10.1002/ppul.20546
- [44] Villeret B, Solhonne B, Straube M, Lemaire F, Cazes A, Garcia-Verdugo I, et al. Influenza a virus pre-infection exacerbates *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*-mediated lung damage through increased MMP-9 expression, decreased elafin production and tissue resilience. Front Immunol. 2020;11:117. DOI:10.3389/fimmu.2020.00117
- [45] Flight WG, Bright-Thomas RJ, Tilston P, Mutton KJ, Guiver M, Morris J, et al. Incidence and clinical impact of respiratory viruses in adults with cystic fibrosis. Thorax. 2014;69:247–53. DOI:10.1136/thoraxinl-2013-204000
- [46] Billard L, Le Berre R, Pilorgé L, Payan C, Héry-Arnaud G, Vallet S. Viruses in cystic fibrosis patients' airways. Crit Rev Microbiol. 2017;43:690–708. DOI:10.1080/104084 1x.2017.1297763

Chapter 10 - Epidemiology of airway infection in cystic fibrosis

- [47] Wat D, Doull I. Respiratory virus infections in cystic fibrosis. Paediatr Respir Rev. 2003;4:172–7. DOI:10.1016/s1526-0542(03)00059-9
- [48] Carr SB, McClenaghan E, Elbert A, Faro A, Cosgriff R, Abdrakhmanov O, et al. Factors associated with clinical progression to severe COVID-19 in people with cystic fibrosis: a global observational study. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:e221–31. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2022.06.006
- [49] Etherington C, Naseer R, Conway SP, Whitaker P, Denton M, Peckham DG. The role of respiratory viruses in adult patients with cystic fibrosis receiving intravenous antibiotics for a pulmonary exacerbation. J Cyst Fibros. 2014;13:49–55. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2013.06.004
- [50] Esther CR, Jr., Lin FC, Kerr A, Miller MB, Gilligan PH. Respiratory viruses are associated with common respiratory pathogens in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2014;49:926–31. DOI:10.1002/ppul.22917

Authors

Éva Bernadett Bényei, Sébastien Boutin, Anand Shah, Martin Welch, Emem-Fong Ukor

Introduction

Cystic fibrosis (CF) arises due to mutations in the CF transmembrane conductance regulator (*CFTR*) gene which acts as a cAMP-regulated channel, enabling the transport of anions, including chloride and bicarbonate, across the apical membrane of epithelial cells [1]. Abnormal CFTR protein in the lung leads to impaired ion and fluid homeostasis, with dehydration and acidification of the epithelial surface. The resultant build-up of thick, sticky mucus provides a favorable environment for airway colonization by a variety of microbes. This polymicrobial community leads to the pulmonary infections that drive the morbidity and mortality associated with CF [2].

Our understanding about the polymicrobial nature of CF airway infections has expanded with the development of culture-independent molecular approaches, enabling better characterization of both upper and lower airway infections [3-7]. The CF microbiome is often highly personalized and changes with age, different disease stages and with different CF genotypes [8-10].

In the last decade, the introduction of CFTR modulator therapies has transformed the CF treatment landscape [11]. These small molecule drugs enhance or even restore the dysfunctional CFTR protein product arising from certain CF-causing mutations. These agents have been classified into five main groups based on their effects on abnormal CFTR protein [1].

To date, one potentiator (ivacaftor) and three correctors (lumacaftor, tezacaftor and elexacaftor) have been advanced to the clinic, enabling variant-specific corrective therapy for nearly 90% of people with CF (pwCF) aged 12 years and older in the United States and Europe [12].

This new era raises the question of whether the introduction of CFTR modulator therapies will enable eradication of chronic airway pathogens. Alternatively, might CFTR modulator therapies alter the impact of colonizing pathogens, such that treatment aims will shift?

1.1 Microbial ecology

The concept of the airway microbiome emerged after culture-independent studies dispelled the longheld paradigm that the human lung was sterile [13]. The term microbiome is defined as the genomic composition of a specific ecological niche (e.g. gut, lung, soil, water) [14]. This definition includes the microbe identification as well as their gene repertoire. On the other hand, microbiota refers only to the community of microorganisms themselves. Although the terms microbiome and microbiota encompass all the microbes present in a given ecological niche, including bacteria, fungi, archaea and viruses, most current research focuses on the bacterial kingdom due to the methodology used.

Several culture-independent methods can be used to guantify the microbiome based on nucleic acid (DNA and RNA) content. One of the most commonly used is 16S rRNA gene sequencing. The 16S rRNA-encoding gene comprises nine constant regions and nine hypervariable regions (V1–V9) which can be used to characterize the bacteriome efficiently, following PCR-amplification of the gene [15]. The fungome and archaeome are also accessible using other marker elements, such as the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region of the nuclear ribosomal RNA (rRNA) [16] or specific primers that amplify the archaeal 16S region [17]. The only way to reliably assess the whole microbiome is to perform metagenomic or metatranscriptomic analyses where the whole nucleic acid content is sequenced [18], offering an unbiased measure of the abundance of each taxon and their gene repertoire.

In the microbiome field, operational taxonomic units (OTUs) are defined as single entity microbial sequences sharing similarities (mostly 97% identity) [19]. OTUs have been employed mostly to limit the impact of sequencing errors on the number of taxa found in a niche. The definition of taxonomic units and the abundance of each taxon is the principal metric used in the microbiome field but two other metrics, α -diversity and β -diversity, are used to simplify the high-dimension data associated with microbiome analysis into a single metric [20].

Alpha diversity describes the ecological diversity within a certain niche, with the Shannon diversity index being the most commonly used metric [21]. This index accounts for several parameters such as the number of taxa (richness) and the distribution (evenness and dominance) of each taxon. While richness and evenness are included in the same equation for α -diversity, it is sometimes informative to evaluate those parameters independently [21]. Beta diversity is a measure of the degree of difference in membership or structure between two or more microbiota (e.g. two different niches), with many equations and indices existing to measure β -diversity.

In health, the upper airways are in general dominated by Streptococcus, Neisseria, Prevotella, Rothia and Haemophilus while the lower airways represent a sub-selection of those microbiotas and are dominated also by Streptococcus, Prevotella and Veillonella [13].

In CF the respiratory microbiome evolves in the first years of life. In the early stages of disease, the microbiome is rich and diverse, and is highly similar to the oropharyngeal microbiota seen in health. By early adulthood however, the CF microbiome becomes dominated by specific CF-associated pathogens [22, 23]. Such pathogens include Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Staphylococcus aureus, Achromobacter spp., Burkholderia spp. or Stenotrophomonas maltophilia. This shift. also called dysbiosis, is not fully understood. Current work suggests that impaired airway clearance creates a hostile environment which, along with selective challenges encountered in the lower airways (e.g. host immune response, antimicrobial exposure, physiochemical properties of viscid mucus), drives a change in the composition of the airway microbiota [23]. Although causality is poorly understood, most studies reveal that dominance of a CF pathogen within the microbiota is linked to decreased microbial diversity, poorer lung function, higher degrees of inflammation, higher rates of exacerbation and greater antibiotic use [9, 24-29].

11.2 Impact of CFTR modulators on alpha diversity

In this overview, we discuss α -diversity, based on studies using culture-independent methods (e.g., metagenomics or culturomics) (Table 1).

Chapter 11 - Microbiome and CFTR modulator therapy

Studies examining the effect of ivacaftor, the first approved CFTR modulator therapy, suggest an initial positive effect on microbial diversity. One of the main effects observed has been the increase in α -diversity or in at least one of the components of α -diversity such as richness or evenness. A study of 14 pwCF in the UK showed an increase in richness and a trend for improved α -diversity after one year of treatment [30]. Similar results were observed using extended culture from the same group [31]. Other studies investigating the impact of ivacaftor in the first 6 months of treatment showed a non-significant trend towards an increase in α -diversity [32-35]. A study with a longer treatment period showed an increase in richness and diversity in the first year, with a decline in microbiome diversity from year two [36]. These results suggest that the positive impact of CFTR modulation via ivacaftor on α -diversity is not sustained.

Studies investigating the impact of the combination CFTR modulator therapies on microbial diversity have reported mixed results for improvements in α -diversity and richness. The lumacaftor/ivacaftor combination was reported to increase Shannon diversity of the airway microbiome after only 8 to 16 weeks of treatment [37] and treatment with combination elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor (ETI) showed a significant increase in Shannon diversity index and Pielou evenness [38]. However, another study of lumacaftor/ivacaftor failed to show a significant increase in α -diversity [39]. The difference between studies could be explained by the small cohort size and heterogeneity. Even though the age of the patients is quite similar, the microbial diversity is different, and it seems that pwCF with a higher initial α -diversity showed a better improvement after CFTR modulation. One hypothesis for this finding may be that improved mucociliary clearance with CFTR modulator therapy affects the early microbiome dysbiosis observed in CF, but is ineffective at later stages when CF pathogens have dominated the microbiome and developed resistant biofilms. Only two studies have observed a decrease in the total bacterial load after treatment [36, 37] and as seen for α -diversity, this effect was not observable during the second year [36]. Of note, several studies did not replicate this finding [31, 33, 34, 37, 38].

11.3 Impact of CFTR modulators on CF-specific pathogens

Alpha diversity is mostly influenced by the establishment of a dominant pathogen in the CF microbiome. Therefore, a major focus of CFTR modulator studies has been the impact on key CF pathogens such as P. aeruginosa. No significant changes in the molecular detection of P. aeruginosa have been observed either by 16S rRNA relative abundance or gPCR detection but trends for reduction have been observed [30, 31, 33, 34, 37]. The drop in P. aeruginosa abundance seems to be limited to the first year of treatment, with increased abundance observed thereafter [36]. It is interesting to note that after treatment with ivacaftor the relative abundance and absolute numbers of commensals, and especially anaerobes, increases [30, 31, 37]. PwCF treated with lumacaftor/ivacaftor combination therapy did not have reductions in the relative abundance or absolute quantities of pathogens such as P. aeruginosa [37, 39]. Similar results were observed with ETI [38]. The authors of this study used an interesting index summing the abundance of all "CF pathogens" and "anaerobes". A log ratio of pathogens/anaerobes showed a significant decrease in the first year of treatment [38].

Promisingly, most studies showed a decrease in the abundance of the CF pathogens after treatment, to some extent. The lack of significance is most likely due to the small sample size of each

cohort and the prevalence of the CF pathogens in those cohorts. Using the aforementioned log ratio of pathogens/anaerobes may be useful to see the impact on a global microbiome scale, despite the heterogeneity in CF pathogens in smaller cohort sizes. An interesting hypothesis requiring further study is whether CFTR modulator therapies are not eradicating CF pathogens but rather modifying host physiology, altering the lung ecological niche for bacteria and promoting commensal growth. In addition, the use of CFTR modulators in early life could limit alterations of lung mucus and prevent initial colonization by CF-specific pathogens. This remains an important direction for future research.

11.4 Limitations, remaining questions and future directions

While recent studies have demonstrated promising evidence of the effect of CFTR modulators on the microbiome of pwCF, many aspects require further research to completely understand their impact.

The data currently available are mostly from small cohorts that are heterogeneous in terms of CFTR modulator therapy, with contrasting results and limited understanding of long-term effects. Therefore, large scale prospective longitudinal studies are required to understand the impact of CFTR modulator therapies on the CF airway microbiology. An example is the PROMISE study to examine the clinical effectiveness of ETI [40].

Improved culture-independent techniques allow easier and more accurate identification of bacterial members of the microbial community. However, the impact of fungi and viruses are yet to be understood. To better understand how new treatments affect the microbiome, it is essential to study all kinds of microbes and their roles in the polymicrobial community. The gene repertoire and expression should also be a major focus in the field. Therefore, extending the analytical methods to transcriptome and resistome could provide valuable information about the underlying mechanisms in microbial dysbiosis during treatment.

Surveillance and antimicrobial treatment choice have been traditionally based upon culture-dependent analysis of lower serial respiratory tract samples, usually expectorated sputum, but also bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL). However, adults treated with CFTR modulators are often unable to expectorate sputum [7]. This provides an opportunity to reconsider sampling methods in the context of CFTR modulator therapies and introduce potential alternatives (e.g. exhaled breath condensate) [41].

Despite several studies investigating the direct and indirect antimicrobial effects of CFTR modulator therapies, it remains necessary to understand the entire picture. Hence, it is important to examine their impact on polymicrobial community dynamics, to use novel applications of sequencing methodologies (e.g. metagenomics, metatranscriptomics), and to optimize infection diagnosis and management.

11.5 Conclusion

The introduction of CFTR modulator therapies has changed the landscape of CF, with the exciting promise of improvement in all aspects of CF care. However, it is important to note that our understanding about some of these aspects and the long-term effects is limited. This is especially relevant for the impact of CFTR modulator therapies on the CF microbiome. The recent studies present interesting but sometimes contradictory results.

Chapter 11 - Microbiome and CFTR modulator therapy

Ivacaftor has been found to increase microbial richness in the first year of its implementation, but this benefit then wanes. The same pattern is recognizable with the Shannon diversity index. Ivacaftor may have the potential to decrease *P. aeruginosa* load, but this finding is not consistent across all studies. Lumacaftor/ivacaftor and ETI seem to significantly increase the Shannon diversity index, but this finding is limited by the relatively small number of studies carried out whose data cover a year at the most.

Nonetheless, it is reasonable to conclude that CFTR modulators have a promising effect on the microbiome, especially during the first year of treatment. However, several aspects, importantly including the long-term effects, must be tackled in the near future. A number of encouraging attempts to define the findings more clearly are ongoing. The remaining questions in the field of CF lung infection provide exciting research opportunities. Moreover, new therapies have appeared on the horizon that may affect the microbiome differently, such as ETX001, a promising TMEM16A potentiator or BI 1265162, an epithelial sodium channel inhibitor [42]. Undoubtedly, achieving success will require a collaborative effort from researchers, clinicians, industry and pwCF to further discoveries in this field.

Chapter 11 - Microbiome and CFTR modulator therapy

Table 1

Effect of CFTR modulators on the airway microbiota.

Author	Study location (number pwCF)	Mean age (years)	Treatment and duration	Method	Observation	
Sosinski et al., 2021	USA (n=24)	32.5	ETI 3 to 6 months (202 days ± 108)	V4 amplicon PCR	Microbial richness: No significant change Shannon diversity index: ↑ P. aeruginosa load: ↓ Note: Peilou evenness ↑ and log ratio of patho- gens/anaerobes ↓	
Neerincx et al., 2021	Netherlands (n=20)	25.3	Lum/iva 3 to 12 months	V4-V5 PCR & metagenomics	Alpha diversity: No significant change P. aeruginosa load: ↓ after 6 months but not significant Note: before and after microbiota results from 15 people with CF only	
Graeber et al., 2021	Germany (n=15)	20.5	Lum/iva 8-16 weeks	V4 amplicon PCR	Shannon diversity index: ↑ Total bacterial load: ↓	
	USA (n=14)	27	Iva 6 months	V1-V2 PCR	Shannon diversity index: No significant change Total bacterial load: No significant change <i>P. aeruginosa</i> load: ↓ and <i>Prevotella</i> load ↑	
Einarsson et al., 2021	Ireland (n=14)	26	lva 1 year	V4 amplicon PCR	Microbial richness: ↑ Alpha diversity: ↑ but not significant Note: ↑ bacterial load in anaerobes	
Durfey et al., 2021	USA/Ireland (n=13)	34.5	Iva Up to 2.5 years	Culture	<i>P. aeruginosa</i> : No eradication with combination of CFTR modulation and antibiotic therapy	
Harris et al., 2020	USA (n=31)	27	Iva 6 months	V1-V2 PCR	Microbial richness: No significant change Shannon diversity index: No significant change Note: Younger patient more responsive in the microbiome	
Hahn et al., 2020	USA (n=17; 5 on CFTR versus 12 without)	Between 2-6 years	Iva (n=3) Lum/iva (n=2) 1 year	V4 amplicon PCR (cross-sectional- exclude)	Alpha diversity: ↑ comparing children with CF not receiving CFTR modulators and children with CF receiving CFTR modulators. Note: The age and treatment are not given precisely	
Ronan <i>et al.,</i> 2018	Ireland (n=14)	21.6	Iva 1 year	V4 amplicon PCR	Microbial richness, Shannon diversity index: ↑ P. aeruginosa load ↓ and Streptococcus species, Rothia species, Haemophilus species, and Prevotella species: relative proportion ↑	
Peleg <i>et al.,</i> 2018	Australia (n=20)	32	Iva 4 weeks	V1–V3 PCR	Microbial richness: No significant change Shannon diversity index: No significant change <i>P. aeruginosa</i> load: No significant change	
Hisert et al., 2017	USA (n=12)	29.5	Iva 32 months (Up to Day 975)	N/A	Microbial richness: \uparrow in 1st year, then \downarrow Shannon diversity index: \uparrow in 1st year, then \downarrow Total bacterial load: \downarrow <i>P. aeruginosa</i> : no eradication; after 1st year densi- ties rebounded	
Heltshe <i>et al.,</i> 2015	USA (n=151)	21.1	Iva 6 months	Culture	P. aeruginosa: eradication (29%) or remaining uninfected (88%)	
Bernarde et al., 2015	France (n=3)	12	Iva 13 months	V3–V4 (PCR)	Microbial richness: No significant change Shannon diversity index: No significant change <i>P. aeruginosa</i> load: No significant change	

Abbreviation: ETI=elexacaftor, tezacaftor, ivacaftor; PCR=polymerase chain reaction; V1-V4=hypervariable regions

Bibliography

- Lopes-Pacheco M. CFTR modulators: the changing face of cystic fibrosis in the era of precision medicine. Front Pharmacol. 2019;10:1662. DOI:10.3389/fphar.2019.01662
- [2] Zemanick ET, Sagel SD, Harris JK. The airway microbiome in cystic fibrosis and implications for treatment. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2011;23:319–24. DOI:10.1097/ MOP.0b013e32834604f2
- [3] Rossi GA, Morelli P, Galietta LJ, Colin AA. Airway microenvironment alterations and pathogen growth in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2019;54:497–506. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.24246
- [4] Mahboubi MA, Carmody LA, Foster BK, Kalikin LM, VanDevanter DR, LiPuma JJ. Culture-based and culture-independent bacteriologic analysis of cystic fibrosis respiratory specimens. J Clin Microbiol. 2016;54:613–9. DOI:10.1128/jcm.02299-15
- [5] Lopes SP, Azevedo NF, Pereira MO. Microbiome in cystic fibrosis: shaping polymicrobial interactions for advances in antibiotic therapy. Crit Rev Microbiol. 2015;41:353–65. DOI:10.3109/1040841x.2013.847898
- [6] Guss AM, Roeselers G, Newton IL, Young CR, Klepac-Ceraj V, Lory S, et al. Phylogenetic and metabolic diversity of bacteria associated with cystic fibrosis. ISME J. 2011;5:20–9. DOI:10.1038/ismej.2010.88
- [7] Fenn D, Abdel-Aziz MI, Brinkman P, Kos R, Neerincx AH, Altenburg J, et al. Comparison of microbial composition of cough swabs and sputum for pathogen detection in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:52–60. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2021.08.031

- [8] Raghuvanshi R, Vasco K, Vázquez-Baeza Y, Jiang L, Morton JT, Li D, et al. High-resolution longitudinal dynamics of the cystic fibrosis sputum microbiome and metabolome through antibiotic therapy. mSystems. 2020;5:e00292–20. DOI:10.1128/mSystems.00292-20
- [9] Coburn B, Wang PW, Diaz Caballero J, Clark ST, Brahma V, Donaldson S, et al. Lung microbiota across age and disease stage in cystic fibrosis. Sci Rep. 2015;5:10241. DOI:10.1038/srep10241
- [10] Voronina OL, Ryzhova NN, Kunda MS, Loseva EV, Aksenova EI, Amelina EL, *et al.* Characteristics of the airway microbiome of cystic fibrosis patients. Biochem (Mosc). 2020;85:1– 10. DOI:10.1134/s0006297920010010
- [11] Yi B, Dalpke AH, Boutin S. Changes in the cystic fibrosis airway microbiome in response to CFTR modulator therapy. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2021;11:548613. DOI:10.3389/fcimb.2021.548613
- [12] Sanders DB, Chmiel JF. Drug development for cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2021;56 Suppl 1:S10–22. DOI:10.1002/ppul.25075
- [13] Dickson RP, Erb-Downward JR, Freeman CM, McCloskey L, Falkowski NR, Huffnagle GB, et al. Bacterial topography of the healthy human lower respiratory tract. mBio. 2017;8:e02287–16. DOI:10.1128/mBio.02287-16
- [14] Berg G, Rybakova D, Fischer D, Cernava T, Vergès MC, Charles T, et al. Microbiome definition re-visited: old concepts and new challenges. Microbiome. 2020;8:103. DOI:10.1186/s40168-020-00875-0
- [15] Einarsson G, Boutin S. The lung microbiome - ERS monograph: techniques: culture, identification and 16S rRNA gene sequencing. In: Cox MJ, Ege MJ, Mutius Ev, editors. ERS monograph: the lung microbiome: ERS Monograph; 2019. p. 18. 10.1183/2312508X.10000819

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 11 - Microbiome and CFTR modulator therapy

- [16] Cui L, Morris A, Ghedin E. The human mycobiome in health and disease. Genome Med. 2013;5:63. DOI:10.1186/gm467
- [17] Pausan MR, Csorba C, Singer G, Till H, Schöpf V, Santigli E, et al. Exploring the archaeome: detection of archaeal signatures in the human body. Front Microbiol. 2019;10:2796. DOI:10.3389/fmicb.2019.02796
- [18] Aguiar-Pulido V, Huang W, Suarez-Ulloa V, Cickovski T, Mathee K, Narasimhan G. Metagenomics, metatranscriptomics, and metabolomics approaches for microbiome analysis. Evol Bioinform Online. 2016;12:5– 16. DOI:10.4137/ebo.S36436
- [19] Nearing JT, Douglas GM, Comeau AM, Langille MGI. Denoising the denoisers: an independent evaluation of microbiome sequence error-correction approaches. PeerJ. 2018;6:e5364. DOI:10.7717/peerj.5364
- [20] Lozupone CA, Knight R. Species divergence and the measurement of microbial diversity. FEMS Microbiol Rev. 2008;32:557–78. DOI:10.1111/j.1574-6976.2008.00111.x
- [21] Gauthier J, Derome N. Evenness-richness scatter plots: a visual and insightful representation of Shannon entropy measurements for ecological community analysis. mSphere. 2021;6:e01019–20. DOI:10.1128/ mSphere.01019-20
- [22] Muhlebach MS, Zorn BT, Esther CR, Hatch JE, Murray CP, Turkovic L, et al. Initial acquisition and succession of the cystic fibrosis lung microbiome is associated with disease progression in infants and preschool children. PLoS Pathog. 2018;14:e1006798. DOI:10.1371/journal.ppat.1006798
- [23] Boutin S, Dalpke AH. Acquisition and adaptation of the airway microbiota in the early life of cystic fibrosis patients. Mol Cell Pediatr. 2017;4:1. DOI:10.1186/s40348-016-0067-1

- [24] Zemanick ET, Wagner BD, Robertson CE, Ahrens RC, Chmiel JF, Clancy JP, et al. Airway microbiota across age and disease spectrum in cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2017;50:1700832. DOI:10.1183/13993003.00832-2017
- [25] Flight WG, Smith A, Paisey C, Marchesi JR, Bull MJ, Norville PJ, et al. Rapid detection of emerging pathogens and loss of microbial diversity associated with severe lung disease in cystic fibrosis. J Clin Microbiol. 2015;53:2022–9. DOI:10.1128/jcm.00432-15
- [26] Frey DL, Boutin S, Dittrich SA, Graeber SY, Stahl M, Wege S, et al. Relationship between airway dysbiosis, inflammation and lung function in adults with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2021;20:754–60. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2020.12.022
- [27] Metzger MI, Graeber SY, Stahl M, Sommerburg O, Mall MA, Dalpke AH, et al. A volatile and dynamic longitudinal microbiome is associated with less reduction in lung function in adolescents with cystic fibrosis. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2021;11:763121. DOI:10.3389/fcimb.2021.763121
- [28] Boutin S, Depner M, Stahl M, Graeber SY, Dittrich SA, Legatzki A, et al. Comparison of oropharyngeal microbiota from children with asthma and cystic fibrosis. Mediators Inflamm. 2017;2017:5047403. DOI:10.1155/2017/5047403
- [29] Carmody LA, Caverly LJ, Foster BK, Rogers MAM, Kalikin LM, Simon RH, et al. Fluctuations in airway bacterial communities associated with clinical states and disease stages in cystic fibrosis. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0194060. DOI:10.1371/journal. pone.0194060

- [30] Ronan NJ, Einarsson GG, Twomey M, Mooney D, Mullane D, NiChroinin M, et al. CORK study in cystic fibrosis: sustained improvements in ultra-low-dose chest CT scores after CFTR modulation with ivacaftor. Chest. 2018;153:395–403. DOI:10.1016/j. chest.2017.10.005
- [31] Einarsson GG, Ronan NJ, Mooney D, McGettigan C, Mullane D, NiChroinin M, et al. Extended-culture and culture-independent molecular analysis of the airway microbiota in cystic fibrosis following CFTR modulation with ivacaftor. J Cyst Fibros. 2021;20:747–53. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2020.12.023
- [32] Rowe SM, Heltshe SL, Gonska T, Donaldson SH, Borowitz D, Gelfond D, et al. Clinical mechanism of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator potentiator ivacaftor in G551D-mediated cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2014;190:175–84. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201404-0703OC
- [33] Harris JK, Wagner BD, Zemanick ET, Robertson CE, Stevens MJ, Heltshe SL, et al. Changes in airway microbiome and inflammation with ivacaftor treatment in patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D mutation. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2020;17:212–20. DOI:10.1513/ AnnalsATS.201907-4930C
- [34] Peleg AY, Choo JM, Langan KM, Edgeworth D, Keating D, Wilson J, et al. Antibiotic exposure and interpersonal variance mask the effect of ivacaftor on respiratory microbiota composition. J Cyst Fibros. 2018;17:50–6. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2017.08.002
- [35] Bernarde C, Keravec M, Mounier J, Gouriou S, Rault G, Férec C, *et al.* Impact of the CF-TR-potentiator ivacaftor on airway microbiota in cystic fibrosis patients carrying a G551D mutation. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0124124. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0124124

- [36] Hisert KB, Heltshe SL, Pope C, Jorth P, Wu X, Edwards RM, et al. Restoring cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator function reduces airway bacteria and inflammation in people with cystic fibrosis and chronic lung infections. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2017;195:1617–28. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.201609-1954OC
- [37] Graeber SY, Boutin S, Wielpütz MO, Joachim C, Frey DL, Wege S, et al. Effects of lumacaftor-ivacaftor on lung clearance index, magnetic resonance imaging, and airway microbiome in Phe508del homozygous patients with cystic fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2021;18:971–80. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.202008-10540C
- [38] Sosinski LM, H CM, Neugebauer KA, Ghuneim LJ, Guzior DV, Castillo-Bahena A, et al. A restructuring of microbiome niche space is associated with elexacaftor-tezacaftor-ivacaftor therapy in the cystic fibrosis lung. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:996–1005. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2021.11.003
- [39] Neerincx AH, Whiteson K, Phan JL, Brinkman P, Abdel-Aziz MI, Weersink EJM, et al. Lumacaftor/ivacaftor changes the lung microbiome and metabolome in cystic fibrosis patients. ERJ Open Res. 2021;7:00731–2020. DOI:10.1183/23120541.00731-2020
- [40] Morgan S, Vo A, Ni W, Radey M, McGeer K, Rowe S, et al. Effects of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor on the CF sputum microbiome: preliminary analysis from the promise study. J Cyst Fibros. 2021;20:S201–2. DOI:10.1016/S1569-1993(21)01853-1
- [41] An J, McDowell A, Kim YK, Kim TB. Extracellular vesicle-derived microbiome obtained from exhaled breath condensate in patients with asthma. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2021;126:729–31. DOI:10.1016/j. anai.2021.02.030

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 11 - Microbiome and CFTR modulator therapy

[42] Laselva O, Guerra L, Castellani S, Favia M, Di Gioia S, Conese M. Small-molecule drugs for cystic fibrosis: where are we now? Pulm Pharmacol Ther. 2022;72:102098. DOI:10.1016/j.pupt.2021.102098

Chapter 12 Detecting bacteria

Authors

Dervla Kenna, Michael Hogardt

Introduction

Cystic fibrosis (CF) lung disease is characterized by chronic airway infections with intermittent pulmonary exacerbations due to a broad spectrum of different microorganisms (bacteria, mycobacteria, fungi and viruses). The microbiological processing of CF samples requires special laboratory protocols as well as experienced microbiologists. For decades, CF airway microbiology has been based on bacterial and fungal culture methods, focusing on the most prevalent microbial pathogens such as Staphylococcus aureus, Haemophilus influenzae, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, other non-fermentative gram-negative bacteria, in particular Burkholderia cepacia complex (Bcc), Achromobacter spp. and Stenotrophomonas maltophilia, in addition to nontuberculous mycobacteria (Mycobacterium abscessus, M. avium complex) (see Chapter 18) and Aspergillus fumigatus (see Chapters 22-24). Emerging and much more rarely recognized pathogens include Inquilinus limosus, Pandoraea spp., Exophiala dermatitidis and members of the Scedosporium apiospermum species complex. Moreover, CF airway pathogens are characterized by pathoadaptive alterations leading to phenotypic variants and morphotypes such as auxotrophic and/ or slow-growing variants, small colony variants (SCVs) and mucoid *P. aeruginosa* [1].

More recently, non-culture-based methods have shown that CF airway infection is even more

complex and may involve anaerobes or even *Streptococci* that are not covered by standard cultivation procedures (see Chapter 12).

Continuous follow-up of microbial colonization has been an approved standard of care in CF patient management [2]. Cultures of the respiratory tract can detect new pathogens, guide therapy, monitor the success of eradication therapies, may differentiate transient versus persistent colonization or infection, and may also guide hygienic measures. The diagnostic value of anti-P. aeruginosa antibodies as a predictor of early P. aeruginosa infection is still under debate and is probably best in young non-expectorating children. At some CF centers, the current practice is to determine P. aeruginosa antibodies at least once a year (in P. aeruginosa negative individuals). Serology is performed always in combination with culture and no clinical decisions are based on P. aeruginosa serology alone [3].

Clinical microbiology laboratories need to adhere to consensus microbiology practices often specified in national guidelines [4-8]. Laboratories processing CF respiratory tract specimens must use a standardized set of selective and chromogenic culture media along with prolonged incubation times. CF pathogens should be identified to the species level using matrix assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) or molecular methods (e.g. 16S rDNA Sequencing) [6, 7].

Chapter 12 - Detecting bacteria

12.1 Microscopic examination of CF respiratory secretions

Microbiological guidelines recommend gram stain of sputum to assess quality based on the ratio of leucocytes to squamous epithelial cells (a ratio of >5 indicates acceptable quality). Due to an insufficient positive / negative predictive value regarding the presence of CF pathogens, microscopic examination is not recommended for CF respiratory secretions for routine microbiology (with the exception of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid) [6, 7].

12.2 Homogenization

Due to the viscous nature of CF respiratory secretions prior to microbiological processing, a homogenization step is necessary to reduce viscosity and to homogenize the unequal distribution of CF pathogens, in particular when quantitative culture is performed. Initial homogenization of sputum samples improves bacterial and fungal recovery rate [9]. For homogenization, the addition of 0.1% solution of dithiothreitol (DTT) is typically recommended (alternatively N-acetyl L-cysteine may be used). DTT has no inhibitory effect on the recovery of target organisms such as *H. influenzae, S. pneumoniae, M. catarrhalis* or *P. aeruqinosa* [10].

12.3 Microbiological culture of CF respiratory secretions

For CF microbiology all types of respiratory tract specimens (throat swab/cough swab, sputum, induced sputum or bronchoalveolar lavage) are obtained at least quarterly and during exacerbations. Expectorated sputum is easy to obtain and thus the specimen of choice. Isolation of a CF pathogen from sputum is likely to represent the infecting organism from the lower airways. For children who cannot expectorate, oropharyngeal cough swabs, induced sputum (secretion following inhalation of 5% hypertonic saline solution), or bronchoalveolar lavage fluid are recommended. Cough swabs are obtained by asking the patient to cough onto a swab placed in, but not touching, the posterior pharynx. Of note, pwCF on CFTR modulator therapy often become non-productive for sputum. In this situation, oropharyngeal samples or, if possible, induced sputum should be obtained. Invasive sampling procedures such as bronchoscopy or lung aspirates are indicated in certain circumstances. No consensus statement exists for how to best implement sinonasal samples into the clinical care of children with CF. Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid specimens must be quantitatively cultured.

Laboratories need to apply media that allow supportively and/or selectively the culture of the most prevalent CF pathogens such as *H. influenzae, S. aureus, P. aeruginosa,* Bcc and fungi (Table 1) [11].

Surveillance cultures (oropharyngeal/cough swabs, sputum, induced sputum), intended to detect initial *P. aeruginosa* acquisition, should be performed regularly, at least four to six times per year. In clinically stable individuals with chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection, respiratory tract cultures are recommended at least quarterly (every 3 months) during routine clinic visits. Chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection is defined by positivity of more than 50% of respiratory samples collected during the past 12 months (at least four samples are requested) and/or significantly raised anti-pseudomonal antibodies (modified Leeds criteria) [12].

Table 1 describes the recommended culture media for routine microbiological investigation in CF (laboratories are strongly encouraged to ap-

Chapter 12 - Detecting bacteria

ply these media as a minimal requirement) [6, 7]. *P. aeruginosa* may be recovered from both nonselective agar (chocolate agar /blood agar) and selective agar for gram-negative organisms such as MacConkey agar. Therefore, the use of a selective agar specific for *P. aeruginosa* (e.g. *Pseudomonas* isolation agar, cetrimid agar) is not required. However, the use of these selective media may assist in identification, particularly due to improved pigmentation [6, 7, 13].

Chromogenic agar media may facilitate a selective and more sensitive growth of S. aureus as well as the identification of S. aureus SCVs. It is important to use special culture conditions for the isolation of S. aureus SCVs, because these phenotypes are associated with chronic or persistent infections, are more resistant to antibiotics. For CF microbiology it is recommended to report on mucoid phenotypes (*P. aeruginosa*) and SCVs. Among agar media, mannitol salt agar and chromogenic S. aureus agar are effective in the recovery of SCV and wild-type strains. SCVs are detected visually on laboratory agar plates and exhibit slower growth rates due to metabolic defects (e.g., thymidine biosynthesis deficiency [13]), and they therefore require special susceptibility testing. However, there are no standardized methods for detection and susceptibility testing.

Bcc selective media should have a high sensitivity and specificity. Commercially available Bcc selective agar show differences in the recovery of different species of the Bcc, the selectivity and the recovery of non-Bcc organisms. Thus no specific manufacturer can be recommended [6, 14].

12.4 Extended cultivation procedures

There is insufficient evidence to currently recommend extended cultivation procedures for routine CF microbiology, but they may improve recovery of CF pathogens.

Quantitative culture using serial sputum dilutions and whole agar plating offers the possibility to report individual species counts, prevents overgrowth of slow-growing phenotypes and may allow efficient separation and hence recognition of different CF pathogens and/or their phenotypic variants.

Extended incubation (14 days) of Bcc selective agar is recommended as an expedient culture method for the isolation of rapidly growing non-tuberculous mycobacterium (NTM, *Mycobacterium abscessus*) [15].

12.5 Bacterial identification

Accurate bacterial identification is important both for implementing an appropriate treatment regimen and for epidemiological purposes. The pros and cons of different methods are discussed below.

12.5.1 MALDI-TOF-MS analysis

MALDI-TOF MS identifies isolates by applying a laser-absorbing matrix to single colonies on a target plate. The colonies are ionized by a pulsed laser beam within the instrument. The mass and charge of these peptides generates a genus/ species-specific spectrum. MALDI-TOF MS may also be used for direct testing from certain clinical samples or following formic acid extraction for improved profiling. It is a rapid and cost-effective method and although there is variation

Chapter 12 - Detecting bacteria

between the databases of the two most frequently used platforms (Bruker and bioMérieux VITEK®-MS), both are reliable for species-level identification of common CF-related organisms such as P. aeruginosa and S. aureus, if the microbe is present above the limit of detection. Formic acid extraction is required for mucoid P. aeruginosa and specialized extraction methods are recommended for NTM such as M. abscessus. Species-level confirmation by molecular methods is recommended for the Bcc and to differentiate between the numerous closely related species of the Achromobacter and Pandoraea genera. In-house databases may be created to increase the reliability of standard databases [16]. The detection of specific biomarker peaks may also be used to identify particular strains and lineages [17].

12.5.2 Molecular methods

Accurate species-level identification (known as speciation) of certain bacterial organisms is not currently possible using standard MAL-DI-TOF databases alone. Molecular methods, such as the sequencing of housekeeping genes, are required for confirmation. For example, *recA* gene sequencing has been shown to be a useful means of speciation of the *B. cepacia complex*, although it is not sufficient to differentiate between *B. contaminans*, *B. lata* and *B. aenigmatica* which belong to the closely related "taxon K" group [18]. Similarly, *nrdA* may be used for speciation of the *Achromobacter* genus [19] and *gyrB* for *Pandoraea* species [20].

12.6 16S rRNA gene sequencing

16S rRNA gene sequencing may also be used for genera that are not adequately represented on MALDI-TOF databases, and for which there is limited available information about appropriate housekeeping genes. Examples include *Sphin*- gomonas spp., Sphingobacterium spp. and Bordetella spp.16S rRNA gene sequencing has been particularly useful for direct testing on clinical sample extracts and for revealing the diversity of organisms associated with the both the lung and gut CF microbiome [21, 22].

12.6.1 Multilocus sequence typing and whole genome sequencing

In some cases, sequencing of a single gene or 16S rRNA sequencing may be insufficient to provide accurate species-level discrimination. For example, subspecies identification within the *M. abscessus* complex requires the sequencing of multiple genes due to the well-documented horizontal gene transfer and recombination of housekeeping genes within this complex [23]. Multilocus sequence typing (MLST) is particularly useful in such cases. The sequences of the seven housekeeping genes of an MLST scheme may be compared to curated databases (https:// pubmlst.org/ and https://bigsdb.pasteur.fr/), which provide both identification and typing information.

Increasingly the method of choice for accurate bacterial identification is whole genome sequencing (WGS). WGS offers the advantage of providing accurate identification by detecting short DNA oligomers known as *k*-mers, in addition to typing information based on standard MLST. Additional tools may be used, such as core genome MLST, which uses a much greater number of genes to define isolates, and ribosomal MLST, which analyses the variation of 53 genes of the bacterial ribosome protein subunits, providing information on both taxonomy and typing [24].

Publicly available resources hosted by sites such as the Center for Genomic Epidemiology (https:// www.genomicepidemiology.org/) and Pathogenwatch (https://pathogen.watch/) offer automated screening of the WGS-generated fastq files to

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 12 - Detecting bacteria

search for virulence and resistance mechanisms, MLST and *k*-mer based identification. SNP trees may also be generated if comparison with other sequenced data is required.

One caveat for the routine clinical use of WGS would be the requirement for bioinformatics expertise, since factors such as sequence quality, appropriate reference strain use, genomic recombination events and mutation rate will have an impact on the accuracy of fine typing, such as single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP)-based analyses. SNP genotyping is the measurement of genetic variations of SNPs between members of a species.

As WGS is highly discriminatory, becomes more cost-efficient and accurate, and long-read technologies become more readily available, it seems likely that this method will become the gold standard for both identification and typing [25, 26].

12.7 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing

Several studies have questioned the clinical relevance of performing routine susceptibility testing in CF [27, 28]. To date, neither combination antimicrobial testing nor biofilm antimicrobial susceptibility testing approaches can reliably predict response of patients to antibiotic treatment [28]. Certainly, it is challenging to predict antimicrobial resistance in CF due to the complexities of the heterogeneous CF lung environment. Nonetheless, antimicrobial susceptibility testing can distinguish methicillin-susceptible S. aureus (MSSA) from MRSA, identify multidrug resistance patterns, and has been crucial for epidemiologic investigations (e.g. transmission of epidemic and/or multi-resistant strains of P. aeruginosa). Phenotypic susceptibility testing is thus still recommended. At present,

more robust data are needed to define if molecular-based technologies including whole genome sequencing, metagenomic and proteomic approaches have the potential to better predict antimicrobial resistance in the future.

Direct detection of CF pathogens in respiratory samples by PCR

Molecular assays for the direct detection of CF pathogens from sputum have been described in the literature but few studies have extensively evaluated these methods alongside conventional culture. For *P. aeruginosa*, studies have focused on the detection of targets such as *oprl*, *oprL*, *algD* and *exoA* by standard or quantitative PCR [29-31]. An advantage of these methods may be the increased sensitivity of PCR when compared with standard culture, providing early detection of infection prior to patients becoming culture-positive [32]. Some studies found dual targets, or a combination of PCR assays provided better sensitivity and specificity [31, 33].

Similar studies using 16S rRNA gene loci and *recA* have been used to identify Bcc directly from sputum, in some cases improving the detection rate for these organisms when compared with culture alone [34, 35]. Species-level identification for this genus remains challenging, however the use of multiplex real-time PCR-based assays with species-specific probes may be a promising approach provided cross-reactions between the species can be excluded [36].

Currently, there are no consensus recommendations regarding the detection of CF pathogens by PCR or non-culture-based methods, but it is likely that these technologies will be increasingly implemented in the future.

Chapter 12 - Detecting bacteria

Chapter 12 - Detecting bacteria

Table 1

Media and culture conditions for the processing of CF respiratory specimens.

Agar medium	Culture conditions	Target organism		
Columbia blood agar bacitracin disc (30 µg)	5 days 36°C ± 1°C	S. aureus P. aeruginosa S. pneumoniae M. catharralis Non-fermenters Filamentous fungi		
Chocolate agar (e.g. with bacitracin)	5 days at 36°C ± 1°C	H. influenzae S. aureus P. aeruginosa Non-fermenters Filamentous fungi		
MacConkey agar	5 days at 36°C ± 1°C	<i>P. aeruginosa</i> Non-fermenters Enterobacterales		
S. aureus selective agar (mannitol salt agar, chromo-genic S. aureus agar)	at least 72 h at 36°C ± 1°C	S. aureus S. aureus-SCV		
<i>B. cepacia</i> complex selective agar 1 [6, 7]	48 h at 36°C ± 1°C + 8 days at 32°C ± 1°C	B. cepacia complex Pandoraea spp. Filamentous fungi E. dermaditidis		

Abbreviations : SCVs=Small Colony Variants

Several guidelines recommend inoculation of at least 100 µL of liquid sample. Note: All agar media should be examined after overnight incubation and daily until the end of the suggested incubation period.

Chapter 12 - Detecting bacteria

Bibliography

- Gilligan PH. Infections in patients with cystic fibrosis: diagnostic microbiology update. Clin Lab Med. 2014;34:197–217. DOI:10.1016/j. cll.2014.02.001
- [2] Castellani C, Duff AJA, Bell SC, Heijerman HGM, Munck A, Ratjen F, et al. ECFS best practice guidelines: the 2018 revision. J Cyst Fibros. 2018;17:153–78. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2018.02.006
- [3] Taccetti G, Denton M, Hayes K, Drevinek P, Sermet-Gaudelus I. A critical review of definitions used to describe *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* microbiological status in patients with cystic fibrosis for application in clinical trials. J Cyst Fibros. 2020;19:52–67. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2019.08.014
- [4] Oliver A, Alarcón T, Caballero E, Cantón R. Microbiological diagnosis of bronchopulmonary colonization-infection in cystic fibrosis. Enferm Infecc Microbiol Clin. 2009;27:89–104. DOI:10.1016/j. eimc.2008.05.004
- [5] Athanazio RA, Silva Filho L, Vergara AA, Ribeiro AF, Riedi CA, Procianoy E, et al. Brazilian guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of cystic fibrosis. J Bras Pneumol. 2017;43:219–45. DOI:10.1590/s1806-37562017000000065
- [6] Cystic Fibrosis Trust Working Group. Laboratory standards for processing microbiological samples from people with cystic fibrosis. 2nd ed: Cystic Fibrosis Trust; 2022.
- [7] Hogardt M, Kahl BC, Besier S, Steinmann J, Abele-Horn M, Richter E, et al. MIQ 24: atemwegsinfektionen bei mukoviszidose (MIQ24): qualitätsstandards in der mikrobiologisch-infektiologischen diagnostik. München: Elsevier; 2019.

- [8] MucoMicrobes Cystic Fibrosis Consensus Group. Diagnostic microbiologique des sécrétions bronchopulmonaires chez un patient atteint de mucoviscidose. In: Société Française de Microbiologie, editor. Paris: REMIC version 51; 2014.
- [9] Delhaes L, Touati K, Faure-Cognet O, Cornet M, Botterel F, Dannaoui E, et al. Prevalence, geographic risk factor, and development of a standardized protocol for fungal isolation in cystic fibrosis: results from the international prospective study "MFIP". J Cyst Fibros. 2019;18:212–20. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2018.10.001
- [10] Pye A, Stockley RA, Hill SL. Simple method for quantifying viable bacterial numbers in sputum. J Clin Pathol. 1995;48:719–24. DOI:10.1136/jcp.48.8.719
- [11] Blyth CC, Harun A, Middleton PG, Sleiman S, Lee O, Sorrell TC, et al. Detection of occult Scedosporium species in respiratory tract specimens from patients with cystic fibrosis by use of selective media. J Clin Microbiol. 2010;48:314–6. DOI:10.1128/jcm.01470-09
- [12] Pressler T, Bohmova C, Conway S, Dumcius S, Hjelte L, Høiby N, et al. Chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection definition: EurocareCF working group report. J Cyst Fibros. 2011;10 Suppl 2:S75–8. DOI:10.1016/ s1569-1993(11)60011-8
- [13] Perry JD. A decade of development of chromogenic culture media for clinical microbiology in an era of molecular diagnostics. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2017;30:449–79. DOI:10.1128/cmr.00097-16
- [14] Marrs ECL, Perry A, Perry JD. Evaluation of three culture media for isolation of Burkholderia cepacia complex from respiratory samples of patients with cystic fibrosis. Microorganisms. 2021;9:2604. DOI:10.3390/ microorganisms9122604

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 12 - Detecting bacteria

- [15] Preece CL, Wichelhaus TA, Perry A, Jones AL, Cummings SP, Perry JD, et al. Evaluation of various culture media for detection of rapidly growing mycobacteria from patients with cystic fibrosis. J Clin Microbiol. 2016;54:1797–803. DOI:10.1128/jcm.00471-16
- [16] Papalia M, Figueroa-Espinosa R, Steffanowski C, Barberis C, Almuzara M, Barrios R, et al. Expansion and improvement of MALDI-TOF MS databases for accurate identification of Achromobacter species. J Microbiol Methods. 2020;172:105889. DOI:10.1016/j.mimet.2020.105889
- [17] Garrigos T, Dollat M, Magallon A, Chapuis A, Varin V, Bador J, et al. Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry for rapid detection of isolates belonging to the epidemic clones Achromobacter xylosoxidans ST137 and Achromobacter ruhlandii DES from cystic fibrosis patients. J Clin Microbiol. 2021;59:e0094621. DOI:10.1128/jcm.00946-21
- [18] Depoorter E, De Canck E, Peeters C, Wieme AD, Cnockaert M, Zlosnik JEA, et al. Burkholderia cepacia complex taxon K: where to split? Front Microbiol. 2020;11:1594. DOI:10.3389/fmicb.2020.01594
- [19] Spilker T, Vandamme P, Lipuma JJ. Identification and distribution of Achromobacter species in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2013;12:298–301. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2012.10.002
- [20] Kenna DTD, Coward A, Perry C, Pike R, Schaefer U, Turton J, et al. Investigation of a Pandoraea apista cluster common to adult and paediatric cystic fibrosis patients attending two hospitals in the same city. J Med Microbiol. 2019;68:1081–95. DOI:10.1099/jmm.0.001010
- [21] Huang YJ, LiPuma JJ. The microbiome in cystic fibrosis. Clin Chest Med. 2016;37:59– 67. DOI:10.1016/j.ccm.2015.10.003

- [22] Saralegui C, García-Durán C, Romeu E, Hernáez-Sánchez ML, Maruri A, Bastón-Paz N, et al. Statistical evaluation of metaproteomics and 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing techniques for study of gut microbiota establishment in infants with cystic fibrosis. Microbiol Spectr. 2022;10:e0146622. DOI:10.1128/spectrum.01466-22
- [23] Macheras E, Roux AL, Ripoll F, Sivadon-Tardy V, Gutierrez C, Gaillard JL, et al. Inaccuracy of single-target sequencing for discriminating species of the mycobacterium abscessus group. J Clin Microbiol. 2009;47:2596–600. DOI:10.1128/jcm.00037-09
- [24] Jolley KA, Bliss CM, Bennett JS, Bratcher HB, Brehony C, Colles FM, et al. Ribosomal multilocus sequence typing: universal characterization of bacteria from domain to strain. Microbiology (Reading). 2012;158:1005–15. DOI:10.1099/mic.0.055459-0
- [25] Jin Y, Zhou J, Zhou J, Hu M, Zhang Q, Kong N, et al. Genome-based classification of Burkholderia cepacia complex provides new insight into its taxonomic status. Biol Direct. 2020;15:6. DOI:10.1186/s13062-020-0258-5
- [26] Mullins AJ, Mahenthiralingam E. The hidden genomic diversity, specialized metabolite capacity, and revised taxonomy of *Burkholderia* sensu lato. Front Microbiol. 2021;12:726847. DOI:10.3389/ fmicb.2021.726847
- [27] Somayaji R, Parkins MD, Shah A, Martiniano SL, Tunney MM, Kahle JS, et al. Antimicrobial susceptibility testing (AST) and associated clinical outcomes in individuals with cystic fibrosis: a systematic review. J Cyst Fibros. 2019;18:236–43. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2019.01.008
- [28] Waters VJ, Kidd TJ, Canton R, Ekkelenkamp MB, Johansen HK, LiPuma JJ, et al. Reconciling antimicrobial susceptibility testing and clinical response in antimicrobial treatment of chronic cystic fibrosis lung infections. Clin Infect Dis. 2019;69:1812–6. DOI:10.1093/cid/ciz364

Chapter 12 - Detecting bacteria

Chapter 12 - Detecting bacteria

- [29] De Vos D, Lim A, Jr., Pirnay JP, Struelens M, Vandenvelde C, Duinslaeger L, et al. Direct detection and identification of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in clinical samples such as skin biopsy specimens and expectorations by multiplex PCR based on two outer membrane lipoprotein genes, oprl and oprL. J Clin Microbiol. 1997;35:1295–9. DOI:10.1128/jcm.35.6.1295-1299.1997
- [30] Blanchard AC, Rooney AM, Yau Y, Zhang Y, Stapleton PJ, Horton E, et al. Early detection using qPCR of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection in children with cystic fibrosis undergoing eradication treatment. J Cyst Fibros. 2018;17:723–8. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2018.02.008
- [31] Boutin S, Weitnauer M, Hassel S, Graeber SY, Stahl M, Dittrich AS, et al. One time quantitative PCR detection of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa to discriminate intermittent from chronic infection in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2018;17:348–55. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2017.12.007
- [32] Burns JL, Rolain JM. Culture-based diagnostic microbiology in cystic fibrosis: can we simplify the complexity? J Cyst Fibros. 2014;13:1–9. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2013.09.004
- [33] Héry-Arnaud G, Nowak E, Caillon J, David V, Dirou A, Revert K, et al. Evaluation of quantitative PCR for early diagnosis of Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in cystic fibrosis: a prospective cohort study. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2017;23:203–7. DOI:10.1016/j. cmi.2016.11.016
- [34] McDowell A, Mahenthiralingam E, Moore JE, Dunbar KE, Webb AK, Dodd ME, et al. PCR-based detection and identification of Burkholderia cepacia complex pathogens in sputum from cystic fibrosis patients. J Clin Microbiol. 2001;39:4247–55. DOI:10.1128/ jcm.39.12.4247-4255.2001

180

- [35] Whitby PW, Dick HL, Campbell PW, 3rd, Tullis DE, Matlow A, Stull TL. Comparison of culture and PCR for detection of *Burkholderia cepacia* in sputum samples of patients with cystic fibrosis. J Clin Microbiol. 1998;36:1642– 5. DOI:10.1128/jcm.36.6.1642-1645.1998
- [36] Martinucci M, Roscetto E, Iula VD, Votsi A, Catania MR, De Gregorio E. Accurate identification of members of the *Burkholderia cepacia* complex in cystic fibrosis sputum. Lett Appl Microbiol. 2016;62:221–9. DOI:10.1111/lam.12537

Chapter 13 Detecting fungi

Authors

Ewa Romanowska, Jean-Philippe Bouchara, Michaela Lackner

Introduction

The most common fungal species reported in cystic fibrosis (CF) remain by far Aspergillus fumigatus for filamentous fungi and Candida albicans for yeasts. Several other fungal species may be recovered from respiratory secretions of people with CF (pwCF), however reports of their frequencies greatly vary from one study to another. Variability in the isolated microorganisms observed in laboratories worldwide does not exclusively reflect variations in the geographical distribution of fungal species. It can also be impacted by differences in the antibiotic treatment of bacterial infections, antifungal use in medicine and agriculture, patient lifestyle, and the wide heterogeneity of laboratory mycological protocols.

Screening procedures used for fungal pathogen detection are mostly only suitable for fast-growing fungal pathogens such as *Candida* and *Aspergillus*. Slow-growing fungi like *Scedosporium* species, *Lomentospora prolificans* and *Exophiala* species are frequently concealed. The lack of standardized laboratory practices for detecting fungi in CF respiratory specimens is a major limitation to the robust understanding of the epidemiology of fungal respiratory infections in CF, the identification of risk factors and the elucidation of the clinical and functional impact of the airway colonization [1-4]. To improve the microbiological diagnosis, medical microbiologists should be aware of the spectrum of pathogens that is expected from respiratory specimens from pwCF. This is particularly important to determine the analytical procedures that should be followed. Although the clinical significance of their isolation is still debated, the most frequently isolated yeast species belong to the Candida genus, especially C. albicans, but also C. dubliniensis, Nakaseomyces glabrata, and C. kefyr. Other yeast species may also be encountered in CF samples, some of which can cause severe respiratory infections like Apiotrichum mycotoxinivorans (formerly Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans), Cutaneotrichosporon cyanovorans (formerly Cryptococcus cyanovorans) or, in lung transplant recipients, the well-known Cryptococcus neoformans. Other yeast species occasionally reported in CF are usually recovered only transiently and do not seem to be capable of chronically colonizing the airways, such as Pichia kudriavzevii formerly known as Candida krusei, Geotrichum spp., Magnusiomyces (formerly Saprochaete) spp., or Saccharomyces spp. Various filamentous fungi may also be recovered transiently from respiratory specimens, like some Penicillium, Paecilomyces or Fusarium species, as well as fungi of the order Mucorales. Conversely, the clinical relevance is now established of the isolation of Aspergillus spp., especially A. fumigatus, but also other species of the sections Fumigati like A. lentulus and A. thermomutatus (formerly Neosartorva pseudofischeri), or the sections Terrei. Flavi or Nigri, as well as Scedosporium spp., L. prolificans, Exophiala spp., species of the Rasamsonia argillacea complex or Arthrographis kalrae [5].

Chapter 13 - Detecting fungi

Chapter 13 - Detecting fungi

13.1 Standardizing detection

How can microbiological methods for the detection of fungi be standardized, and comparability of epidemiological studies improved? Raising awareness is always the first step, followed by proper guidelines and training of laboratory microbiologists and health care staff.

In the last decade, many protocols and research papers were published by international or local teams to standardize routine diagnostic procedure for the detection of fungal pathogens [6-9]. Here we aim to summarize key points of their proposals.

The principles of proper conventional, mycological laboratory diagnostics are described in the following sections.

13.1.1 Pre-analytical phase

Sample collection, frequency of sampling and sample transport to the laboratory can significantly impact the detection of fungal species.

Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid is the best sample for diagnosis, but BAL is rarely performed in non-transplanted pwCF, because of its invasive nature and the risk of complications, such as acute respiratory failure. The optimal method for sampling should be refined, with consideration for the risks and benefits of such invasive techniques, and the increasing understanding of the spatial variations between upper and lower airway microbiota. Pharyngeal swabbing and nasal washings are less efficient for the detection of fungal pathogens in CF, however the preferred sample is sputum. In non-expectorating pwCF, particularly young children and those treated with CFTR modulators, sputum induced by nebulization with hypertonic saline should be collected directly into a sterile pot or via a mucus trap suction catheter, during a physiotherapy session [5-11].

Theoretically, the volume of the sample is an important factor for the yield of fungal cultures; the higher the sample volume, the better the yield of cultures. Nevertheless, this is still debated since the recovery of some filamentous fungi may be improved by dilution of the clinical samples [6-9].

The sample must be sent to the laboratory quickly, at room temperature, and processed as soon as possible, preferably within 4 hours of collection. If this is not possible, it is recommended to store the sample at a temperature ranging from +2°C to +8°C. This protects from overgrowth of culturable bacteria [6-9].

The frequency of sampling also impacts the rate and clinical relevance of fungal detection. Successive positive sputum samples indicate colonization and help exclude transient carriage of environmental molds [6-9].

13.1.2 Analytical phase

Because of the sticky nature, sputum samples and BAL fluid if highly viscous should be first homogenized to increase sensitivity of the detection procedures. The most widely used homogenization procedure involves sterile pretreatment for 20 to 30 minutes with a mucolyticum like N-acetyl-cysteine, or dithiothreitol which cleaves the disulfide bonds linking the mucin molecules, and thus decreases viscosity [12]. Nevertheless, mechanical liquefaction (for example with glass beads or intermittent sonication for 120 seconds) in the presence of a mucolytic agent should be considered for complete homogenization of the samples [13].

Direct microscopic examination may be performed on the pretreated sample, to search for fungal elements, although this has limited interest because of its low sensitivity [7, 14].

Inoculation of the digested sample on appropriate culture media remains the gold standard. Of note, fungi are not the only microorganisms colonizing the respiratory tract of pwCF. Microbiologists should be aware of the common occurrence of mixed bacterial-fungal infections in pwCF, especially with multidrug-resistant bacteria. That is why conventional bacteriological culture media are not appropriate. For an accurate diagnosis of fungal infections, mycological culture media containing antibiotics are required to inhibit bacterial growth and unmask the presence of fungi [14]. Additionally, the use of agar plates is highly recommended. Agar slants are not recommended since their surface does not provide enough space for fungal growth, which may hinder the recovery of some slow-growing fungi, in case of association with the more rapidly and more extensively growing fungus A. fumigatus. Because of this, in addition to the general culture medium Sabouraud dextrose agar supplemented with chloramphenicol and gentamicin, the use of additional mycological culture media is also required to detect slow-growing fungal species [13, 14]. Several culture media may be used:

- Chromogenic agar for the detection of mixed populations of yeasts that allows direct identification of *C. albicans/C. dubliniensis* and presumptive identification of other yeast species,
- Sabouraud agar supplemented with chloramphenicol and gentamicine or the B+ culture medium which also contains various antibiotics and allows inhibition of bacterial growth,
- Sabouraud-chloramphenicol agar supplemented with cycloheximide or some agar-benomyl (like Dichloran-Rose Bengale-chloramphenicol agar supplemented with benomyl, Sce-Sel + or Scedo-Select III) inhibit growth of filamentous fungi such as *A. fumigatus* and facilitate the detection of *Scedosporium* species,

- Erythritol agar for the specific detection of E. dermatitidis,
- BHI agar or Sabouraud dextrose slants with antibiotics for long-term incubation [13, 14].

Incubation temperature and duration impact culture sensitivity. While a 48-hour incubation time may be sufficient for growth of *C. albicans* and A. fumigatus, most other pathogenic fungi require a longer incubation period. For example, until 2012, the UK national standards for mycological examination of respiratory secretions from pwCF recommended plating of the samples onto a single culture medium (Sabouraud with antibiotics) and incubating them for at least 48 hours at 37°C. In practice most laboratories only incubated the samples for 48 hours. To increase fungal yield, these recommendations were revised in 2012, to prolong the incubation time up to 7 days, and incubate the cultures at different temperatures, implying the use of additional culture media [8].

13.2 General logistics for fungi sampling in CF

Guidelines should be usable by all laboratories involved in the care of pwCF. In France, microbiological analysis of samples from pwCF may also be performed in non-specialized laboratories, including microbiology laboratories of general hospitals as well as private laboratories. However home-made culture media cannot be prepared in most of these non-specialized laboratories. Therefore, the culture conditions allowing detection of clinically relevant fungal species in CF should also consider the commercial availability of the culture media. For example, in the recommendations published together by the French Society for Microbiology and the French Society for Medical Mycology, the digested samples should be inoculated in parallel on a chromogenic agar plate for detection of yeasts, a gen-

Chapter 13 - Detecting fungi

eral Sabouraud agar plate with antibiotics, and a Sabouraud agar plate with chloramphenicol and cycloheximide as *Scedosporium*-selective culture medium. These three culture media should be incubated at $35^{\circ}C \pm 2^{\circ}C$ for two weeks [9]. If possible, an erythritol agar slant should also be inoculated, and incubated at $25^{\circ}C \pm 5^{\circ}C$ for one month [9].

The isolated fungi are finally identified on the basis of their cultural features and macroscopic and microscopic morphology, and by their biochemical characteristics revealed by MALDI-TOF MS (Matrix Assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry). Sequencing of appropriate loci, such as Sanglard sequencing, or next-generation sequencing (NGS) techniques, can identify isolated fungi, especially environmental molds, that do not sporulate or cannot be identified with routine methods [9]..

If needed, *in vitro* antifungal susceptibility testing should be performed using standardized methods according to the EUCAST or CLSI recommendations, but E-test strips may also be used [15].

13.3 Detecting Pneumocystis jirovecii

If *Pneumocystis jirovecii* infection is suspected, BAL fluid is the preferred sample, but induced sputum specimens may also be used for PCR detection. The diagnostic procedures, therefore, depend on the clinical sample, and on the laboratory resources. The first step is a chemical liquefaction of the sample using a mucolytic agent, or homogenization using both glass beads and a mucolyticum. In microbiological laboratories, cytocentrifugation of the BAL fluid should be performed, followed by May-Grünwald Giemsa staining, which reveals morphological stages of the fungus. In parallel, Gomori-Grocott methenamine silver staining should be performed, which reveals only the asci. Alternatively, asci can be detected using commercial immunofluorescence kits, or Calcofluor white if a fluorescence microscope with appropriate excitation/ emission filters is available. Regarding molecular detection, several kits are now available for real-time quantitative PCR. All these methods are standardized and widely used in routine laboratory practice [16-19].

13.4 Specific recommendations for CF laboratories

Advances in medicine and the use of CFTR modulator therapy may lead to great difficulties in the obtaining sputum samples. In addition to culture-based methods, molecular approaches are currently being developed based on real-time PCR techniques, or on DNA-chips. One limitation of these possible new approaches will be the differentiation between infection, colonization, and transient carriage of recently inhaled fungal spores [9, 18, 19].

Reference laboratories may use NGS for secondary identification of the fungi isolated. Genotyping of fungal isolates can be applied to describe transmission patterns between patients or to identify an environmental source of contamination at home. Genotyping can also be used to differentiate between transient carriage and true chronic colonization [20]. In addition, serological tests (for detection of specific IgG antibodies) may be useful, for culture positive patients, to differentiate airway colonization from respiratory infection [20]. Likewise, detection of total serum IgE level, specific IgE antibodies and circulating antigens are complementary tests allowing the differentiation of the clinical entities caused by A. fumigatus, especially for the diagnosis of an allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis [21].

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 13 - Detecting fungi

13.5 Conclusion

Currently, the standard protocol for analyzing CF respiratory samples in medical microbiology laboratories involves conventional culture techniques. Nevertheless, in the near future the newer methods discussed above will move beyond research institutes to become routine procedures in detecting fungi [6, 7, 9, 22].

Chapter 13 - Detecting fungi

Bibliography

- Borman AM, Palmer MD, Delhaes L, Carrère J, Favennec L, Ranque S, *et al.* Lack of standardization in the procedures for mycological examination of sputum samples from CF patients: a possible cause for variations in the prevalence of filamentous fungi. Med Mycol. 2010;48:S88–97. DOI:10.3109/1369378 6.2010.511287
- [2] Pashley CH, Fairs A, Morley JP, Tailor S, Agbetile J, Bafadhel M, et al. Routine processing procedures for isolating filamentous fungi from respiratory sputum samples may underestimate fungal prevalence. Med Mycol. 2012;50:433–8. DOI:10.3109/13693786. 2011.615762
- [3] Boyle M, Moore JE, Whitehouse JL, Bilton D, Downey DG. Laboratory diagnosis and characterization of fungal disease in patients with cystic fibrosis (CF): a survey of current UK practice in a cohort of clinical microbiology laboratories. Mycopathologia. 2018;183:723–9. DOI:10.1007/s11046-018-0251-z
- [4] Hong G, Desai S, Moss RB, Eschenhagen P, Quon BS, Schwarz C. Clinician variability in the diagnosis and treatment of Aspergillus fumigatus-related conditions in cystic fibrosis: an international survey. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:136–42. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2021.07.008
- Schwarz C, Eschenhagen P, Bouchara JP. Emerging fungal threats in cystic fibrosis. Mycopathologia. 2021;186:639–53. DOI:10.1007/s11046-021-00574-w
- [6] Delhaes L, Touati K, Faure-Cognet O, Cornet M, Botterel F, Dannaoui E, et al. Prevalence, geographic risk factor, and development of a standardized protocol for fungal isolation in cystic fibrosis: results from the international prospective study "MFIP". J Cyst Fibros. 2019;18:212–20. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2018.10.001

- [7] Coron N, Pihet M, Fréalle E, Lemeille Y, Pinel C, Pelloux H, et al. Toward the standardization of mycological examination of sputum samples in cystic fibrosis: results from a French multicenter prospective study. Mycopathologia. 2018;183:101–17. DOI:10.1007/ s11046-017-0173-1
- [8] Cystic Fibrosis Trust Working Group. Laboratory standards for processing microbiological samples from people with cystic fibrosis: report of the UK cystic fibrosis trust microbiology laboratory standards working group. 1st ed. Bromley, United Kingdom: Cystic Fibrosis Trust; 2010.
- [9] Bouchara JP, Cremet L, Delhaès L, Doléans-Jordheim A, Ferroni A, Gaudy-Graffin C, et al. Chapter 22: Broncho-pulmonary infections and cystic fibrosis. In: SFM, editor. Rémic - Référentiel en microbiologie médicale. 7ème ed: Société Française de Microbiologie; 2022. p. 265–73.
- [10] Magee LC, Louis M, Khan V, Micalo L, Chaudary N. Managing fungal infections in cystic fibrosis patients: challenges in clinical practice. Infect Drug Resist. 2021;14:1141– 53. DOI:10.2147/idr.S267219
- [11] Hong G. Progress and challenges in fungal lung disease in cystic fibrosis. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2022;28:584–90. DOI:10.1097/ mcp.000000000000921
- [12] Masoud-Landgraf L, Badura A, Eber E, Feierl G, Marth E, Buzina W. Modified culture method detects a high diversity of fungal species in cystic fibrosis patients. Med Mycol. 2014;52:179–86. DOI:10.3109/13693786.20 13.792438
- [13] Stokell JR, Khan A, Steck TR. Mechanical homogenization increases bacterial homogeneity in sputum. J Clin Microbiol. 2014;52:2340–5. DOI:10.1128/jcm.00487-14

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 13 - Detecting fungi

- [14] Hong G, Miller HB, Allgood S, Lee R, Lechtzin N, Zhang SX. Use of selective fungal culture media increases rates of detection of fungi in the respiratory tract of cystic fibrosis patients. J Clin Microbiol. 2017;55:1122–30. DOI:10.1128/jcm.02182-16
- [15] EUCAST. Antifungal susceptibility testing (AFST). 2023. https://www.eucast.org/ast_ of_fungi Date accessed: 6 September 2023
- [16] Respaldiza N, Montes-Cano MA, Dapena FJ, de la Horra C, Mateos I, Medrano FJ, et al. Prevalence of colonisation and genotypic characterisation of *Pneumocystis jirovecii* among cystic fibrosis patients in Spain. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2005;11:1012–5. DOI:10.1111/ j.1469-0691.2005.01276.x
- [17] Pederiva MA, Wissmann G, Friaza V, Morilla R, de La Horra C, Montes-Cano MA, et al. High prevalence of *Pneumocystis jirovecii* colonization in Brazilian cystic fibrosis patients. Med Mycol. 2012;50:556–60. DOI:10.31 09/13693786.2011.645892
- [18] Morilla R, Medrano FJ, Calzada A, Quintana E, Campano E, Friaza V, et al. Pneumocystis jirovecii among patients with cystic fibrosis and their household members. Med Mycol. 2021;59:849–54. DOI:10.1093/mmy/myab010
- [19] Alshahrani MY, Alfaifi M, Ahmad I, Alkhathami AG, Hakami AR, Ahmad H, et al. Pneumocystis jirovecii detection and comparison of multiple diagnostic methods with quantitative real-time PCR in patients with respiratory symptoms. Saudi J Biol Sci. 2020;27:1423–7. DOI:10.1016/j. sjbs.2020.04.032
- [20] Schwarz C, Vandeputte P, Rougeron A, Giraud S, Dugé de Bernonville T, Duvaux L, et al. Developing collaborative works for faster progress on fungal respiratory infections in cystic fibrosis. Med Mycol. 2018;56:42–59. DOI:10.1093/mmy/myx106

- [21] Steels S, Proesmans M, Bossuyt X, Dupont L, Frans G. Laboratory biomarkers in the diagnosis and follow-up of treatment of allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in cystic fibrosis. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci. 2023;60:1–24. DOI:10.1080/10408363.2022.2101612
- [22] Bell SC, Mall MA, Gutierrez H, Macek M, Madge S, Davies JC, et al. The future of cystic fibrosis care: a global perspective. Lancet Respir Med. 2020;8:65–124. DOI:10.1016/ s2213-2600(19)30337-6

Chapter 14 Detecting viruses

Authors

Zoltán Bánki, David Bante, Markus Nagl

Introduction

The thick, sticky mucus in cystic fibrosis (CF) is a major contributor to recurrent airway infections and exacerbations, which are fundamental in disease burden and reduced lifespan of patients. Modern therapies with CFTR modulators represent a significant improvement, and further therapeutic strategies are currently in progress [1]. Anti-infective treatment remains a challenge, particularly against *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, but also against a broad spectrum of other pathogens [2]. Beside bacteria, viruses have also been shown to frequently cause respiratory infections in people with CF (pwCF) [3].

14.1 Viral infections in patients with cystic fibrosis

CF itself does not appear to affect susceptibility to infections, as viral respiratory infections occur with similar frequency in pwCF and healthy individuals [4, 5]. Viral species found in respective studies represent the typical spectrum found in airways, i.e. rhinoviruses, adenoviruses (AdV), influenza and parainfluenza (PIV) viruses, respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), coronaviruses, metapneumovirus (MPV), cytomegalovirus (CMV), bocavirus and enteroviruses [3, 6-9]. According to several investigations, human rhinovirus was the most frequent virus found in pwCF during exacerbations [3, 9-14]. The predominant bacteria S. aureus and P. aeruginosa are well known to cause disease progression and respiratory failure [2]. In contrast, the disease-causing role of viruses was debated for a longer time. Previous studies have reported that pwCF with viral infections have increased respiratory symptoms, worsening Shwachman scores and radiological scores, longer hospital stays, persistent declines in pulmonary function, increased use of antibiotics, higher frequency of exacerbations, lower percentage of ideal weight for height, and greater frequency (r = 0.53) and duration (r = 0.84) of hospitalizations for respiratory exacerbations [4, 8]. Of respiratory viruses, infection with RSV and influenza had the most severe impact and were associated with the greatest decrease with lung functions in pwCF [8]. In another study, however, the authors were unable to demonstrate any significant adverse effect of respiratory viral infection on pulmonary function in 19 pwCF aged 5 to 21 years, compared to their siblings without CF [5]. Other studies reported a weak, not significant association between viral seroconversion and the isolation of P. aeruginosa from sputum [7]. In the majority of recent studies, respiratory viruses have been associated with higher symptom scores and deterioration of pulmonary function, exacerbations, facilitation of bacterial colonization, disease progression, prescription of antibiotics, and hospitalization [9-13, 15, 16]. In another study of 50 pwCF with pulmonary exacerbation, the virus-positive group presented more frequently with hypoxia than the negative group [17]. The virus-positive group did not, however, have increased rates of colonization and lung function decline over 12 months [17].

Chapter 14 - Detecting viruses

The sensitivity of detecting viruses using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) improved from 49% in sputum alone to 56% with a combination of sputum and additional mid-turbinate swab sampling [17]. A 2-year prospective study collected nasopharyngeal swabs and sputum samples for viral detection with multiplex PCR, as well as culturing and biochemical testing for bacteria detection. The study found that viruses were more commonly detected during the autumn and winter months, while bacteria were more commonly detected during the spring and summer months [14]. In a large investigation involving 12,702 children with CF and 8,320 adults with CF, surveillance tests positive for influenza or RSV were significantly associated with increased risk for pulmonary exacerbation in children. In adults this association was found for influenza. but not RSV [16].

In the recent SARS-CoV-2 (Covid-19) pandemic, it was feared that pwCF could be at risk of worse outcomes. It turned out, however, that pwCF are not more likely to be affected by this virus than the general population [18, 19]. As possible explanations, elevated mRNA for angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) and decreased mRNA for TMPRSS2, as well as high levels of serine protease inhibitors in CF have been reported [19]. Severe Covid-19 outcomes in CF were associated with additional risk factors such as low lung function and immune suppression [18].

In general, viral infections are regarded as significantly involved in the progress of CF disease. Routine diagnostic examinations are necessary to determine causal viral or bacterial agents responsible for symptomatic disease.

Conventional viral diagnostic methods have several disadvantages: they are slow, expensive, require specialized expertise and are often not meaningful for therapeutic decisions. However, novel specific antiviral therapeutics require accurate information about the viral species, creating a clear need for precise viral diagnostics. Technological advances in modern diagnostic methods, particularly in nucleic acid chemistry, rapidly identify viruses from various clinical samples including serum, blood, cerebrospinal fluid, urine, bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL), nasopharyngeal swab, tracheal secretions, and biopsies. In the following sections, we summarize methods suitable for identifying viral infections in pwCF.

14.2 Direct detection

14.2.1 Virus isolation

Cell culture-based detection and isolation of viruses from clinical samples represents a traditional technique, utilizing primary cell types or established cell lines. Primary cells used for virus culture include Rhesus monkey kidney cells (RhMK), human foreskin fibroblasts, human embryonic kidney (HEK) cells. Ethical considerations, difficulties in availability and reproducibility and difficult culture conditions directed the cell culture-based virus isolation and detection towards using established cell lines. Examples of such cell lines include the human fibroblast MRC-5, the human lung epithelial A549, the human epithelial HEp-2, the African green monkey kidney epithelial Vero and the human kidney epithelial HEK293. Most viruses that infect pwCF can be detected by cell lines susceptible for the virus concerned [20]. Some difficulties have been reported in isolating viruses from samples from pwCF, probably due to unidentified substances in the patient samples that hinder successful virus cultivation [4]. Traditionally detection of viral infection in cell culture relies on morphological and biochemical alterations of infected cells leading to visible cellular changes, referred to as cytopathic effect (CPE) [21, 22].

Chapter 14 - Detecting viruses

Several types of CPE can be observed, and some are sufficient to provisionally identify unknown viruses. However, fixation and staining are often necessary to clearly detect signs of infection such as inclusion bodies. CPE includes rapid total destruction of the cell monolayer (1-2 days after virus inoculation). The most severe form of CPE mostly occurs at high multiplicity of infections (MOI) or in the case of highly cytopathic viruses. Subtotal destruction, a less severe form of CPE, can be caused by some viruses by killing (detaching) of some but not all cells in the monolayer. The characteristic CPE for herpesviruses and poxviruses is focal degeneration, which appears as destruction of a localized area (foci) in the monolayer. Swelling and clumping of cells before detachment is a typical CPE, occurring for example with adenovirus. Retroviruses, paramyxoviruses, and flaviviruses can cause foamy degeneration due to vacuolization, a form of CPE which is challenging to detect without staining. Some viruses like paramyxoviruses induce cell fusion and syncytia formation. resulting in enlarged cells containing four or more nuclei. CPE usually appears 4-5 days after inoculation, but in case of certain viruses CPE can be first detected after 1-2 weeks or even later. Unfortunately, the appearance of CPE may differ between different viruses and the cell lines used for isolation. It can also depend on the MOI inoculated, and therefore requires specific expertise for detection [23]. In addition, noncytopathic viral infections do not induce CPE. To overcome these limitations, more informative methods have been developed, whereby novel genetically modified reporter cell lines turn on reporter genes in response to specific viral infections [21].

In summary, while cell-based methods for virus detection have certain drawbacks, they allow for the isolation and investigation of intact viral particles.

14.2.2 Antigen detection

Antigen detection for diagnosis of respiratory viruses aims to recognize viral proteins in patient samples. Generally, traditional antigen detection methods have a lower sensitivity compared to nucleic acid-based tests and are being replaced by more sensitive and less time-consuming molecular approaches [24]. Immunoassays like enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) and chemiluminescence immune assay (CLIA) were introduced in the early 1990s for the diagnosis of infectious diseases [25]. The direct fluorescence antibody (DFA) test involves direct staining of epithelial cells derived from nasopharyngeal swabs or aspirates by fluorescence-labeled virus-specific antibodies, followed by microscopic examination. The performance of DFA and other rapid point of care tests was compared to reverse transcriptase (RT)-PCR detection during the A/H1N1/2009 influenza pandemic. Study results suggested that, due to its lower sensitivity, negative test results by DFA should be confirmed by PCR [26]. Rapid diagnostic tests (RDT) are useful for detecting various viral infections in point of care settings [27, 28]. Usually, RDTs are based on viral antigen detection using specific antibodies by immunochromatographic (lateral flow) techniques in respiratory samples. RDT assays can be performed in 20-30 minutes, and a positive reaction results in color changes or optical signals. Commercially available RDTs have rather low sensitivity and specificity compared to nucleic acid-based detection methods. Additionally, sensitivity and specificity may vary between the viral specimen and the test manufacturer [24, 29, 30]. Efforts to improve RDTs for rapid and reliable detection of viral antigens during the Covid-19 pandemic may accelerate development of reliable diagnostics for other viral infections in the future [31].

14.2.3 Nucleic acid detection

PCR is one of the most widely adopted methods to detect nucleic acids. It can detect very low

Chapter 14 - Detecting viruses

amounts of DNA, or RNA via RT-PCR, with very high sensitivity from a variety of patient samples.

Thermal cycling of DNA comprises repeated denaturing of a double-stranded DNA template at high temperatures, followed by annealing sequence-specific oligonucleotides at lower temperatures, and synthesizing the new strand by a DNA polymerase. The discovery that Thermus aquaticus DNA polymerase is not inactivated by the high temperatures needed to melt DNA laid the foundation for a broad range of uses. In particular, this enzyme allows continuous cycling in a closed system, without the need to add fresh polymerase in each cycle [32, 33]. PCR was initially used to exponentially amplify small DNA fragments for diagnosing sickle cell anemia. Two years later, in 1987, researchers described a method to detect the presence of HIV, paving the way for detection of viruses using nucleic acid amplification [32, 34].

The use of intercalating fluorescent dyes such as SYBR Green I of the SYBR family, which only bind to double-stranded DNA, allows quantification of the original amount of DNA in a sample. Quantification is calculated by measuring the fluorescence intensity after each amplification cycle, and counting the number of cycles needed for the fluorescence intensity to cross a detection threshold, [35, 36]. This method, called real-time PCR or quantitative PCR (qPCR), can quantify viral load over the course of an infection, and can also determine different phases of an infection when combined with serological testing. The utility of qPCR was repeatedly demonstrated during the Covid-19 pandemic [37, 38].

Instead of intercalating dyes, pathogen-specific and different fluorescent-labeled oligonucleotides can be used to simultaneously detect many different viral pathogens, such as RSV, rhinovirus, PIV, influenza, human coronaviruses, MPV, AdV and enterovirus in only a few reactions, also allowing the detection of co-infections [39-41]. Such simultaneous detection of multiple targets, often from a single patient sample, is known as multiplex methodology. Numerous commercially available products target a broad range of viral and respiratory pathogens in parallel, such as the RespiFinder2Smart Kit (PathoFinder BV, Netherlands). Custom in-house developed assays are also common [24, 42].

Primer design must account for possible variations in the viral genome sequence, since false negative results can arise if mutations in the primer binding site prevent primers annealing [43]. To detect known genetic mutations in a specific pathogen, such as the N501Y mutation in the spike protein of SARS-CoV-2, qPCR can be followed by cooling down the reaction and performing a melting curve analysis. Here, small temperature increments and measuring fluorescence intensity to determine the melting temperature can detect relevant mutations [44].

Several sequencing technologies yield complete genomic information. These technologies can also be used to monitor mutations with potential impact on treatment or immunity, e.g. in HIV or SARS-CoV-2 [45, 46].

PCR assays to amplify and thus detect even minute amounts of DNA require the utmost care when handling samples and preparing reactions, to avoid the introduction of contaminants. In practice, this requires specialized laboratories. To avoid false positives, samples should be sequentially processed through different areas of the laboratory for 1) extraction of nucleic acids from patient material, 2) reaction set-up, 3) post-PCR activities. In addition, a space dedicated to preparing master mixes is required [47, 48].

PCR can easily detect pathogens with known genomic information. If, however, commercial-

Chapter 14 - Detecting viruses

ly available PCR kits fail to detect nucleic acids from unknown pathogens, different approaches are needed. To design targeted PCR probes, the genome of the pathogen in question must be known. As seen at the beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic, unbiased sequencing methods can generate genomic information about an emerging virus, and subsequently enable design of specific PCR primers [49].

Pathogen sequence can be determined by methodologies such as chain-termination based Sanger sequencing, next-generation sequencing (NGS) such as short-read sequencing by synthesis (SBS) by Illumina and long read sequencing technologies such as single molecule, real-time sequencing by Pacific Biosciences, or nanopore sequencing by Oxford Nanopore Technologies. Nanopore sequencing reads long strands in the range of thousands of continuous bases, by measuring the change in electric current as the bases in a strand pass through the nanopore. Metagenomic sequencing to nonspecifically determine viral infections has been applied in the past using Illumina SBS technology, and also more recently to characterize the monkeypox outbreak using nanopore sequencing. Long and short read technologies can be combined to improve viral metagenomic information even further [50].

PCR and the above-mentioned technologies need specialized laboratories and face the challenge of avoiding the introduction of contaminants. However technological advances to miniaturize, automate and improve nucleic acid detection have seen a considerable push during the Covid-19 pandemic, yielding point of care tests and field applications, in situations such as the recent outbreak of Ebola, and onboard the International Space Station [51-53]. This move towards improved and more accessible nucleic acid detection is demonstrated by miniaturized portable devices such as the VoITRAX for automated sequencing library preparation and the MinION sequencer by Oxford Nanopore Technology, and their integration into the MinION Mk1D platform. Future technologies will undoubtedly profit from the advances made during the Covid-19 pandemic.

14.2.4 Electron microscopy

In the second half of the 20th century, transmission electron microscopy (TEM) was essential for the discovery of many viruses and as a diagnostic tool for viral infections [54]. Molecular biology methods largely replaced TEM for routine diagnostics in the 1990s due to their higher sample throughput and high sensitivity and specificity. However, electron microscopy techniques have since improved, and the method is still useful in research, and in special diagnostic situations such as identification of poxviruses and particularly novel and emerging viruses [55, 56]. Crvo-electron tomography and subtomogram averaging have been recently developed to explore the structure of macromolecular complexes and viruses at sub-nanometer resolution [57, 58]. This methodology can visualize the assembly of virions in tissues, and the whole infection cycle [59, 60]. Researchers are increasingly using it to investigate the interaction of viral and human proteins, and the interaction of viruses with drugs and antibodies [57, 61]. The practical importance of cryo-electron microscopy was recently demonstrated by its pivotal role in elucidating how the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein interacts with the ACE-2 receptor, which was decisive for the development of vaccines and therapeutic antibodies [62]. Electron microscopy of organs and tissues contributed to understanding the pathogenesis of Covid-19 and to diagnostics in special cases [63, 64]. Another example of the utility of electron microscopy is the continuous clarification of the infection cycle of adenoviruses in molecular detail by the combination of crvo-electron microscopy and atomic force microscopy [65, 66].

Chapter 14 - Detecting viruses

As evident with SARS-CoV-2, it can be challenging to differentiate virus particles from subcellular structures such as coated vesicles, microvascular bodies, and rough endoplasmic reticulum [67, 68]. Moreover, tissue quality is important, and depends on the interval between sample collection and processing, and the processing methods [64]. To overcome these problems, the establishment and adherence to rigorous criteria has been suggested [67, 69]. The utility of electron microscopy for virus detection can be further optimized in the future by continuous improvement of methods and of software for evaluation as well as combination of, for instance, cryo-electron microscopy, atomic force microscopy and confocal laser scanning microscopy [58, 61, 66, 70, 71].

14.3 Indirect detection

14.3.1 Virus serology

Currently, monitoring respiratory infections relies on the detection of viral load in the respiratory specimens and the measurement of plasma levels of specific antibodies (IgM, IgG and IgA). Whereas viral load indicates viral replication in the primary infection site, qualitative and quantitative serological analysis reveals information on the functional integrity of the host immune response to infection [72]. Seroconversion refers to the significantly elevated antibody titer in response to infection. Such an increased titer – usually a 4-fold increase – between early and follow-up clinical samples is a well-accepted diagnostic tool to prove acute viral infection [73]. Serological tests measuring IgM levels can disclose an ongoing acute infection, but they provide limited sensitivity due to relatively low serum titers and low affinity of IgM to the target antigens [74]. In contrast, specific IgG levels are less useful for a diagnosis in the early stages of infection and therapeutic decisions, but provide information about the responsiveness of host immunity to infection.

Traditional methods to measure the presence of virus-specific antibodies included hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) assays and complement fixation tests [75, 76]. Nowadays various immunoassays are used to detect and quantify virus-specific antibodies in body fluids, especially serum. These immunoassays include radioimmunoassay (RIA), Western blot, ELISA, or CLIA. Studies on the etiology for community acquired pneumonia (CAP) comparing serological examinations with PCR-based molecular diagnostics support an adjunct role of serology for surveillance of respiratory virus infections [43, 77]. Of the respiratory viruses investigated in CAP patients, serology and PCR results agreed most often for RSV. and least often for AdV [43]. Generally, the highest number of positive detections related to RT-PCR tests, but serology increased the yield of positive cases for RSV, HMPV, AdV and PIV [43, 78]. Similarly, in another study, PCR detected more positive cases but the difference was significant only for AdV [77]. Importantly, cases of positive PCR but negative serological results were more common in the younger age groups (children aged <5 years) [43, 77]. Antibody serology reflects on the immune status in response to virus infection. Thus the presence and quantity of virus-specific antibodies represent important measures, but the level of protection provided by specific antibodies is often more relevant in clinical settings [79]. Therefore, determination of neutralizing antibody titers from patient sera is an important factor to predict immune protection against a virus infection. Virus-specific binding and neutralizing antibody titers usually correlate with each other. However, the potential occurrence of mutated virus variants resulting in immune escape should be considered [80]. Thus, virus neutralization assays should always include variants actually circulating in the popula-

Chapter 14 - Detecting viruses

tion [46, 81]. Although it is sometimes difficult to predict the level of protection against infection, titers of neutralizing antibodies together with specific cellular immunity frequently correlate with protection from severe courses of disease and hospitalization [80, 82].

14.3.2 Virus-specific T cell responses

The presence and activation stage of pathogen-specific T cells in peripheral blood following viral infections may have an important diagnostic value that, together with serological and nucleic acid-based diagnostic methods, could help guide medical interventions providing the greatest patient benefit. Several assays for monitoring virus-specific T cell responses have been developed and some of them might be suitable for high-throughput diagnostic purposes. Generally, assays detecting pathogen-specific T cell reactivities require living cells, usually peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) isolated from the patient. Therefore, rapid transport of patient material to the laboratory is crucial. HLA-peptide multimers can detect specific T cells directed against single epitopes, however this technology requires knowledge of the individual HLA haplotype of the patient as well as information about the immunodominance/availability of antigenic epitopes [83]. Thus, methods using overlapping peptide pools generated from pathogen-derived proteins for stimulating patient cells will be more suitable for future high-throughput diagnostic purposes [84]. When T cells specific for some of the peptides represented in the pool are present, they respond to these stimuli, which can be measured by various techniques.

Measurement of cytokines like interferon gamma (IFN γ), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) and interleukin (IL)-2 from T cells after specific peptide or peptide pool stimulation reflects reactivity and functionality of T cell responses after infection or vaccination [85]. The enzyme-linked immunospot assay (ELISpot) has emerged as one of the most widely used methods to detect the magnitude and quality of T cell responses [86]. It measures the quantity and cytokine signature of responding T cells for specific stimulations at the single cell level. The ELISpot technology stands out with its high sensitivity for detecting antigen-specific T cells, even at low frequencies, and it is suitable for the diagnosis of infections like tuberculosis [87]. Nevertheless, ELISpot technology requires the isolation of PBMCs, which makes this analysis relatively laborious.

Alternatively, IFNy release assays (IGRA) are available in which heparinized whole blood is directly stimulated by specific antigenic peptide pools. After a 24-hour incubation period, the level of IFNy is measured in the plasma by ELISA, which provides information about the activation of the T cells. Such IGRAs are easy to perform, allowing rapid testing of the presence of antigen-specific T cell responses, and are available commercially for a number of different pathogens [88, 89]. Besides cytokine production upon stimulation, upregulation of surface molecules on T cells marks functional response to specific stimulations. The so-called activation induced marker (AIM) test is suitable to measure specific T cell activation based on the upregulation of OX40 and CD137 on CD4+ T cells or CD69 and CD137 on CD8+ T cells in response to peptide stimulation [84, 90, 91]. The major advantage of AIM tests compared to IGRA tests is that they give information on the particular T cell subsets (CD8+/CD4+) responding to antigenic stimuli [84]. Such flow-cytometry-based analyses, however, are challenging to standardize [92].

Chapter 14 - Detecting viruses

Chapter 14 - Detecting viruses

14.4 Conclusion

Viral infections play a role in the health of pwCF, and they very probably contribute to the frequency of exacerbations, deterioration of lung function, and disease progression. Viral diagnostics are key to identifying the causative pathogen and guiding therapy. Several direct and indirect methods of detecting viruses are available. The most common methods in routine practice include antigen detection including many rapid tests and nucleic acid detection, as well as detection of specific antibodies. Virus culture, electron microscopy, and specific cellular responses to viruses are used in special situations and mainly in research. The appearance of new viruses and new variants requires permanent adjustment of procedures. New developments, however, significantly contribute to the improved management of viral infections.

Chapter 14 - Detecting viruses

Bibliography

- Shteinberg M, Haq IJ, Polineni D, Davies JC. Cystic fibrosis. Lancet. 2021;397:2195–211. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(20)32542-3
- [2] Blanchard AC, Waters VJ. Microbiology of cystic fibrosis airway disease. Semin Respir Crit Care Med. 2019;40:727–36. DOI:10.1055/s-0039-1698464
- [3] Burns JL, Emerson J, Kuypers J, Campbell AP, Gibson RL, McNamara S, et al. Respiratory viruses in children with cystic fibrosis: viral detection and clinical findings. Influenza Other Respir Viruses. 2012;6:218–23. DOI:10.1111/j.1750-2659.2011.00292.x
- [4] Wang EE, Prober CG, Manson B, Corey M, Levison H. Association of respiratory viral infections with pulmonary deterioration in patients with cystic fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 1984;311:1653–8. DOI:10.1056/ nejm198412273112602
- [5] Ramsey BW, Gore EJ, Smith AL, Cooney MK, Redding GJ, Foy H. The effect of respiratory viral infections on patients with cystic fibrosis. Am J Dis Child. 1989;143:662–8. DOI:10.1001/archpedi.1989.02150180040017
- [6] McElroy R, Talesh GA, Harpur CM, Carzino R, Corbett AJ, Pellicci DG, et al. Unconventional T cell immunity in the lungs of young children with cystic fibrosis. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed). 2022;27:149. DOI:10.31083/j. fbl2705149
- [7] Ong EL, Ellis ME, Webb AK, Neal KR, Dodd M, Caul EO, et al. Infective respiratory exacerbations in young adults with cystic fibrosis: role of viruses and atypical microorganisms. Thorax. 1989;44:739–42. DOI:10.1136/ thx.44.9.739
- [8] van Ewijk BE, van der Zalm MM, Wolfs TF, van der Ent CK. Viral respiratory infections in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2005;4 Suppl 2:31–6. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2005.05.011

200

- [9] Kapur N, Mackay IM, Sloots TP, Masters IB, Chang AB. Respiratory viruses in exacerbations of non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis in children. Arch Dis Child. 2014;99:749–53. DOI:10.1136/archdischild-2013-305147
- [10] Billard L, Le Berre R, Pilorgé L, Payan C, Héry-Arnaud G, Vallet S. Viruses in cystic fibrosis patients' airways. Crit Rev Microbiol. 2017;43:690–708. DOI:10.1080/104084 1x.2017.1297763
- [11] Flight W, Jones A. The diagnosis and management of respiratory viral infections in cystic fibrosis. Expert Rev Respir Med. 2017;11:221–7. DOI:10.1080/17476348.2017.128 8102
- [12] Flight WG, Bright-Thomas RJ, Tilston P, Mutton KJ, Guiver M, Morris J, et al. Incidence and clinical impact of respiratory viruses in adults with cystic fibrosis. Thorax. 2014;69:247–53. DOI:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2013-204000
- [13] Goffard A, Lambert V, Salleron J, Herwegh S, Engelmann I, Pinel C, et al. Virus and cystic fibrosis: rhinoviruses are associated with exacerbations in adult patients. J Clin Virol. 2014;60:147–53. DOI:10.1016/j.jcv.2014.02.005
- [14] Miró-Cañís S, Capilla-Rubio S, Marzo-Checa L, Fontanals-Aymerich D, Sanfeliu-Sala I, Espasa-Soley M, et al. Multiplex PCR reveals that viruses are more frequent than bacteria in children with cystic fibrosis. J Clin Virol. 2017;86:1–4. DOI:10.1016/j.jcv.2016.11.004
- [15] Kiedrowski MR, Bomberger JM. Viral-bacterial co-infections in the cystic fibrosis respiratory tract. Front Immunol. 2018;9:3067. DOI:10.3389/fimmu.2018.03067
- [16] Somayaji R, Goss CH, Khan U, Neradilek M, Neuzil KM, Ortiz JR. Cystic fibrosis pulmonary exacerbations attributable to respiratory syncytial virus and influenza: a population-based study. Clin Infect Dis. 2017;64:1760–7. DOI:10.1093/cid/cix203

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 14 - Detecting viruses

- [17] Hizal M, Yalcin E, Alp A, Ozden M, Karakaya J, Eryilmaz Polat S, *et al.* Respiratory viruses: what is their role in acute exacerbations in children with cystic fibrosis? Pediatr Pulmonol. 2020;55:1646–52. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.24750
- [18] Burgel PR, Goss C. COVID-19 outcomes in people with cystic fibrosis. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2021;27:538–43. DOI:10.1097/ mcp.00000000000823
- [19] Stanton BA, Hampton TH, Ashare A. SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) and cystic fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2020;319:L408– 15. DOI:10.1152/ajplung.00225.2020
- [20] Hierholzer J, Killington R. Virus isolation and quantitation. In: Mahy BWJ, Kangro HO, editors. Virology methods manual: Elsevier; 1996. p. 25–46.
- [21] Dolskiy AA, Grishchenko IV, Yudkin DV. Cell cultures for virology: usability, advantages, and prospects. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21:7978. DOI:10.3390/ijms21217978
- [22] Agol VI. Cytopathic effects: virus-modulated manifestations of innate immunity? Trends Microbiol. 2012;20:570–6. DOI:10.1016/j. tim.2012.09.003
- [23] Drew WL, Stevens GR. How your laboratory should perform viral studies (continued): isolation and identification of commonly encountered viruses. Lab Med. 1980;11:14– 23. DOI:10.1093/labmed/11.1.14
- [24] Voermans JJ, Seven-Deniz S, Fraaij PL, van der Eijk AA, Koopmans MP, Pas SD. Performance evaluation of a rapid molecular diagnostic, multicode based, sample-to-answer assay for the simultaneous detection of influenza A, B and respiratory syncytial viruses. J Clin Virol. 2016;85:65–70. DOI:10.1016/j.jcv.2016.10.019
- [25] World Health Organization. The enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Bull World Health Organ. 1976;54:129–39.

- [26] Ganzenmueller T, Kluba J, Hilfrich B, Puppe W, Verhagen W, Heim A, et al. Comparison of the performance of direct fluorescent antibody staining, a point-of-care rapid antigen test and virus isolation with that of RT-PCR for the detection of novel 2009 influenza A (H1N1) virus in respiratory specimens. J Med Microbiol. 2010;59:713–7. DOI:10.1099/ jmm.0.017244-0
- [27] Chartrand C, Leeflang MM, Minion J, Brewer T, Pai M. Accuracy of rapid influenza diagnostic tests: a meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med. 2012;156:500–11. DOI:10.7326/0003-4819-156-7-201204030-00403
- [28] Slinger R, Milk R, Gaboury I, Diaz-Mitoma F. Evaluation of the QuickLab RSV test, a new rapid lateral-flow immunoassay for detection of respiratory syncytial virus antigen. J Clin Microbiol. 2004;42:3731–3. DOI:10.1128/ jcm.42.8.3731-3733.2004
- [29] Vemula SV, Zhao J, Liu J, Wang X, Biswas S, Hewlett I. Current approaches for diagnosis of influenza virus infections in humans. Viruses. 2016;8:96. DOI:10.3390/v8040096
- [30] Sun Y, Deng J, Qian Y, Zhu R, Wang F, Tian R, et al. Laboratory evaluation of rapid antigen detection tests for more-sensitive detection of respiratory syncytial virus antigen. Jpn J Infect Dis. 2019;72:394–8. DOI:10.7883/ yoken.JJID.2018.528
- [31] Drain PK, Ampajwala M, Chappel C, Gvozden AB, Hoppers M, Wang M, et al. A rapid, high-sensitivity SARS-CoV-2 nucleocapsid immunoassay to aid diagnosis of acute COVID-19 at the point of care: a clinical performance study. Infect Dis Ther. 2021;10:753– 61. DOI:10.1007/s40121-021-00413-x
- [32] Saiki RK, Scharf S, Faloona F, Mullis KB, Horn GT, Erlich HA, et al. Enzymatic amplification of beta-globin genomic sequences and restriction site analysis for diagnosis of sickle cell anemia. Science. 1985;230:1350–4. DOI:10.1126/science.2999980

Chapter 14 - Detecting viruses

- [33] Lawyer FC, Stoffel S, Saiki RK, Chang SY, Landre PA, Abramson RD, et al. High-level expression, purification, and enzymatic characterization of full-length thermus aquaticus DNA polymerase and a truncated form deficient in 5' to 3' exonuclease activity. PCR Methods Appl. 1993;2:275–87. DOI:10.1101/gr.2.4.275
- [34] Kwok S, Mack DH, Mullis KB, Poiesz B, Ehrlich G, Blair D, et al. Identification of human immunodeficiency virus sequences by using in vitro enzymatic amplification and oligomer cleavage detection. J Virol. 1987;61:1690–4. DOI:10.1128/jvi.61.5.1690-1694.1987
- [35] Zipper H, Brunner H, Bernhagen J, Vitzthum F. Investigations on DNA intercalation and surface binding by SYBR Green I, its structure determination and methodological implications. Nucleic Acids Res. 2004;32:e103. DOI:10.1093/nar/gnh101
- [36] Morrison TB, Weis JJ, Wittwer CT. Quantification of low-copy transcripts by continuous SYBR Green I monitoring during amplification. Biotechniques. 1998;24:954–8, 60, 62.
- [37] Singanayagam A, Patel M, Charlett A, Lopez Bernal J, Saliba V, Ellis J, et al. Duration of infectiousness and correlation with RT-PCR cycle threshold values in cases of COVID-19, England, January to May 2020. Euro Surveill. 2020;25:2001483. DOI:10.2807/1560-7917. Es.2020.25.32.2001483
- [38] Maine GN, Lao KM, Krishnan SM, Afolayan-Oloye O, Fatemi S, Kumar S, et al. Longitudinal characterization of the IgM and IgG humoral response in symptomatic COV-ID-19 patients using the Abbott Architect. J Clin Virol. 2020;133:104663. DOI:10.1016/j. icv.2020.104663
- [39] Mackay IM, Arden KE, Nitsche A. Real-time PCR in virology. Nucleic Acids Res. 2002;30:1292–305. DOI:10.1093/nar/30.6.1292

- [40] Blaschke AJ, Allison MA, Meyers L, Rogatcheva M, Heyrend C, Mallin B, et al. Non-invasive sample collection for respiratory virus testing by multiplex PCR. J Clin Virol. 2011;52:210–4. DOI:10.1016/j.jcv.2011.07.015
- [41] Stockton J, Ellis JS, Saville M, Clewley JP, Zambon MC. Multiplex PCR for typing and subtyping influenza and respiratory syncytial viruses. J Clin Microbiol. 1998;36:2990–5. DOI:10.1128/jcm.36.10.2990-2995.1998
- [42] Zhao L, Li GX, Wang J, Zhao MC, Wang L, Feng ZS, et al. Development and evaluation of a panel of multiplex one-tube nested real time PCR assay for simultaneous detection of 14 respiratory viruses in five reactions. J Med Virol. 2020;92:3073–80. DOI:10.1002/ jmv.25686
- [43] Zhang Y, Sakthivel SK, Bramley A, Jain S, Haynes A, Chappell JD, et al. Serology enhances molecular diagnosis of respiratory virus infections other than influenza in children and adults hospitalized with community-acquired pneumonia. J Clin Microbiol. 2017;55:79–89. DOI:10.1128/jcm.01701-16
- [44] Durner J, Burggraf S, Czibere L, Tehrani A, Watts DC, Becker M. Fast and cost-effective screening for SARS-CoV-2 variants in a routine diagnostic setting. Dent Mater. 2021;37:e95-7. DOI:10.1016/j.dental.2021.01.015
- [45] Chabria SB, Gupta S, Kozal MJ. Deep sequencing of HIV: clinical and research applications. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet. 2014;15:295–325. DOI:10.1146/annurev-genom-091212-153406
- [46] Rössler A, Riepler L, Bante D, von Laer D, Kimpel J. SARS-CoV-2 omicron variant neutralization in serum from vaccinated and convalescent persons. N Engl J Med. 2022;386:698–700. DOI:10.1056/NE-JMc2119236
- [47] Lo YM, Chan KC. Setting up a polymerase chain reaction laboratory. Methods Mol Biol. 2006;336:11–8. DOI:10.1385/1-59745-074-x:11

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 14 - Detecting viruses

- [48] Kwok S, Higuchi R. Avoiding false positives with PCR. Nature. 1989;339:237–8. DOI:10.1038/339237a0
- [49] Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:727–33. DOI:10.1056/NEJ-Moa2001017
- [50] Overholt WA, Hölzer M, Geesink P, Diezel C, Marz M, Küsel K. Inclusion of Oxford Nanopore long reads improves all microbial and viral metagenome-assembled genomes from a complex aquifer system. Environ Microbiol. 2020;22:4000–13. DOI:10.1111/1462-2920.15186
- [51] Hoenen T, Groseth A, Rosenke K, Fischer RJ, Hoenen A, Judson SD, et al. Nanopore sequencing as a rapidly deployable ebola outbreak tool. Emerg Infect Dis. 2016;22:331– 4. DOI:10.3201/eid2202.151796
- [52] Stahl-Rommel S, Jain M, Nguyen HN, Arnold RR, Aunon-Chancellor SM, Sharp GM, *et al.* Real-time culture-independent microbial profiling onboard the international space station using nanopore sequencing. Genes (Basel). 2021;12:106. DOI:10.3390/ genes12010106
- [53] Pavletić M, Mazor M, Lerga M, Mileta T, Železnjak J, Ružić T, et al. Fast, reliable, and simple point-of-care-like adaptation of RT-qPCR for the detection of SARS-CoV-2 for use in hospital emergency departments. Viruses. 2021;13:2413. DOI:10.3390/v13122413
- [54] Roingeard P, Raynal PI, Eymieux S, Blanchard E. Virus detection by transmission electron microscopy: still useful for diagnosis and a plus for biosafety. Rev Med Virol. 2019;29:e2019. DOI:10.1002/rmv.2019
- [55] Mak J, de Marco A. Recent advances in retroviruses via cryo-electron microscopy. Retrovirology. 2018;15:23. DOI:10.1186/s12977-018-0405-6

- [56] Popov VL, Tesh RB, Weaver SC, Vasilakis N. Electron microscopy in discovery of novel and emerging viruses from the collection of the world reference center for emerging viruses and arboviruses (WRCEVA). Viruses. 2019;11:477. DOI:10.3390/v11050477
- [57] Fertig TE, Chitoiu L, Terinte-Balcan G, Peteu VE, Marta D, Gherghiceanu M. The atomic portrait of SARS-CoV-2 as captured by cryo-electron microscopy. J Cell Mol Med. 2022;26:25–34. DOI:10.1111/jcmm.17103
- [58] Ni T, Frosio T, Mendonça L, Sheng Y, Clare D, Himes BA, et al. High-resolution in situ structure determination by cryo-electron tomography and subtomogram averaging using emClarity. Nat Protoc. 2022;17:421–44. DOI:10.1038/s41596-021-00648-5
- [59] Hopfer H, Herzig MC, Gosert R, Menter T, Hench J, Tzankov A, et al. Hunting coronavirus by transmission electron microscopy - a guide to SARS-CoV-2-associated ultrastructural pathology in COVID-19 tissues. Histopathology. 2021;78:358–70. DOI:10.1111/ his.14264
- [60] Pied N, Wodrich H. Imaging the adenovirus infection cycle. FEBS Lett. 2019;593:3419–48. DOI:10.1002/1873-3468.13690
- [61] Vankadari N, Shepherd DC, Carter SD, Ghosal D. Three-dimensional insights into human enveloped viruses in vitro and in situ. Biochem Soc Trans. 2022;50:95–105. DOI:10.1042/bst20210433
- [62] Rapp M, Shapiro L, Frank J. Contributions of single-particle cryoelectron microscopy toward fighting COVID-19. Trends Biochem Sci. 2022;47:117–23. DOI:10.1016/j.tibs.2021.10.005
- [63] Reagan-Steiner S, Bhatnagar J, Martines RB, Milligan NS, Gisondo C, Williams FB, et al. Detection of SARS-CoV-2 in neonatal autopsy tissues and placenta. Emerg Infect Dis. 2022;28:510–7. DOI:10.3201/eid2803.211735

Chapter 14 - Detecting viruses

- [64] von Stillfried S, Boor P. Detection methods for SARS-CoV-2 in tissue. Pathologe. 2021;42:81–8. DOI:10.1007/s00292-021-00920-1
- [65] de Pablo PJ, San Martín C. Seeing and touching adenovirus: complementary approaches for understanding assembly and disassembly of a complex virion. Curr Opin Virol. 2022;52:112–22. DOI:10.1016/j.coviro.2021.11.006
- [66] Gallardo J, Pérez-Illana M, Martín-González N, San Martín C. Adenovirus structure: what is new? Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22:5240. DOI:10.3390/ijms22105240
- [67] Bullock HA, Goldsmith CS, Miller SE. Detection and identification of coronaviruses in human tissues using electron microscopy. Microsc Res Tech. 2022;85:2740–7. DOI:10.1002/jemt.24115
- [68] Bullock HA, Goldsmith CS, Zaki SR, Martines RB, Miller SE. Difficulties in differentiating coronaviruses from subcellular structures in human tissues by electron microscopy. Emerg Infect Dis. 2021;27:1023–31. DOI:10.3201/eid2704.204337
- [69] Akilesh S, Nicosia RF, Alpers CE, Tretiakova M, Hsiang TY, Gale M, Jr., et al. Characterizing viral infection by electron microscopy: lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. Am J Pathol. 2021;191:222–7. DOI:10.1016/j.ajpath.2020.11.003
- [70] Böhning J, Bharat TAM. Towards high-throughput in situ structural biology using electron cryotomography. Prog Biophys Mol Biol. 2021;160:97–103. DOI:10.1016/j. pbiomolbio.2020.05.010
- [71] Richert-Pöggeler KR, Franzke K, Hipp K, Kleespies RG. Electron microscopy methods for virus diagnosis and high resolution analysis of viruses. Front Microbiol. 2018;9:3255. DOI:10.3389/fmicb.2018.03255

- [72] Lu S, Lin S, Zhang H, Liang L, Shen S. Methods of respiratory virus detection: advances towards point-of-care for early intervention. Micromachines (Basel). 2021;12:697. DOI:10.3390/mi12060697
- [73] Miller JM, Binnicker MJ, Campbell S, Carroll KC, Chapin KC, Gilligan PH, et al. A guide to utilization of the microbiology laboratory for diagnosis of infectious diseases: 2018 update by the infectious diseases society of america and the american society for microbiology. Clin Infect Dis. 2018;67:e1–94. DOI:10.1093/cid/ciy381
- [74] World Health Organization. Detection of antigens and IgM antibodies for rapid diagnosis of viral infections: a WHO memorandum. Bull World Health Organ. 1979;57:925–30.
- [75] Spackman E, Sitaras I. Hemagglutination inhibition assay. Methods Mol Biol. 2020;2123:11–28. DOI:10.1007/978-1-0716-0346-8 2
- [76] Rice CE. The use of the complement-fixation test in the study and diagnosis of viral diseases in man and animals-a review: part viii. The myxoviruses. Can J Comp Med Vet Sci. 1961;25:151–6.
- [77] Sawatwong P, Chittaganpitch M, Hall H, Peruski LF, Xu X, Baggett HC, *et al.* Serology as an adjunct to polymerase chain reaction assays for surveillance of acute respiratory virus infections. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;54:445– 6. DOI:10.1093/cid/cir710
- [78] Feikin DR, Njenga MK, Bigogo G, Aura B, Gikunju S, Balish A, et al. Additional diagnostic yield of adding serology to PCR in diagnosing viral acute respiratory infections in Kenyan patients 5 years of age and older. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2013;20:113–4. DOI:10.1128/cvi.00325-12

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 14 - Detecting viruses

- [79] Tsang TK, Cauchemez S, Perera RA, Freeman G, Fang VJ, Ip DK, *et al.* Association between antibody titers and protection against influenza virus infection within households. J Infect Dis. 2014;210:684–92. DOI:10.1093/ infdis/jiu186
- [80] Lau EH, Hui DS, Tsang OT, Chan WH, Kwan MY, Chiu SS, et al. Long-term persistence of SARS-CoV-2 neutralizing antibody responses after infection and estimates of the duration of protection. EClinicalMedicine. 2021;41:101174. DOI:10.1016/j. eclinm.2021.101174
- [81] Rössler A, Knabl L, von Laer D, Kimpel J. Neutralization profile after recovery from SARS-CoV-2 omicron infection. N Engl J Med. 2022;386:1764-6. DOI:10.1056/NEJMc2201607
- [82] Piedra PA, Jewell AM, Cron SG, Atmar RL, Glezen WP. Correlates of immunity to respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) associated-hospitalization: establishment of minimum protective threshold levels of serum neutralizing antibodies. Vaccine. 2003;21:3479–82. DOI:10.1016/s0264-410x(03)00355-4
- [83] Walker LJ, Sewell AK, Klenerman P. T cell sensitivity and the outcome of viral infection. Clin Exp Immunol. 2010;159:245–55. DOI:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2009.04047.x
- [84] Grifoni A, Sidney J, Vita R, Peters B, Crotty S, Weiskopf D, et al. SARS-CoV-2 human T cell epitopes: adaptive immune response against COVID-19. Cell Host Microbe. 2021;29:1076–92. DOI:10.1016/j. chom.2021.05.010
- [85] Lalvani A, Millington KA. T-cell interferon-gamma release assays: can we do better? Eur Respir J. 2008;32:1428–30. DOI:10.1183/09031936.00148308

- [86] Lehmann PV, Zhang W. Unique strengths of ELISPOT for T cell diagnostics. In: Kalyuzhny A, editor. Handbook of ELISPOT: methods and protocols. New York, NY, USA: Springer Science+Business Media, LLC; 2012. p. 3–23.
- [87] Lalvani A, Pathan AA, Durkan H, Wilkinson KA, Whelan A, Deeks JJ, et al. Enhanced contact tracing and spatial tracking of Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection by enumeration of antigen-specific T cells. Lancet. 2001;357:2017–21. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(00)05115-1
- [88] Shafeque A, Bigio J, Hogan CA, Pai M, Banaei N. Fourth-generation quantiFERON-TB gold plus: what is the evidence? J Clin Microbiol. 2020;58:e01950–19. DOI:10.1128/jcm.01950-19
- [89] Martínez-Gallo M, Esperalba J, Pujol-Borrell R, Sandá V, Arrese-Muñoz I, Fernández-Naval C, et al. Commercialized kits to assess T-cell responses against SARS-CoV-2 S peptides. A pilot study in health care workers. Med Clin (Barc). 2022;159:116–23. DOI:10.1016/j.medcli.2021.09.013
- [90] Dan JM, Lindestam Arlehamn CS, Weiskopf D, da Silva Antunes R, Havenar-Daughton C, Reiss SM, et al. A cytokine-independent approach to identify antigen-specific human germinal center T follicular helper cells and rare antigen-specific CD4+ T cells in blood. J Immunol. 2016;197:983–93. DOI:10.4049/jimmunol.1600318
- [91] Bánki Z, Mateus J, Rössler A, Schäfer H, Bante D, Riepler L, et al. Heterologous ChAdOx1/BNT162b2 vaccination induces stronger immune response than homologous ChAdOx1 vaccination: the pragmatic, multi-center, three-arm, partially randomized HEVACC trial. EBioMedicine. 2022;80:104073. DOI:10.1016/j.ebiom.2022.104073
- [92] Cherian S, Hedley BD, Keeney M. Common flow cytometry pitfalls in diagnostic hematopathology. Cytometry B Clin Cytom. 2019;96:449–63. DOI:10.1002/cyto.b.21854

Eradication strategies for Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Authors

Alexander Yule, Giovanni Taccetti, Jane C. Davies, Alan R. Smyth

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Introduction

Recurrent and chronic bacterial infection are hallmarks of cystic fibrosis (CF) lung disease. A range of organisms are recognized as pathogens in the CF airway but one of the most problematic is *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Chronic infection with *P. aeruginosa* is common and is associated with increased mortality, progressive decline in pulmonary function and more frequent pulmonary exacerbations [1]. *P. aeruginosa* has innate resistance to many antibiotics and inducible resistance may manifest in the CF airway. Furthermore, *P. aeruginosa* may switch to a biofilm mode of growth in the CF airway, which acts as a barrier to antibiotic penetration and may allow the organism to evade the host immune system [2].

The European CF Society Patient Registry (ECFSPR) data from 2020 show that 11.7% of children and 41.0% of adults are chronically infected by *P. aeruginosa* [3]. In the UK, the Cystic Fibrosis Trust Registry Report 2020 showed that 4.7% of children under 16 years and 31.9% of people aged \geq 16 years had chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection [4]. In the US, using the Leeds Criteria (where >50% of sputum cultures are positive for *P. aeruginosa* over a 12 month period), in 2019 the prevalence of chronic *P. aeruginosa* was 27.7% [5, 6]. In the 2020 CF Foundation registry report, the detection rate of people with CF (pwCF) with *P. aeruginosa* infection fell, with 43.2% having a posi-

tive culture sample in 2019 compared to 32.0% in 2020. The largest fall in prevalence was seen in the group under 18 years of age, falling from 44.5% in 2000 to 18.1% in 2020 [7].

Initial infection is usually with environmental strains which undergo progressive gene and behavioral adaptations to support persistence in the CF airways [8, 9]. Cross-infection of *P. aeruginosa* between pwCF has also been described [10]. People with minimal function mutations in the CF transmembrane conductance regulator (*CFTR*) gene may become infected with *P. aeruginosa* earlier than people with residual function *CFTR* mutations [11].

It has been established that early antibiotic treatment of initial P. aeruginosa infection in CF is more likely to result in eradication than no treatment or placebo [12-16]. In the initial phase of early infection, P. aeruginosa is not yet fully organized into mature biofilms and may be eradicated from the airways. This rationale led to one of the major advances in CF therapy; the adoption of early, aggressive eradication treatments in an effort to delay and prevent chronic P. aeruginosa infection. However, no single regimen has been proven to be more effective than another in early eradication of P. aeruginosa, and treatment regimens vary between countries [16]. In this chapter we will summarize the evidence surrounding early eradication of P. aeruginosa.

Chapter 15 - Eradication strategies for Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 15 - Eradication strategies for Pseudomonas aeruginosa

15.1 Guidelines and evidence

Today, antibiotic recommendations vary in different parts of the world. UK guidelines recommend an inhaled antibiotic (e.g. colistimethate sodium) in combination with an oral antibiotic (e.g. ciprofloxacin), as these antibiotics are thought to be effective against different components of the P. aeruginosa biofilm [17]. In the UK, a warning was recently issued about the rare musculoskeletal side effects of ciprofloxacin [18]. US guidelines favor tobramycin solution for inhalation (TIS) as first treatment [19]. The ECFS Standards of Care suggest 28 days tobramycin solution for inhalation (TIS) or up to 3 months of a combination of nebulized colistimethate sodium and oral ciprofloxacin [20]. Aztreonam has been evaluated for P. aeruginosa eradication, but is not currently first line in the US. UK or Europe. In an open-label study, inhaled aztreonam was effective in eradicating P. aeruginosa infection in pediatric patients, however this study is limited by the absence of a control group [21].

Only a limited number of randomized control trials (RCTs) of early eradication treatment have been conducted. A Cochrane systematic review concluded that eradication was more effective than placebo (or no treatment) but that no one eradication regimen has been shown to be better than another. Meta-analysis of the trials identified in the Cochrane review was hampered by the variety of outcome measures used to establish the success or failure of eradication regimens [16]. Table 1 summarizes the published RCTs and crossover trials evaluating eradication of *P. aeruginosa*, and outlines the regimens tested, duration of follow-up and outcomes.

15.2 Adjuvent treatment

Recently a multicenter, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial tested the hypothesis that the addition of azithromycin to TIS in children with CF (aged 6 months to 18 years) during their initial *P. aeruginosa* infection would reduce the risk of pulmonary exacerbation and prolong the time until *P. aeruginosa* recurrence [22]. Azithromycin was associated with a significant reduction in the risk of pulmonary exacerbation compared to placebo (hazard ratio 0.56; 95% CI 0.37-0.83; p=0.004), but no impact was observed on microbiological outcomes [22].

15.3 Importance of timely eradication treatment

The double-blind placebo-controlled EAR-LY study evaluated the efficacy and safety of TIS twice daily for 28 days in treating early P. aeruginosa infection in 51 children with CF aged 3 months to 7 years [23]. After the first double-blind period, all P. aeruginosa positive patients received TIS for 28 days whereas P. aeruginosa negative patients were given the option of crossover. After the first double-blind period, 85% of patients in the TIS arm were P. aeruginosa free, versus 24% in the placebo arm. At the end of the crossover period, 76% patients who had received TIS in the initial 28 days were P. aeruginosa free compared to 48% who had initially received a placebo. This trial suggests that eradication treatment should be started promptly and not delayed more than 28 days after P. aeruginosa isolation.

15.4 Intravenous versus oral eradication treatment

Intravenous therapy against initial *P. aeruginosa* infection has long been used in clinical practice, but has not been shown to be more effective than oral treatment in RCTs. A recent large RCT compared the efficacy of 14 days of intravenous ceftazidime and tobramycin to 12 weeks of oral ciprofloxacin [24]. Both regimens were combined with 12 weeks inhaled colistimethate sodium. The primary outcome was percentage of patients with *P. aeruginosa* eradication at 3 months, remaining free of infection up to 15 months. Compared with oral therapy, intravenous therapy was not more effective, and the cost of intravenous treatment was higher.

15.5 Sustained success versus failure of eradication

Early and sustained eradication of *P. aeruginosa* is of particular clinical benefit since chronic infection is associated with progressive deterioration of pulmonary function. In addition, increasingly aggressive antibiotic treatments negatively impact the person with CF's quality of life [1].

The concept of "sustained eradication" refers to patients with negative cultures for 12 months after treatment ended. In the recent TORPEDO trial, the primary outcome was eradication after 3 months of treatment *and* remaining free of infection for a further 12 months (achieved in 44% of participants in the intravenous treatment group and 52% in the oral treatment group) [24]. People with sustained eradication over a 5 year period had a 74% reduction in the risk of developing chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection (hazard ratio 0.26; 95% CI 0.17-0.4) and reduced use of anti-pseudomonal antibiotics by comparison to those without sustained eradication [25]. In addition, those with sustained eradication had reduced risk of having mucoid *P. aeruginosa* compared to those without sustained eradication (HR 0.43%; 95% CI 0.25-0.73) [25].

Eradication treatment may fail in 28-40% of cases [26]. To date, no significant differences have been found regarding the clinical characteristics of the patients (age or lung function) or the type of treatment. However, *P. aeruginosa* characteristics found to be associated with chronicity were mucoidy, lack of twitching motility, wrinkly colony surface and colonies with irregular edges [27]. These characteristics may relate to differential resistance in *P. aeruginosa* to the actions of neutrophils [28].

Persitent or new infection, despite eradication treatment

Patients who have successfully undergone early eradication treatment can still manifest P. aeruginosa infection later, prompting the guestion "is this persistence of the initial infection or a new organism?" Molecular studies can help answer this question. The TORPEDO trial used variable number tandem repeat (VNTR) typing to determine if further P. aeruginosa infection, following apparently successful eradication, was with a genetically identical strain [24]. Of participants without sustained eradication, VNTR typing detected the same strain of *P. aeruginosa* at baseline and recurrence for 76% of participants in the intravenous group and 71% in the oral group. This suggests that eradication therapy may have rendered the organism undetectable but did not completely eradicate P. aeruginosa from the airways. A recent study used whole genome sequencing and clone typing to study recurrence of *P. aeruginosa* in pwCF from a Danish clinic [29]. Participants had a median maximum eradication period of 1.1 years (range 0.5-3.6) and 43% had the same clone of P. aeruginosa before

Chapter 15 - Eradication strategies for Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Chapter 15 - Eradication strategies for Pseudomonas aeruginosa

and after their maximum eradication period. The authors suggest that persisting clone types result from re-emergence of the same strain and not reinfection from the environment [29], and suggest that persistent sinus infection may serve as a reservoir of *P. aeruginosa* infection which may then reinfect the lungs [29].

15.7 Recommendations for practice

Based on the studies described above, we provide some practical clinical recommendations.

- When *P. aeruginosa* is identified in any respiratory sample from a person with CF who has previously been free from infection, an appropriate eradication regimen should be commenced (within 28 days).
- A sample (preferably induced sputum or bronchoalveolar lavage) should be taken once the eradication regimen has been completed to confirm whether eradication has been successful. If not successful, a further course of eradication treatment should be considered.
- There is insufficient evidence, at present, to recommend one eradication regimen over another, though an agent shown to be effective in RCTs should be selected.
- Intravenous therapy offers no advantage over oral (provided inhaled therapy is also given).
- The book published by ECFS in 2020 "Optimizing pharmaceutical care in cystic fibrosis" can be helpful (<u>https://www.ecfs.eu/content/ecfs-book</u>) [30].

We also provide some recommendations for research:

- Clinicians, researchers and patients should agree on the most meaningful outcomes and endpoints for clinical trials of eradication regimens, to reduce research waste and maximize opportunities for demonstrating meaningful differences between regimens.
- Future trials should measure sustained eradication for ≥12 months and incorporate measures to assess whether subsequent strains are the same of different from the strain causing initial infection.
- These trials should evaluate the comparative efficacy of eradication regimens in patients receiving CFTR modulator therapy.
- In the patients on CFTR modulators, expectoration of sputum may be challenging; sputum induction with hypertonic saline may address this need. Research focused on alternative methods of detecting infection is needed.

Table 1

Published randomized control or crossover trials of the eradication of *P. aeruginosa*.

Author	No. of patients	Age	Regimen A (RegA)	Regimen B (RegB)	Duration of follow-up	% neg. RegA	% neg. RegB	Outcome measure for successful eradication
Valerius 1991 [13]	26	2-9 years	Colistin and ciprofloxacin	No treatment	3 weeks	86	42	Time to chronic infection (monthly for 6 months)
Wiesemann 1998 [14]	22	4-18 years	TIS (80 mg twice daily)	Placebo	12 months	87	0	Time to convert from culture positive to culture negative
Gibson 2003 [31]	21	6 months to 6 years	TIS	Placebo	28 days	100	8	Bronchoalveolar lavage P. aeruginosa positive on day 28
Ratjen 2010 [32]	88	>6 months	TIS 28 days	TIS 56 days		93	92	Time to recurrence following end of treatment.
Treggiari 2011 [33]	304	1-12 years	Regular TIS 28 days / quarter	As required TIS	28 days	72	56	Odds ratio of being <i>P. aerugino-sa</i> positive during the study
Taccetti 2012 [34]	223	1-35 years	Colistin and ciprofloxacin	TIS and cipro- floxacin	28 days	63	65	Eradication = 3 successive neg- ative cultures in 6 months
Proesmans 2013 [35]	58	<18 years	TIS 28 days	Colistin and ciprofloxacin	3 months	79	90	Respiratory sample (any) nega- tive at the end of treatment
Ratjen 2019 [23]	51	3 months to <7 years	Crossover TIS 28 days	Crossover Placebo 28 days	90 days	84.6	24	Eradication = negative sputum/ throat swab culture on day 29 (completion of first treatment period) or 28 days post crosso- ver treatment
Lang- ton-Hewer 2020 [24]	286	>28 days	Colistin and intravenous ceftazidime and tobra- mycin	Colistin and oral ciproflox- acin	3 months	44	52	Composite: negative after 3 months of treatment plus remain negative for 1 year
Total	1079							

Abbreviations: Neg=negative, RegA=regimen A, RegB regimen B, TIS=tobramycin inhalation solution

Chapter 15 - Eradication strategies for Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Chapter 15 - Eradication strategies for Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Bibliography

- [1] Emerson J, Rosenfeld M, McNamara S, Ramsey B, Gibson RL. *Pseudomonas aerugino*sa and other predictors of mortality and morbidity in young children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2002;34:91–100. DOI:10.1002/ppul.10127
- [2] Rossi E, La Rosa R, Bartell JA, Marvig RL, Haagensen JAJ, Sommer LM, et al. Pseudomonas aeruginosa adaptation and evolution in patients with cystic fibrosis. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2021;19:331–42. DOI:10.1038/ s41579-020-00477-5
- [3] Orenti A, Zolin A, Rens Jv, Fox A, Krasnyk M, Daneau G, *et al.* ECFS patient registry annual data report 2020. European Cystic Fibrosis Society; 2022.
- [4] UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry Team. UK cystic fibrosis trust registry 2020 annual data report. United Kingdom: Cystic Fibrosis Trust; 2021.
- [5] Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Working Group. Cystic fibrosis foundation patient registry 2019 annual data report. Bethesda, Maryland, United States of America: Cystic Fibrosis Foundation; 2020.
- [6] Lee TW, Brownlee KG, Conway SP, Denton M, Littlewood JM. Evaluation of a new definition for chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection in cystic fibrosis patients. J Cyst Fibros. 2003;2:29–34. DOI:10.1016/s1569-1993(02)00141-8
- [7] Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Working Group. Cystic fibrosis foundation patient registry 2020 annual data report. Bethesda, Maryland, United States of America: Cystic Fibrosis Foundation; 2021.
- [8] Saiman L, Siegel JD, LiPuma JJ, Brown RF, Bryson EA, Chambers MJ, et al. Infection prevention and control guideline for cystic fibrosis: 2013 update. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2014;35 Suppl 1:S1–67. DOI:10.1086/676882

- [9] Marvig RL, Sommer LM, Molin S, Johansen HK. Convergent evolution and adaptation of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* within patients with cystic fibrosis. Nat Genet. 2015;47:57–64. DOI:10.1038/ng.3148
- [10] Nixon GM, Armstrong DS, Carzino R, Carlin JB, Olinsky A, Robertson CF, et al. Clinical outcome after early *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection in cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr. 2001;138:699–704. DOI:10.1067/ mpd.2001.112897
- [11] Rosenfeld M, Emerson J, McNamara S, Thompson V, Ramsey BW, Morgan W, et al. Risk factors for age at initial *Pseudomonas* acquisition in the cystic fibrosis epic observational cohort. J Cyst Fibros. 2012;11:446– 53. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2012.04.003
- [12] Littlewood JM, Miller MG, Ghoneim AT, Ramsden CH. Nebulised colomycin for early *Pseudomonas* colonisation in cystic fibrosis. Lancet. 1985;1:865. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(85)92222-6
- [13] Valerius NH, Koch C, Høiby N. Prevention of chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa colonisation in cystic fibrosis by early treatment. Lancet. 1991;338:725–6. DOI:10.1016/0140-6736(91)91446-2
- [14] Wiesemann HG, Steinkamp G, Ratjen F, Bauernfeind A, Przyklenk B, Döring G, et al. Placebo-controlled, double-blind, randomized study of aerosolized tobramycin for early treatment of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* colonization in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 1998;25:88–92. DOI:10.1002/(sici)1099-0496(199802)25:2<88::aid-ppul3>3.0.co;2-j
- [15] Frederiksen B, Koch C, Høiby N. Antibiotic treatment of initial colonization with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* postpones chronic infection and prevents deterioration of pulmonary function in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 1997;23:330–5. DOI:10.1002/ (sici)1099-0496(199705)23:5<330::aidppul4>3.0.co;2-0

- [16] Langton Hewer SC, Smyth AR. Antibiotic strategies for eradicating *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in people with cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014:Cd004197. DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD004197.pub4
- Harmsen M, Yang L, Pamp SJ, Tolker-Nielsen T. An update on *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm formation, tolerance, and dispersal.
 FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol. 2010;59:253– 68. DOI:10.1111/j.1574-695X.2010.00690.x
- [18] UK Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency (MHRA). Fluoroquinolone antibiotics: new restrictions and precautions for use due to very rare reports of disabling and potentially long-lasting or irreversible side effects. 2019. https://www.gov. uk/drug-safety-update/fluoroquinoloneantibiotics-new-restrictions-and-precautions-for-use-due-to-very-rare-reports-ofdisabling-and-potentially-long-lasting-orirreversible-side-effects
- [19] Mogayzel PJ, Jr., Naureckas ET, Robinson KA, Brady C, Guill M, Lahiri T, et al. Cystic fibrosis foundation pulmonary guideline. pharmacologic approaches to prevention and eradication of initial *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2014;11:1640– 50. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201404-1660C
- [20] Castellani C, Duff AJA, Bell SC, Heijerman HGM, Munck A, Ratjen F, et al. ECFS best practice guidelines: the 2018 revision. J Cyst Fibros. 2018;17:153–78. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2018.02.006
- [21] Tiddens HA, De Boeck K, Clancy JP, Fayon M, H GMA, Bresnik M, et al. Open label study of inhaled aztreonam for *Pseudomonas* eradication in children with cystic fibrosis: the ALPINE study. J Cyst Fibros. 2015;14:111–9. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2014.06.003

- [22] Mayer-Hamblett N, Retsch-Bogart G, Kloster M, Accurso F, Rosenfeld M, Albers G, et al. Azithromycin for early pseudomonas infection in cystic fibrosis. The optimize randomized trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2018;198:1177–87. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201802-0215OC
- [23] Ratjen F, Moeller A, McKinney ML, Asherova I, Alon N, Maykut R, *et al.* Eradication of early *P. aeruginosa* infection in children <7 years of age with cystic fibrosis: the early study. J Cyst Fibros. 2019;18:78–85. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2018.04.002
- [24] Hewer SCL, Smyth AR, Brown M, Jones AP, Hickey H, Kenna D, et al. Intravenous versus oral antibiotics for eradication of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in cystic fibrosis (TORPEDO-CF): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Respir Med. 2020;8:975–86. DOI:10.1016/s2213-2600(20)30331-3
- [25] Mayer-Hamblett N, Kloster M, Rosenfeld M, Gibson RL, Retsch-Bogart GZ, Emerson J, et al. Impact of sustained eradication of new Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection on long-term outcomes in cystic fibrosis. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;61:707–15. DOI:10.1093/cid/ civ377
- [26] Jackson L, Waters V. Factors influencing the acquisition and eradication of early *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2021;20:8–16. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2020.10.008
- [27] Mayer-Hamblett N, Ramsey BW, Kulasekara HD, Wolter DJ, Houston LS, Pope CE, et al. Pseudomonas aeruginosa phenotypes associated with eradication failure in children with cystic fibrosis. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;59:624–31. DOI:10.1093/cid/ciu385

Chapter 15 - Eradication strategies for Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Chapter 15 - Eradication strategies for Pseudomonas aeruginosa

- [28] Kwong K, Benedetti A, Yau Y, Waters V, Nguyen D. Failed eradication therapy of new-onset *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infections in children with cystic fibrosis is associated with bacterial resistance to neutrophil functions. J Infect Dis. 2022;225:1886–95. DOI:10.1093/infdis/jiab102
- [29] Bartell JA, Sommer LM, Marvig RL, Skov M, Pressler T, Molin S, et al. Omics-based tracking of Pseudomonas aeruginosa persistence in "eradicated" cystic fibrosis patients. Eur Respir J. 2021;57:2000512. DOI:10.1183/13993003.00512-2020
- [30] ECFS 2020 optimizing pharmaceutical care in cystic fibrosis. In: Bentley S, Castellani C, Peckham D, Shaw N, editors. Denmark: European Cystic Fibrosis Society; 2020.
- [31] Gibson RL, Emerson J, McNamara S, Burns JL, Rosenfeld M, Yunker A, et al. Significant microbiological effect of inhaled tobramycin in young children with cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003;167:841–9. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200208-8550C
- [32] Ratjen F, Munck A, Kho P, Angyalosi G. Treatment of early *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection in patients with cystic fibrosis: the ELITE trial. Thorax. 2010;65:286–91. DOI:10.1136/thx.2009.121657
- [33] Treggiari MM, Retsch-Bogart G, Mayer-Hamblett N, Khan U, Kulich M, Kronmal R, et al. Comparative efficacy and safety of 4 randomized regimens to treat early Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in children with cystic fibrosis. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2011;165:847–56. DOI:10.1001/archpediatrics.2011.136
- [34] Taccetti G, Bianchini E, Cariani L, Buzzetti R, Costantini D, Trevisan F, et al. Early antibiotic treatment for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* eradication in patients with cystic fibrosis: a randomised multicentre study comparing two different protocols. Thorax. 2012;67:853– 9. DOI:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2011-200832

[35] Proesmans M, Vermeulen F, Boulanger L, Verhaegen J, De Boeck K. Comparison of two treatment regimens for eradication of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection in children with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2013;12:29–34. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2012.06.001
Authors

Emem-Fong Ukor and Nicholas J. Simmonds

Introduction

Pseudomonas aeruginosa is a highly adaptive gram-negative bacterium commonly isolated from the airways of people with cystic fibrosis (CF), which becomes more prevalent with increasing age and lung function severity [1]. According to the European CF Society (ECFS) Patient Registry, the prevalence of chronic infection in 2020 was 5-45% in children (<18 years) compared with 35-90% in adults (≥18 years), varying by country [2]. Thanks to effective segregation and eradication strategies, the prevalence has steadily fallen over the years in many countries. For example, in the UK prevalence dropped from 35.5% in 2010 to 19.4% in 2020 [3]. Nevertheless, chronic infection with *P. aeruginosa* remains a major challenge in CF, as it is a significant risk factor for pulmonary exacerbations, accelerated lung function decline and increased mortality [4].

The natural history of *P. aeruginosa* infection is usually of intermittent culture positivity in the early stages, with cultures usually becoming persistently positive over time [5]. This adaptive ability is thought to be due to the relatively large genome of *P. aeruginosa*, with selection for mucoid phenotypes and growth in both planktonic and biofilm states, thus enhancing its ability to withstand the relatively harsh biophysical and immunological environment of CF airways [6]. Once chronic infection is established, bacterial clearance is unlikely, so treatment strategies switch from an eradication approach to one of bacterial suppression, to reduce the risk of accelerated health decline [7]. Strategies for chronic suppression can include the inhaled, oral and intravenous (IV) routes. In practice, however, the majority of patients are treated with inhaled antibiotics, as supported by the strongest evidence base [8]. Delivering the antibiotic directly to the source of infection by inhalation achieves drug concentrations that far exceed the levels achieved by the systemic route. The inhalation route therefore allows inhibition of bacterial growth in biofilms, while minimizing systemic drug levels and the associated risk of toxicity and side effects [9].

16.1 Pharmacological considerations

Antibiotic effectiveness relates to pharmacokinetic (PK) and pharmacodynamic (PD) properties, and the target organism's susceptibility which is determined *in vitro* by the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) required to suppress bacterial growth [10]. A key risk factor for the selection of antibiotic-resistant strains is recurrent bacterial exposure to sub-inhibitory concentrations at the site of infection [11]. Therefore, targeted maintenance of high antibiotic concentrations at the infection locus is critical to controlling infection and minimizing antibiotic selection pressure.

It is useful to understand how lung anatomy relates to CF lung infection, when reviewing

chronic suppression strategies for *P. aeruginosa*. The smaller conducting zone (nasal cavity, pharynx, trachea, the bronchi and the terminal bronchioles), lined by mucus-secreting goblet cells and submucosal glands, is considered the primary bacterial reservoir, where bacteria are organized in mucoid biofilms within the mucus, protected against antibiotics and host defenses [12]. In addition, the unique properties of CF sputum (e.g. low oxygen content, high viscosity) can independently limit the therapeutic effect of certain antibiotics [13, 14].

Studies reporting on drug bioavailability have demonstrated very high drug concentrations in sputum following inhalation, above the conventional MICs used for systemic administration [15, 16]. By contrast, little aerosolized drug reaches the respiratory zone (respiratory bronchioles and alveoli) as evidenced by the very low drug concentrations detectable in serum (reflecting respiratory tissue concentrations) [12, 17]. The opposite is true for oral/parenteral administration, providing strong rationale for the use of inhaled antibiotics to achieve high MICs for effective suppression therapy of chronic *P. aeruginosa* in CF.

16.2 Inhaled antibiotics

Inhaled antibiotics are the mainstay of suppression therapy for chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection in CF, with evidence first emerging in the 1940s [18-20]. Published guidelines support their use based on data from large randomized trials showing benefits on bacterial load, lung function, quality of life (QoL) and pulmonary exacerbations [19, 20].

At present, two inhaled solutions are approved for use in the USA (tobramycin and aztreonam lysine) and four in the UK and Europe (colis-

218

timethate sodium, tobramycin, aztreonam lysine and levofloxacin inhaled solution; LIS). Dry powder inhalation formulations of tobramycin (TOBI® Podhaler®, Novartis) and colistimethate sodium (Colobreathe®, Forest Laboratories) have also been approved in the UK and Europe for chronic *P. aeruginosa*; the tobramycin formulation is also approved for use in the USA [21-23]. The use of these medicines is summarized in Table 1 and their mode of action is described in Figure 1. Clinical efficacy is discussed below.

Colistimethate sodium, the prodrug of colistin, is a polymyxin antibiotic. It breaks down the bacterial cell's permeability barrier by disrupting the integrity of the gram-negative outer membrane, leading to leakage of cytoplasmic contents and cell death [24]. Inhaled colistin solutions (colomycin and promixin) have been used for decades throughout the UK and Europe [25]. However, there have been limited randomized trials to support their long-term efficacy. Only a single phase III open-label study has assessed the safety and efficacy of Colobreathe® and found it to be non-inferior to tobramycin inhalation solution (TIS) based on the change in percent predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁) after 24 weeks [23]. Nonetheless, inhaled colomycin products are used widely in both pediatric and adult CF centers, especially given the low rates of microbial resistance despite continuous use [26].

Tobramycin, an aminoglycoside, inhibits protein synthesis initiation by disrupting formation of the initiation complex between mRNA and the bacterial small 30S ribosomal subunit [24]. In 1998, in the form TOBI® (Novartis), tobramycin became the first antibiotic approved for inhaled use in CF in individuals chronically infected with *P. aeruginosa* [15, 27]. The efficacy and safety of TIS in CF is well established with large randomized controlled trials (RCTs) demonstrating improvements in lung function and nutritional

Chapter 16 - Suppression therapy for chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa

state, reduced *P. aeruginosa* bacterial load and decreased hospitalizations [15, 27, 28]. Of note, although TIS achieved significantly high peak sputum levels of drug, there was minimal systemic absorption. In addition, two controlled clinical studies comparing the safety and efficacy of tobramycin inhalation powder to TIS demonstrated similar tolerability and efficacy with higher rates of adherence and treatment satisfaction with the inhalation powder [21, 22].

Aztreonam, a monobactam antibiotic, interrupts cell wall synthesis by interacting with penicillin-binding protein 3 of susceptible bacteria [29]. Its novel reformulation as a lysine salt for inhalation (marketed as Cayston®, Gilead) removed arginine which can cause airway inflammation [30]. It was approved in 2010 by EMA and has been shown in several clinical trials to be safe and effective in pwCF aged ≥6 years, improving respiratory symptoms and lung function, and reducing the need for additional anti-pseudomonal antibiotics [30-32]. Notably, no evidence for the development of antibiotic resistance was found in studies extending beyond 12 and 18 months [32, 33].

Levofloxacin, a fluroquinolone, blocks bacterial cell growth by inhibiting bacterial DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV activity. Significantly, its activity in CF sputum is not reduced, unlike tobramycin and aztreonam [34]. RCTs have shown that LIS reduces *P. aeruginosa* bacterial load and improves lung function, with dysgeusia the most common adverse event [35, 36]. A systematic review and Bayesian network meta-analysis showed LIS to be as effective as other inhaled antibiotics in treating chronic *P. aeruginosa* [37].

No clear recommendations exist to guide selection of inhaled antibiotic or choice of treatment regimen (e.g. continuous versus on/off monotherapy, or continuous alternating therapy with two or more inhaled drugs). Inhaled antibiotics typically have been cycled in a 28-day on/off strategy. This is based on observations from the pivotal TIS trials where lung function benefit peaked at 4 weeks of treatment, and the hypothesis that continuous use might promote antimicrobial resistance [6]. Studies suggest that in vitro drug sensitivity is modestly reduced with long-term inhaled antibiotic use, but high level drug resistance is rare [30, 38, 39]. Furthermore, real-world experience has shown that lung function loss and symptom worsening tend to accompany the 4-week off periods, and this has driven the development of continuous alternating regimens in the absence of RCTs. Some support for this strategy was provided by Rojo-Molinero and colleagues who used an in vitro biofilm model to show that alternating treatment with inhaled aztreonam and tobramycin had increased antibiofilm activity compared to tobramycin alone [40]. However, the optimal regimen for combining and sequencing inhaled antibiotic therapy as long-term suppressive therapy remains to be determined.

16.3 Oral antibiotics

The use of oral antibiotics for the chronic suppression of *P. aeruginosa* is not standard of care as there is minimal evidence for this approach. In fact, only the fluroquinolone class of oral antibiotic has direct anti-pseudomonal properties, but their use (usually ciprofloxacin) is usually reserved for the treatment of pulmonary exacerbations [41].

The only oral antibiotic recommended for chronic use in CF is the macrolide azithromycin, although as it does not have any direct anti-pseudomonal properties, it might not be considered a suppressive therapy by strict definition [42]. It is widely used, with ~50% of patients in the UK CF Registry receiving chronic treatment in 2020 [3].

Its clinical benefit is thought to derive from its immune-modulating properties, particularly in the context of chronic P. aeruginosa, with evidence of downregulated neutrophil chemotaxis and reduced production of interleukin (IL)-8 and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) by bronchial epithelial cells [43, 44]. Using data from the CF Foundation Patient Registry, a study reported the long-term benefit of chronic azithromycin, showing a rate of FEV₁ decline 40% lower in azithromycin-treated patients with chronic P. aeruginosa compared with matched controls over a three year period [45]. This difference was not seen in patients without P. aeruginosa. Additionally, these benefits were not seen in patients concomitantly prescribed inhaled tobramycin, consistent with previous post hoc and in vitro data, suggesting a possible antagonistic effect [46]. However, a recent RCT did not show a deleterious effect in patients on both drugs, providing some reassurance to clinical teams of this common prescribing practice [47].

The chronic use of doxycycline or co-trimoxazole as suppressant therapies has been reported anecdotally by some clinicians when other treatment options have failed, but supporting evidence is scant and registry data is not granular enough to estimate use. Neither doxycycline nor co-trimoxazole have direct anti-pseudomonal properties. Of the two, doxycycline probably has the most mechanistic data, as it is known to inhibit matrix metalloproteinase 9, a protease associated with the chronic neutrophilic infection of CF lung disease [48]. A double blind RCT of eight days of doxycycline treatment in addition to standard IV antibiotics for a pulmonary exacerbation in patients with chronic P. aeruginosa infection demonstrated improvements in inflammatory markers and clinical outcomes including FEV_1 [47]. While these results show promise, further studies are required, particularly in the context of chronic treatment. To our knowledge no CF studies have been conducted

to support the use of co-trimoxazole in this context, although plausible explanations for benefit might include the treatment of co-existing susceptible pathogens.

16.4 Intravenous antibiotics

Apart from treating pulmonary exacerbations, IV antibiotics are not usually considered for chronic suppression of P. aeruginosa. The reasons for this include toxicity, side effects, inconvenience and treatment burden. However, patients with severe disease, high sputum burden and highly resistant P. aeruginosa isolates often require longer and more frequent IV courses, particularly in the context of end-stage disease, which might include bridging to lung transplant [49]. In this situation, it can be difficult to differentiate between genuine "acute" exacerbations and chronic pulmonary sepsis. From the UK Registry, in 2020, the median (interquartile range) annual IV antibiotic days for adults (≥18 years) was 25 [10-43, 45-50] with a maximum of 90 days [3]. Although the data do not report the actual length of each treatment course, it is likely some patients will have had treatment significantly beyond the standard 14 days in an attempt to further suppress bacteria. However, the practice of administering longer courses is largely based on clinical experience and recently has been challenged by the results of the STOP2 RCT of optimal IV antibiotic treatment [50]. This showed no added benefit of 21 days of treatment versus 14 days, although it is important to highlight that patients with a history of frequent IV antibiotic treatment were excluded from the study, which is likely to be relevant to some of the patients discussed here.

Chapter 16 - Suppression therapy for chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa

16.5 Future therapies

Amikacin liposome inhalation suspension (ALIS; Arikace®, INSMED) was developed for the treatment of chronic P. aeruginosa in CF, but is not yet licensed [51, 52]. Its sustained-release liposomal formulation was designed to better penetrate viscid mucus and pseudomonal biofilms [51, 53]. As well as once-daily dosing, an added advantage is site-specific release of drug from the liposomes by bacterial rhamnolipids. A phase III open-label study assessing efficacy and safety of ALIS showed non-inferiority to TIS with respect to lung function change over 3 treatment cycles (28-days on/28-days off) [51]. In the subsequent open-label extension study, ALIS was shown to be well tolerated with a favorable safety profile and sustained antibacterial activity over 96 weeks [52], however the ALIS development program appears to be on hold.

Fosfomycin, a phosphonic acid antibiotic, with a broad spectrum of activity, has been combined with tobramycin, to take advantage of synergistic effects [41]. Despite promising results of a phase II study, the program is currently on hold [54, 55].

Ciprofloxacin dry powder for inhalation was trialed in a randomized, placebo-controlled, phase IIb study, but unfortunately failed to meet its primary endpoint of change in FEV₁, and the CF program was terminated [56].

Several novel non-antibiotic approaches are also being explored to treat chronic pseudomonal infection in CF, with gallium and bacteriophage therapy currently in clinical trials [55]. Gallium, a group 13 metal, disrupts key iron-dependent processes in bacteria [57]. A phase II study (NCT02354859) evaluating the safety and efficacy of a five-day IV infusion in adults with chronic *P. aeruginosa* has been completed. A phase I/IIa study of inhaled gallium (NCT03669614) is underway, to evaluate the efficacy and PK profile in healthy adults and the safety, PK and efficacy of repeat administrations in *P. aeruginosa* infected pwCF.

Lytic bacteriophages are strain-specific viruses that infect and replicate within bacterial cells, lysing the host cell when releasing viral progeny [58]. In chronic and acute murine models of *P. aeruginosa* infection, lytic phage preparations have shown efficacy, reducing bacterial load and inflammation with no evidence of toxicity [59, 60]. Armata Pharmaceuticals have formulated an inhaled multi-phage cocktail (AP-PA02). It is under investigation in a phase lb/IIa study (NCT04596319) to determine safety and tolerability in CF.

16.6 Old and new challenges

With the growing adoption of highly effective CFTR modulator therapies it remains to be seen how chronic pseudomonal infection will continue to impact CF lung pathophysiology and if inhaled antimicrobial therapies will continue to play as critical a role in CF pulmonary management. However, some pwCF do not tolerate or do not respond to commercially available inhaled therapies or have resistant bacteria other than *P. aeruginosa*. Therefore, antibiotic drug development is still needed, to provide options to these patients, and to patients not receiving CFTR modulators, either because of ineligibility or intolerance.

Strategies to simplify dosing regimens, encourage adherence and promote patient satisfaction remain important priorities. Old challenges persist, including determining the impact of longterm use of suppression therapy on quality of life and survival. The evolution of culture-inde-

Chapter 16 - Suppression therapy for chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa

pendent techniques for microbial analysis may provide better insights into the relationship between the CF lung microbiome and inhaled antibiotic efficacy and enable better identification of new therapies. However, new challenges in the post modulator era are emerging, particularly around airway sampling to guide decisions on safe withdrawal of suppression therapy, as patients are producing less sputum and are increasingly keen to reduce treatment burden as their clinical outcomes improve.

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 16 - Suppression therapy for chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Figure 1

Modes of action of inhaled antibiotics approved for chronic suppression of *P. aeruginosa* infection in CF.



Abbreviations: BP3=Penicillin-binding protein 3; LPS=Lipopolysaccharide. Reproduced with permission from [29]

Chapter 16 - Suppression therapy for chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Table 1

Summary characteristics of commercially approved inhaled antibiotics for chronic suppression of *P. aeruginosa* infection in CF

Drug preparation	Brand name(s)	Inhalation device(s)	Dose	Inhalation time (min)	Frequency of device sterilisation	Preparation	Need for refrigeration	Selected common or undesirable side effects
Tobramycin inhalation solution	TOBI Bramitob	Pari-LC Plus E-flow rapid (Off-label) I-neb (Off-label)	300 mg BD	~4-20	Each use	Ampoule, ready to use	Yes	Cough, tinnitus, hearing loss, dysphonia*
Tobramycin inhalation powder	TOBI Podhaler	Podhaler DPI	112 mg BD	~5	Not required. Device discarded after 1 week	Four capsules	No	Cough, tinnitus, hearing loss, dysphonia*
Colomycin inhalation suspension	Colistin Promixin	Pari-LC Plus E-flow rapid I-neb	1-2 million IU BD	~3-15 depending on inhalation device used	Each use	Ampoule, dilu- tion required	No	Cough, bronchospasm, throat irritation
Colomycin inhalation powder	Colobreath	Turbospin DPI	1 662 500 IU BD	~1	Not required. Clean with a dry wipe	One capsule	No	Dyspnoea, dysphonia, cough, throat irritation
Aztreonam lysine for inhalation	Cayston	Altera nebuliser with E-flow rapid	75 mg TDS (at least 4 h between doses)	~2-3	Each use	Ampoule, dilu- tion required	Yes	Cough, nasal congestion, wheeze, dyspnoea
Levofloxacin inhalation solution	Quinsair	Zirela nebulizer with E-flow rapid	240 mg BD	~5	Each use	Ampoule, ready to use	No	Dysgeusia

Abbreviations: BD=twice a day; DPI=day power inhaler; TDS=three times daily

Adapted with permission from [29]. Refer to the respective summary of product characteristics for specific drugs for more detailed information.

*Tinnitus, hearing loss and dysphonia were reported in controlled trials of nebulized tobramycin events. The episodes were transient and resolved without discontinuation of tobramycin and were not associated with permanent deficit on audiology testing.

Chapter 16 - Suppression therapy for chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Bibliography

- [1] Li Z, Kosorok MR, Farrell PM, Laxova A, West SE, Green CG, et al. Longitudinal development of mucoid Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection and lung disease progression in children with cystic fibrosis. Jama. 2005;293:581–8. DOI:10.1001/jama.293.5.581
- [2] Orenti A, Zolin A, Rens Jv, Fox A, Krasnyk M, Daneau G, et al. ECFS patient registry annual data report 2020. European Cystic Fibrosis Society; 2022.
- [3] UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry Team. UK cystic fibrosis trust registry 2020 annual data report. United Kingdom: Cystic Fibrosis Trust; 2021.
- [4] Emerson J, Rosenfeld M, McNamara S, Ramsey B, Gibson RL. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and other predictors of mortality and morbidity in young children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2002;34:91–100. DOI:10.1002/ppul.10127
- [5] Folkesson A, Jelsbak L, Yang L, Johansen HK, Ciofu O, Høiby N, et al. Adaptation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa to the cystic fibrosis airway: an evolutionary perspective. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2012;10:841–51. DOI:10.1038/ nrmicro2907
- [6] Lorè NI, Cigana C, De Fino I, Riva C, Juhas M, Schwager S, et al. Cystic fibrosis-niche adaptation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa reduces virulence in multiple infection hosts. PLoS One. 2012;7:e35648. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0035648
- [7] Mayer-Hamblett N, Rosenfeld M, Treggiari MM, Konstan MW, Retsch-Bogart G, Morgan W, et al. Standard care versus protocol based therapy for new onset *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2013;48:943–53. DOI:10.1002/ppul.22693

- [8] Smith S, Rowbotham NJ, Regan KH. Inhaled anti-pseudomonal antibiotics for longterm therapy in cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;3:Cd001021. DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD001021.pub3
- [9] Waters VJ, Kidd TJ, Canton R, Ekkelenkamp MB, Johansen HK, LiPuma JJ, et al. Reconciling antimicrobial susceptibility testing and clinical response in antimicrobial treatment of chronic cystic fibrosis lung infections. Clin Infect Dis. 2019;69:1812–6. DOI:10.1093/cid/ciz364
- [10] Gustinetti G, Cangemi G, Bandettini R, Castagnola E. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic parameters for treatment optimization of infection due to antibiotic resistant bacteria: a summary for practical purposes in children and adults. J Chemother. 2018;30:65–81. DOI:10.1080/112000 9x.2017.1377909
- [11] Gould IM, MacKenzie FM. Antibiotic exposure as a risk factor for emergence of resistance: the influence of concentration. J Appl Microbiol. 2002;92 Suppl:78s-84.
- [12] Høiby N. Recent advances in the treatment of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infections in cystic fibrosis. BMC Med. 2011;9:32. DOI:10.1186/1741-7015-9-32
- [13] Geller DE. Aerosol antibiotics in cystic fibrosis. Respir Care. 2009;54:658–70. DOI:10.4187/ aarc0537
- [14] Worlitzsch D, Tarran R, Ulrich M, Schwab U, Cekici A, Meyer KC, et al. Effects of reduced mucus oxygen concentration in airway *Pseudomonas* infections of cystic fibrosis patients. J Clin Invest. 2002;109:317–25. DOI:10.1172/jci13870
- [15] Ramsey BW, Pepe MS, Quan JM, Otto KL, Montgomery AB, Williams-Warren J, et al. Intermittent administration of inhaled tobramycin in patients with cystic fibrosis. Cystic fibrosis inhaled tobramycin study group. N Engl J Med. 1999;340:23–30. DOI:10.1056/ nejm199901073400104

- [16] Geller DE, Pitlick WH, Nardella PA, Tracewell WG, Ramsey BW. Pharmacokinetics and bioavailability of aerosolized tobramycin in cystic fibrosis. Chest. 2002;122:219–26. DOI:10.1378/chest.122.1.219
- [17] Rosenfeld M, Gibson R, McNamara S, Emerson J, McCoyd KS, Shell R, et al. Serum and lower respiratory tract drug concentrations after tobramycin inhalation in young children with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr. 2001;139:572–7. DOI:10.1067/mpd.2001.117785
- [18] Di SAPE, Andersen DH. Celiac syndrome; chemotherapy in infections of the respiratory tract associated with cystic fibrosis of the pancreas; observations with penicillin and drugs of the sulfonamide group, with special reference to penicillin aerosol. Am J Dis Child (1911). 1946;72:17–61.
- [19] Castellani C, Duff AJA, Bell SC, Heijerman HGM, Munck A, Ratjen F, *et al.* ECFS best practice guidelines: the 2018 revision. J Cyst Fibros. 2018;17:153–78. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2018.02.006
- [20] Cystic Fibrosis Trust Working Group. Standards for the clinical care of children and adults with cystic fibrosis in the UK. 2nd ed. London: Cystic Fibrosis Trust; 2011.
- [21] Konstan MW, Geller DE, Minić P, Brockhaus F, Zhang J, Angyalosi G. Tobramycin inhalation powder for *P. aeruginosa* infection in cystic fibrosis: the EVOLVE trial. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2011;46:230–8. DOI:10.1002/ppul.21356
- [22] Konstan MW, Flume PA, Kappler M, Chiron R, Higgins M, Brockhaus F, et al. Safety, efficacy and convenience of tobramycin inhalation powder in cystic fibrosis patients: The EAGER trial. J Cyst Fibros. 2011;10:54–61. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2010.10.003

- [23] Schuster A, Haliburn C, Döring G, Goldman MH. Safety, efficacy and convenience of colistimethate sodium dry powder for inhalation (Colobreathe DPI) in patients with cystic fibrosis: a randomised study. Thorax. 2013;68:344–50. DOI:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2012-202059
- [24] Taccetti G, Francalanci M, Pizzamiglio G, Messore B, Carnovale V, Cimino G, et al. Cystic fibrosis: recent insights into inhaled antibiotic treatment and future perspectives. Antibiotics (Basel). 2021;10:338. DOI:10.3390/antibiotics10030338
- [25] Littlewood JM, Koch C, Lambert PA, Høiby N, Elborn JS, Conway SP, et al. A ten year review of colomycin. Respir Med. 2000;94:632–40. DOI:10.1053/rmed.2000.0834
- [26] Agent P, Parrott H. Inhaled therapy in cystic fibrosis: agents, devices and regimens. Breathe (Sheff). 2015;11:110–8. DOI:10.1183/20734735.021014
- [27] Murphy TD, Anbar RD, Lester LA, Nasr SZ, Nickerson B, VanDevanter DR, et al. Treatment with tobramycin solution for inhalation reduces hospitalizations in young CF subjects with mild lung disease. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2004;38:314–20. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.20097
- [28] Chuchalin A, Csiszér E, Gyurkovics K, Bartnicka MT, Sands D, Kapranov N, et al. A formulation of aerosolized tobramycin (Bramitob) in the treatment of patients with cystic fibrosis and Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter study. Paediatr Drugs. 2007;9 Suppl 1:21–31. DOI:10.2165/00148581-200709001-00004
- [29] Elborn JS, Flume PA, Van Devanter DR, Procaccianti C. Management of chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection with inhaled levofloxacin in people with cystic fibrosis. Future Microbiol. 2021;16:1087–104. DOI:10.2217/fmb-2021-0150

- [30] McCoy KS, Quittner AL, Oermann CM, Gibson RL, Retsch-Bogart GZ, Montgomery AB. Inhaled aztreonam lysine for chronic airway *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2008;178:921–8. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200712-1804OC
- [31] Retsch-Bogart GZ, Quittner AL, Gibson RL, Oermann CM, McCoy KS, Montgomery AB, et al. Efficacy and safety of inhaled aztreonam lysine for airway *Pseudomonas* in cystic fibrosis. Chest. 2009;135:1223–32. DOI:10.1378/ chest.08-1421
- [32] Oermann CM, Retsch-Bogart GZ, Quittner AL, Gibson RL, McCoy KS, Montgomery AB, et al. An 18-month study of the safety and efficacy of repeated courses of inhaled aztreonam lysine in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2010;45:1121–34. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.21301
- [33] Assael BM, Pressler T, Bilton D, Fayon M, Fischer R, Chiron R, et al. Inhaled aztreonam lysine vs. inhaled tobramycin in cystic fibrosis: a comparative efficacy trial. J Cyst Fibros. 2013;12:130–40. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2012.07.006
- [34] Waters V, Ratjen F. Pulmonary exacerbations in children with cystic fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2015;12 Suppl 2:S200-6. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201502-098AW
- [35] Geller DE, Flume PA, Staab D, Fischer R, Loutit JS, Conrad DJ. Levofloxacin inhalation solution (MP-376) in patients with cystic fibrosis with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;183:1510–6. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201008-1293OC
- [36] Flume PA, VanDevanter DR, Morgan EE, Dudley MN, Loutit JS, Bell SC, et al. A phase 3, multi-center, multinational, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study to evaluate the efficacy and safety of levofloxacin inhalation solution (APT-1026) in stable cystic fibrosis patients. J Cyst Fibros. 2016;15:495–502. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2015.12.004

- [37] Elborn JS, Vataire AL, Fukushima A, Aballea S, Khemiri A, Moore C, et al. Comparison of inhaled antibiotics for the treatment of chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa lung infection in patients with cystic fibrosis: systematic literature review and network meta-analysis. Clin Ther. 2016;38:2204–26. DOI:10.1016/j.clinthera.2016.08.014
- [38] LiPuma JJ. Microbiological and immunologic considerations with aerosolized drug delivery. Chest. 2001;120:118s–23. DOI:10.1378/ chest.120.3_suppl.118s
- [39] Retsch-Bogart GZ, Burns JL, Otto KL, Liou TG, McCoy K, Oermann C, et al. A phase 2 study of aztreonam lysine for inhalation to treat patients with cystic fibrosis and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2008;43:47–58. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.20736
- [40] Rojo-Molinero E, Macià MD, Rubio R, Moyà B, Cabot G, López-Causapé C, et al. Sequential treatment of biofilms with aztreonam and tobramycin Is a novel strategy for combating Pseudomonas aeruginosa chronic respiratory infections. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2016;60:2912–22. DOI:10.1128/ aac.00196-16
- [41] Döring G, Flume P, Heijerman H, Elborn JS. Treatment of lung infection in patients with cystic fibrosis: current and future strategies.
 J Cyst Fibros. 2012;11:461–79. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2012.10.004
- [42] Saiman L, Anstead M, Mayer-Hamblett N, Lands LC, Kloster M, Hocevar-Trnka J, et al. Effect of azithromycin on pulmonary function in patients with cystic fibrosis uninfected with *Pseudomonas aerugino*sa: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2010;303:1707–15. DOI:10.1001/jama.2010.563

Chapter 16 - Suppression therapy for chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa

- [43] Bystrzycka W, Manda-Handzlik A, Sieczkowska S, Moskalik A, Demkow U, Ciepiela O. Azithromycin and chloramphenicol diminish neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) release. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18:2666. DOI:10.3390/ijms18122666
- [44] Shinkai M, Foster GH, Rubin BK. Macrolide antibiotics modulate ERK phosphorylation and IL-8 and GM-CSF production by human bronchial epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2006;290:L75–85. DOI:10.1152/ajplung.00093.2005
- [45] Nichols DP, Odem-Davis K, Cogen JD, Goss CH, Ren CL, Skalland M, et al. Pulmonary outcomes associated with long-term azithromycin therapy in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2020;201:430–7. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201906-12060C
- [46] Nick JA, Moskowitz SM, Chmiel JF, Forssén AV, Kim SH, Saavedra MT, et al. Azithromycin may antagonize inhaled tobramycin when targeting *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in cystic fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2014;11:342– 50. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201310-3520C
- [47] Nichols DP, Singh PK, Baines A, Caverly LJ, Chmiel JF, RL GI, et al. Testing the effects of combining azithromycin with inhaled tobramycin for P. aeruginosa in cystic fibrosis: a randomised, controlled clinical trial. Thorax. 2022;77:581–8. DOI:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2021-217782
- [48] Golub LM, Sorsa T, Lee HM, Ciancio S, Sorbi D, Ramamurthy NS, et al. Doxycycline inhibits neutrophil (PMN)-type matrix metalloproteinases in human adult periodontitis gingiva. J Clin Periodontol. 1995;22:100–9. DOI:10.1111/j.1600-051x.1995.tb00120.x
- [49] Snell G, Reed A, Stern M, Hadjiliadis D. The evolution of lung transplantation for cystic fibrosis: a 2017 update. J Cyst Fibros. 2017;16:553-64. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2017.06.008

- [50] Goss CH, Heltshe SL, West NE, Skalland M, Sanders DB, Jain R, et al. A randomized clinical trial of antimicrobial duration for cystic fibrosis pulmonary exacerbation treatment. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2021;204:1295– 305. DOI:10.1164/rccm.202102-04610C
- [51] Bilton D, Pressler T, Fajac I, Clancy JP, Sands D, Minic P, et al. Amikacin liposome inhalation suspension for chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2020;19:284–91. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2019.08.001
- [52] Bilton D, Fajac I, Pressler T, Clancy JP, Sands D, Minic P, et al. Long-term amikacin liposome inhalation suspension in cystic fibrosis patients with chronic P. aeruginosa infection. J Cyst Fibros. 2021;20:1010–7. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2021.05.013
- [53] Meers P, Neville M, Malinin V, Scotto AW, Sardaryan G, Kurumunda R, et al. Biofilm penetration, triggered release and in vivo activity of inhaled liposomal amikacin in chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa lung infections. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2008;61:859–68. DOI:10.1093/jac/dkn059
- [54] Trapnell BC, McColley SA, Kissner DG, Rolfe MW, Rosen JM, McKevitt M, et al. Fosfomycin/tobramycin for inhalation in patients with cystic fibrosis with pseudomonas airway infection. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2012;185:171–8. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201105-0924OC
- [55] Smith WD, Bardin E, Cameron L, Edmondson CL, Farrant KV, Martin I, et al. Current and future therapies for Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in patients with cystic fibrosis. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2017;364. DOI:10.1093/ femsle/fnx121
- [56] Dorkin HL, Staab D, Operschall E, Alder J, Criollo M. Ciprofloxacin DPI: a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase IIb efficacy and safety study on cystic fibrosis. BMJ Open Respir Res. 2015;2:e000100. DOI:10.1136/bmjresp-2015-000100

Chapter 16 - Suppression therapy for chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Chapter 16 - Suppression therapy for chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa

- [57] Goss CH, Kaneko Y, Khuu L, Anderson GD, Ravishankar S, Aitken ML, et al. Gallium disrupts bacterial iron metabolism and has therapeutic effects in mice and humans with lung infections. Sci Transl Med. 2018;10:eaat7520. DOI:10.1126/scitranslmed. aat7520
- [58] Trend S, Fonceca AM, Ditcham WG, Kicic A, Cf A. The potential of phage therapy in cystic fibrosis: essential human-bacterial-phage interactions and delivery considerations for use in Pseudomonas aeruginosa-infected airways. J Cyst Fibros. 2017;16:663-70. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2017.06.012
- [59] Pabary R, Singh C, Morales S, Bush A, Alshafi K, Bilton D, et al. Antipseudomonal bacteriophage reduces infective burden and inflammatory response in murine lung. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2016;60:744–51. DOI:10.1128/aac.01426-15
- [60] Waters EM, Neill DR, Kaman B, Sahota JS, Clokie MRJ, Winstanley C, et al. Phage therapy is highly effective against chronic lung infections with Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Thorax. 2017;72:666-7. DOI:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-209265

230

232

Chapter 17 *Staphylococcus aureus* in the airways of people with cystic fibrosis

Authors

Kevin Southern, Marianne Muhlebach

Introduction

The relationship between *Staphylococcus aureus* and humans is complex and that complexity is heightened for people with CF (pwCF). This chapter will consider and discuss the role of *S. aureus* in CF lung disease, including its methicillin resistance form (MRSA). Information will be provided on epidemiology, virulence factors, diagnosis and treatment approaches.

17.1 Biology of Staphylococcus aureus infection

In contrast to most CF pathogens, S. aureus is not an environmental bacterium but rather a natural colonizer of humans and other domesticated and wild animals and birds [1, 2]. Colonization typically occurs on skin and mucus membranes, with about 30% of humans having chronic nasal colonization. Nasal colonization is lower for MRSA with prevalence ranging from <0.5% in Scandinavian countries, to 1-4% in the USA or India among healthy people not working in healthcare settings [3]. Chronic MRSA colonization may be associated with an increased risk of post-operative infections in adults, however confounders are underlying disease and length of surgery [4]. Colonization rates vary by region of residence but are often higher in children who attend daycare or school [5]. Several countries also report livestock associated MRSA, predominantly the ST398 strain, mostly in people with close contact with the animals [6].

The identification of numerous strains of S. aureus using a variety of genetic testing approaches has provided key epidemiological information. The most established method is pulse-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE), which compares gel electrophoresis patterns of each strain. This involved method has now been replaced by more efficient sequencing methods such as multilocus sequence typing (MLST) and typing of the gene encoding the variable tandem repeat region of staphylococcal protein A (spa typing). For more granular, mostly research-related, tracking, whole genome sequencing has become cheaper and faster to perform. One particular gene sequence (the mobile genetic element, SCCmec) is particularly relevant to MRSA, as certain strains are associated with resistance to the penicillin-binding protein [7]. Of the 12 currently recognized SCCmec variants, the mec II type is most frequent in the healthcare setting and mec IV type is most frequent in the community. However, the smaller size of the mec IV confers a higher fitness. Therefore, the SCCmec IV strains have become highly prevalent in healthcare settings. contributing to nosocomial outbreaks [8].

S. aureus causes a wide range of infections in humans ranging from minor skin infections to overwhelming sepsis. The steps leading from colonization to infection and the associated changes in bacterial virulence and metabolism during this transition have been intensively studied, but many aspects remain incomplete-

ly understood. Key processes include adhesion, changes in multiplication rate, and production and regulation of virulence factors that either cause toxicity or inhibit host immune functions. Triggers for infection include changes in the host, for example viral infections in the context of *S. aureus* lung infections. No biomarkers have been found to reliably predict transition from colonization to infection. Such biomarkers would be beneficial, and possibly very relevant for pwCF, to distinguish upper airway colonization from airway infection.

17.2 *Staphylococcus aureus* epidemiology

Data from the US patient registry suggest that S. aureus is a regular isolate from the respiratory cultures of pwCF, in contrast to registry data from the UK [9, 10]. Of note, UK data reports chronic infection whereas US data reports any S. aureus identification. Anti-staphylococcal antibiotic prophylaxis is recommended in the first three years of life in the UK [11]. A detailed longitudinal observational study of children with CF comparing US and UK registry data and adjusting for significant confounding variables, suggested that US children had an increased risk for S. aureus detection (hazard ratio 5.79; 95% confidence interval [CI], 4.85-6.90) and an increased risk of P. aeruginosa detection (1.92, 95% CI, 1.65-2.24) [12]. Children in the UK on flucloxacillin prophvlaxis were at increased risk of P. aeruginosa detection. The observation of higher P. aeruginosa detection despite higher rates of S. aureus [12], and studies on sputum cultures and the US patient registry, do not support the notion that S. aureus colonization protects against P. aeruginosa airway infection [13, 14].

The relationship between *P. aeruginosa* and *S. aureus* in CF has been investigated extensively and data from *in vivo* and laboratory work

234

are sometimes contradictory. Environmental *P. aeruginosa* and *S. aureus* co-exist. However, *P. aeruginosa* that has adapted to the CF airway environment has a more commensal-like approach, and may even encourage *S. aureus* resistance to certain antibiotics. In addition there is good evidence that in this environment the *S. aureus* may itself adapt to small colony forming variants (SCVs) and with this phenotype co-exist with *P. aeruginosa* [15] as well as other pathogen-pathogen interactions [16]. SCV *S. aureus* has been associated with worse clinical outcomes for CF respiratory health, yet can be easily missed by standard microbiological culture techniques.

The epidemiology of MRSA also differs significantly between different countries and typically mirrors rates of MRSA in non-CF populations [17]. The prevalence of MRSA in pwCF is around 25% in the US, with higher rates in the south and southwest regions of the US compared to the west. In contrast MRSA is almost never reported in pwCF from the Netherlands or Denmark. Across the countries contributing data to the ECFS Patient Registry (ECFSPR), the average rate of MRSA in 2021 was 4.56% ranging from 0.5 to 22% [18].

17.3 Resistance, virulence and persistence

17.3.1 Antibiotic resistance

S. aureus has developed resistance to many antibiotics; initially to oxacillin, then to methicillin shortly after its introduction and for almost all newly developed antibiotics within a few years of their clinical use. In pwCF in the US, there is a high rate of MRSA resistance to clindamycin (70-90%), likely related to frequent use of macrolides [19]. Resistance to fluoroquinolones is equally frequent and fluoroquinolones can induce high level oxacillin resistance and cross-resistance to

Chapter 17 - Staphylococcus aureus in the airways of people with cystic fibrosis

other antibiotic classes [20]. Resistance to linezolid and vancomycin intermediate and vancomycin heteroresistance (i.e., a sub-population of resistant isolates) is also recognized albeit less frequently [21]. As routine clinical susceptibility testing only evaluates a few isolates per sample, heteroresistance can be missed and more extensive testing should be considered in patients with MRSA airway infection failing to respond to therapy.

17.3.2 Virulence factors, resistance and tolerance

In CF respiratory infections, the persistence of the organism remains the challenge, rather than fulminant infections as seen in non-CF *S. aureus* pneumonia. This persistence is enhanced due to the versatility and adaptation of *S. aureus* to the CF lung environment leading to immune evasion and failure of antibiotics. Factors that contribute to persistent infection include adherence processes, toxin production, adaptation to the CF airway environment and evasion of the immune system.

17.3.3 Adherence processes

Adherence to the cell surface is mediated by surface proteins anchored in the bacterial cell wall with currently about 24 different *S. aureus* known surface proteins. These surface proteins possess specificity to different host structures (e.g., binding to fibronectin, complement factors or hemoglobin), yet show variable expression depending on growth conditions and growth phase of the organism [22].

17.3.4 Toxin production

S. aureus produces a variety of toxins including α -hemolysin, toxic shock syndrome toxin (TSST-1), and SEA (Staphylococcal enterotoxin A). The interaction of toxins, severity of disease and potential for chronic infection is complex. High toxin-producing strains are more transmissible and more likely to transition from colonization to

mild infection. In contrast, low toxin-producing strains may be more successful in establishing chronic infection [23]. Severe fulminant infections are unusual for CF respiratory infections, where even exacerbations are not typically associated with signs of systemic inflammation.

The accessory gene regulator (*agr*) is a quorum sensing system regulating toxin production and growth mode. This system senses environmental conditions (e.g., nutrient limitation and *S. aureus* cell density) for regulation of toxin expression, cell wall surface attachment and biofilm formation. Mutations in the *agr* locus have been shown to be present in *S. aureus* in CF chronic lung disease [24]. Interestingly certain *agr*-types may be associated with clinical outcomes in CF, yet virulence factors were not, and over time a decrease in virulence genes was noted [25]. This down-regulation of toxins has been described as part of adaptation to chronic infection in CF *S. aureus* isolates [26, 27].

As the virulence and toxin profiles overlap between methicillin sensitive S. aureus (MSSA) and MRSA, it is unlikely that MRSA-specific virulence factors cause the worse outcomes seen with chronic MRSA compared to chronic MSSA infections in pwCF [28, 29]. However, the Panton Valentine Leukocidin (PVL) toxin is expressed about twice as often by MRSA compared to MSSA strains. The MRSA strain USA300 was associated with a surge in community associated MRSA infections in the early 2000s and encoded the pvl gene in 80-100% of isolates [30]. PVL attaches to specific leukocyte membrane receptors causing perforation and necrosis, and was initially considered to be the key toxin responsible for necrotic skin and lung infections. Despite initial epidemiologic reports showing a higher mortality with PVL positive strains, the contribution of PVL to poor outcomes has not been confirmed [31, 32]. Similar to the high rate of USA300 in the general population, there was also a spike in in-

cident MRSA among the US CF population and a shift from SCC*mec* II to SCC*mec* IV, many of which were PVL positive [33, 34]. Yet, the duration of infection rather than *mec* type was a more important determinant of outcome [34].

17.3.5 Adaptation

As with other bacteria, S. aureus phenotypic and genotypic adaptability is associated with slower growth, decreased metabolic activity and escape from the immune system. S. aureus isolates from respiratory cultures from pwCF often show slow growth, likely due to decreased anabolic activity, with heterogeneity of growth within a given sputum [35]. Biofilm formation, mucoidity and growth under micro-aerophilic or hypoxic conditions have all been described in CF lung disease [36, 37]. Bacterial biofilms represent a community of bacteria (single- or mixed-species) with different functional and structural properties embedded in an extracellular matrix. Relevant to therapy, antimicrobial susceptibility testing under biofilm conditions does not improve predictive value of MIC related to clinical outcomes [38].

SCV of S. aureus have characteristically slow growth, are metabolically less active and can persist intracellularly, all of which renders them refractory to antibiotic therapy. These SCV are also called auxotrophs as they require specific substrates for growth that are not required by other isolates. The most frequent substrates that support or repress growth are menadione, haemin, thymine, and CO₂. In pwCF, SCV are most often thymidine auxotrophs associated with extensive prior use of trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (TMP-SMX). Other antibiotics associated with auxotrophs are aminoglycosides with auxotrophism to the substrate haemin and/or meandione. Reports from European and North American CF centers have shown that SCV S. aureus (either as MSSA or MRSA) is associated with worse clinical outcomes [39-42]. Despite the clinical relevance, SCV may be underreported by clinical laboratories given their slow growth, being overgrown by regular phenotypic *S. aureus*, and their requirements for special growth substrates. Reports on their prevalence range between 8% and 24% in *S. aureus* positive cultures [40, 42].

Another phenotype of decreased metabolic activity are "persister cells" defined as isolates within a bacterial population that can withstand bactericidal doses of antibiotics and then regrow from their dormant state. Growth under reduced oxygen or anaerobic conditions is also associated with decreased metabolic activity.

17.3.6 Evasion of the immune system

S. *aureus* can evade the immune system at a number of levels: inhibition of the complement system, decreased neutrophil recruitment, reduced neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), and diminished phagocytosis provided by staphylx-anthin. *S. aureus* possesses many mechanisms that interfere with phagocytosis and intracellular killing by macrophages and neutrophils [43]. In addition, *S. aureus* can affect T cell memory function at multiple steps including differentiation and proliferation of memory and effector cells [44].

Such observations are relevant to the as yet unsuccessful vaccine development for both non-CF and CF populations [45]. Antibody levels are lower in infants and increase with age, indicating early exposure and likely sub-clinical infections contributing to immune response. Yet humans can have recurrent infections indicating lack of competent immunity. Antibody detection for diagnosis of invasive *S. aureus* infections is of interest in CF. Antibody levels against Hla, LukA, LuKS-PVL showed initially promising results but were not sufficiently sensitive [46]. A recent study showed that auto-antibodies to the enzyme peptidylarginine deiminase 4 (PAD4), which is required for NET formation, were el-

Chapter 17 - Staphylococcus aureus in the airways of people with cystic fibrosis

evated in CF compared to healthy controls, increase with age and correlated negatively with lung function [47]. Such serum diagnostic markers may be of increasing relevance to distinguish infection from upper airway colonization as fewer patients produce sputum. However more work is required to determine the validity of this approach.

17.3.7 In vivo pathogenicity of Staphylococcus aureus in CF

The early occurrence of S. aureus positive cultures and its presence as an indolent colonizer contribute to the ongoing debate about treatment. Arguments for treatment are the better survival of children on anti-staphylococcal therapy in the 1960s, the beneficial effect of antibiotics in patients with S. aureus as sole organism and pediatric studies showing increased inflammation in bronchoalveolar lavage with S. aureus isolation [48, 49]. The argument against treatment is our poor ability to distinguish colonization from infection especially in people who do not expectorate sputum and with unchanged clinical status. The complex interaction between S. aureus and the airways of pwCF underlies the varied approaches to treatment that are covered in the next section.

17.4 Therapeutic approaches for *Staphylococcus aureus*

17.4.1 Methicillin Sensitive Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA)

There is significant global disparity in the approach to acute and prophylactic treatment of MSSA in the airways of pwCF. The US antibiotic guidelines recommend against the routine use of anti-staphylococcal antibiotic prophylaxis (ASAP). The rationale for this recommendation is that ASAP may predispose pwCF to earlier airway infection with *P. aeruginosa*, a gram-negative bacterium that is challenging to treat in CF (see Chapters 15 and 16). This hypothesis relates to the results of a large double-blind study undertaken in the US, where children diagnosed with CF were randomly allocated to receive cefalexin as ASAP or a placebo [50]. The study duration was for up to seven years and the primary outcome was spirometry when the children were old enough to perform this measure. The children on cefalexin had significantly less isolation of S. aureus from respiratory cultures but an increased tendency to grow P. aeruginosa, although not at the expense of decreased lung function. These results underpin the recommendation against ASAP in the US. In addition, most US centers disregard the identification of S. aureus on a routine respiratory sample in an asymptomatic patient [51]. The high rates of S. aureus identification reported on the US patient registry is a consequence of this approach, yet supports the rationale that S. aureus may not be a significant pathogen in well children and adults with CF.

In contrast, most centers in Europe take a more active approach to treating S. aureus isolated from a routine respiratory sample, even in a well child with CF. Some countries, most notably the UK, have had a culture of using ASAP, generally with the narrow spectrum antibiotic flucloxacillin. The UK guidelines suggest a twice daily reduced dose of this antibiotic in pre-school children. This is based on a small study undertaken in the 1980s, which demonstrated reduced S. aureus isolation and hospitalization in infants on flucloxacillin ASAP compared to those given antibiotics in a more targeted manner [52]. A larger study (CF START) is now revisiting this question and has enrolled over 400 infants in the UK to assess the impact of ASAP on age of growth of *P. aeruginosa*, compared to infants treated in a more targeted manner (https://www. isrctn.com/ISRCTN18130649). The study will also assess the need for antibiotic treatment and a measure of respiratory function (lung clearance

Chapter 17 - Staphylococcus aureus in the airways of people with cystic fibrosis

index) when the child is 40 months of age. Although the use of ASAP is less embedded in UK practice than previously, partly as a result of CF START, the study will provide a clearer picture of the impact of ASAP and provide evidence to guide early antibiotic treatment in infants with CF.

17.4.2 MRSA

European and US CF care guidelines do not recommend prophylactic or maintenance antibiotics for MRSA [51]. Similar to MSSA, ECFS and UK guidelines recommend treatment of MRSA for incident infections or when patients are symptomatic without guidance on antibiotic choices. The US guidelines do not specify indications or antibiotic choices for MRSA, which may explain the wide variation in treatment choices found in a survey of US CF care centers [53]. At that time, TMP-SMX was the most frequently prescribed therapy for outpatient therapy (-35% of respondents) and linezolid for inpatient therapy (-18% of respondents).

Incident MRSA can be treated and eradicated, as shown by several case series and small retrospective analyses without control groups. Various medications and regimens were used in the retrospective studies, most frequently oral fusidic acid in combination with rifampin. Other medications included tetracyclines, TMP-SMX and oral linezolid. Success rates were 66% (19/29) at end of dual therapy and 52% (16/31) at 6 months [54], and 73% (27/37 participants) at 6 months in two of these studies [55]. A more aggressive approach used dual IV therapy (with various antibiotics used) followed by 6 weeks of inhaled vancomycin and reported an 84% (31/37) eradication success rate at 3 years [56].

Two randomized controlled trials, one in the US and one in Italy, assessed eradication of incident MRSA. Both trials used TMP-SMX and rifampin (substituting for minocycline in case of TMP-SMX intolerance) compared to observation only. The US trial showed significantly lower MRSA positivity in the treatment group compared to the observational group at day 28 (26% versus 82%, p<0.001) but this difference was no longer significant at 6 months [57]. Many patients in the Italian trial were excluded from analyses due to the use of additional antibiotics, and the per protocol analysis did not show significance with 63% (12/19) of patients achieving eradication at 6 months versus 39% (5/13) in the treatment and observational arms, respectively [58]. Both studies showed trends for better lung function and fewer antibiotic courses after intervention in the treated compared to the observational group. One consistent approach across all studies has been environmental cleaning (including equipment, e.g. nebulizer) and, in most trials, topical nasal therapy with mupirocin [53-56].

Treatment and eradication of chronic MRSA may be more difficult to achieve due to adaptation of MRSA. Two prospective studies in pwCF evaluated a 6 months of treatment with fusidic acid and rifampin combination therapy, resulting in clearance in 5/7 and 10/11 participants [59, 60]. A more recent prospective controlled trial evaluated one month of treatment with oral antibiotics (TMP-SMX or doxycycline), with or without addition of inhaled vancomycin. Clearance of MRSA was seen in 20% of participants in either arm a month after completion, however 4/15 participants in the vancomycin arm experienced bronchospasm that led to drug discontinuation [61]. A dry powder inhaled vancomycin formulation had shown promising results in phase I, but development of this medication subsequently stopped for unknown reasons [62].

Currently available antibiotics, dosing and drug interactions that are especially relevant to CF are listed in Table 1. Novel antibiotics licensed for skin and soft-tissue infections or pneumonia are omadacycline and lefamulin, and both are available as intravenous and oral formulations. Lefamulin is a pleuromutilin antibiotic, which inhibits protein synthesis via unique binding sites to the 50S bacterial ribosome. Two randomized, double-blind trials in community acquired pneumonia totaling approximately 1200 adults showed non-inferiority to moxifloxacin (or moxifloxacin-linezolid combination if MRSA was detected) [63-65]. Studies in children are ongoing but so far, no data in CF is available. Omadacycline is a tetracycline-class antibiotic that showed non-inferiority to moxifloxacin in adults with community acquired pneumonia (without MRSA positive sputum).

17.5 Conclusion

S. gureus, both MSSA and MRSA, is a prevalent isolate from the respiratory cultures of pwCF. both children and adults. Despite a considerable amount of research on genetic and phenotypic factors, there are no key bacterial biomarkers to highlight the potential for significant airway infection in pwCF. It is clear that chronic airway infection with MSSA and MRSA is relevant to some pwCF, who will respond to acute anti-staphylococcal treatment regimens, but there is no clear consensus on approaches to prophylaxis and eradication for early identification. Large ongoing studies will improve the evidence base to guide treatment approaches. For the moment, treatment should be tailored to the individual patient, monitoring clinical impact and applying good antibiotic husbandry (for example, avoiding broader spectrum antibiotics for MSSA). It is too early to determine the impact of emerging therapies (such as CFTR modulator treatments of the underlying molecular defect) on airway microbiology. However, given the nature of S. aureus it is likely that this will remain a relevant pathogen in the lives of pwCF.

Chapter 17 - *Staphylococcus aureus* in the airways of people with cystic fibrosis

Table 1

Currently available anti-staphylococcal treatments in CF.

Name	Class/Mechanism	Dosing in CF for pediatrics (P) ¹ and adults (A)	Interaction / side effects ²	
Fusidic Acid	Fucidane Inhibits protein synthesis	P: 20 mg/kg/day as TID dose max 500 mg A: 500 mg TID	Metabolism altered when also taking rifampin or azoles	
Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (TMP-SMX)	Sulfa drug Folic Acid Inhibitor	P: 8-10 mg TMP/kg BID A: 320 mg TMP BID	Risk of SCV <i>S. aureus</i> with pro- longed use	
Doxycycline, minocycline	Tetracycline derivatives Inhibit protein synthesis by binding to the 30S ribosomal subunit	Doxy 1-2 mg/kg BID max 100 mg Mino: 4 mg/kg once, then 2 mg/kg Q12. Max 100 mg BID.	Teeth discoloration in children <8 years. Pseudotumor cerebri	
Linezolid	Oxazolidinone Inhibits protein synthesis	<12 years: 10 mg/kg TID >12 years: 10 mg/kg BID Same dosing IV and po. Clearance >CF children > CF adults [66]. If inadequate response increase dosing frequency [67]	Good sputum penetration [68]. Myelosuppression with prolonged therapy. Interactions with serotoninergic and adrenergic agents.	
Tedizolid	Oxazolidinone Inhibits protein synthesis	≥12 years: 200 mg daily (IV or po)	Better dosing and safety profile compared to linezolid	
Ceftaroline	5th generation cephalosporin Inhibits cell wall synthesis	<6 months: 8 mg/kg TID >6 months & <33 kg: 12 mg/kg TID >33 kg: 400 mg TID Max: 600 mg TID	In CF, higher clearance in CF children and adults compared to non-CF [69, 70]. Higher doses or shorter intervals recommended	
Ceftobiprole (not approved in US- as of June 2022)	5th generation, extended-spectrum cephalosporin	15 mg/kg q 8 hours (2 hour infusion)	Higher clearance in younger patients. No CF-specific PK data available. ELF penetration ~25%.	
Vancomycin	Glycopeptide Inhibits cell wall synthesis by blocking glycopeptide polym- erization	15-20 mg/kg q 6-8 hour (adjust per trough level). Also used as continuous infusion to reduce red-man.	Renal toxicity and flushing. Interaction with aminoglycosides reportedly less concerning with newer vancomycin formulation	
Teicoplanin	Glycopeptide Inhibits cell wall synthesis by blocking glycopeptide polym- erization	Loading dose 3 times every 12 hours then once-daily per levels. Loading dose: 6-10 mg/kg ages 2 months to 12 years. >12 years 6 mg/kg	Variable PK in pediatric patients – check levels. Goal: 220 - 30 mg/L for invasive infections (<60 mg/L to minimize risk for nephrotoxicity).	
Televancin	Glycolipopeptide	10 mg/kg q 24 hours for CF adults [71]	Renal toxicity and flushing as for vancomycin. Metallic taste as side-effect.	
Rifampin	ampin Antimycobacterial Inhibits RNA synthesis through blocking RNA polymerase and RNA transcription		Only as antibiotic combination therapy. Interactions with ivacaftor, antifungals, linezolid. CYP 3A induction.	

Abbreviations: BID=two times a day; ELF=epithelial lining fluid; GI=gastrointestinal; IV=intravenous; PK=pharmacokinetics; PO=per oral; Q=every; TID=three times a day.

1 Maximum dose in pediatrics is the adult dose.

2 As almost all antibiotics listed can cause GI side effects, allergic responses, and rash only side effects specific to this class is listed.

Chapter 17 - Staphylococcus aureus in the airways of people with cystic fibrosis

Bibliography

- Haag AF, Fitzgerald JR, Penadés JR. Staphylococcus aureus in animals. Microbiol Spectr. 2019;7. DOI:10.1128/microbiolspec.GPP3-0060-2019
- [2] Abdullahi IN, Juárez-Fernández G, Höfle Ú, Cardona-Cabrera T, Mínguez D, Pineda-Pampliega J, et al. Nasotracheal microbiota of nestlings of parent white storks with different foraging habits in Spain. Ecohealth. 2023;20:105–21. DOI:10.1007/s10393-023-01626-x
- [3] OneHealthTrust. United States: resistancemap. 2023. https://resistancemap. onehealthtrust.org/CountryPageSub. php?country=United+States
- [4] Edmiston CE, Jr., Ledeboer NA, Buchan BW, Spencer M, Seabrook GR, Leaper D. Is staphylococcal screening and suppression an effective interventional strategy for reduction of surgical site infection? Surg Infect (Larchmt). 2016;17:158–66. DOI:10.1089/ sur.2015.257
- [5] David MZ, Daum RS. Update on epidemiology and treatment of MRSA infections in children. Curr Pediatr Rep. 2013;1:170–81. DOI:10.1007/s40124-013-0023-7
- [6] Graveland H, Duim B, van Duijkeren E, Heederik D, Wagenaar JA. Livestock-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in animals and humans. Int J Med Microbiol. 2011;301:630–4. DOI:10.1016/j. ijmm.2011.09.004
- Uehara Y. Current status of staphylococcal cassette chromosome mec (SCCmec). Antibiotics (Basel). 2022;11:86. DOI:10.3390/antibiotics11010086
- [8] DeLeo FR, Otto M, Kreiswirth BN, Chambers HF. Community-associated meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. Lancet. 2010;375:1557–68. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(09)61999-1

- [9] Marshall B, Faro A, Brown W, Elbert A, Cromwell E, Ostrenga J, et al. Cystic fibrosis foundation patient registry 2021 annual data report. Bethesda, Maryland: Cystic Fibrosis Foundation; 2022.
- [10] Sokhi S, Charman S, Carr S, Clarke S. UK cystic fibrosis registry 2021 annual data report. Cystic Fibrosis Trust; 2022.
- [11] UK Cystic Fibrosis Trust Antibiotic Working Group. Antibiotic treatment for cystic fibrosis. 3rd ed: Cystic Fibrosis Trust; 2009.
- [12] Hurley MN, Fogarty A, McKeever TM, Goss CH, Rosenfeld M, Smyth AR. Early respiratory bacterial detection and antistaphylococcal antibiotic prophylaxis in young children with cystic fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2018;15:42–8. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201705-376OC
- [13] Fischer AJ, Singh SB, LaMarche MM, Maakestad LJ, Kienenberger ZE, Peña TA, et al. Sustained coinfections with Staphylococcus aureus and Pseudomonas aeruginosa in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2021;203:328–38. DOI:10.1164/rccm.202004-1322OC
- [14] Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. Patient registry. https://www.cff.org/medical-professionals/patient-registry
- [15] Biswas L, Götz F. Molecular mechanisms of Staphylococcus and Pseudomonas interactions in cystic fibrosis. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2021;11:824042. DOI:10.3389/ fcimb.2021.824042
- [16] Limoli DH, Hoffman LR. Help, hinder, hide and harm: what can we learn from the interactions between *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Staphylococcus aureus* during respiratory infections? Thorax. 2019;74:684– 92. DOI:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2018-212616

- [17] Muhlebach MS, Jiang X, Kosorok MR, Klein EY, Saiman L. Longitudinal changes and regional variation of incident infection rates at cystic fibrosis centers, United States 2010-2016. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:34–9. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2021.08.009
- [18] European Cystic Fibrosis Society. ECFS patient registry: annual reports. 2023. https:// www.ecfs.eu/projects/ecfs-patient-registry/annual-reports
- [19] Champion EA, Miller MB, Popowitch EB, Hobbs MM, Saiman L, Muhlebach MS. Antimicrobial susceptibility and molecular typing of MRSA in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2014;49:230–7. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.22815
- [20] Dalhoff A, Schubert S. Dichotomous selection of high-level oxacillin resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus* by fluoroquinolones. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2010;36:216–21. DOI:10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2010.04.014
- [21] Cafiso V, Bertuccio T, Spina D, Campanile F, Bongiorno D, Santagati M, et al. Methicillin resistance and vancomycin heteroresistance in *Staphylococcus aureus* in cystic fibrosis patients. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2010;29:1277–85. DOI:10.1007/s10096-010-1000-5
- [22] Foster TJ, Geoghegan JA, Ganesh VK, Höök M. Adhesion, invasion and evasion: the many functions of the surface proteins of *Staphylococcus aureus*. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2014;12:49–62. DOI:10.1038/nrmicro3161
- [23] Richards RL, Haigh RD, Pascoe B, Sheppard SK, Price F, Jenkins D, et al. Persistent Staphylococcus aureus isolates from two independent cases of bacteremia display increased bacterial fitness and novel immune evasion phenotypes. Infect Immun. 2015;83:3311–24. DOI:10.1128/iai.00255-15

- [24] Goerke C, Gressinger M, Endler K, Breitkopf C, Wardecki K, Stern M, et al. High phenotypic diversity in infecting but not in colonizing *Staphylococcus aureus* populations. Environ Microbiol. 2007;9:3134–42. DOI:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2007.01423.x
- [25] Lange J, Heidenreich K, Higelin K, Dyck K, Marx V, Reichel C, et al. Staphylococcus aureus pathogenicity in cystic fibrosis patients-results from an observational prospective multicenter study concerning virulence genes, phylogeny, and gene plasticity. Toxins (Basel). 2020;12:279. DOI:10.3390/toxins12050279
- [26] Hirschhausen N, Block D, Bianconi I, Bragonzi A, Birtel J, Lee JC, et al. Extended Staphylococcus aureus persistence in cystic fibrosis is associated with bacterial adaptation. Int J Med Microbiol. 2013;303:685–92. DOI:10.1016/j.ijmm.2013.09.012
- [27] Windmüller N, Witten A, Block D, Bunk B, Spröer C, Kahl BC, et al. Transcriptional adaptations during long-term persistence of Staphylococcus aureus in the airways of a cystic fibrosis patient. Int J Med Microbiol. 2015;305:38–46. DOI:10.1016/j. ijmm.2014.10.005
- [28] Dasenbrook EC, Checkley W, Merlo CA, Konstan MW, Lechtzin N, Boyle MP. Association between respiratory tract methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* and survival in cystic fibrosis. JAMA. 2010;303:2386–92. DOI:10.1001/jama.2010.791
- [29] Dasenbrook EC, Merlo CA, Diener-West M, Lechtzin N, Boyle MP. Persistent methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus and rate of FEV₁ decline in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2008;178:814–21. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200802-327OC

- [30] Vandenesch F, Naimi T, Enright MC, Lina G, Nimmo GR, Heffernan H, et al. Community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus carrying panton-Valentine leukocidin genes: worldwide emergence. Emerg Infect Dis. 2003;9:978–84. DOI:10.3201/eid0908.030089
- [31] Hamilton SM, Bryant AE, Carroll KC, Lockary V, Ma Y, McIndoo E, et al. In vitro production of panton-valentine leukocidin among strains of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus causing diverse infections. Clin Infect Dis. 2007;45:1550–8.
- [32] Peyrani P, Allen M, Wiemken TL, Haque NZ, Zervos MJ, Ford KD, et al. Severity of disease and clinical outcomes in patients with hospital-acquired pneumonia due to methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus strains not influenced by the presence of the panton-valentine leukocidin gene. Clin Infect Dis. 2011;53:766–71. DOI:10.1093/cid/cir541
- [33] Glikman D, Siegel JD, David MZ, Okoro NM, Boyle-Vavra S, Dowell ML, et al. Complex molecular epidemiology of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus isolates from children with cystic fibrosis in the era of epidemic community-associated methicillin-resistant S aureus. Chest. 2008;133:1381– 7. DOI:10.1378/chest.07-2437
- [34] Muhlebach MS, Heltshe SL, Popowitch EB, Miller MB, Thompson V, Kloster M, et al. Multicenter observational study on factors and outcomes associated with various methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus types in children with cystic fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2015;12:864–71. DOI:10.1513/ AnnalsATS.201412-5960C
- [35] Kopf SH, Sessions AL, Cowley ES, Reyes C, Van Sambeek L, Hu Y, et al. Trace incorporation of heavy water reveals slow and heterogeneous pathogen growth rates in cystic fibrosis sputum. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113:E110–6. DOI:10.1073/pnas.1512057112

- [36] Schwerdt M, Neumann C, Schwartbeck B, Kampmeier S, Herzog S, Görlich D, et al. Staphylococcus aureus in the airways of cystic fibrosis patients - a retrospective long-term study. Int J Med Microbiol. 2018;308:631–9. DOI:10.1016/j. ijmm.2018.02.003
- [37] Gilpin D, Carson G, Hoffman L, Tunney M, Muhlebach M. Comparison of incident and chronic MRSA in CF. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2019;54:S290.
- [38] Smith S, Waters V, Jahnke N, Ratjen F. Standard versus biofilm antimicrobial susceptibility testing to guide antibiotic therapy in cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020;6:Cd009528. DOI:10.1002/14651858. CD009528.pub5
- [39] Besier S, Ludwig A, Ohlsen K, Brade V, Wichelhaus TA. Molecular analysis of the thymidine-auxotrophic small colony variant phenotype of *Staphylococcus aureus*. Int J Med Microbiol. 2007;297:217–25. DOI:10.1016/j.ijmm.2007.02.003
- [40] Besier S, Smaczny C, von Mallinckrodt C, Krahl A, Ackermann H, Brade V, et al. Prevalence and clinical significance of Staphylococcus aureus small-colony variants in cystic fibrosis lung disease. J Clin Microbiol. 2007;45:168–72. DOI:10.1128/jcm.01510-06
- [41] Kahl B, Herrmann M, Everding AS, Koch HG, Becker K, Harms E, et al. Persistent infection with small colony variant strains of *Staphylococcus aureus* in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Infect Dis. 1998;177:1023–9. DOI:10.1086/515238
- [42] Wolter DJ, Onchiri FM, Emerson J, Precit MR, Lee M, McNamara S, et al. Prevalence and clinical associations of Staphylococcus aureus small-colony variant respiratory infection in children with cystic fibrosis (SCVSA): a multicentre, observational study. Lancet Respir Med. 2019;7:1027–38. DOI:10.1016/ s2213-2600(19)30365-0

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 17 - Staphylococcus aureus in the airways of people with cystic fibrosis

- [43] Nasser A, Moradi M, Jazireian P, Safari H, Alizadeh-Sani M, Pourmand MR, et al. Staphylococcus aureus versus neutrophil: scrutiny of ancient combat. Microb Pathog. 2019;131:259–69. DOI:10.1016/j.micpath.2019.04.026
- [44] Goldmann O, Medina E. Staphylococcus aureus strategies to evade the host acquired immune response. Int J Med Microbiol. 2018;308:625–30. DOI:10.1016/j. ijmm.2017.09.013
- [45] Teymournejad O, Montgomery CP. Evasion of immunological memory by S. aureus infection: implications for vaccine design. Front Immunol. 2021;12:633672. DOI:10.3389/ fimmu.2021.633672
- [46] Chadha AD, Thomsen IP, Jimenez-Truque N, Soper NR, Jones LS, Sokolow AG, et al. Host response to Staphylococcus aureus cytotoxins in children with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2016;15:597–604. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2015.12.023
- [47] Linnemann RW, Yadav R, Zhang C, Sarr D, Rada B, Stecenko AA. Serum anti-PAD4 autoantibodies are present in cystic fibrosis children and increase with age and lung disease severity. Autoimmunity. 2022;55:109–17. DOI:10.1080/08916934.2021.2021193
- [48] Gangell C, Gard S, Douglas T, Park J, de Klerk N, Keil T, et al. Inflammatory responses to individual microorganisms in the lungs of children with cystic fibrosis. Clin Infect Dis. 2011;53:425–32. DOI:10.1093/cid/cir399
- [49] Sagel SD, Gibson RL, Emerson J, McNamara S, Burns JL, Wagener JS, et al. Impact of pseudomonas and staphylococcus infection on inflammation and clinical status in young children with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr. 2009;154:183–8.e3. DOI:10.1016/j. jpeds.2008.08.001

- [50] Stutman HR, Lieberman JM, Nussbaum E, Marks MI. Antibiotic prophylaxis in infants and young children with cystic fibrosis: a randomized controlled trial. J Pediatr. 2002;140:299–305. DOI:10.1067/ mpd.2002.121930
- [51] Mogayzel PJ, Jr., Naureckas ET, Robinson KA, Mueller G, Hadjiliadis D, Hoag JB, *et al.* Cystic fibrosis pulmonary guidelines. Chronic medications for maintenance of lung health. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;187:680–9. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201207-11600e
- [52] Weaver LT, Green MR, Nicholson K, Mills J, Heeley ME, Kuzemko JA, et al. Prognosis in cystic fibrosis treated with continuous flucloxacillin from the neonatal period. Arch Dis Child. 1994;70:84–9. DOI:10.1136/ adc.70.2.84
- [53] Zobell JT, Epps KL, Young DC, Montague M, Olson J, Ampofo K, et al. Utilization of antibiotics for methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infection in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2015;50:552–9. DOI:10.1002/ppul.23132
- [54] Hall H, Gadhok R, Alshafi K, Bilton D, Simmonds NJ. Eradication of respiratory tract MRSA at a large adult cystic fibrosis centre. Respir Med. 2015;109:357–63. DOI:10.1016/j. rmed.2015.01.013
- [55] Vallières E, Rendall JC, Moore JE, Mc-Caughan J, Hoeritzauer AI, Tunney MM, et al. MRSA eradication of newly acquired lower respiratory tract infection in cystic fibrosis. ERJ Open Res. 2016;2:00064–2015. DOI:10.1183/23120541.00064-2015
- [56] Kappler M, Nagel F, Feilcke M, Kröner C, Pawlita I, Naehrig S, et al. Eradication of methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus detected for the first time in cystic fibrosis: a single center observational study. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2016;51:1010–9. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.23519

Chapter 17 - Staphylococcus aureus in the airways of people with cystic fibrosis

- [57] Muhlebach MS, Beckett V, Popowitch E, Miller MB, Baines A, Mayer-Hamblett N, et al. Microbiological efficacy of early MRSA treatment in cystic fibrosis in a randomised controlled trial. Thorax. 2017;72:318–26. DOI:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-208949
- [58] Dolce D, Neri S, Grisotto L, Campana S, Ravenni N, Miselli F, et al. Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus eradication in cystic fibrosis patients: a randomized multicenter study. PLoS One. 2019;14:e0213497. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0213497
- [59] Garske LA, Kidd TJ, Gan R, Bunting JP, Franks CA, Coulter C, et al. Rifampicin and sodium fusidate reduces the frequency of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) isolation in adults with cystic fibrosis and chronic MRSA infection. J Hosp Infect. 2004;56:208–14. DOI:10.1016/j. jhin.2003.12.003
- [60] Vanderhelst E, De Wachter E, Willekens J, Piérard D, Vincken W, Malfroot A. Eradication of chronic methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection in cystic fibrosis patients. An observational prospective cohort study of 11 patients. J Cyst Fibros. 2013;12:662–6. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2013.04.009
- [61] Dezube R, Jennings MT, Rykiel M, Diener-West M, Boyle MP, Chmiel JF, et al. Eradication of persistent methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infection in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2019;18:357–63. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2018.07.005
- [62] Waterer G, Lord J, Hofmann T, Jouhikainen T. Phase I, dose-escalating study of the safety and pharmacokinetics of inhaled dry-powder vancomycin (AeroVanc) in volunteers and patients with cystic fibrosis: a new approach to therapy for methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2020;64:e01776–19. DOI:10.1128/ aac.01776-19

- [63] Vacalis S, Brunton S, Gindi J. Omadacycline in Skin Infections and Pneumonia: A Review of the Evidence. J Fam Pract. 2022;71:S10-S21. DOI:10.12788/jfp.0424
- [64] Stets R, Popescu M, Gonong JR, Mitha I, Nseir W, Madej A, *et al.* Omadacycline for Community-Acquired Bacterial Pneumonia. N Engl J Med. 2019;380:517-27. DOI:10.1056/ NEJMoa1800201
- [65] Leviton IM, Amodio-Groton M. Omadacycline Oral Dosing and Pharmacokinetics in Community-Acquired Bacterial Pneumonia and Acute Bacterial Skin and Skin Structure Infection. Clin Drug Investig. 2022;42:193-7. DOI:10.1007/s40261-022-01119-9
- [66] Santos RP, Prestidge CB, Brown ME, Urbancyzk B, Murphey DK, Salvatore CM, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of linezolid in children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2009;44:148–54. DOI:10.1002/ppul.20966
- [67] Bosso JA, Flume PA, Gray SL. Linezolid pharmacokinetics in adult patients with cystic fibrosis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2004;48:281–4. DOI:10.1128/aac.48.1.281-284.2004
- [68] Saralaya D, Peckham DG, Hulme B, Tobin CM, Denton M, Conway S, et al. Serum and sputum concentrations following the oral administration of linezolid in adult patients with cystic fibrosis. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2004;53:325–8. DOI:10.1093/jac/dkh072
- [69] Le J, Bradley JS, Hingtgen S, Skochko S, Black N, Jones RN, et al. Pharmacokinetics of single-dose ceftaroline fosamil in children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2017;52:1424–34. DOI:10.1002/ppul.23827
- [70] Barsky EE, Pereira LM, Sullivan KJ, Wong A, McAdam AJ, Sawicki GS, et al. Ceftaroline pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2018;17:e25–31. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2017.10.010

[71] Kidd JM, Sakon CM, Oleksiuk LM, Cies JJ, Pettit RS, Nicolau DP, et al. Pharmacokinetics of telavancin in adult patients with cystic fibrosis during acute pulmonary exacerbation. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2019;64:e01914–19. DOI:10.1128/aac.01914-19

Chapter 18 Nontuberculous mycobacteria in cystic fibrosis

Authors

Tavs Qvist, Astrid Lewin

Introduction

The question "What is the best treatment for nontuberculous mycobacteria" came third in a 2018 survey of the top ten research priorities in cystic fibrosis (CF) [1]. The survey was answered by a partnership of people living with CF (pwCF) and their healthcare providers and reflects the growing concern for this pathogen in the CF community. Pulmonary infection with nontuberculous mycobacteria (NTM) is now estimated to affect up to one in five pwCF, causing considerable burden and cost [2]. The most worrisome species of NTM in CF is Mycobacterium abscessus complex (MABSC), a rapidly growing, multidrug-resistant NTM, which is widespread in the environment, but is now also understood to be transmitted between patients [3]. Progress has been made on how to manage NTM clinically, but the lack of effective and straightforward treatment poses a continuous problem. This chapter outlines current knowledge on epidemiology and clinical aspects of NTM, and highlights challenges facing CF centers such as transmission and the role played by specific niches for NTM in the environment.

18.1 Pathogenic NTM species in CF and their distribution

MABSC is the most common NTM in Europe (Table 1) and comprises the subspecies M. a. subsp. bolletii, M. a. subsp. massiliense and M. a. subsp. abscessus. All three subspecies can cause persistent and severe pulmonary disease in children and adults with CF, although the clinical spectrum is wide and transient infections are also common [4]. The slow-growing Mycobacterium avium complex (MAC) is the second most common NTM in Europe and comprises M. avium, M. intracellulare and M. chimaera. The species M. simiae, M. kansasii, M. fortuitum and rarer NTM species are less common, often with poorly understood geographical distribution. Overall, there has been a trend towards increasing prevalence since the 1980s.

18.2 Sources of infection and transmissibility

NTM are environmental and biofilm-forming bacteria found in water, soil, dust, and inside amoeba [5-7]. The natural environment is the main source of infection for pwCF, but recent evidence has demonstrated transmission of MABSC between patients [8]. Genome analysis has revealed the presence of seven dominant circulating clones (DCCs), supporting the existence of global human transmission networks [9]. Following initial reports of possible transmission, the CF Foundation and European CF

Chapter 18 - Nontuberculous mycobacteria in cystic fibrosis

Society (ECFS) quickly highlighted the issue, stressing the importance of prevention through infection control [10]. The sources of these transmission events were not clear at first, but indirect contact through fomites and long-lived aerosols was suggested. Subsequent studies performed at various CF centers also showed DCC-strains, but without support for transmission by epidemiological observations or single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) analysis [11, 12]. Patient-to-patient transmission is now thought to involve intermediates from the environment or persons without CF, who may have acted as reservoirs (albeit inefficiently) and conceivably contributed to long distance transmission [9]. A role for non-CF smokers in driving transmission was also suggested, although it is not know to what extent intermediaries are still important in driving outbreaks [9]. DCC establishment may have been supported by long-term antibiotic pressure, causing changes in the CF lung microbiomes over time. The extent and mechanism of human transmission of NTM needs further investigation. Worryingly, NTM can survive some disinfection routines. For example, nosocomial outbreaks are well-known from cosmetic surgery and in patients undergoing heart surgery in the presence of contaminated heater-cooler-instruments, where M. chimaera has caused serious infections [13-15]. Zoonotic transmission has been considered, but not proven. M. marinum is known to be transmitted by fish, but the zoonotic potential of other NTM remains unknown.

18.3 Diagnosis of NTM pulmonary disease

Current diagnostic guidelines comprise a series of pragmatic, evidence-based recommendations from the US CF Foundation and the ECFS for the screening, investigation, and diagnosis of NTM infection in pwCF [10]. The diagnostic criteria stem from the original American Thoracic Society (ATS) / Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) criteria for diagnosing NTM pulmonary disease (NTM-PD) [37]. The criteria state that the same NTM species needs to be cultured more than once (or just once if from a bronchoscopy sample), there must be clinical and radiological signs of disease, and other causes must be ruled out

18.4 Effect on lung function

In 2003, Olivier et al. showed that 18 pwCF with ATS/IDSA defined NTM disease did not have a significantly accelerated lung function decline over a 15-month period [38]. They suggested that a longer observation time might reveal a difference. In 2010, Esther et al. examined longitudinal data from 23 patients with MABSC and found an excess lung function decline of -0.78% per year [25]. Martiniano et al. followed 70 MAC and 24 MABSC cases for three years after NTM infection and found excess annual rates of decline of -4.1% for those who fulfilled ATS/IDSA criteria, and -1.6% per year for those with only one positive culture [4]. The authors did not distinguish between the effects of MABSC and MAC. In 2016. Qvist et al. demonstrated that pwCF with MAB-SC had an -2.2% of excess lung function decline per year, while MAC infection had no significant effect [39]. A negative effect of 2.2% translates to the development of end-stage lung disease within approximately 14 years from acquisition. ranking MABSC among the most serious CF pathogens [39].

18.5 Treatment

Management of NTM infection is a clinical challenge as disease courses can be highly variable, ranging from transient colonization to invasive

Chapter 18 - Nontuberculous mycobacteria in cystic fibrosis

pulmonary disease. Treatment regimens for NTM are not evidence-based and involve complex and often poorly tolerated drug combinations for prolonged periods (>12 months) [40]. Therefore, it is difficult to decide when NTM infection is serious enough that the possible benefit of treatment outweighs the burden and side effects of treatment. Therapy for MABSC should start with an induction phase with intravenous (IV) antibiotics, followed by a longer oral maintenance phase. Treatment is burdensome for patients with considerable toxicity, high costs and disappointingly poor eradication results. Eradication of MABSC has been reported to occur in 48 % to 65 % of children and less often in adults [41, 42]. A proposed eradication regimen comprises an intensive phase of 4-12 weeks of IV antibiotics (usually amikacin, cefoxitin or imipenem + tigecycline) plus an oral macrolide. Maintenance therapy, also called consolidation therapy, includes oral drugs (usually a macrolide. plus others based on antibiograms, tolerability and experience) and an inhaled IV formulation of amikacin for 3 to >12 months. Before approval of inhaled amikacin, the IV form (delivered via a nebulizer) was used widely off-label.

18.6 Evolution of *M. abscessus* complex

MABSC causes chronic infections which can last decades giving the bacteria sufficient time for within-patient evolution. This may help the bacterial population adapt to changing conditions within the lung such as host immune responses, microbiome composition, and antibiotic pressure which is often considerable in CF. The evolution of MABSC from a saprophytic to a pathogenic bacterium was analyzed in depth by Bryant *et al.* [43]. They postulated a stepwise evolution starting with gain of methylation and transcription factors by horizontal gene transfer, resulting in a saltatory jump in evolution towards increased virulence in human infection. Within-patient evolution generated genetic diversification, especially towards resistance to macrophage killing. In this model, the need for environmental intermediates for transmission constrained further evolution. However, an increased frequency of direct person-to-person transmission might now result in unconstrained development towards increased pathogenicity.

18.7 Future perspectives

Consensus is building on how to manage NTM in CF, but the lack of effective and straightforward treatment remains a central challenge. Recommended NTM treatment consists of at least 12 months of three or more antibiotics, resulting in considerable toxicities and a high burden of care. Treatment outcomes are not satisfactory and chronic infection with particularly MABSC leads to high morbidity and mortality. Randomized clinical trials are urgently needed and are now finally under way (see FORMaT, NCT04310930). The central question of how transmission takes place is not fully resolved. Prevention through infection control is paramount, regardless of transmission route. More effort should be invested in investigating the potential environmental and zoonotic reservoirs of NTM. Advances in the understanding of MABSC genomics have been considerable, but efforts need to be broadened to include the other pathogenic NTM species, which remain understudied. A surveillance system for all pathogenic NTM should be established to trace NTM evolution and monitor changes in population structure.

Chapter 18 - Nontuberculous mycobacteria in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 18 - Nontuberculous mycobacteria in cystic fibrosis

Table 1

Study	Year(s) of prevalence	Location	Design	People with CF	NTM prevalence	% MABSC	% MAC
Boxerbaum B. [16]	1980	OH, USA	Prospective	430	1.8	75 ¹	0
Smith MJ et al. [17]	1984	UK	Prospective	223	1.8	25 ¹	0
Hjelte L et al. [18]	1990	Sweden	Prospective	54	9.2	0	60
Kilby JM et al. [19]	1992	NC, USA	Prospective	87	19.5	29 ¹	76
Aitken ML et al. [20]	1993	WA, USA	Prospective	64	12.5	0	88
Hjelt K <i>et al.</i> [21]	1994	Denmark	Prospective	185	3.8	71 ¹	29
Sermet-Gaudelus I et al. [22]	1996-99	France	Prospective	296	9.8	5 ²	21
Fauroux B et al. [23]	1997	France	Prospective	106	6.6	43 ¹	0
Mussaffi H et al. [24]	1997-02	Israel	Retrospec- tive	139	8.6	67 ²	252
Esther CR Jr et al. [25]	2000-07	NC, USA	Registry	1,216	13.7	41	59
Pierre-Audigier C et al. [26]	2000	France	Prospective	385	8.1	42	23
Oliver A et al. [27]	2000	Spain	Prospective	37	16.2	50 ¹	33
Radhakrishnan et al. [28]	2004	Canada	Prospective	98	6.1	33	67
Levy I <i>et al.</i> [29]	2001-03	Israel	Cross-sec- tional	186	22.6	31	14
Olivier KN et al. [30]	2002	USA	Prospective	986	13.0	20	72
Roux AL et al. [31]	2004	France	Prospective	1,582	6.6	48	22
Valenza et al. [32]	2006	Germany	Prospective	60	13.3	50	50
Chalermskulrat W et al. [33]	2006	OH, USA	Retrospec- tive	132	19.7	46	50
Binder AM et al. [34]	2011	USA	Registry	5,403	3.5	36	64
Qvist T et al. [35]	2000-12	Scandi- navia	Retrospec- tive	1,411	11.1	45	32
Adjemian J et al. [36]	2010-14	USA	Registry	16,153	20	39	61
ECFS Patient Registry Report	2019	Europe	Registry	22,756	5.5	-	-
US Patient Registry Report	2020	USA	Registry	10,220	10	40	54

Studies reporting the prevalence of nontuberculous mycobacteria in cystic fibrosis 1980-2020.

Abbreviations: NTM=nontuberculous mycobacteria, MABSC=*M. abscessus* complex, MAC=*M. avium* complex

1 percentage based on six chronic NTM cases

2 M. chelonae reported, but is here included as MABSC due to historical changes in taxonomy

Chapter 18 - Nontuberculous mycobacteria in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 18 - Nontuberculous mycobacteria in cystic fibrosis

Bibliography

- [1] Rowbotham NJ, Smith S, Leighton PA, Rayner OC, Gathercole K, Elliott ZC, et al. The top 10 research priorities in cystic fibrosis developed by a partnership between people with CF and healthcare providers. Thorax. 2018;73:388–90. DOI:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2017-210473
- [2] Martiniano SL, Esther CR, Haworth CS, Kasperbauer SH, Zemanick ET, Caverly LJ. Challenging scenarios in nontuberculous mycobacterial infection in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2020;55:521–5. DOI:10.1002/ppul.24604
- [3] Bryant JM, Grogono DM, Rodriguez-Rincon D, Everall I, Brown KP, Moreno P, et al. Emergence and spread of a human-transmissible multidrug-resistant nontuberculous mycobacterium. Science. 2016;354:751–7. DOI:10.1126/science.aaf8156
- [4] Martiniano SL, Sontag MK, Daley CL, Nick JA, Sagel SD. Clinical significance of a first positive nontuberculous mycobacteria culture in cystic fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2014;11:36–44. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201309-3100C
- [5] Halstrom S, Price P, Thomson R. Review: environmental mycobacteria as a cause of human infection. Int J Mycobacteriol. 2015;4:81–91. DOI:10.1016/j.ijmyco.2015.03.002
- [6] Ovrutsky AR, Chan ED, Kartalija M, Bai X, Jackson M, Gibbs S, et al. Cooccurrence of free-living amoebae and nontuberculous mycobacteria in hospital water networks, and preferential growth of mycobacterium avium in acanthamoeba lenticulata. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2013;79:3185–92. DOI:10.1128/aem.03823-12

- [7] Sharbati-Tehrani S, Stephan J, Holland G, Appel B, Niederweis M, Lewin A. Porins limit the intracellular persistence of mycobacterium smegmatis. Microbiology (Reading). 2005;151:2403–10. DOI:10.1099/mic.0.27969-0
- [8] Bryant JM, Grogono DM, Greaves D, Foweraker J, Roddick I, Inns T, et al. Whole-genome sequencing to identify transmission of mycobacterium abscessus between patients with cystic fibrosis: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet. 2013;381:1551–60. DOI:10.1016/ s0140-6736(13)60632-7
- [9] Ruis C, Bryant JM, Bell SC, Thomson R, Davidson RM, Hasan NA, et al. Dissemination of Mycobacterium abscessus via global transmission networks. Nat Microbiol. 2021;6:1279– 88. DOI:10.1038/s41564-021-00963-3
- [10] Floto RA, Olivier KN, Saiman L, Daley CL, Herrmann JL, Nick JA, et al. US cystic fibrosis foundation and European cystic fibrosis society consensus recommendations for the management of non-tuberculous mycobacteria in individuals with cystic fibrosis. Thorax. 2016;71 Suppl 1:i1–22. DOI:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-207360
- [11] Lewin A, Kamal E, Semmler T, Winter K, Kaiser S, Schäfer H, et al. Genetic diversification of persistent Mycobacterium abscessus within cystic fibrosis patients. Virulence. 2021;12:2415–29. DOI:10.1080/21505594.2021.1 959808
- [12] Doyle RM, Rubio M, Dixon G, Hartley J, Klein N, Coll P, et al. Cross-transmission is not the source of new Mycobacterium abscessus infections in a multicenter cohort of cystic fibrosis patients. Clin Infect Dis. 2020;70:1855– 64. DOI:10.1093/cid/ciz526
- [13] Furuya EY, Paez A, Srinivasan A, Cooksey R, Augenbraun M, Baron M, et al. Outbreak of Mycobacterium abscessus wound infections among "lipotourists" from the United States who underwent abdominoplasty in the Dominican Republic. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;46(8):1181–8. DOI: 10.1086/529191

- [14] Sax H, Bloemberg G, Hasse B, Sommerstein R, Kohler P, Achermann Y, et al. Prolonged outbreak of Mycobacterium chimaera infection after open-chest heart surgery. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;61:67–75. DOI:10.1093/cid/ civ198
- [15] van Ingen J, Kohl TA, Kranzer K, Hasse B, Keller PM, Katarzyna Szafrańska A, et al. Global outbreak of severe Mycobacterium chimaera disease after cardiac surgery: a molecular epidemiological study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2017;17:1033–41. DOI:10.1016/ s1473-3099(17)30324-9
- [16] Boxerbaum B. Isolation of rapidly growing mycobacteria in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr. 1980;96:689–91. DOI:10.1016/ s0022-3476(80)80743-8
- [17] Smith MJ, Efthimiou J, Hodson ME, Batten JC. Mycobacterial isolations in young adults with cystic fibrosis. Thorax. 1984;39:369–75. DOI:10.1136/thx.39.5.369
- [18] Hjelte L, Petrini B, Källenius G, Strandvik B. Prospective study of mycobacterial infections in patients with cystic fibrosis. Thorax. 1990;45:397–400. DOI:10.1136/thx.45.5.397
- [19] Kilby JM, Gilligan PH, Yankaskas JR, Highsmith WE, Jr., Edwards LJ, Knowles MR. Nontuberculous mycobacteria in adult patients with cystic fibrosis. Chest. 1992;102:70–5. DOI:10.1378/chest.102.1.70
- [20] Aitken ML, Burke W, McDonald G, Wallis C, Ramsey B, Nolan C. Nontuberculous mycobacterial disease in adult cystic fibrosis patients. Chest. 1993;103:1096–9. DOI:10.1378/ chest.103.4.1096
- [21] Hjelt K, Højlyng N, Howitz P, Illum N, Munk E, Valerius NH, et al. The role of mycobacteria other than tuberculosis (MOTT) in patients with cystic fibrosis. Scand J Infect Dis. 1994;26:569–76. DOI:10.3109/00365549409011815

- [22] Sermet-Gaudelus I, Le Bourgeois M, Pierre-Audigier C, Offredo C, Guillemot D, Halley S, et al. Mycobacterium abscessus and children with cystic fibrosis. Emerg Infect Dis. 2003;9:1587–91. DOI:10.3201/ eid0912.020774
- [23] Fauroux B, Delaisi B, Clément A, Saizou C, Moissenet D, Truffot-Pernot C, et al. Mycobacterial lung disease in cystic fibrosis: a prospective study. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1997;16:354–8. DOI:10.1097/00006454-199704000-00004
- [24] Mussaffi H, Rivlin J, Shalit I, Ephros M, Blau H. Nontuberculous mycobacteria in cystic fibrosis associated with allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis and steroid therapy. Eur Respir J. 2005;25:324–8. DOI:10 .1183/09031936.05.00058604
- [25] Esther CR, Jr., Esserman DA, Gilligan P, Kerr A, Noone PG. Chronic Mycobacterium abscessus infection and lung function decline in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2010;9:117–23. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2009.12.001
- [26] Pierre-Audigier C, Ferroni A, Sermet-Gaudelus I, Le Bourgeois M, Offredo C, Vu-Thien H, et al. Age-related prevalence and distribution of nontuberculous mycobacterial species among patients with cystic fibrosis. J Clin Microbiol. 2005;43:3467–70. DOI:10.1128/ jcm.43.7.3467-3470.2005
- [27] Oliver A, Maiz L, Cantón R, Escobar H, Baquero F, Gómez-Mampaso E. Nontuberculous mycobacteria in patients with cystic fibrosis. Clin Infect Dis. 2001;32:1298–303. DOI:10.1086/319987
- [28] Radhakrishnan DK, Yau Y, Corey M, Richardson S, Chedore P, Jamieson F, et al. Non-tuberculous mycobacteria in children with cystic fibrosis: isolation, prevalence, and predictors. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2009;44:1100– 6. DOI:10.1002/ppul.21106

Chapter 18 - Nontuberculous mycobacteria in cystic fibrosis

- [29] Levy I, Grisaru-Soen G, Lerner-Geva L, Kerem E, Blau H, Bentur L, et al. Multicenter cross-sectional study of nontuberculous mycobacterial infections among cystic fibrosis patients, Israel. Emerg Infect Dis. 2008;14:378–84. DOI:10.3201/eid1403.061405
- [30] Olivier KN, Weber DJ, Wallace RJ, Jr., Faiz AR, Lee JH, Zhang Y, et al. Nontuberculous mycobacteria. I: multicenter prevalence study in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003;167:828–34. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200207-6780C
- [31] Roux AL, Catherinot E, Ripoll F, Soismier N, Macheras E, Ravilly S, *et al.* Multicenter study of prevalence of nontuberculous mycobacteria in patients with cystic fibrosis in france. J Clin Microbiol. 2009;47:4124–8. DOI:10.1128/jcm.01257-09
- [32] Valenza G, Tappe D, Turnwald D, Frosch M, König C, Hebestreit H, et al. Prevalence and antimicrobial susceptibility of microorganisms isolated from sputa of patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2008;7:123–7. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2007.06.006
- [33] Chalermskulrat W, Sood N, Neuringer IP, Hecker TM, Chang L, Rivera MP, et al. Non-tuberculous mycobacteria in end stage cystic fibrosis: implications for lung transplantation. Thorax. 2006;61:507–13. DOI:10.1136/ thx.2005.049247
- [34] Binder AM, Adjemian J, Olivier KN, Prevots DR. Epidemiology of nontuberculous mycobacterial infections and associated chronic macrolide use among persons with cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;188:807–12. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201307-12000C
- [35] Qvist T, Gilljam M, Jönsson B, Taylor-Robinson D, Jensen-Fangel S, Wang M, et al. Epidemiology of nontuberculous mycobacteria among patients with cystic fibrosis in Scandinavia. J Cyst Fibros. 2015;14:46–52. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2014.08.002

- [36] Adjemian J, Olivier KN, Prevots DR. Epidemiology of pulmonary nontuberculous mycobacterial sputum positivity in patients with cystic fibrosis in the United States, 2010-2014. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2018;15:817–26. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201709-7270C
- [37] Griffith DE, Aksamit T, Brown-Elliott BA, Catanzaro A, Daley C, Gordin F, et al. An official ATS/IDSA statement: diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of nontuberculous mycobacterial diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2007;175:367–416. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200604-571ST
- [38] Olivier KN, Weber DJ, Lee JH, Handler A, Tudor G, Molina PL, et al. Nontuberculous mycobacteria. II: nested-cohort study of impact on cystic fibrosis lung disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003;167:835–40. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200207-679OC
- [39] Qvist T, Taylor-Robinson D, Waldmann E, Olesen HV, Hansen CR, Mathiesen IH, et al. Comparing the harmful effects of nontuberculous mycobacteria and gram negative bacteria on lung function in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2016;15:380–5. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2015.09.007
- [40] Waters V, Ratjen F. Antibiotic treatment for nontuberculous mycobacteria lung infection in people with cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020;6:Cd010004. DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD010004.pub5
- [41] Hughes DA, Bokobza I, Carr SB. Eradication success for non-tuberculous mycobacteria in children with cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2021;57:2003636. DOI:10.1183/13993003.03636-2020
- [42] Saint GL, Thomas MF, Zainal Abidin N, Langley RJ, Brodlie M, McNamara P. Treating nontuberculous mycobacteria in children with cystic fibrosis: a multicentre retrospective study. Arch Dis Child. 2022;107:479–85. DOI:10.1136/archdischild-2021-322177

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 18 - Nontuberculous mycobacteria in cystic fibrosis

[43] Bryant JM, Brown KP, Burbaud S, Everall I, Belardinelli JM, Rodriguez-Rincon D, et al. Stepwise pathogenic evolution of mycobacterium abscessus. Science. 2021;372:eabb8699. DOI:10.1126/science. abb8699

Chapter 19 Other bacteria

Authors

Kate Hill, Marianne Skov, Tacjana Pressler

Introduction

People with CF (pwCF) host polymicrobial communities in their lungs [1]. Less typical gram-negative bacterial infections are increasingly prevalent members of this polymicrobial ecosystem.

The changes in the CF polymicrobial communities have been driven by changes in the care and treatment provided to pwCF. Most importantly, the key change has been the increase in life expectancy of pwCF. Furthermore, the greater availability and more aggressive use of antibiotics, such as quinolone and inhaled antibiotics, have become a standard part of CF care. Antimicrobial treatment has also moved from the episodic treatment of respiratory exacerbations toward chronic suppressive antibiotic therapy, as well as early aggressive treatment to eradicate initial respiratory tract colonization/infection. These strategies have placed greater selective pressures on the microbes causing infection in CF, possibly facilitating the emergence of species with multidrug resistance phenotypes.

There is a sense that the spectrum of species involved in CF infection is expanding, thanks to broader detection of microbial species in clinical specimens and more accurate methods of identifying existing species, sometimes leading to reclassification [2]. However, identification of the presence of new/unusual bacteria using methods such as MALDI-TOF (Matrix Assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry), is not always accompanied by additional symptoms or worse clinical presentation such as decrease in forced expiratory volume (FEV₁) or body mass index (BMI).

Bacteria that infrequently cause disease in healthy hosts, such as *Burkholderia* species, *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* and *Achromobacter xylosoxidans*, can cause both acute and chronic infection in CF [3]. Although some of these species have been associated with poor outcomes in pwCF, the role that other species such as *Ralstonia, Pandoraea* and *Bordetella* may play in contributing to disease progression as yet remains uncertain.

Longitudinal CF registry data show that the infections most significantly impacting decline in percent predicted FEV_1 were *Mycobacterium abscessus* complex (2.22% points per year), followed by *Burkholderia cepacia* complex (Bcc) (1.95%), *A. xylosoxidans* (1.55%) and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (0.95%) (Figure 1) [4].

19.1 Burkholderia cepacia complex

The reported prevalence of chronic Bcc infection varies from 1% in children to 4% in adults with CF in Europe [5], with approximately similar prevalence in the USA. Bcc infections occur less often than other pathogens such as *P. aeruginosa* and are restricted to older pwCF, typically teenagers and adults [6]. The 2021 CFF Annual Data Report

Chapter 19 - Other bacteria

identifies numerous distinct subspecies [7], with 24 related genetically distinct species identified to date [6]. Bcc bacteria are highly problematic pathogens for multiple reasons, including

- their high antibiotic resistance [8]
- the potential for patient-to-patient transmission [9]
- the subspecies B. cenocepacia and B. multivorans are associated with higher morbidity and mortality. Patients infected with Bcc can rapidly progress to "cepacia syndrome", a fatal necrotizing pneumonia and bacteremia [10]
- the recognition of epidemic spread, and the increased mortality rates associated with the epidemic strains, has led to the policy of strict segregation in clinical units since the 1990s [11]

Bcc is typically identified by isolation on selective culture media following culture of sputum or other respiratory samples [12]. However, methodological advances using MALDI-TOF allow more accurate identification [13].

Susceptibility is multifactorial, with recent research suggesting the role of T6SS-expressing *P. aeruginosa* and its possible role in preventing Bcc superinfection and its sequelae [6, 14].

Inconsistency exists in guidance for antimicrobial susceptibility testing (AST). For example, the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute recommends performing antimicrobial susceptibility testing (AST) for Bcc. In contrast, the European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST) does not recommend AST since performance of this method is poor, with little correlation with clinical outcomes [15].

Therapeutic strategies vary [16] (Table 1), and can include antioxidant/antibiotic combination therapy [17]. Therapies using an N-acetylcysteine

(NAC) effective disruptor such as OligoG may allow lower concentrations of antibiotic and therapies for Bcc/biofilm disruption [18, 19].

19.2 Stenotrophomonas maltophilia

S. maltophilia is an increasingly prevalent CF pathogen [17, 20, 21], with a reported incidence of 7% in children and 9% in adults with CF in the ECFS Patient Registry (ECFSPR) 2020 report [5]. Colonization with S. maltophilia is associated with increased risk of pulmonary exacerbations, lung function decline and worse outcomes in adults [20, 22-24] and children with CF [25, 26]. Extensive drug resistance has been reported [27-30] and evidence of effective antibiotic treatment is variable [22]. Bacterial recolonization occurs early after lung transplantation. but survival is not influenced by recolonization or species [31]. S. maltophilia has complex colonization interactions with other pathogens [32, 33]. Additionally fungal infection in CF is associated with P. aeruginosa and S. maltophilia co-infection [34].

Novel therapeutic strategies are actively being sought, including siderophore-based agents, tetracyclines, ß-lactamase inhibitors, antimicrobial peptides, cell envelope targets, silver, NAC, and plant compounds [20].

19.3 Achromobacter species

This section focuses on *A. xylosoxidans*, previously referred to as *Alcaligenes* spp.

A. xylosoxidans is the most prevalent Achromobacter species in pwCF, with a reported incidence of 3% in children and 7% in adults with CF [5]. Prevalence has increased [35]. Prolonged treatment with IV antibiotics may predispose

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 19 - Other bacteria

pwCF to increased risk of *A. xylosoxidans* infection [25]. Further studies are required to explore *A. xylosoxidans* inhibitory mechanism upon *P. aeruginosa* [33].

Whole genome sequencing is needed to identify and type *A. xylosoxidans*. The new duplex assay has been demonstrated to be accurate and inexpensive [36, 37].

Chronic colonization of *A. xylosoxidans* in CF is associated with decline in lung function, increased risk of pulmonary exacerbations [38] and more severe disease outcomes [35, 37, 39-43] and increased risk of transplant and death [41]. However, survival is not influenced by recolonization [31] and its presence should not preclude transplant [44].

A. xylosoxidans has poor susceptibility to most conventional IV antibiotics [45], with inconsistent outcomes reported for combination therapies [46]. It is susceptible to broad spectrum gallium-based therapy $Ga(NO_3)_3$ and Ga(III)-maltolate [47]. The synergistic activity of gallium-based therapies with IV antibiotics requires further study. Bacteriophages [48, 49] and approaches targeting biofilm or quorum sensing communication signals offer possible new treatment pathways [33].

19.4 Treatment strategies

There is widespread variability in treatment regimens for less typical pathogens such as Bcc, *S. maltophilia* and *A. xylosoxidans*, with a lack of consensus regarding antibiotic cycling [16]. Exploratory treatments exist, such as OligoG as therapy for Bcc/biofilm disruption [18], while antioxidant/antibiotic combination therapy and phage therapy offer alternative strategies [50, 51]. Newly approved broad spectrum options include cefiderocol [52] and gallium compounds [47]. Immunotherapy and immunization strategies for pathogens such as Bcc are still in the exploratory stages [53-56].

19.5 Rare pathogens

The following is a non-exhaustive selection of key less frequent pathogens.

Pandorea species infection in pwCF has been reported [67-69], with severe lung disease, bacteremia and multidrug resistance.

Bordetella species (petrii or bronchispectica) infection has been correlated with pulmonary exacerbation [70-72]. The Bordetella spp. are considered multidrug resistant, with case reports demonstrating sensitivity to piperacillin/ tazobactam and minocycline but resistance to erythromycin and aztreonam [73].

Ralstonia has a low but possibly increasing prevalence (0.8% to 2.1% in pwCF in a single center), and is correlated with moderate to severely impaired lung function. *Ralstonia* is considered multidrug resistant, with evidence of possible cross-infection [38, 74].

19.6 Challenges

The polymicrobial community of the CF airways presents a complex challenge in terms of detection and treatment [1], compounded by adaptation and diversification of bacteria. Longitudinal analysis is needed to understand evolutionary patterns [75]. Diagnostic challenges also exist in terms of the selection of culture media.

Multi-resistant bacteria pose a threat to

Chapter 19 - Other bacteria

post-transplant pwCF [76, 77] for example, in relation to Bcc. However, not all species of Bcc should be considered contraindications to lung transplant, as post-transplant survival may not be influenced by recolonization [31]. Nasal and oral sites may also act as reservoirs of bacterial infection, facilitating transmission to lower airways [78].

19.7 Conclusion

Bacterial competitiveness in the polymicrobial community of the CF lung presents ongoing research challenges, requiring new antimicrobial strategies beyond conventional treatments. Where microbiology might play a role, trials should include the identification of the microbiota profiles of participating pwCF in advance, assisting in the stratification of patients [19].

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 19 - Other bacteria

Figure 1

Effect on lung function of chronic infection from onset to end-stage lung disease in Danish cystic fibrosis patients. (Kindly reproduced from Qvist et al, 2016) [4].

The figure visualizes the impact of onset of chronic infections by plotting population averaged %FEV₁ trajectories before and after onset of infection with other model parameters held constant. Thus, for a patient born in 1994 and infected at age 20, all other things being equal, end-stage lung disease will occur after 13.6, 14.7, 16.8, 21.3, 24.4 and 35.6 years for MABSC, *B. cepacia* complex, *A. xylosoxidans*, *P. aeruginosa*, *S. maltophilia* and MAC respectively. Trajectories plotted and held constant for a person born in the 1994–2004 birth cohort, mutually adjusted for other co-variates in the model, with onset of infection occurring at age 20.



Chapter 19 - Other bacteria

Chapter 19 - Other bacteria

Table 1

Expert opinion on suggested treatments by pathogen. Adapted from Spencer et al, 2020 [57].

Pathogen	First-line-agents	Alternative agents	Other/Emerging therapies
Burkholderia cepacia complex	Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole Meropenem Ceftazidime Chloramphenicol	Minocycline, ceftazidime-avibactam [S8], Ceftazidime-avibactam + pipercilin-tazobactam Other recommended: eg, imipenem-relebactam as possi- ble alternative where isolates may be resistant to ceftazidime-avibac- tam [59]	Other strategies include antibiotic cycling in regard to <i>Burkholderia</i> <i>mulitvorans</i> : reversion of resistance [60] Exploratory approaches to vaccine development/progress [61]
Stenotrophomonas maltophilia	Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (Co-trimoxazole)	Levofloxacin, tetracyclines (mino- cycline, tigecycline & eravacycline), colistin, ceftazidime-avibactam + aztreonam, amoxicillin-clavulanate + aztreonam, ticarcillin/clavula- nate, ciprofloxacin, moxifloxacin, tobramycin, minocycline, chloram- phenicol	Combination therapies: <i>in vitro</i> combination testing for tigecy- cline-cefoperazone-subbactam and tigecycline-levofloxacin [62] Cefiderocol [20, 52] Gal(II)-based therapy as a broad-spectrum strategy [47] Gepotidacin (<i>in vitro</i> and animal studies) [63] PYED-1 in combination with amino- glycosides [66]
Achromobacter xylosoxidans	Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (Co-trimoxazole) Piperacillin-tazobactam Meropenem Imipenem Ceftazidime	Minocycline Chloramphenicol	Cefiderocol; <i>in vitro</i> studies [52] Ga(III)-based therapy as a broad-spectrum strategy [47] Alternative therapies: essential oils [66]

Abbreviations: Ga(III)=Gallium III, PYED-1=pregnadiene-11-hydroxy-16α,17α-epoxy-3,20-dione-1

Chapter 19 - Other bacteria

Bibliography

- Khanolkar RA, Clark ST, Wang PW, Hwang DM, Yau YCW, Waters VJ, et al. Ecological succession of polymicrobial communities in the cystic fibrosis airways. mSystems. 2020;5:e00809–20. DOI:10.1128/mSystems.00809-20
- [2] Green HD, Jones AM. Managing pulmonary infection in adults with cystic fibrosis: adult cystic fibrosis series. Chest. 2022;162:66–75. DOI:10.1016/j.chest.2022.02.007
- [3] Díez-Aguilar M, Ekkelenkamp M, Morosini MI, Merino I, de Dios Caballero J, Jones M, et al. Antimicrobial susceptibility of non-fermenting gram-negative pathogens isolated from cystic fibrosis patients. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2019;53:84–8. DOI:10.1016/j. ijantimicag.2018.09.001
- [4] Qvist T, Taylor-Robinson D, Waldmann E, Olesen HV, Hansen CR, Mathiesen IH, et al. Comparing the harmful effects of nontuberculous mycobacteria and gram negative bacteria on lung function in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2016;15:380–5. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2015.09.007
- [5] Orenti A, Zolin A, Rens Jv, Fox A, Krasnyk M, Daneau G, *et al.* ECFS patient registry annual data report 2020. European Cystic Fibrosis Society; 2022.
- [6] Perault AI, Chandler CE, Rasko DA, Ernst RK, Wolfgang MC, Cotter PA. Host adaptation predisposes *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to type VI secretion system-mediated predation by the *Burkholderia cepacia* complex. Cell Host Microbe. 2020;28:534–47.e3. DOI:10.1016/j.chom.2020.06.019
- [7] Marshall B, Faro A, Brown W, Elbert A, Cromwell E, Ostrenga J, et al. Cystic fibrosis foundation patient registry 2021 annual data report. Bethesda, Maryland: Cystic Fibrosis Foundation; 2022.

- [8] Rhodes KA, Schweizer HP. Antibiotic resistance in *Burkholderia* species. Drug Resist Updat. 2016;28:82–90. DOI:10.1016/j. drup.2016.07.003
- [9] Lipuma JJ. The changing microbial epidemiology in cystic fibrosis. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2010;23:299–323. DOI:10.1128/cmr.00068-09
- [10] Hauser AR, Jain M, Bar-Meir M, McColley SA. Clinical significance of microbial infection and adaptation in cystic fibrosis. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2011;24:29–70. DOI:10.1128/ cmr.00036-10
- [11] Saiman L, Siegel JD, LiPuma JJ, Brown RF, Bryson EA, Chambers MJ, et al. Infection prevention and control guideline for cystic fibrosis: 2013 update. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2014;35 Suppl 1:S1–67. DOI:10.1086/676882
- [12] Marrs ECL, Perry A, Perry JD. Evaluation of three culture media for isolation of *Burkholderia cepacia* complex from respiratory samples of patients with cystic fibrosis. Microorganisms. 2021;9:2604. DOI:10.3390/ microorganisms9122604
- [13] Vianna EF, Pentagna L, Menezes NIM, de Freitas FAD, Leite C, Albano RM, et al. Decreasing the cut-off score value of MALDI-ToF MS increase the identities of Burkholderia cepacia complex species. Curr Microbiol. 2021;78:2259–63. DOI:10.1007/s00284-021-02493-x
- [14] Kazmierczak BI. The enemy of my enemy: bacterial competition in the cystic fibrosis lung. Cell Host Microbe. 2020;28:502-4. DOI:10.1016/j.chom.2020.09.009
- [15] Huse HK, Lee MJ, Wootton M, Sharp SE, Traczewski M, LiPuma JJ, et al. Evaluation of antimicrobial susceptibility testing methods for Burkholderia cenocepacia and Burkholderia multivorans isolates from cystic fibrosis patients. J Clin Microbiol. 2021;59:e0144721. DOI:10.1128/jcm.01447-21

Chapter 19 - Other bacteria

- [16] Frost F, Shaw M, Nazareth D. Antibiotic therapy for chronic infection with Burkholderia cepacia complex in people with cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;6:Cd013079. DOI:10.1002/14651858. CD013079.pub2
- [17] Aiyer A, Manoharan A, Paino D, Farrell J, Whiteley GS, Kriel FH, et al. Disruption of biofilms and killing of Burkholderia cenocepacia from cystic fibrosis lung using an antioxidant-antibiotic combination therapy. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2021;58:106372. DOI:10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2021.106372
- [18] Fischer R, Schwarz C, Weiser R, Mahenthiralingam E, Smerud K, Meland N, et al. Evaluating the alginate oligosaccharide (OligoG) as a therapy for Burkholderia cepacia complex cystic fibrosis lung infection. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:821–9. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2022.01.003
- [19] Weiser R, Rye PD, Mahenthiralingam E. Implementation of microbiota analysis in clinical trials for cystic fibrosis lung infection: experience from the liogoG phase 2b clinical trials. J Microbiol Methods. 2021;181:106133. DOI:10.1016/j.mimet.2021.106133
- [20] Brooke JS. Advances in the microbiology of Stenotrophomonas maltophilia. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2021;34:e0003019. DOI:10.1128/ cmr.00030-19
- [21] Hatziagorou E, Orenti A, Drevinek P, Kashirskaya N, Mei-Zahav M, De Boeck K. Changing epidemiology of the respiratory bacteriology of patients with cystic fibrosis-data from the European cystic fibrosis society patient registry. J Cyst Fibros. 2020;19:376–83. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2019.08.006
- [22] Amin R, Jahnke N, Waters V. Antibiotic treatment for Stenotrophomonas maltophilia in people with cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020;3:Cd009249. DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD009249.pub5

- [23] Vidigal PG, Dittmer S, Steinmann E, Buer J, Rath PM, Steinmann J. Adaptation of *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* in cystic fibrosis: molecular diversity, mutation frequency and antibiotic resistance. Int J Med Microbiol. 2014;304:613–9. DOI:10.1016/j. ijmm.2014.04.002
- [24] Waters V, Atenafu EG, Lu A, Yau Y, Tullis
 E, Ratjen F. Chronic Stenotrophomonas maltophilia infection and mortality or lung transplantation in cystic fibrosis patients.
 J Cyst Fibros. 2013;12:482–6. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2012.12.006
- [25] Cogen J, Emerson J, Sanders DB, Ren C, Schechter MS, Gibson RL, et al. Risk factors for lung function decline in a large cohort of young cystic fibrosis patients. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2015;50:763–70. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.23217
- [26] Berdah L, Taytard J, Leyronnas S, Clement A, Boelle PY, Corvol H. Stenotrophomonas maltophilia: a marker of lung disease severity. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2018;53:426–30. DOI:10.1002/ppul.23943
- [27] Fluit AC, Bayjanov JR, Aguilar MD, Cantón R, Elborn S, Tunney MM, et al. Taxonomic position, antibiotic resistance and virulence factor production by *Stenotrophomonas* isolates from patients with cystic fibrosis and other chronic respiratory infections. BMC Microbiol. 2022;22:129. DOI:10.1186/ s12866-022-02466-5
- [28] Gudzuhn M, Alio I, Moll R, de Vries J, Boehlich J, Assmann M, et al. Molecular insight into gene response of diorcinol- and rubrolide-treated biofilms of the emerging pathogen Stenotrophomonas maltophilia. Microbiol Spectr. 2022;10:e0258221. DOI:10.1128/spectrum.02582-21

Chapter 19 - Other bacteria

- [29] Pompilio A, Savini V, Fiscarelli E, Gherardi G, Di Bonaventura G. Clonal diversity, biofilm formation, and antimicrobial resistance among Stenotrophomonas maltophilia strains from cystic fibrosis and non-cystic fibrosis patients. Antibiotics (Basel). 2020;9:15. DOI:10.3390/antibiotics9010015
- [30] Gajdács M, Urbán E. Prevalence and antibiotic resistance of Stenotrophomonas maltophilia in respiratory tract samples: a 10-year epidemiological snapshot. Health Serv Res Manag Epidemiol. 2019;6:233392819870774. DOI:10.1177/233392819870774
- [31] Holm AE, Schultz HHL, Johansen HK, Pressler T, Lund TK, Iversen M, *et al.* Bacterial re-colonization occurs early after lung transplantation in cystic fibrosis patients. J Clin Med. 2021;10:1275. DOI:10.3390/jcm10061275
- [32] McDaniel MS, Schoeb T, Swords WE. Cooperativity between Stenotrophomonas maltophilia and Pseudomonas aeruginosa during polymicrobial airway infections. Infect Immun. 2020;88:e00855–19. DOI:10.1128/iai.00855-19
- [33] Menetrey Q, Sorlin P, Jumas-Bilak E, Chiron R, Dupont C, Marchandin H. Achromobacter xylosoxidans and Stenotrophomonas maltophilia: emerging pathogens well-armed for life in the cystic fibrosis patients' lung. Genes (Basel). 2021;12:610. DOI:10.3390/genes12050610
- [34] Poore TS, Meier M, Towler E, Martiniano SL, Brinton JT, DeBoer EM, et al. Clinical characteristics of people with cystic fibrosis and frequent fungal infection. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2022;57:152–61. DOI:10.1002/ppul.25741
- [35] Marsac C, Berdah L, Thouvenin G, Sermet-Gaudelus I, Corvol H. Achromobacter xylosoxidans airway infection is associated with lung disease severity in children with cystic fibrosis. ERJ Open Res. 2021;7:00076– 2021. DOI:10.1183/23120541.00076-2021

- [36] Price EP, Soler Arango V, Kidd TJ, Fraser TA, Nguyen TK, Bell SC, et al. Duplex real-time PCR assay for the simultaneous detection of Achromobacter xylosoxidans and Achromobacter spp. Microb Genom. 2020;6:mgen000406. DOI:10.1099/ mgen.0.000406
- [37] Gabrielaite M, Bartell JA, Nørskov-Lauritsen N, Pressler T, Nielsen FC, Johansen HK, et al. Transmission and antibiotic resistance of Achromobacter in cystic fibrosis. J Clin Microbiol. 2021;59:e02911–20. DOI:10.1128/ jcm.02911-20
- [38] Coward A, Kenna DTD, Woodford N, Turton JF. Structured surveillance of Achromobacter, Pandoraea and Ralstonia species from patients in England with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2020;19:388–93. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2019.11.005
- [39] Tetart M, Wallet F, Kyheng M, Leroy S, Perez T, Le Rouzic O, et al. Impact of Achromobacter xylosoxidans isolation on the respiratory function of adult patients with cystic fibrosis. ERJ Open Res. 2019;5:00051–2019. DOI:10.1183/23120541.00051-2019
- [40] Recio R, Brañas P, Martínez MT, Chaves F, Orellana MA. Effect of respiratory Achromobacter spp. infection on pulmonary function in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Med Microbiol. 2018;67:952–6. DOI:10.1099/ jmm.0.000763
- [41] Somayaji R, Stanojevic S, Tullis DE, Stephenson AL, Ratjen F, Waters V. Clinical outcomes associated with Achromobacter species infection in patients with cystic fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2017;14:1412–8. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201701-0710C
- [42] Firmida MC, Pereira RH, Silva EA, Marques EA, Lopes AJ. Clinical impact of Achromobacter xylosoxidans colonization/infection in patients with cystic fibrosis. Braz J Med Biol Res. 2016;49:e5097. DOI:10.1590/1414-431x20155097

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 19 - Other bacteria

- [43] Swenson CE, Sadikot RT. Achromobacter respiratory infections. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2015;12:252–8. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201406-288FR
- [44] Lobo LJ, Tulu Z, Aris RM, Noone PG. Pan-resistant Achromobacter xylosoxidans and Stenotrophomonas maltophilia infection in cystic fibrosis does not reduce survival after lung transplantation. Transplantation. 2015;99:2196–202. DOI:10.1097/ tp.000000000000709
- [45] Chalhoub H, Kampmeier S, Kahl BC, Van Bambeke F. Role of efflux in antibiotic resistance of Achromobacter xylosoxidans and Achromobacter insuavis isolates from patients with cystic fibrosis. Front Microbiol. 2022;13:762307. DOI:10.3389/ fmicb.2022.762307
- [46] Okoliegbe IN, Hijazi K, Cooper K, Ironside C, Gould IM. Longitudinal surveillance and combination antimicrobial susceptibility testing of multidrug-resistant Achromobacter species from cystic fibrosis patients. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2020;64:e01467–20. DOI:10.1128/aac.01467-20
- [47] Visaggio D, Frangipani E, Hijazi S, Pirolo M, Leoni L, Rampioni G, et al. Variable susceptibility to gallium compounds of major cystic fibrosis pathogens. ACS Infect Dis. 2022;8:78–85. DOI:10.1021/acsinfecdis.1c00409
- [48] Lebeaux D, Merabishvili M, Caudron E, Lannoy D, Van Simaey L, Duyvejonck H, et al. A case of phage therapy against pandrug-resistant Achromobacter xylosoxidans in a 12-year-old lung-transplanted cystic fibrosis patient. Viruses. 2021;13:60. DOI:10.3390/ v13010060

- [49] Hoyle N, Zhvaniya P, Balarjishvili N, Bolkvadze D, Nadareishvili L, Nizharadze D, et al. Phage therapy against Achromobacter xylosoxidans lung infection in a patient with cystic fibrosis: a case report. Res Microbiol. 2018;169:540–2. DOI:10.1016/j.resmic.2018.05.001
- [50] Lauman P, Dennis JJ. Advances in phage therapy: targeting the *Burkholderia cepacia* complex. Viruses. 2021;13:1331. DOI:10.3390/ v13071331
- [51] Svoboda E. Bacteria-eating viruses could provide a route to stability in cystic fibrosis. Nature. 2020;583:S8–9. DOI:10.1038/d41586-020-02109-7
- [52] Gavioli EM, Guardado N, Haniff F, Deiab N, Vider E. Does cefiderocol have a potential role in cystic fibrosis pulmonary exacerbation management? Microb Drug Resist. 2021;27:1726–32. DOI:10.1089/mdr.2020.0602
- [53] Sousa SA, Seixas AMM, Marques JMM, Leitão JH. Immunization and immunotherapy approaches against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Burkholderia cepacia* complex infections. Vaccines (Basel). 2021;9:670. DOI:10.3390/vaccines9060670
- [54] Sousa SA, Seixas AMM, Mandal M, Rodríguez-Ortega MJ, Leitão JH. Characterization of the Burkholderia cenocepacia J2315 surface-exposed immunoproteome. Vaccines (Basel). 2020;8:509. DOI:10.3390/ vaccines8030509
- [55] Cheung-Lee WL, Parry ME, Zong C, Cartagena AJ, Darst SA, Connell ND, et al. Discovery of ubonodin, an antimicrobial lasso peptide active against members of the Burkholderia cepacia complex. Chembiochem. 2020;21:1335–40. DOI:10.1002/cbic.201900707
- [56] Grund ME, Soo JC, Cote CK, Berisio R, Lukomski S. Thinking outside the bug: targeting outer membrane proteins for *Burkholderia* vaccines. Cells. 2021;10:495. DOI:10.3390/ cells10030495

Chapter 19 - Other bacteria

- [57] Spencer HK, Spitznogle SL, Borjan J, Aitken SL. An overview of the treatment of less common non-lactose-fermenting gram-negative bacteria. Pharmacotherapy. 2020;40:936–51. DOI:10.1002/phar.2447
- [58] Nguyen TT, Condren M, Walter J. Ceftazidime-avibactam for the treatment of multidrug resistant *Burkholderia cepacia* complex in a pediatric cystic fibrosis patient. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2020;55:283–4. DOI:10.1002/ppul.24557
- [59] Becka SA, Zeiser ET, LiPuma JJ, Papp-Wallace KM. Activity of imipenem-relebactam against multidrug- and extensively drug-resistant Burkholderia cepacia complex and Burkholderia gladioli. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2021;65:e0133221. DOI:10.1128/ aac.01332-21
- [60] Kavanaugh LG, Harrison SK, Flanagan JN, Steck TR. Antibiotic cycling reverts extensive drug resistance in *Burkholderia multivorans*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2021;65:e0061121. DOI:10.1128/aac.00611-21
- [61] Wang G, Zarodkiewicz P, Valvano MA. Current advances in Burkholderia vaccines development. Cells. 2020;9:2671. DOI:10.3390/ cells9122671
- [62] Karamanlıoğlu D, Dizbay M. In vitro combination of tigecycline with other antibiotics in Stenotrophomonas maltophilia isolates. Turk J Med Sci. 2019;49:683–6. DOI:10.3906/ sag-1808-55
- [63] Sanders MI, Ali E, Buer J, Steinmann J, Rath PM, Verhasselt HL, et al. Antibacterial activity of the novel drug gepotidacin against Stenotrophomonas maltophilia; an in vitro and in vivo study. Antibiotics (Basel). 2022;11:192. DOI:10.3390/antibiotics11020192
- [64] Esposito A, Vollaro A, Esposito EP, D'Alonzo D, Guaragna A, Zarrilli R, et al. Antibacterial and antivirulence activity of glucocorticoid PYED-1 against Stenotrophomonas maltophilia. Antibiotics (Basel). 2020;9:105. DOI:10.3390/antibiotics9030105

- [65] Kim HR, Lee D, Eom YB. Anti-biofilm and anti-virulence efficacy of celastrol against Stenotrophomonas maltophilia. Int J Med Sci. 2018;15:617–27. DOI:10.7150/ijms.23924
- [66] Pesavento G, Maggini V, Maida I, Lo Nostro A, Calonico C, Sassoli C, et al. Essential oil from origanum vulgare completely inhibits the growth of multidrug-resistant cystic fibrosis pathogens. Nat Prod Commun. 2016;11:861–4.
- [67] Jørgensen IM, Johansen HK, Frederiksen B, Pressler T, Hansen A, Vandamme P, et al. Epidemic spread of *Pandoraea apista*, a new pathogen causing severe lung disease in cystic fibrosis patients. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2003;36:439–46. DOI:10.1002/ppul.10383
- [68] Johnson LN, Han JY, Moskowitz SM, Burns JL, Qin X, Englund JA. Pandoraea bacteremia in a cystic fibrosis patient with associated systemic illness. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2004;23:881–2. DOI:10.1097/01. inf.0000136857.74561.3c
- [69] Mahenthiralingam E. Emerging cystic fibrosis pathogens and the microbiome. Paediatr Respir Rev. 2014;15 Suppl 1:13–5. DOI:10.1016/j.prrv.2014.04.006
- [70] Menetrey Q, Aujoulat F, Chiron R, Jumas-Bilak E, Marchandin H, Dupont C. A new perspective on opportunistic pathogens of the genus *Bordetella* in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:344–7. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2021.07.010
- [71] El Khatib N, Ferroni A, Le Bourgeois M, Chedevergne F, Clairicia M, Avril H, et al. Persistent Bordetella bronchiseptica infection in a child with cystic fibrosis: relationship to bacterial phenotype. J Cyst Fibros. 2015;14:E13–5. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2015.03.014
- [72] Bos AC, Beemsterboer P, Wolfs TF, Versteegh FG, Arets HG. Bordetella species in children with cystic fibrosis: what do we know? The role in acute exacerbations and chronic course. J Cyst Fibros. 2011;10:307–12. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2011.06.003

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 19 - Other bacteria

- [73] Carleton A, Casserly B, Power L, Linnane B, O'flaherty G, Powell J, et al. Clustered multidrug-resistant Bordetella petrii in adult cystic fibrosis patients in Ireland: case report and review of antimicrobial therapies. JMM Case Rep. 2014;1:e000075. DOI:10.1099/ jmmcr.0.000075
- [74] Green HD, Bright-Thomas R, Kenna DT, Turton JF, Woodford N, Jones AM. *Ralstonia* infection in cystic fibrosis. Epidemiol Infect. 2017;145:2864–72. DOI:10.1017/ s0950268817001728
- [75] Hassan AA, Dos Santos SC, Cooper VS, Sá-Correia I. Comparative evolutionary patterns of Burkholderia cenocepacia and B. multivorans during chronic co-infection of a cystic fibrosis patient lung. Front Microbiol. 2020;11:574626. DOI:10.3389/ fmicb.2020.574626
- [76] Vazirani J, Crowhurst T, Morrissey CO, Snell GI. Management of multidrug resistant infections in lung transplant recipients with cystic fibrosis. Infect Drug Resist. 2021;14:5293–301. DOI:10.2147/idr.S301153
- [77] Mitchell AB, Glanville AR. The impact of resistant bacterial pathogens including Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Burkholderia on lung transplant outcomes. Semin Respir Crit Care Med. 2021;42:436–48. DOI:10.1055/s-0041-1728797
- [78] Passarelli Mantovani R, Sandri A, Boaretti M, Burlacchini G, Li Vigni V, Scarazzai M, *et al.* Longitudinal monitoring of sinonasal and oral bacterial reservoirs to prevent chronic lung infection in people with cystic fibrosis. ERJ Open Res. 2020;6:00115–2020. DOI:10.1183/23120541.00115-2020

Authors

Barry Plant, Patrick A. Flume

Introduction

Pulmonary exacerbations (PEx) are common events in the lives of people with cystic fibrosis (pwCF). Although there is no specific accepted definition, a PEx is generally described as a worsening of respiratory health, typically manifested by an increase in cough and sputum production, often accompanied by reduced pulmonary function as measured by spirometry [1], and a clinician based assessment of the patient leading to the decision to treat the event. The patient often has reduced appetite, weight loss and greater fatigue. Changes in respiratory exam and respiratory rate may also be evident.

There are many proposed etiologies for a PEx, including viral infection [2] or change in bacteria [3], but it may also be the result of progressive accumulation of airway phlegm over time. Since bacteria are commonly present in the airways, antibiotics are commonly recommended as a component of treatment of a PEx [4]. It is important to note that antibiotics are not the sole treatment of a PEx, and clinical practice guidelines recommend airway clearance therapies and inhaled medications (e.g. hypertonic saline, dornase alfa, bronchodilators) [4]. For the purposes of this chapter, we will assume that these other aspects of care are optimized and focus our discussion on the important aspects related to antibiotic treatment.

20.1 Clinical outcomes

PEx treatment aims to relieve the symptoms that led to the diagnosis, allowing the pwCF to return to their previous baseline health status. However, when should these clinical outcomes be measured and to what should they be compared? Surveys have shown that patients are most interested in relief of symptoms while clinicians are focused on recovery of lung function [5]. Clinicians often report treating the PEx until the patient recovers to baseline status, but most clinical outcomes may lack a proximate assessment (e.g. there may not be a graded assessment of symptoms during a time of wellness) or the previous measure of lung function (percent predicted forced expiratory volume at 1 second; $ppFEV_1$) may not be a reliable measure [6]. Indeed, in an observational study of PEx, nearly 25% of patients admitted to the hospital had a ppFEV₁ greater than their "baseline", or best measure in the previous six months [7]. Thus, for these measures it is most practical to measure a clinical meaningful improvement compared to the status at the time of initiation of treatment. An additional lesson from observational studies is that some measures (e.g. ppFEV₁) begin to decline shortly after stopping PEx treatment [6]. This informed the Standardized Treatment of Pulmonary Exacerbations (STOP) program that treatment response (at least for comparison of interventions) is best measured at the end of PEx treatment (e.g. 2 weeks) [5].

Chapter 20 - Treating bronchopulmonary excerbations due to bacteria

Although respiratory symptoms tend to improve in the short term (i.e. during the antibiotic treatment) [8], other health related quality of life domains, especially physical functioning, can take weeks to return to baseline [9].

20.2 Selection of antibiotics

Greater variation in care is associated with worse health outcomes. Therefore, standardization of best practices can improve effective care. A standardized PEx antibiotic strategy ensures that patients are treated generally the same, while personalizing treatment based on relevant factors. Historically, clinicians have regarded the results of cultures of respiratory specimens as the likely targets for antibiotic treatment. In the absence of specific culture data for a patient, registry data describe the most common pathogens that vary with increasing age (Figure 1) [10]. Oropharyngeal swabs provide surrogate samples for those unable to expectorate but may not be truly representative of lower airway infection [11]. We also know that the CF airway microbiome is typically polymicrobial, complicating the interpretation of standard culture results. Organisms have different growth requirements, permitting one pathogen to predominate over others in culture media. For example. Pseudomonas aeruginosa often overgrows other bacteria (e.g. Staphylococcus aureus). Selective culture media are used to address this problem [12]. The other challenge of a polymicrobial infection is determining which pathogen is the culprit to target; to treat all pathogens identified in culture might require the use of many antibiotics.

Antibiotic susceptibility testing has long helped guide antibiotic decisions, but antibiotic resistance patterns may also complicate antibiotic choices. Novel laboratory methods, such as synergy testing and multiple combination bactericidal testing (MCBT) of resistant *Pseudomonas* isolates, have not been shown to improve clinical or microbiology outcomes compared to standard susceptibility testing [13]. More recently, CFMATTERS (CF Microbiome-determined Antibiotic Therapy Trial in Exacerbations Study) attempted to exploit microbiome results to see if antibacterial therapy prescribed on the basis of community composition would be beneficial. While not fully reported, the empiric addition of a third "microbiota-targeting agent" (predicted to have activity against the top four most abundant organisms) to standard of care did not improve clinical outcomes [14].

Paradoxically, antibiotic susceptibility data have not proven useful in predicting clinical outcomes [15]. A systematic review of the literature found that standard susceptibility testing was not associated with improved clinical outcomes [15]. To address this challenge, a working group on antimicrobial resistance offered several recommendations, including that antibiotic choice should be guided by respiratory culture results (i.e. genus and species) and previous treatment response [16]. These are pragmatic recommendations given the absence of better outcomes with more advanced testing.

CF treatment guidelines have long recommended two antibiotics for *P. aeruginosa*, despite lack of objective evidence of greater clinical benefit compared to a single antibiotic. *P. aeruginosa* in early infection is commonly susceptible to anti-pseudomonal β -lactam antibiotics (e.g. cephalosporins, carbapenems), aminoglycosides and fluoroquinolones. Combination antibiotic therapy for *P. aeruginosa* has been justified by either synergist effects (discounted in the studies noted above) or reduced selection for resistance. However, some studies reported that combination therapy had either no impact or increased antimicrobial resistance [17-20]. A recent *post hoc* analysis of a large study of exacerbation treatment has questioned the value added with a second anti-pseudomonal antibiotic [21].

Dosing of antibiotics is also somewhat controversial. For most drugs, pharmacokinetic parameters are similar for pwCF compared to people without CF, but some drugs require higher doses for treating infections in pwCF [22]. Pharmacodynamic principles evaluating time and concentration factors that predict microbiologic effect have been applied, through prolonged infusion of β-lactam antibiotics and by restricting aminoglycoside dosing to once-daily [23]. Although no studies have proven any dose or dosing regimen to be ideal, studies have offered guidance for clinicians to assure consistency. Table 1, while not exhaustive, is modified from protocols of exacerbation treatment studies and is a useful reference point for clinical teams identifying both oral and intravenous (IV) options [24].

Finally, the method of antibiotic delivery is of interest. Typically, antibiotics are given systemically, either oral or intravenously. However, inhaled antibiotics offer another approach to treatment. Inhaled antibiotics have long been used in the management of CF airways for either eradication of new infection or as suppressive treatment of persistent infection [25]. To date there is little information on the utility of topical antibiotic delivery (i.e. inhaled antibiotics) in acute PEx. Although there is low systemic absorption of inhaled antibiotics, one study assessing concomitant inhaled tobramycin along with IV tobramycin in acute PEx demonstrating that the timing of the inhaled dose relative to the IV dose may impact the interpretation of tobramycin pharmacokinetic parameters [26]. In addition, some patients may find tolerability of inhaled antibiotics difficult during an acute PEx.

20.3 Place of treatment

The optimal place of treatment (i.e. home versus hospital) is an unresolved question in PEx treatment, but there is growing evidence to suggest better outcomes are associated with hospital care. Observational studies report better outcomes for those treated in hospital versus at home [27]. A recent analysis of a national data registry found that inpatient treatment was associated with a greater probability of a successful treatment response than outpatient treatment [28]. A large study comparing treatment durations but controlled for place of treatment found that treatment in the hospital was associated with greater improvements in lung function, respiratory symptoms and weight as compared to treatment at home [29]. Only one comparative trial exists that demonstrated similar outcomes for home and hospital settings [30]. However, it was a small cohort (31 exacerbations in 17 patients), and the patients undergoing home therapy had spent a median of three days in hospital before home discharge (range 1–5 days).

Relevant comorbidities may influence a final decision on the place of treatment. Examples include fatigue and ability to perform therapies properly, poor nutritional status at baseline [31] (which will require even greater support during an exacerbation), CF-related diabetes (CFRD) (and typically the need for additional insulin requirement) [32], or renal disease/dysfunction and drug level monitoring. Awareness of the home environment should be an important consideration as socio-economic factors (e.g. appropriate utilities, family support) may impact outcomes [4]. Geography and the distance/ease of access from the CF center may also be a consideration for the clinical team [30]. In general, home therapy may be appropriate for many pwCF; however, if there is any doubt, hospital admission is the current preferred option.

care.

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 20 - Treating bronchopulmonary excerbations due to bacteria

20.4 Duration of antibiotic treatment

CF guidelines identified a lack of evidence to guide antibiotic duration [4]. A pragmatic study assessing IV antimicrobial treatment duration for PEx found that 10 days was not inferior to 14 days in pwCF who demonstrated an early response to treatment. This early response was measured between day 7 and 10 and defined as both improvement in ppFEV₁ of at least 8% and a decrease in chronic respiratory infection symptom score (CRISS) of at least 11 points. In addition, a treatment duration of 21 days was not superior to 14 days in pwCF who had a less robust response to treatment [24]. These data provide strong evidence for a standardized treatment duration, both in clinical practice and research trials. Some biomarkers may associate with clinical outcomes. C-reactive protein (CRP) has been proposed as a biomarker of interest. Recent data found that although it associated with an increased odds of increased future PEx there were only weak correlations between CRP changes and clinical response to treatment [33].

Defining best practices, evolving treatment guidelines and standardizing approaches is critical to improve patient outcomes. Recent studies have challenged long-held beliefs about best practices, and studies over the next decade future may change our approach significantly, particularly regarding duration of treatment and selection of antibiotics. The advent of highly effective CFTR modulators (in particular ivacaftor [34] and ivacaftor/tezacaftor/elexacaftor [35]). have been demonstrated to significantly reduce exacerbation rates but have not been shown to improve clinical outcomes following treatment of a PEx [36]. In addition, pwCF on CFTR modulator therapy expectorated reduced or no sputum, posing new challenges for the surveillance of bacterial pathogens. We will have to develop new methods to understand the pathophysiology of CF airways disease and the impact of CFTR modulators on disease progression as well as PEx presentation and response to treatments.

Figure 1

Prevalence of respiratory microorganisms by age cohort.

Data from the CF Foundation Patient Registry including cystic fibrosis patients under care at CF Foundation-accredited care centers in the United States who consented to have their data entered [37].



20.5 Conclusion

PEx significantly impact the lives of pwCF. Bacterial pathogens are persistently present in the CF airways and are often blamed for causing or playing a role in the pathology of a PEx. Therefore, antibiotics have long been considered essential in the treatment of PEx, with consensus recommendations for treatment decisions. These have been based on extensive clinical experience but without the support of high quality evidence obtained through controlled clinical trials. In addition, there has been broad heterogeneity across CF centers in their treatment decisions, suggesting a poor standardization of

Chapter 20 - Treating bronchopulmonary excerbations due to bacteria

Table 1

278

Antibiotic dosing recommendations for the treatment of pulmonary exacerbations [24].

Antibiotics are commonly used to treat pathogens found in respiratory cultures of CF patients. These dosing recommendations are modified from a recent clinical trial of CF exacerbations [24].

Antibiotic	Pathogen	Formulation	Dose
Ceftazidime	PA, BURK	IV	Adult: 2 g q 8 h Pediatric: 100 mg/kg q 8 h
Imipenem-cilastatin	PA	IV	Adult: 1 g q 6-8 h Pediatric: 25 mg/kg q 6 h
Meropenem	PA, ACH, BURK	IV	Adult: 2 g q 8 h Pediatric: 40mg/kg q 8 h
Aztreonam	PA	IV	Adult: 2 g q 8 h Pediatric: 30 mg/kg q 6-8 h
Piperacillin-tazobactam	PA, BURK	IV	Adult: 4.5 gm IV q 6 h Pediatric: 350-600 mg/kg/day divided q 4-6 h [max 4 g/dose]
Ceftazidime-avibactam	PA, BURK	IV	Adult: 2.5 g q 8 h Pediatric: 62.5 mg/kg q 8 h
Ceftolazone-tazobactam	PA	IV	Adult: 1.5 - 3 g q 8 h Pediatric: 20/10 mg/kg q 8 h ¹
Imipenem-cilastatin- relebactam	PA	IV	Adult: 1.25 g q 6 h Pediatric: Dosing under study ¹
Meropenem-vaborbactam	PA, ACH, BURK	IV	Adult: 4 g q 8h Pediatric: Dosing under study ¹
Tobramycin	PA	IV	Adult: 10 mg/kg q 24 h Pediatric: 10 mg/kg q 24 h
Colistin	PA	IV	Adult: 2.5 mg/kg q 8 h Pediatric: 5-8 mg/kg/d divide q 8 h
Colistimethate Sodium	PA	IV	Adult: 1-2 million units q 8 h Pediatric: < 60 kg 25,000 units/kg q 8 h >60 kg 2 million units q 8h
Ciprofloxacin	PA	IV PO	Adult: 400 mg q 8-12 h Adult: 750 mg q 12 h
		IV PO	Pediatric: 15 mg/kg q 12 h Pediatric: 250 mg q 12 h
Levofloxacin	PA	IV PO	Adult: 750 mg q d or 500 mg q 12 h Adult: 750 q d or 500 mg q 12 h
Vancomycin	MRSA	IV	Adult: 15-20 mg/kg q 12 h then adjust according to drug levels Pediatric: 15 mg/kg q 6 h
Trimethoprim-sulfameth- oxazole ²	MRSA, SM, ACH, BURK	IV/PO	Adult: 5 mg/kg q 6-8 h Pediatric: 5 mg/kg q 6-8 h
Linezolid	MRSA	IV/PO	Adult: 600 mg q 12 h Pediatric: (<12) – 10 mg/kg q 8 h (>12) – 10 mg/kg q 12 h
Doxycycline ³	MRSA	IV/PO	Adult: 100 mg q 12 h Pediatric: 2 mg/kg q 12 h
Tigecycline	MRSA	IV	Adult: 100 mg loading, then 50 mg q 12 h Pediatric: (> 12 years) 50 mg q 12 h (8-11 years): 1.2-2 mg/kg q 12 h
Minocycline	ACH	IV/PO	Adult: 200 mg load, then 100 mg q 12 h Pediatric: 4 mg/kg load, then 2 mg/kg q 12 h

European Cystic Fibrosis Society

Abbreviations: PA=Pseudomonas aeruginosa; BURK=Burkholderia cepacia; ACH=Achromobacter xylosoxidans; MRSA=methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus; SM=Stenotrophomonas maltophilia.

Pediatric dosing applies to persons 6 years and older and generally up to weights of 40 kg and to a maximal dose equivalent to adult dosing.

1 Safety and efficacy not established in children younger than 18 years of age

Therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) for tobramycin (adults and children): Extended interval – Peak: 20-40 mg/L; Trough: < 1mg/L, (If traditional dosing of 4 mg/kg q 8 h is used – targets are as follows: Traditional – Peak: 10-12 mg/L; Trough: < 2 mg/L)

- 2 Dosing of TMP-SMX is based on TMP component
- 3 Tetracycline antibiotics not recommended for use in persons younger than 8 years

Vancomycin TDM: Adult – Trough 15-20 mg/L; AUC/MIC ratio 400-600; If continuous infusion used, steady state concentration target of 20-25 mg/L; Pediatric – Trough 10-20 mg/L; AUC/MIC ratio of 400-600

Chapter 20 - Treating bronchopulmonary excerbations due to bacteria

Bibliography

- Goss CH. Acute pulmonary exacerbations in cystic fibrosis. Semin Respir Crit Care Med. 2019;40:792–803. DOI:10.1055/s-0039-1697975
- [2] Asner S, Waters V, Solomon M, Yau Y, Richardson SE, Grasemann H, et al. Role of respiratory viruses in pulmonary exacerbations in children with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2012;11:433–9. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2012.04.006
- [3] Aaron SD, Ramotar K, Ferris W, Vandemheen K, Saginur R, Tullis E, et al. Adult cystic fibrosis exacerbations and new strains of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2004;169:811–5. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200309-13060C
- [4] Flume PA, Mogayzel PJ, Jr., Robinson KA, Goss CH, Rosenblatt RL, Kuhn RJ, et al. Cystic fibrosis pulmonary guidelines: treatment of pulmonary exacerbations. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2009;180:802–8. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.200812-1845PP
- [5] Heltshe SL, West NE, VanDevanter DR, Sanders DB, Beckett VV, Flume PA, et al. Study design considerations for the standardized treatment of pulmonary exacerbations 2 (STOP2): a trial to compare intravenous antibiotic treatment durations in CF. Contemp Clin Trials. 2018;64:35–40. DOI:10.1016/j. cct.2017.11.012
- [6] VanDevanter DR, Heltshe SL, Spahr J, Beckett VV, Daines CL, Dasenbrook EC, et al. Rationalizing endpoints for prospective studies of pulmonary exacerbation treatment response in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2017;16:607–15. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2017.04.004

- [7] Sanders DB, Solomon GM, Beckett VV, West NE, Daines CL, Heltshe SL, et al. Standardized treatment of pulmonary exacerbations (STOP) study: observations at the initiation of intravenous antibiotics for cystic fibrosis pulmonary exacerbations. J Cyst Fibros. 2017;16:592–9. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2017.04.005
- [8] VanDevanter DR, Heltshe SL, Sanders DB, West NE, Skalland M, Flume PA, et al. Changes in symptom scores as a potential clinical endpoint for studies of cystic fibrosis pulmonary exacerbation treatment. J Cyst Fibros. 2021;20:36–8. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2020.08.006
- [9] Flume PA, Suthoff ED, Kosinski M, Marigowda G, Quittner AL. Measuring recovery in health-related quality of life during and after pulmonary exacerbations in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2019;18:737–42. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2018.12.004
- [10] Marshall B, Faro A, Brown W, Elbert A, Cromwell E, Ostrenga J, *et al.* Cystic fibrosis foundation patient registry 2021 annual data report. Bethesda, Maryland: Cystic Fibrosis Foundation; 2022.
- [11] Rosenfeld M, Emerson J, Accurso F, Armstrong D, Castile R, Grimwood K, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of oropharyngeal cultures in infants and young children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 1999;28:321–8. DOI:10.1002/ (sici)1099-0496(199911)28:5<321::aidppul3>3.0.co;2-v
- [12] Burns JL, Emerson J, Stapp JR, Yim DL, Krzewinski J, Louden L, et al. Microbiology of sputum from patients at cystic fibrosis centers in the United States. Clin Infect Dis. 1998;27:158–63. DOI:10.1086/514631

- [13] Aaron SD, Vandemheen KL, Ferris W, Fergusson D, Tullis E, Haase D, et al. Combination antibiotic susceptibility testing to treat exacerbations of cystic fibrosis associated with multiresistant bacteria: a randomised, double-blind, controlled clinical trial. Lancet. 2005;366:463–71. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(05)67060-2
- [14] WS19-3 microbiota profiling during 1-year of clinical stability in people with cystic fibrosis-CFMATTERS consortium. In: Einarsson G, Flanagan E, Lee A, McGettigan C, Smith C, Gilpin D, *et al.*, editors. 42nd CF Conference. Supplement 1 ed. Liverpool, United Kingdom: European Cystic Fibrosis Society; 2019. p. S35.
- [15] Somayaji R, Parkins MD, Shah A, Martiniano SL, Tunney MM, Kahle JS, *et al.* Antimicrobial susceptibility testing (AST) and associated clinical outcomes in individuals with cystic fibrosis: a systematic review. J Cyst Fibros. 2019;18:236–43. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2019.01.008
- [16] Zemanick E, Burgel PR, Taccetti G, Holmes A, Ratjen F, Byrnes CA, et al. Antimicrobial resistance in cystic fibrosis: a delphi approach to defining best practices. J Cyst Fibros. 2020;19:370–5. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2019.10.006
- [17] McLaughlin FJ, Matthews WJ, Jr., Strieder DJ, Sullivan B, Taneja A, Murphy P, et al. Clinical and bacteriological responses to three antibiotic regimens for acute exacerbations of cystic fibrosis: ticarcillin-tobramycin, azlocillin-tobramycin, and azlocillin-placebo. J Infect Dis. 1983;147:559–67. DOI:10.1093/infdis/147.3.559
- [18] Padoan R, Cambisano W, Costantini D, Crossignani RM, Danza ML, Trezzi G, et al. Ceftazidime monotherapy vs. combined therapy in *Pseudomonas* pulmonary infections in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1987;6:648–53. DOI:10.1097/00006454-198707000-00006

- [19] Smith AL, Doershuk C, Goldmann D, Gore E, Hilman B, Marks M, et al. Comparison of a beta-lactam alone versus beta-lactam and an aminoglycoside for pulmonary exacerbation in cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr. 1999;134:413–21. DOI:10.1016/s0022-3476(99)70197-6
- [20] Master V, Roberts GW, Coulthard KP, Baghurst PA, Martin A, Roberts ME, et al. Efficacy of once-daily tobramycin monotherapy for acute pulmonary exacerbations of cystic fibrosis: a preliminary study. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2001;31:367–76. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.1060
- [21] VanDevanter DR, West NE, Sanders DB, Skalland M, Goss CH, Flume PA, et al. Antipseudomonal treatment decisions during CF exacerbation management. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:753–8. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2022.04.006
- [22] Akkerman-Nijland AM, Akkerman OW, Grasmeijer F, Hagedoorn P, Frijlink HW, Rottier BL, et al. The pharmacokinetics of antibiotics in cystic fibrosis. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. 2021;17:53–68. DOI:10.1080/17425 255.2021.1836157
- [23] Castagnola E, Cangemi G, Mesini A, Castellani C, Martelli A, Cattaneo D, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of antibiotics in cystic fibrosis: a narrative review. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2021;58:106381. DOI:10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2021.106381
- [24] Goss CH, Heltshe SL, West NE, Skalland M, Sanders DB, Jain R, et al. A randomized clinical trial of sntimicrobial duration for cystic fibrosis pulmonary exacerbation treatment. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2021;204:1295– 305. DOI:10.1164/rccm.202102-04610C
- [25] Döring G, Flume P, Heijerman H, Elborn JS. Treatment of lung infection in patients with cystic fibrosis: current and future strategies. J Cyst Fibros. 2012;11:461–79. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2012.10.004

Chapter 20 - Treating bronchopulmonary excerbations due to bacteria

- [26] Stenbit AE, Bullington WM, Heh JL, Flume PA. Timing of inhaled tobramycin affects assessment of intravenous tobramycin pharmacokinetic monitoring. J Cyst Fibros. 2013;12:403–6. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2012.11.007
- [27] Bosworth DG, Nielson DW. Effectiveness of home versus hospital care in the routine treatment of cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 1997;24:42–7. DOI:10.1002/(sici)1099-0496(199707)24:1<42::aid-ppul7>3.0.co;2-l
- [28] Schechter MS, VanDevanter DR, Pasta DJ, Short SA, Morgan WJ, Konstan MW. Treatment setting and outcomes of cystic fibrosis pulmonary exacerbations. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2018;15:225–33. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201702-1110C
- [29] Sanders DB, Khan U, Heltshe SL, Skalland M, West NE, VanDevanter DR, et al. Association of site of treatment with clinical outcomes following intravenous antimicrobial treatment of a pulmonary exacerbation. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:574–80. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2021.11.009
- [30] Wolter JM, Bowler SD, Nolan PJ, McCormack JG. Home intravenous therapy in cystic fibrosis: a prospective randomized trial examining clinical, quality of life and cost aspects. Eur Respir J. 1997;10:896–900.
- [31] Bell SC, Bowerman AM, Nixon LE, Macdonald IA, Elborn JS, Shale DJ. Metabolic and inflammatory responses to pulmonary exacerbation in adults with cystic fibrosis. Eur J Clin Invest. 2000;30:553–9. DOI:10.1046/ j.1365-2362.2000.00667.x
- [32] Moran A, Hardin D, Rodman D, Allen HF, Beall RJ, Borowitz D, et al. Diagnosis, screening and management of cystic fibrosis related diabetes mellitus: a consensus conference report. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 1999;45:61– 73. DOI:10.1016/s0168-8227(99)00058-3

- [33] VanDevanter DR, Heltshe SL, Skalland M, West NE, Sanders DB, Goss CH, et al. C-reactive protein (CRP) as a biomarker of pulmonary exacerbation presentation and treatment response. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:588–93. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2021.12.003
- [34] Ramsey BW, Davies J, McElvaney NG, Tullis E, Bell SC, Dřevínek P, et al. A CFTR potentiator in patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D mutation. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:1663– 72. DOI:10.1056/NEJMoa1105185
- [35] Middleton PG, Mall MA, Dřevínek P, Lands LC, McKone EF, Polineni D, et al. Elexacaftor-tezacaftor-ivacaftor for cystic fibrosis with a single Phe508del allele. N Engl J Med. 2019;381:1809–19. DOI:10.1056/NEJ-Moa1908639
- [36] Flume PA, Wainwright CE, Elizabeth Tullis D, Rodriguez S, Niknian M, Higgins M, *et al.* Recovery of lung function following a pulmonary exacerbation in patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D-CFTR mutation treated with ivacaftor. J Cyst Fibros. 2018;17:83–8. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2017.06.002
- [37] Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Working Group. Cystic fibrosis foundation patient registry 2020 annual data report. Bethesda, Maryland, United States of America: Cystic Fibrosis Foundation; 2021.

Chapter 21 Measuring response to treatment of bronchopulmonary exacerbations due to bacteria

Authors

Isabelle Sermet-Gaudelus, Patience Eschenhagen, Pierre-Régis Burgel

Introduction

Inflammation is the body's defense mechanism to remove harmful stimuli and initiate the healing process. While acute inflammation is beneficial, persistent inflammation due to lack of resolution of inflammation and/or persisting insult can be harmful [1]. In cystic fibrosis (CF). this "normal" process is misdirected and mainly driven by an excessive and sustained response of neutrophils relative to the burden of infection [2]. Neutrophils undergo necrosis rather than normal apoptosis and clearing by macrophages. This results in the release of damaging intracellular contents, including massive guantities of myeloperoxidase (MPO) and proteases such as neutrophil elastase (NE) and chemoattractants which further fuel neutrophil influx [3, 4]. This mechanism is reinforced by an imbalance between inflammatory and resolution mediators and finally results in a vicious cycle of neutrophilic inflammation, protease release and oxidative stress leading to tissue injury [5].

This chapter outlines biomarkers of the response to anti-inflammatory treatment – including antibiotic, anti-inflammatory, and cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) modulator treatments. Inflammatory biomarkers may be considered independently from clinical response as "pharmacological" indicators of biological efficacy, go/no-go indexes in proof-ofconcept trials, or as responsive or prognostic biomarkers reflecting clinical response or disease progression at short or long-term. This will be considered at the systemic and the respiratory level.

21.1 Lung Biomarkers

Assessing inflammation in the airways relies on access to a biofluid reliably quantifying lower airway inflammation, and easily repeatable for longitudinal measurement. The use of bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL), the gold standard of sampling, is hampered by its invasiveness and the risk of adverse events in patients with advanced disease. Sputum (both induced and spontaneous) is mainly used although there may be some difference between induced sputum and BAL [6]. Nasal lavage content may also provide some information, but it is unclear whether this truly reflects broader pulmonary status [7]. The CF airway contains a broad spectrum of cytokines, neutrophil-related proteases and anti-proteases, growth factors, bioactive metals and co-factors of superoxide dismutase involved in oxidative stress [8]. Biomarkers present in high concentrations in CF airways, which effectively discriminate between people with CF (pwCF) and people without CF include NE, interleukin (IL)-8, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), IL-6, IL-10, IL-18, high mobility group box protein (HMGB-1). chemokine ligand 18 (CCL-18), and chitinase-3like protein 1 (YKL-40) [8, 9].

Chapter 21 - Measuring response to treatment of bronchopulmonary exacerbations due to bacteria

Studies have highlighted that lung anatomical lesions and their progression correlate with various bronchial inflammatory markers, in particular NE and IL-8. This is clear in the pediatric population, as shown by the negative association between sputum NE increase and percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second (ppFEV₁) decline in children [10] while the level of NE and IL-8 in BAL at 3 months of life is predictive for bronchiectasis at 3 years of age [11]. Furthermore, the level of IL-8 at 5-6 years of age is significantly correlated to the extent of bronchiectasis and air trapping in late childhood or adolescence (e.g. doubling of IL-8 levels in BAL at 5 years of age increases the odds of % bronchiectasis by 20% between 10 and 15 years of age) [12]. A small number of studies in pwCF with more advanced disease highlighted that lung function is negatively correlated with neutrophil count. NE and IL-8. both at definitive timepoints and longitudinally. Thus these biomarkers can be used to predict lung function decline [10, 13, 14]. Interestingly, NE level was significantly associated with microbiota diversity and evenness, and P. aeruginosa load while IL-1β was correlated with S. aureus load [15]. IL-6 and HMGB-1 demonstrated a significant correlation with survival and pulmonary exacerbation (PEx) rate at baseline (study start) [16].

The majority of studies investigating response to therapeutic interventions focused on IL-8, NE, TNF- α and IL-1 β . Evidence of the responsiveness to antibiotic therapy is conflicting [10, 16-22]. One of the largest studies was carried out in 55 patients treated with IV antibiotics, demonstrating a decline in NE and IL-8 by 0.4 and 0.5 log respectively, in parallel to a 2 to 4 log reduction in lower airway bacterial density [21]. Similar results were observed, although less documented, for IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-4, calprotectin and MMP-9 [10, 14, 23]. Studies on sputum biomarker response to anti-inflammatory therapies have been limited until now. Ibuprofen induced a reduction of IL-6, (but not NE), over a 28-day trial period [24]. Recombinant alpha-1-antitrypsin resulted in a significant reduction of NE, IL-8, IL-1 β and TNF- α [25, 26]. Lenabasum demonstrated a significant reduction in IL-8 only [27]. Ivacaftor administration in adults resulted in a short-term reduction in arginase-1, MPO, calprotectin, with long-term reductions in NE, IL-8 and IL-1 β [28].

21.2 Systemic biomarkers

The correlation of blood biomarkers to lung clinical outcomes has been less studied than sputum [29]. C-reactive protein (CRP) is the most investigated protein with a consistent correlation with exacerbations and their treatment. Serum calprotectin, a neutrophilic protein, is also predictive of PEx risk in CF and its level decreases in response to PEx treatment [30]. Interestingly, an untargeted proteomic study showed increased levels of 12 proteins during exacerbation: CRP, peroxiredoxin-2, hemoglobin subunit alpha, carbonic anhydrase, CD5, apolipoprotein C-II, C-protease C1 inhibitor, insulin-like growth factor binding protein, transthyretin, fibrinogen, serine protease inhibitor and albumin. However, only the six first met the threshold of significance [31]. One of the most important studies has been led by Ratjen and colleagues [32], who studied the effect of azithromycin in children above 6 years of age with CF uninfected with P. aeruginosa. Neutrophil counts, CRP, serum amvloid A (SAA), MPO and calprotectin all significantly reduced after 28 days of treatment and, apart from MPO, correlated with improvements in lung function and weight gain, providing evidence of their clinical relevance. The decrease was maintained at 6 months of treatment for neutrophil count, calprotectin and SAA. Neutrophil count remained significantly correlated with lung function change. Moreover, calprotectin was significantly correlated to PEx. 40%

Chapter 21 - Measuring response to treatment of bronchopulmonary exacerbations due to bacteria

of participants with a calprotectin reduction less than the cutoff experienced at least one PEx compared with only 8% of participants with calprotectin reduction greater than the cutoff [33]. A secondary analysis based on untargeted proteomics showed change in various other proteins such as chemokine ligand 20 (CCL20), C-X3-C motif chemokine ligand 1, Flt3L, Fms-related tyrosine kinase 3 ligand, IL-6 IL-17A, IL-17C, IL-10 receptor subunit beta and programmed cell death ligand 1. However, only CCL20 and C-X3-C motif chemokine ligand 1 changes were significant at 28 days. These changes were not maintained after 6 months of treatment.

21.3 Other lung biomarkers

21.3.1 Pulmonary exacerbations

As outlined above, PEx are correlated to lung inflammation and, as such, represent a meaningful clinical biomarker. Indeed, dornase alfa, tobramycin, hypertonic saline and CFTR modulators have shown PEx reduction compared with placebo although PEx reduction is not always discriminative in children [34-37]. The paradox however is that we still require international consensus for the definition of an exacerbation. Historically, a PEx was defined as a deterioration of patient status leading to therapeutic changes, either at the clinical level, such as sputum volume and color or at the paraclinical level such as change in FEV₁. This definition is obviously dependent upon variations in practice [38]. Nevertheless, the definition by Fuchs et al. remains the most widely used [34]. The improved health of pwCF now requires development of more sensitive clinical markers such as new patient reported outcome measures (PROMs) [39-41].

21.3.2 Respiratory function

Improving inflammation in the lungs should be reflected by improved respiratory function. Nevertheless, anti-inflammatory clinical trials did not show improvement of FEV₁, including the LTB₄ receptor antagonist acebilustat, [42], lenabasum [27] and high dose ibuprofen [43]. For ibuprofen nevertheless, longitudinal follow-up showed slower decline of FEV₁, with a more potent effect in children under 13 years of age [44]. A more sensitive lung function marker, and surrogate of inflammation is the lung clearance index (LCI), derived from the multiple breath washout (MBW) test. It indicates pulmonary disease even when FEV1 is normal, and correlates with markers of systemic inflammation including CRP and calprotectin and the extent of airway inflammation [14, 45, 46].

21.3.3 Lung imaging

Observational data from pediatric studies as well as animal models show that airway obstruction is present from the first days of life, which favors early infection and triggers inflammation. As a result, mucus plugging and airway wall thickening are the earliest structural changes evidenced by lung imaging in the first months of life [47]. This is associated with low attenuation regions with a mosaic pattern as a consequence of small airway pathology, corresponding to a mix of trapped air and parenchymal hypoperfusion. These abnormalities progress over time and lead to a diffuse widening of the airways defined as bronchiectasis, indicating irreversible injury and the inevitable progression of CF lung disease [48].

Over the last decade, the Perth-Rotterdam Annotated Grid Morphometric Analysis for Cystic Fibrosis (PRAGMA-CF) has been developed to quantify early and subtle structural lung changes in children with CF, because other scoring methods were not sensitive or reproducible enough [49]. Recent studies including low dose
Chapter 21 - Measuring response to treatment of bronchopulmonary exacerbations due to bacteria

Chapter 21 - Measuring response to treatment of bronchopulmonary exacerbations due to bacteria

chest CT have shown significant improvement in the short term with CFTR modulator therapy [50, 51]. Based on previous studies showing correlation between structural lung damage and inflammation, there is strong argument that these CT modifications reflect the beneficial impact on the infection and inflammatory components of lung disease.

The main advantage of pulmonary MRI is that it does not use ionizing radiation, and provides high-resolution images within a single breathhold, sensitive to inflammation [52].

Other techniques, such as positron emission tomography (PET), directly quantify inflammation, as fluorodeoxyglucose is taken up by activated neutrophils, macrophages, and lymphocytes. Unfortunately, its use is limited by massive radiation [53].

21.4 Lessons and future challenges for inflammation biomarkers

Overall, data show that the biomarkers with the most reliable validity and responsiveness are NE, IL-8, TNF- α and IL-1 β in sputum, and CRP and calprotectin in serum. Other biomarkers may be very relevant in sputum such as IL-6, calprotectin, HMGB-1, YKL-40 and IL-17. Difficulties in developing new anti-inflammatory therapies can, in part, be attributed to a lack of accurate, reproducible, non-invasive biomarkers.

First, for validated biomarkers, we lack knowledge regarding changes that can be considered clinically meaningful. Large studies are necessary to establish inter and intra-patient variability, temporal variation, reproducibility and reliability. Sputum analysis depends on the quality of the sample. Only samples expectorated from the airways are suitable for longitudinal follow-up of pwCF [8]. Collection, storage, and processing of sputum is highly inconsistent across studies, impacting biomarker levels and generating wide variability in measured values. Harmonization and standardization of these steps is mandatory. We still lack a valid definition of PEx, and identification of which measure we should use to compare the outcome of studies: frequency, time to the next pulmonary exacerbation event, or risk/odds ratio of PEx.

Second, the complexity of the inflammatory process in CF provides a lot of potential biomarkers. Therefore, a panel of multiple biomarkers should be studied rather than just a handful. Better knowledge is needed about how these biomarkers vary over time. For example, our understanding of how sputum biomarkers respond to anti-inflammatory therapies is hampered by short study durations. Long-term studies are needed to establish their trajectory over time, as well as their absolute variation at specific time points.

Third, one size does not fill all. It may be that some biomarkers are more correlated to shortterm inflammatory processes, reflecting muco-obstructive hypoxia, whereas others may be more related to processes involved in resolution of inflammation and lung remodeling. Most importantly, it is likely that different endpoints should be used in "pre-symptomatic" children and in adults with evolving disease. New methodology investigating heterogeneity of the response in different subgroups may also help our understanding of the mechanisms of CF lung inflammation [54]. Future clinical trial endpoints of inflammation should be specifically designed based on the study population and the mechanism of action of the intervention.

Finally, a major issue in anti-inflammatory therapies is that suppression of the inflammatory response in a chronically infected airway may impair host defense, exacerbate infections and harm the patient. The LTB₄ receptor antagonist clinical trial was interrupted because of increased pulmonary exacerbations, decreased pulmonary function, and increased circulating neutrophils [55]. Studies in animal models showed that the high dose used in the trial downregulated inflammation and increased bacterial colony counts. Therefore, immune cell function should also be investigated in depth, in addition to biochemical biomarkers.

21.5 Conclusion

Further research is needed to extend our knowledge of the most critical biomarkers to monitor change in inflammation [56]. This includes new molecular and cellular biomarkers in the airway biofluids, serum and other target organs, but also PROMs as well as omics-derived biomarkers still at the preclinical stage using exhaled breath, and breath condensate. Longitudinal follow-up with large samples of patients is needed to assess the trajectory of pulmonary status overall, and in different patient subgroups.

Chapter 21 - Measuring response to treatment of bronchopulmonary exacerbations due to bacteria

Chapter 21 - Measuring response to treatment of bronchopulmonary exacerbations due to bacteria

- Ahmed AU. An overview of inflammation: mechanism and consequences. Front Biol. 2011;6:274–81. DOI:10.1007/s11515-011-1123-9
- [2] Nichols DP, Chmiel JF. Inflammation and its genesis in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2015;50:S39–56. DOI:10.1002/ppul.23242
- [3] Hartl D, Tirouvanziam R, Laval J, Greene CM, Habiel D, Sharma L, et al. Innate immunity of the lung: from basic mechanisms to translational medicine. J Innate Immun. 2018;10:487–501. DOI:10.1159/000487057
- [4] Giacalone VD, Margaroli C, Mall MA, Tirouvanziam R. Neutrophil adaptations upon recruitment to the lung: new concepts and implications for homeostasis and disease. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21:851. DOI:10.3390/ ijms21030851
- [5] Roesch EA, Nichols DP, Chmiel JF. Inflammation in cystic fibrosis: an update. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2018;53:S30–50. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.24129
- [6] Giacalone VD, Moncada-Giraldo D, Margaroli C, Brown MR, Silva GL, Chandler JD, et al. Pilot study of inflammatory biomarkers in matched induced sputum and bronchoalveolar lavage of 2-year-olds with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2022;57:2189–98. DOI:10.1002/ppul.26023
- [7] Hentschel J, Jäger M, Beiersdorf N, Fischer N, Doht F, Michl RK, *et al.* Dynamics of soluble and cellular inflammatory markers in nasal lavage obtained from cystic fibrosis patients during intravenous antibiotic treatment. BMC Pulm Med. 2014;14:82. DOI:10.1186/1471-2466-14-82
- [8] Lepissier A, Addy C, Hayes K, Noel S, Bui S, Burgel PR, et al. Inflammation biomarkers in sputum for clinical trials in cystic fibrosis: current understanding and gaps in knowledge. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:691–706. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2021.10.009

- [9] Taggart C, Mall MA, Lalmanach G, Cataldo D, Ludwig A, Janciauskiene S, *et al.* Protean proteases: at the cutting edge of lung diseases. Eur Respir J. 2017;49:1501200. DOI:10.1183/13993003.01200-2015
- [10] Sagel SD, Wagner BD, Anthony MM, Emmett P, Zemanick ET. Sputum biomarkers of inflammation and lung function decline in children with cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2012;186:857–65. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.201203-0507OC
- [11] Sly PD, Gangell CL, Chen L, Ware RS, Ranganathan S, Mott LS, et al. Risk factors for bronchiectasis in children with cystic fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:1963–70. DOI:10.1056/NEJMoa1301725
- [12] Wijker NE, Vidmar S, Grimwood K, Sly PD, Byrnes CA, Carlin JB, et al. Early markers of cystic fibrosis structural lung disease: follow-up of the ACFBAL cohort. Eur Respir J. 2020;55:1901694. DOI:10.1183/13993003.01694-2019
- [13] Mayer-Hamblett N, Ramsey BW, Kronmal RA. Advancing outcome measures for the new era of drug development in cystic fibrosis. Proc Am Thorac Soc. 2007;4:370–7. DOI:10.1513/pats.200703-040BR
- [14] Horsley AR, Davies JC, Gray RD, Macleod KA, Donovan J, Aziz ZA, et al. Changes in physiological, functional and structural markers of cystic fibrosis lung disease with treatment of a pulmonary exacerbation. Thorax. 2013;68:532–9. DOI:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2012-202538
- [15] Zemanick ET, Wagner BD, Robertson CE, Stevens MJ, Szefler SJ, Accurso FJ, et al. Assessment of airway microbiota and inflammation in cystic fibrosis using multiple sampling methods. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2015;12:221–9. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201407-310OC

- [16] Liou TG, Adler FR, Fitzsimmons SC, Cahill BC, Hibbs JR, Marshall BC. Predictive 5-year survivorship model of cystic fibrosis. Am J Epidemiol. 2001;153:345–52. DOI:10.1093/ aje/153.4.345
- [17] Pukhalsky AL, Shmarina GV, Kapranov NI, Kokarovtseva SN, Pukhalskaya D, Kashirskaja NJ. Anti-inflammatory and immunomodulating effects of clarithromycin in patients with cystic fibrosis lung disease. Mediators Inflamm. 2004;13:111–7. DOI:10.1080/0962935 0410001688495
- [18] Saiman L, Marshall BC, Mayer-Hamblett N, Burns JL, Quittner AL, Cibene DA, et al. Azithromycin in patients with cystic fibrosis chronically infected with Pseudomonas aeruginosa: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2003;290:1749–56. DOI:10.1001/ jama.290.13.1749
- [19] Laguna TA, Williams CB, Brandy KR, Welchlin-Bradford C, Moen CE, Reilly CS, et al. Sputum club cell protein concentration is associated with pulmonary exacerbation in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2015;14:334–40. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2014.10.002
- [20] Chiron R, Grumbach YY, Quynh NV, Verriere V, Urbach V. Lipoxin A(4) and interleukin-8 levels in cystic fibrosis sputum after antibiotherapy. J Cyst Fibros. 2008;7:463–8. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2008.04.002
- [21] Ordoñez CL, Henig NR, Mayer-Hamblett N, Accurso FJ, Burns JL, Chmiel JF, et al. Inflammatory and microbiologic markers in induced sputum after intravenous antibiotics in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003;168:1471–5. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200306-7310C
- [22] Waters VJ, Stanojevic S, Sonneveld N, Klingel M, Grasemann H, Yau YC, *et al.* Factors associated with response to treatment of pulmonary exacerbations in cystic fibrosis patients. J Cyst Fibros. 2015;14:755–62. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2015.01.007

- [23] Colombo C, Faelli N, Tirelli AS, Fortunato F, Biffi A, Claut L, et al. Analysis of inflammatory and immune response biomarkers in sputum and exhaled breath condensate by a multi-parametric biochip array in cystic fibrosis. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol. 2011;24:423–32. DOI:10.1177/039463201102400215
- [24] Konstan MW, Krenicky JE, Finney MR, Kirchner HL, Hilliard KA, Hilliard JB, et al. Effect of ibuprofen on neutrophil migration in vivo in cystic fibrosis and healthy subjects. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2003;306:1086–91. DOI:10.1124/jpet.103.052449
- [25] Griese M, Latzin P, Kappler M, Weckerle K, Heinzlmaier T, Bernhardt T, et al. alpha1-Antitrypsin inhalation reduces airway inflammation in cystic fibrosis patients. Eur Respir J. 2007;29:240–50. DOI:10.1183/09031936.00047306
- [26] Martin SL, Downey D, Bilton D, Keogan MT, Edgar J, Elborn JS. Safety and efficacy of recombinant alpha(1)-antitrypsin therapy in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2006;41:177-83. DOI:10.1002/ppul.20345
- [27] Chmiel JF, Flume P, Downey DG, Dozor AJ, Colombo C, Mazurek H, et al. Safety and efficacy of lenabasum in a phase 2 randomized, placebo-controlled trial in adults with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2021;20:78– 85. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2020.09.008
- [28] Hisert KB, Heltshe SL, Pope C, Jorth P, Wu X, Edwards RM, et al. Restoring cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator function reduces airway bacteria and inflammation in people with cystic fibrosis and chronic lung infections. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2017;195:1617–28. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.201609-1954OC
- [29] Shoki AH, Mayer-Hamblett N, Wilcox PG, Sin DD, Quon BS. Systematic review of blood biomarkers in cystic fibrosis pulmonary exacerbations. Chest. 2013;144:1659–70. DOI:10.1378/chest.13-0693

Chapter 21 - Measuring response to treatment of bronchopulmonary exacerbations due to bacteria

- [30] Reid PA, McAllister DA, Boyd AC, Innes JA, Porteous D, Greening AP, et al. Measurement of serum calprotectin in stable patients predicts exacerbation and lung function decline in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;191:233–6. DOI:10.1164/ rccm.201407-1365LE
- [31] Quon BS, Dai DL, Hollander Z, Ng RT, Tebbutt SJ, Man SF, et al. Discovery of novel plasma protein biomarkers to predict imminent cystic fibrosis pulmonary exacerbations using multiple reaction monitoring mass spectrometry. Thorax. 2016;71:216–22. DOI:10.1136/thoraxinl-2014-206710
- [32] Ratjen F, Saiman L, Mayer-Hamblett N, Lands LC, Kloster M, Thompson V, et al. Effect of azithromycin on systemic markers of inflammation in patients with cystic fibrosis uninfected with Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Chest. 2012;142:1259–66. DOI:10.1378/ chest.12-0628
- [33] Dong K, Singh A, Ng RT, Sin DD, Tebbutt SJ, Ratjen F, et al. Proteomic profiling to identify blood biomarkers predictive of response to azithromycin in children and adolescents with cystic fibrosis. Chest. 2019;156:667–73. DOI:10.1016/j.chest.2019.05.017
- [34] Fuchs HJ, Borowitz DS, Christiansen DH, Morris EM, Nash ML, Ramsey BW, et al. Effect of aerosolized recombinant human DNase on exacerbations of respiratory symptoms and on pulmonary function in patients with cystic fibrosis. The Pulmozyme Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1994;331:637–42. DOI:10.1056/ nejm199409083311003
- [35] Ramsey BW, Pepe MS, Quan JM, Otto KL, Montgomery AB, Williams-Warren J, et al. Intermittent administration of inhaled tobramycin in patients with cystic fibrosis. Cystic fibrosis inhaled tobramycin study group. N Engl J Med. 1999;340:23–30. DOI:10.1056/ nejm199901073400104

292

- [36] Burgel PR, Durieu I, Chiron R, Ramel S, Danner-Boucher I, Prevotat A, et al. Rapid improvement after starting elexacaftor-tezacaftor-ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis and advanced pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2021;204:64–73. DOI:10.1164/rccm.202011-4153OC
- [37] Masson A, Schneider-Futschik EK, Baatallah N, Nguyen-Khoa T, Girodon E, Hatton A, et al. Predictive factors for lumacaftor/ ivacaftor clinical response. J Cyst Fibros. 2019;18:368–74. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2018.12.011
- [38] Bilton D, Canny G, Conway S, Dumcius S, Hjelte L, Proesmans M, et al. Pulmonary exacerbation: towards a definition for use in clinical trials. Report from the EuroCareCF working group on outcome parameters in clinical trials. J Cyst Fibros. 2011;10 Suppl 2:S79–81. DOI:10.1016/s1569-1993(11)60012-x
- [39] Goss CH, Edwards TC, Ramsey BW, Aitken ML, Patrick DL. Patient-reported respiratory symptoms in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2009;8:245–52. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2009.04.003
- [40] Rosenfeld M, Emerson J, Williams-Warren J, Pepe M, Smith A, Montgomery AB, et al. Defining a pulmonary exacerbation in cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr. 2001;139:359–65. DOI:10.1067/mpd.2001.117288
- [41] West NE, Beckett VV, Jain R, Sanders DB, Nick JA, Heltshe SL, et al. Standardized treatment of pulmonary exacerbations (STOP) study: physician treatment practices and outcomes for individuals with cystic fibrosis with pulmonary exacerbations. J Cyst Fibros. 2017;16:600–6. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2017.04.003
- [42] Elborn JS, Konstan MW, Taylor-Cousar JL, Fajac I, Horsley A, Sutharsan S, et al. Empire-CF study: a phase 2 clinical trial of leukotriene A4 hydrolase inhibitor acebilustat in adult subjects with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2021;20:1026–34. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2021.08.007

- [43] Lands LC, Milner R, Cantin AM, Manson D, Corey M. High-dose ibuprofen in cystic fibrosis: Canadian safety and effectiveness trial. J Pediatr. 2007;151:249–54. DOI:10.1016/j. jpeds.2007.04.009
- [44] Konstan MW, Schluchter MD, Xue W, Davis PB. Clinical use of Ibuprofen is associated with slower FEV₁ decline in children with cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2007;176:1084–9. DOI:10.1164/rccm.200702-1810C
- [45] O'Neill K, Bradley JM, Reid A, Downey DG, Rendall J, McCaughan J, et al. Airway infection, systemic inflammation and lung clearance index in children and adults with cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2018;51:1701704. DOI:10.1183/13993003.01704-2017
- [46] Ramsey KA, Foong RE, Grdosic J, Harper A, Skoric B, Clem C, et al. Multiple-breath washout outcomes are sensitive to inflammation and infection in children with cystic fibrosis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2017;14:1436– 42. DOI:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201611-935OC
- [47] Rosenow T, Mok LC, Turkovic L, Berry LJ, Sly PD, Ranganathan S, *et al.* The cumulative effect of inflammation and infection on structural lung disease in early cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2019;54:1801771. DOI:10.1183/13993003.01771-2018
- [48] Turkovic L, Caudri D, Rosenow T, Breuer O, Murray C, Tiddens H, et al. Structural determinants of long-term functional outcomes in young children with cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2020;55:1900748. DOI:10.1183/13993003.00748-2019
- [49] Rosenow T, Oudraad MC, Murray CP, Turkovic L, Kuo W, de Bruijne M, et al. PRAGMA-CF. A quantitative structural lung disease computed tomography outcome in young children with cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;191:1158–65. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201501-00610C

- [50] Ronan NJ, Einarsson GG, Twomey M, Mooney D, Mullane D, NiChroinin M, et al. CORK study in cystic fibrosis: sustained improvements in ultra-low-dose chest CT scores after CFTR modulation with ivacaftor. Chest. 2018;153:395–403. DOI:10.1016/j. chest.2017.10.005
- [51] Campredon A, Battistella E, Martin C, Durieu I, Mely L, Marguet C, et al. Using chest CT scan and unsupervised machine learning for predicting and evaluating response to lumacaftor-ivacaftor in people with cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2021:2101344. DOI:10.1183/13993003.01344-2021
- [52] Santyr G, Kanhere N, Morgado F, Rayment JH, Ratjen F, Couch MJ. Hyperpolarized gas magnetic resonance imaging of pediatric cystic fibrosis lung disease. Acad Radiol. 2019;26:344–54. DOI:10.1016/j. acra.2018.04.024
- [53] Amin R, Charron M, Grinblat L, Shammas A, Grasemann H, Graniel K, et al. Cystic fibrosis: detecting changes in airway inflammation with FDG PET/CT. Radiology. 2012;264:868–75. DOI:10.1148/radiol.12111873
- [54] Cornet M, Robin G, Ciciriello F, Bihouee T, Marguet C, Roy V, et al. Profiling the response to lumacaftor-ivacaftor in children with cystic between fibrosis and new insight from a French-Italian real-life cohort. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2022;57:2992–9. DOI:10.1002/ppul.26123
- [55] Konstan MW, Döring G, Heltshe SL, Lands LC, Hilliard KA, Koker P, et al. A randomized double blind, placebo controlled phase 2 trial of BIIL 284 BS (an LTB4 receptor antagonist) for the treatment of lung disease in children and adults with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2014;13:148–55. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2013.12.009
- [56] Perrem L, Ratjen F. Designing clinical trials for anti-inflammatory therapies in cystic fibrosis. Front Pharmacol. 2020;11:576293. DOI:10.3389/fphar.2020.576293

Chapter 21 - Measuring response to treatment of bronchopulmonary exacerbations due to bacteria

Authors

Malena Cohen-Cymberknoh, Silvia Gartner

Introduction

Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis (ABPA) is a lung hypersensitivity disease mediated by an allergic late-phase inflammatory response to specific antigens of *Aspergillus fumigatus* [1, 2]. *A. fumigatus* is a ubiquitous, spore-forming fungus, that has been linked to several pulmonary disorders including *Aspergillus* bronchitis, allergic asthma, ABPA, aspergilloma, invasive aspergillosis, and hypersensitivity pneumonitis [3, 4].

Pathophysiology and epidemiology

The development of ABPA is caused by the repeated inhalation of A. fumigatus spores by susceptible people (hosts). Colonization of the airway is mediated by allergens from the fungus resulting in epithelial damage, leading to higher adherence and bronchial penetration of A. fu*migatus* [5]. In people with cystic fibrosis (pwCF), the impaired mucociliary clearance resulting from CF transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) dysfunction predisposes the airways to colonization, leading to abnormal antimicrobial activity and increased mucus viscosity [6]. A consequence of impaired mucociliary clearance in pwCF is the accumulation and persistence of fungal spores within the smaller airways [7]. These spores eventually germinate, leading to the formation of fungal hyphae and the accumulation of proteases, phospholipases, and other virulence factors that damage the airways [8]. In addition, studies of *CFTR* mutant mice have shown that the immune response to ABPA in pwCF is mediated by T helper cell (Th) type 2 and is predominantly interleukin (IL)-4-mediated [1, 9]. Additionally, both *CFTR* gene mutations [10] and environmental factors [11] were shown to be associated with the development of ABPA.

The prevalence of *A. fumigatus* in pwCF differs greatly between regions, but continues to increase, and has been reported to be more than 25% [12]. However, molecular methods suggest that *A. fumigatus* colonization rates are even higher [13]. Many colonized pwCF become sensitized to *A. fumigatus*, however, only a small proportion develops ABPA [14, 15]. The prevalence of ABPA in pwCF was reported to range from 1 to 15% [16-19]. Prevalence varies between different regions, and increases with age [20].

22.2 Diagnosis and clinical manifestations

The clinical manifestations of ABPA include respiratory deterioration associated with elevated serum immunoglobulin E (IgE) and precipitin levels, and evidence of immediate cutaneous reactivity to *A. fumigatus*. In 30% of cases, pwCF are asymptomatic and are diagnosed in routine follow-up [21]. PwCF often experience wheezing, pulmonary infiltrates, and a central pattern of bronchiectasis [22]. The non-specific nature of ABPA symptoms, which overlap with many com-

Chapter 22 - Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis (ABPA) in cystic fibrosis

mon manifestations of CF make it challenging to diagnose ABPA. This can result in delayed or even under-diagnosis. ABPA should be suspected when there is clinical deterioration that does not respond to appropriate antibiotic therapy, and cannot be attributed to another cause. Other signs that suggest ABPA include the presence of new radiological signs, a markedly elevated total serum IgE level, and evidence of A. fumigatus sensitization [23]. While the impact of fungal infections remains unclear [24], an early diagnosis of ABPA seems to be crucial to avoid deterioration of lung function [25]. Some studies found that pwCF and ABPA had no significant deterioration in FEV₁ [26], while others describe worse pulmonary function in these patients [27].

Several diagnostic criteria have been published over the last decades [15, 23, 28]. All pwCF should be considered at high risk for ABPA [29]. More than four decades ago, Rosenberg and Patterson proposed both primary and secondary diagnostic criteria for ABPA [30]. In 2013, the International Society for Human and Animal Mycology (ISHAM) recommended similar diagnostic criteria for ABPA, both for patients with asthma and pwCF. Some of these criteria are mandatory for diagnosing ABPA, such as total serum IgE levels >1000 UI/mL [31]. Still, there is no consensus on how ABPA can better be diagnosed in pwCF [32], and unfortunately diagnosis can still be delayed or missed.

Different biomarkers associated with ABPA have been investigated, in order to differentiate between Aspergillus sensitization and ABPA [33]. Keoun *et al.* found that in children with CF, fractional exhaled nitric oxide (FeNO) and peripheral eosinophil counts are elevated in ABPA compared to those who are just sensitized to Aspergillus. These biomarkers may serve as useful diagnostic tests [34]. Besides clinical manifestations and laboratory findings, certain radiological features also suggest the presence of ABPA in pwCF. High attenuation mucous (HAM) was described as the most accurate computed tomography (CT) sign of ABPA in CF, with high sensitivity and 100% specificity [35]. The presence of HAM can be considered as a firm diagnostic criterion for ABPA (a pathognomonic feature) [32]. Lu *et al.* found that there is a correlation between disease severity and mucus plugs in the chest CT scans [36]. Airway mucus contrast in magnetic resonance (MR) imaging was also shown to be a good tool for ABPA diagnosis [37].

22.3 Treatment

The main objective of ABPA treatment in pwCF is to control the acute episodes by reducing the inflammatory and immunological mediated damage of tissue, to further avoid the development of chronic lung disease.

Treatment is mainly based on systemic corticosteroids, antifungal and biological therapy [38]. Environmental factors have been found to be associated with the development of ABPA [11], so it is important to take steps to avoid them.

22.3.1 Oral corticosteroids

The mainstay of treatment of acute episodes of ABPA is corticosteroids in combination with oral antifungal agents. There is no uniform dosing protocol regarding the recommended dose. The CF Foundation Consensus Conference report recommended an initial dose of prednisolone as 0.5–2.0 mg/kg/day (maximum 60 mg) for 1–2 weeks, followed by an attempt to taper within two to three months to 0.5–2.0 mg/kg/day every other day for 1–2 weeks, followed by another taper 2–3 months later [23]. Antifungal agents are recommended as a second line, as discussed

later. Recently, Gothe et al. [39] evaluated the combination of a short-term of prednisone with long-term itraconazole treatment. Prednisone was used at a starting dose of 2 mg/kg body weight for 3 days before being tapered every 5 days to 1, 0.5, and 0.25 mg/kg body weight and discontinued after 18 days in total. Itraconazole was commenced at a daily dose of 10 mg/kg for capsules and 5 mg/kg for suspension (in 18% of cases) from day 1 of treatment and continued for at least 12 months. Studies have shown that steroid treatment of ABPA in pwCF does not have adverse effects on their long-term pulmonary outcomes. If steroids are used for a long time or repeatedly, side effects including weight gain, hyperglycemia, cataracts, growth retardation, cushingoid facies, hypertension, and osteoporosis should be monitored.

22.3.2 Intravenous pulse doses of methylprednisolone

Pulse doses of intravenous (IV) steroids have shown efficacy [40, 41]. Cohen-Cymberknoh et al. [41] reported their experience in nine pwCF and ABPA (five females, aged 7-36 years) who were treated by high doses of IV pulses of methvlprednisolone (10-15 mg/kg/d) for three consecutive days, once per month, together with itraconazole, until clinical and laboratory resolution of ABPA (6-10 pulses). All participants had improved clinical (increase in lung function) and laboratory (decrease in total serum IgE levels and eosinophil counts) outcomes. Adverse effects were minor and disappeared shortly after each IV pulse therapy. They concluded that high dose IV pulse methylprednisolone is an effective treatment for pwCF and ABPA, and it may be useful as an alternative treatment with fewer and reversible side effects.

22.3.3 Inhaled corticosteroids

Clinical evidence of efficacy with inhaled glucocorticoids (ICS) is lacking. ICS can be used as an add-on therapy for controlling asthmatic symptoms but not alone, and not as a first line of treatment [42].

22.3.4 Antifungal agents

Antifungal agents have become an important component of ABPA treatment as they are thought to decrease the fungal burden in the airways, reduce inflammation, hence improving symptoms, and thus acting as steroid-sparing agents. The antifungal agents commonly used are azoles, including itraconazole, voriconazole and posaconazole. A recent Cochrane analysis concluded that at present "there are no randomized controlled trials that evaluate the use of antifungal therapies for the treatment of ABPA in pwCF, although one trial is currently ongoing" [43]. The CF Foundation Consensus Conference report recommended treatment with oral itraconazole 5 mg/ kg/day once or twice daily (maximum 400 mg per day) for 3-6 months unless low serum itraconazole levels are obtained [23]. Oral itraconazole is used with steroids to provide a steroid-sparing effect, for the prevention of exacerbations [44]. Itraconazole has some limitations, including poor gastrointestinal absorption (should be taken with acidic drink), the need to closely monitor therapeutic levels. and some drug interactions (antiacid agents or calcium supplements should be avoided). The duration of treatment is 3-6 months or longer, depending on the patient's response, although long treatments may predispose to azole-resistant Aspergillus species. Itraconazole induces liver enzymes and interacts with several medications, therefore liver function tests should be performed periodically (at baseline, 1 month later and then after 2- 3 months). When there is a lack of response, intolerance or side effects, voriconazole is an alternative to itraconazole [45], even as monotherapy, when oral corticosteroids may not be suitable. In a retrospective review, Glackin et al. found a significant drop in IgE levels post-treatment as well as a decrease in steroid dosing with voriconazole therapy [46].

Chapter 22 - Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis (ABPA) in cystic fibrosis

Oral absorption of voriconazole is acceptable, however, serum levels should be monitored due to side effects such as liver toxicity, transient vision changes, visual hallucinations, hair loss, photosensitivity or skin rashes that may limit its use. Few studies have been published regarding posaconazol use in pwCF. In a retrospective study, there was a significant reduction in specific IgE to Aspergillus with posaconazole, compared with itraconazole and voriconazole [47]. Patel et al. reported an improvement in FEV1 and serologic parameters in a prospective single-center, non-randomized, open-label observational study, and posaconazol in children was shown to be effective, safe and with good tolerability [48]. Both studies demonstrated a better oral bioavailability, good tolerability and better effectiveness than both voriconazole and itraconazole. There has been one report of isavuconazole treatment of ABPA (in a person without CF) without adverse effects [49], with no reports of isavuconazole use in CF. The higher cost of newer azoles is a limitation for prescription and therefore these medicines are frequently reserved for cases of itraconazole or voriconazole resistance [50] and failure.

A challenging situation that should be addressed is the drug-drug interaction between antifungal agents and CFTR modulators [51]. Ivacaftor, the first CFTR modulator approved, is a CYP3A4 substrate and its concentration in blood is affected when administered with CYP3A4 inducers. Therefore, the dosing should be reduced to twice weekly when given concomitantly with moderate CYP3A4 inhibitors such as azole antifungals (itraconazole, voriconazole, posaconazole). Lumacaftor-ivacaftor decreases azole exposure and therefore, a daily dose is recommended when lumacaftor/ivacaftor and azoles are used concomitantly. On the other hand, azole antifungals increased tezacaftor-ivacaftor exposure, and when used in combination, the dose should be reduced to twice weekly [51, 52]. Finally, the dosage of elexacaftor-tezacaftor-ivacaftor should be lowered when it is co-administered with strong CYP3A inhibitors such as azole antifungals.

22.3.5 Inhaled amphotericin B

Inhaled amphotericin B was suggested as an alternative option to adjunctive antifungal therapy for the treatment of ABPA in pwCF [53]. As nebulized amphotericin is poorly tolerated, the use of a short-acting bronchodilator 15 minutes before dosing may prevent bronchospasm and improve tolerability. Trials of dry powder formulations for inhalation of both itraconazole (NCT03479411) and voriconazole (NCT04872231) are also underway.

22.3.6 Monoclonal antibodies

Omalizumab, a humanized anti-IgE monoclonal antibody has been suggested as an effective alternative in pwCF with ABPA who are refractory to other treatments or with side effects to steroids [54-56]. The benefits reported in case reports or series include improvements in lung function, decreased exacerbation rates and discontinuation of oral steroids. There is currently no data from large prospective randomized controlled studies [57]. Omalizumab is not yet recommended for routine use in pwCF with ABPA but should be considered on a case-by-case basis. In ABPA, the IgE levels are very high, therefore, doses of 750 mg monthly have been used, resulting in a significant reduction in exacerbations.

22.3.7 Anti-Th2 therapies: newer treatment

Anti-Th2 therapies certainly have a role in the management of ABPA as the immune response is predominantly Th2 mediated (IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13). Recently, the benefits of anti-IL-5 antibodies (mepolizumab and benralizumab) in ABPA have been described in several case series. Mepolizumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody for IL-5, has demonstrated good tolerability and a beneficial effect in discontinuation of oral ster-

oids in three pwCF with ABPA [58]. Benralizumab, an anti-IL-5 receptor alpha (IL-5 $R\alpha$) antibody targeting the IL-5 receptor on eosinophils [59], was also suggested for the treatment of ABPA. However, more evidence and more randomized trials are needed before anti-Th2 therapies should be recommended as an alternative to glucocorticoids or triazoles in the management of ABPA.

22.3.8 Vitamin D

Some studies have investigated the role of vitamin D in the treatment of ABPA [60]. A phase I clinical trial investigated the safety and effectiveness of daily vitamin D3 supplementation in pwCF with ABPA. Treatment was associated with reduced Aspergillus induced IL-13 responses, and the study supports further investigation of the use of vitamin D supplementation in Th2 mediated diseases.

22.4 Conclusion

ABPA prevalence ranges from 1-15% in pwCF, and prolonged and recurrent episodes of ABPA exacerbations are common. As a result, maintaining a high level of suspicion of ABPA is crucial for prompt diagnosis to prevent clinical deterioration and irreversible lung damage. Diagnosing ABPA can be challenging and is based on clinical manifestations, laboratory tests, and radiological imaging that are compatible with ABPA.

The optimal clinical management of ABPA in pwCF is still under investigation. The main treatment for acute exacerbations of ABPA is corticosteroids. Pulse doses of steroids have shown efficacy with fewer side effects and may be useful as an alternative treatment. Antifungal agents can be added, especially if there is a corticosteroid toxicity, a poor response to corticosteroids, relapse of ABPA, or corticosteroid dependent ABPA. Triazoles are used to treat ABPA, but vigilance should be exercised regarding potential drug-drug interactions with CFTR modulators, as well as possible side effects and difficulty achieving optimal serum levels despite maximum doses. Omalizumab is not yet recommended for routine use in pwCF and ABPA but can be useful in individual case. Clinical trials for commonly used therapeutic strategies for ABPA in pwCF are in progress. Several newer treatment modalities such as anti-Th2 therapies are likely to be available in the next years.

Chapter 22 - Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis (ABPA) in cystic fibrosis

- [1] Skov M, Poulsen LK, Koch C. Increased antigen-specific Th-2 response in allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis (ABPA) in patients with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 1999;27:74–9. DOI:10.1002/(sici)1099-0496(199902)27:2<74::aid-ppul2>3.0.co;2-l
- [2] Milla CE, Wielinski CL, Regelmann WE. Clinical significance of the recovery of Aspergillus species from the respiratory secretions of cystic fibrosis patients. Pediatr Pulmonol. 1996;21:6–10. DOI:10.1002/(sici)1099-0496(199601)21:1<6::Aid-ppul1>3.0.Co;2-r
- [3] Tunnicliffe G, Schomberg L, Walsh S, Tinwell B, Harrison T, Chua F. Airway and parenchymal manifestations of pulmonary aspergillosis. Respir Med. 2013;107:1113–23. DOI:10.1016/j.rmed.2013.03.016
- [4] Shoseyov D, Brownlee KG, Conway SP, Kerem E. Aspergillus bronchitis in cystic fibrosis. Chest. 2006;130:222–6. DOI:10.1378/ chest.130.1.222
- [5] de Córdova-Aguirre JCF, Velasco-Medina AA, Cariño-Cartagena DA, Velázquez-Sámano G. Aspergilosis broncopulmonar alérgica. Revista Alergia México. 2014;61:121–6.
- [6] Tracy MC, Moss RB. The myriad challenges of respiratory fungal infection in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2018;53:S75–85. DOI:10.1002/ppul.24126
- [7] Chotirmall SH, McElvaney NG. Fungi in the cystic fibrosis lung: bystanders or pathogens? Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2014;52:161–73. DOI:10.1016/j.biocel.2014.03.001
- [8] Chotirmall SH, Al-Alawi M, Mirkovic B, Lavelle G, Logan PM, Greene CM, et al. Aspergillus-associated airway disease, inflammation, and the innate immune response. Biomed Res Int. 2013;2013:723129. DOI:10.1155/2013/723129

- [9] Mueller C, Braag SA, Keeler A, Hodges C, Drumm M, Flotte TR. Lack of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator in CD3+ lymphocytes leads to aberrant cytokine secretion and hyperinflammatory adaptive immune responses. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2011;44:922–9. DOI:10.1165/ rcmb.2010-02240C
- [10] Agarwal R, Khan A, Aggarwal AN, Gupta D. Link between CFTR mutations and ABPA: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Mycoses. 2012;55:357–65. DOI:10.1111/j.1439-0507.2011.02130.x
- [11] Thronicke A, Brandt C, Schwarz C. A new risk factor predicts ABPA in patients with cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2015;46:OA1442. DOI:10.1183/13993003.congress-2015.OA1442
- [12] Düesberg U, Wosniok J, Naehrlich L, Eschenhagen P, Schwarz C. Risk factors for respiratory Aspergillus fumigatus in german cystic fibrosis patients and impact on lung function. Sci Rep. 2020;10:18999. DOI:10.1038/ s41598-020-75886-w
- [13] Reece E, McClean S, Greally P, Renwick J. The prevalence of Aspergillus fumigatus in early cystic fibrosis disease is underestimated by culture-based diagnostic methods. J Microbiol Methods. 2019;164:105683. DOI:10.1016/j.mimet.2019.105683
- [14] Gothe F, Kappler M, Griese M. Increasing total serum IgE, allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis, and lung function in cystic fibrosis. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2017;5:1591–8.e6. DOI:10.1016/j. jaip.2017.03.033
- [15] Agarwal R, Chakrabarti A, Shah A, Gupta D, Meis JF, Guleria R, et al. Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis: review of literature and proposal of new diagnostic and classification criteria. Clin Exp Allergy. 2013;43:850–73. DOI:10.1111/cea.12141

- [16] Geller DE, Kaplowitz H, Light MJ, Colin AA. Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in cystic fibrosis: reported prevalence, regional distribution, and patient characteristics. Scientific advisory group, investigators, and coordinators of the epidemiologic study of cystic fibrosis. Chest. 1999;116:639–46. DOI:10.1378/chest.116.3.639
- [17] Zander DS. Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis: an overview. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2005;129:924–8. DOI:10.5858/2005-129-924-abaao
- [18] Fillaux J, Brémont F, Murris M, Cassaing S, Rittié JL, Tétu L, et al. Assessment of Aspergillus sensitization or persistent carriage as a factor in lung function impairment in cystic fibrosis patients. Scand J Infect Dis. 2012;44:842–7. DOI:10.3109/00365548.2012.6 95454
- [19] Maturu VN, Agarwal R. Prevalence of Aspergillus sensitization and allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in cystic fibrosis: systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Exp Allergy. 2015;45:1765–78. DOI:10.1111/ cea.12595
- [20] Nelson LA, Callerame ML, Schwartz RH. Aspergillosis and atopy in cystic fibrosis. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1979;120:863–73. DOI:10.1164/ arrd.1979.120.4.863
- [21] Janahi IA, Rehman A, Al-Naimi AR. Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in patients with cystic fibrosis. Ann Thorac Med. 2017;12:74–82. DOI:10.4103/atm.ATM_231_16
- [22] Knutsen AP, Slavin RG. Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in asthma and cystic fibrosis. Clin Dev Immunol. 2011;2011:843763. DOI:10.1155/2011/843763
- [23] Stevens DA, Moss RB, Kurup VP, Knutsen AP, Greenberger P, Judson MA, et al. Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in cystic fibrosis-state of the art: cystic fibrosis foundation consensus conference. Clin Infect Dis. 2003;37 Suppl 3:S225–64. DOI:10.1086/376525

- [24] Zemanick ET, Hoffman LR. Cystic fibrosis: microbiology and host response. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2016;63:617–36. DOI:10.1016/j. pcl.2016.04.003
- [25] Amin R, Dupuis A, Aaron SD, Ratjen F. The effect of chronic infection with Aspergillus fumigatus on lung function and hospitalization in patients with cystic fibrosis. Chest. 2010;137:171–6. DOI:10.1378/chest.09-1103
- [26] Kaditis AG, Miligkos M, Bossi A, Colombo C, Hatziagorou E, Kashirskaya N, et al. Effect of allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis on FEV(1) in children and adolescents with cystic fibrosis: a European cystic fibrosis society patient registry analysis. Arch Dis Child. 2017;102:742–7. DOI:10.1136/archdischild-2016-311132
- [27] De Baets F, De Keyzer L, Van Daele S, Schelstraete P, Van Biervliet S, Van Braeckel E, et al. Risk factors and impact of allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*-negative CF patients. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. 2018;29:726–31. DOI:10.1111/pai.12953
- [28] Shah A, Panjabi C. Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis: a perplexing clinical entity. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res. 2016;8:282–97. DOI:10.4168/aair.2016.8.4.282
- [29] Tracy MC, Okorie CUA, Foley EA, Moss RB. Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis. J Fungi (Basel). 2016;2:17. DOI:10.3390/ jof2020017
- [30] Rosenberg M, Patterson R, Mintzer R, Cooper BJ, Roberts M, Harris KE. Clinical and immunologic criteria for the diagnosis of allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis. Ann Intern Med. 1977;86:405–14. DOI:10.7326/0003-4819-86-4-405
- [31] Banka R, Kamath A. Application of the ISHAM criteria for diagnosis of ABPA in a clinical cohort at a university teaching hospital. Eur Respir J. 2018;52:PA1136. DOI:10.1183/13993003.congress-2018.PA1136

Chapter 22 - Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis (ABPA) in cystic fibrosis

- [32] Patel AR, Patel AR, Singh S, Singh S, Khawaja I. Diagnosing allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis: a review. Cureus. 2019;11:e4550. DOI:10.7759/cureus.4550
- [33] Li BCM, Huh SM, Prieto MD, Hong G, Schwarz C, Moss RB, et al. Biomarkers for the diagnosis of allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in cystic fibrosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2021;9:1909–30.e4. DOI:10.1016/j. jaip.2020.12.064
- [34] Keown K, Abbott S, Kuzeljevic B, Rayment JH, Chilvers MA, Yang CL. An investigation into biomarkers for the diagnosis of ABPA and Aspergillus disease in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2019;54:1787–93. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.24465
- [35] Refait J, Macey J, Bui S, Fayon M, Berger P, Delhaes L, et al. CT evaluation of hyperattenuating mucus to diagnose allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in the special condition of cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2019;18:e31–6. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2019.02.002
- [36] Lu HW, Mao B, Wei P, Jiang S, Wang H, Li CW, et al. The clinical characteristics and prognosis of ABPA are closely related to the mucus plugs in central bronchiectasis. Clin Respir J. 2020;14:140–7. DOI:10.1111/crj.13111
- [37] Dournes G, Berger P, Refait J, Macey J, Bui S, Delhaes L, *et al.* Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in cystic fibrosis: MR imaging of airway mucus contrasts as a tool for diagnosis. Radiology. 2017;285:261–9. DOI:10.1148/radiol.2017162350
- [38] Schwarz C, Hartl D, Eickmeier O, Hector A, Benden C, Durieu I, et al. Progress in definition, prevention and treatment of fungal infections in cystic fibrosis. Mycopathologia. 2018;183:21–32. DOI:10.1007/s11046-017-0182-0

- [39] Gothe F, Schmautz A, Häusler K, Tran NB, Kappler M, Griese M. Treating allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis with short-term prednisone and itraconazole in cystic fibrosis. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2020;8:2608–14.e3. DOI:10.1016/j. jaip.2020.02.031
- [40] Thomson JM, Wesley A, Byrnes CA, Nixon GM. Pulse intravenous methylprednisolone for resistant allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2006;41:164–70. DOI:10.1002/ppul.20333
- [41] Cohen-Cymberknoh M, Blau H, Shoseyov D, Mei-Zahav M, Efrati O, Armoni S, et al. Intravenous monthly pulse methylprednisolone treatment for ABPA in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2009;8:253–7. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2009.04.008
- [42] Agarwal R, Khan A, Aggarwal AN, Saikia B, Gupta D, Chakrabarti A. Role of inhaled corticosteroids in the management of serological allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis (ABPA). Intern Med. 2011;50:855–60. DOI:10.2169/internalmedicine.50.4665
- [43] Francis NZ, Southern KW. Antifungal therapies for allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in people with cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022;9:Cd002204. DOI:10.1002/14651858. CD002204.pub5
- [44] Moreira AS, Silva D, Ferreira AR, Delgado L. Antifungal treatment in allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis with and without cystic fibrosis: a systematic review. Clin Exp Allergy. 2014;44:1210–27. DOI:10.1111/ cea.12333
- [45] Hilliard T, Edwards S, Buchdahl R, Francis J, Rosenthal M, Balfour-Lynn I, et al. Voriconazole therapy in children with cystic fibrosis.
 J Cyst Fibros. 2005;4:215–20. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2005.05.019

- [46] Glackin L, Leen G, Elnazir B, Greally P. Voriconazole in the treatment of allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in cystic fibrosis. Ir Med J. 2009;102:29.
- [47] Periselneris J, Nwankwo L, Schelenz S, Shah A, Armstrong-James D. Posaconazole for the treatment of allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2019;74:1701–3. DOI:10.1093/jac/dkz075
- [48] Patel D, Popple S, Claydon A, Modha DE, Gaillard EA. Posaconazole therapy in children with cystic fibrosis and Aspergillus-related lung disease. Med Mycol. 2020;58:11– 21. DOI:10.1093/mmy/myz015
- [49] Jacobs SE, Saez-Lacy D, Wynkoop W, Walsh TJ. Successful treatment of allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis with isavuconazole: case report and review of the literature. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2017;4:ofx040. DOI:10.1093/ofid/ofx040
- [50] Meis JF, Chowdhary A, Rhodes JL, Fisher MC, Verweij PE. Clinical implications of globally emerging azole resistance in Aspergillus fumigatus. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2016;371:20150460. DOI:10.1098/ rstb.2015.0460
- [51] Jordan CL, Noah TL, Henry MM. Therapeutic challenges posed by critical drug-drug interactions in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2016;51:S61–70. DOI:10.1002/ppul.23505
- [52] Schneider EK. Cytochrome P450 3A4 induction: lumacaftor versus ivacaftor potentially resulting in significantly reduced plasma concentration of ivacaftor. Drug Metab Lett. 2018;12:71–4. DOI:10.2174/18723128126661803 28105259
- [53] Proesmans M, Vermeulen F, Vreys M, De Boeck K. Use of nebulized amphotericin B in the treatment of allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in cystic fibrosis. Int J Pediatr. 2010;2010:376287. DOI:10.1155/2010/376287

- [54] Ashkenazi M, Sity S, Sarouk I, Bar Aluma BE, Dagan A, Bezalel Y, et al. Omalizumab in allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Asthma Allergy. 2018;11:101–7. DOI:10.2147/jaa.S156049
- [55] Nové-Josserand R, Grard S, Auzou L, Reix P, Murris-Espin M, Brémont F, et al. Case series of omalizumab for allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in cystic fibrosis patients. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2017;52:190–7. DOI:10.1002/ppul.23612
- [56] Perisson C, Destruys L, Grenet D, Bassinet L, Derelle J, Sermet-Gaudelus I, et al. Omalizumab treatment for allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in young patients with cystic fibrosis. Respir Med. 2017;133:12–5. DOI:10.1016/j.rmed.2017.11.007
- [57] Jat KR, Walia DK, Khairwa A. Anti-IgE therapy for allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis in people with cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021;9:Cd010288. DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD010288.pub5
- [58] Zhang L, Borish L, Smith A, Somerville L, Albon D. Use of mepolizumab in adult patients with cystic fibrosis and an eosinophilic phenotype: case series. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol. 2020;16:3. DOI:10.1186/ s13223-019-0397-3
- [59] Agarwal R, Muthu V. Benralizumab as a firstline treatment for ABPA: is it really indicated? Intern Med. 2021;60:2519. DOI:10.2169/ internalmedicine.6807-20
- [60] Nguyen NL, Pilewski JM, Celedón JC, Mandalapu S, Blanchard ML, DeRicco A, et al. Vitamin D supplementation decreases Aspergillus fumigatus specific Th2 responses in CF patients with Aspergillus sensitization: a phase one open-label study. Asthma Res Pract. 2015;1:3. DOI:10.1186/s40733-015-0003-5

Authors

Peter Barry, Dorota Sands, Andrew Jones

Introduction

Lung disease in CF is characterized by a vicious cycle of inflammation and chronic endobronchial infection (bronchitis), punctuated and propagated by acute exacerbations. Lung infection is dominated by a number of typical bacterial species, such as Staphylococcus aureus, Pseudomonas aeruginosa and other gram-negative organisms such as Burkholderia and Achromobacter species, which often result in chronic infection. However, fungal species are also frequently isolated from the lower respiratory tract of people with CF (pwCF). While some fungi can cause potential serious complications post-lung transplantation, the clinical significance of their isolation in immunocompetent pwCF is less clear. The most common filamentous fungi encountered in CF are the yeast Candida albicans. Aspergillus species, Scedosporium species, Lomentospora prolificans, and Exophiala dermatitidis.

23.1 Fungal bronchitis

The ability of fungal species to lead to disease is not disputed in CF. Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis (ABPA) and pneumonia are well described entities requiring specific treatment and are covered comprehensively elsewhere (see Chapters 22 and 24). Conversely the concept of fungal bronchitis in CF is proposed but is somewhat controversial and lacking in defined consensus diagnostic criteria. In many cases there can be repeated isolation of a fungal species. In addition, immune responses to fungal species can be demonstrated in some pwCF, both as sensitization or immune hypersensitivity, and as host IgG antibody responses. Clinicians may assess such results as being suggestive of fungal bronchitis. Pragmatically, clinical approaches have mostly relied on ruling out other reasons for increased pulmonary symptoms and instituting empirical trials of treatment targeting colonizing bacterial or mycobacterial species, while investigating other systemic issues such as glycemic control before embarking on antifungal therapy. This review will highlight distinct fungal entities and current evidence of their pathogenicity in causing fungal bronchitis.

23.2 Aspergillus species

Aspergillus fumigatus is frequently isolated from sputum samples of pwCF [1]. The significance in CF of the presence of Aspergillus in a sputum sample, or of a host immunological response to Aspergillus, without evidence of invasive infection, aspergilloma formation or a heightened sensitization (ABPA) is clinically uncertain, particularly whether this represents just simple colonization or an infection [1].

In vitro models suggest that *Aspergillus* can cause inflammation in CF [2, 3]. The presence of

Aspergillus in lower respiratory tract samples has been associated with increased risk of radiological abnormalities [4, 5], respiratory symptom scores [6], respiratory exacerbations [5, 7] and lung function decline [8] in pwCF. However, these finding are not universal and other CF studies have found no difference in pulmonary exacerbation rates or decline in lung function [9, 10] with isolation of Aspergillus.

The possibility of a clinical entity of "Aspergillus bronchitis" was highlighted in a case series detailing six pwCF who were failing to respond to conventional antibiotic therapy but who had persistent growth of A. fumigatus in their sputum samples. These patients had either no or minimally elevated IgE serological markers of sensitization to Aspergillus and hence a separate clinical entity of Aspergillus bronchitis was proposed [11]. In an observational study, 13 pwCF with chronic Asperaillus in lower airway samples and without significant evidence of sensitization were treated for 6 weeks with itraconazole. They had reduced levels of inflammation and exacerbation rates, and improvements in symptom scores, but did not have improvements in lung function [2]. In a retrospective German registry study, Brandt and colleagues defined Aspergillus bronchitis as repeated positive sputum culture findings for A. fumigatus, no antibiotic treatment response, total serum IgE levels <200 kU/l, no observation of new pulmonary infiltrates and appropriate antifungal treatment response [12]. They identified ten cases with bronchitis, with improvements in lung function and clinical symptoms following 2-6 weeks of antifungal treatment.

PwCF can show discretely different responses to Aspergillus and without consistent diagnostic criteria it is difficult to evaluate clinical outcomes in published literature for different phenotypes of Aspergillus disease. Baxter and colleagues established a novel classification for Aspergillus in CF, using a combination of two methods of Aspergillus detection, sputum galactomannan and real-time Aspergillus PCR, alongside serologic markers. In 130 triazole-naive pwCF, the team identified a non-Aspergillus disease group (n=49) and three distinct classes of aspergillosis: ABPA (n=23), Aspergillus sensitization (n=19) and Aspergillus bronchitis (n=39) [9]. After 10 years of follow-up, the participants classified as having Aspergillus bronchitis did not have increased adverse clinical outcomes compared to the other pwCF studied (authors own unpublished data).

In a prospective randomized study of pwCF with positive sputum cultures for *Aspergillus*, participants treated with 24 weeks of itraconazole (n=18) or placebo (n=17) had no differences in exacerbation frequency, decline in forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) or quality of life. However, the study failed to recruit to its target number of participants and, in a *post hoc* analysis, it was found that 43% of participants taking itraconazole had failed to achieve therapeutic drug levels [13].

The concept of *Aspergillus* bronchitis in CF is still controversial. An international survey of CF clinicians identified differences both in the diagnostic criteria for *Aspergillus* bronchitis, and opinions as to whether *Aspergillus* bronchitis as a clinical disease warranted therapy. A significantly greater proportion of North American clinicians were unable to define *Aspergillus* bronchitis compared to those from Europe and other regions [14]. In another recent survey 73% of United Kingdom clinicians reported that they had experience of treating *Aspergillus* bronchitis [15]. Chapter 23 - Fungal bronchitis in cystic fibrosis

23.3 *Candida* species

Candida is a genus of yeasts and is a frequently isolated organism in lower respiratory tract secretions of pwCF. Although it is the leading cause of fungal infections worldwide, its role in CF lung disease and specifically as a cause of pulmonary exacerbations is less well defined. A retrospective 2-year study in 55 adult pwCF in the UK revealed that 69% had chronic colonization [9]. Candida colonization or sensitization as measured by specific ImmunoCAP IgE levels were not associated with worse pulmonary outcomes in terms of FEV1 decline or pulmonary exacerbations. In contrast, a French study that followed 237 pwCF for 2 years found that the presence of *C. albicans* was associated with a higher rate of lung function decline in a multi-variate model but not with an increased risk of lung transplant or death [16]. The authors concluded that the presence of Candida was associated with worse lung function and appeared to precede lung function decline. An 11-year prospective cohort study in Ireland found that Candida colonization is associated with an accelerated rate of decline in lung function and an increased risk of pulmonary exacerbations, but again conclusive evidence of the role of yeast colonization could not be robustly derived from this study [17]. Small studies found the presence of C. dubliniensis to be associated with lung function decline [18, 19].

The presence of *Candida* in the lower airway of pwCF therefore is not necessarily benign. Researchers have suggested a complex interplay between *Candida* and other more notable pathogens including *P. aeruginosa* with impacts on virulence [20]. There is some evidence that *Candida* may increase *Pseudomonas* biofilm tolerance to meropenem [21]. There is some evidence to suggest that the presence of *C. albicans* in the lower respiratory tract is associated with the co-administration of nebulized antibiotics [22].

It is unclear if *Candida* can cause pulmonary exacerbations. Treatment guided only by the isolation of this organism has not been extensively evaluated and cannot be routinely recommended.

23.4 Scedosporium species and Lomentospora prolificians

After Aspergillus, Scedosporium species and Lomentospora prolificians rank as the second most common isolated filamentous fungus in the lower respiratory tract secretions of pwCF. In a study from the Netherlands, 94 of 1312 patients from five CF centers had at least one positive sputum sample of Scedosporium spp. [23]. A positive isolation was associated with a severe CF genotype. CF-related diabetes mellitus, the presence of other microorganisms, and the use of inhaled antibiotics. Participants with and without Scedosporium spp. were comparable with regards to body mass index (BMI) and lung function. In a multicenter German study, 29 of 161 pwCF were found to be colonized with Scedosporium or Lomentospora species, giving rise to an estimated prevalence of 4%. Colonization was associated with younger age, less colonization with H. influenzae, higher frequency of ABPA, and co-colonization with mucoid P. aeruginosa [24]. This contrasts with an Australian case series which found that Scedosporium colonization was associated with absence of mucoid P. aeruginosa [25]. A French study examining seroprevalence to Scedosporium apiospermum found that antibodies were present in 9.7% of children, but this was not associated with clinical outcomes [26].

Scedosporium spp. has however been associated with symptomatic infection in pwCF. In a Greek study of ten pwCF, two had symptoms of an infection when colonized with Scedosporium spp. and were unresponsive to conventional

Chapter 23 - Fungal bronchitis in cystic fibrosis

antibiotic treatment targeted at their colonizing bacterial pathogens [27]. Both experienced a resolution of symptoms with antifungal therapy according to sensitivity testing. In a case series of five children treated with a combination of posaconazole and terbinafine, *Scedosporium* spp. was not eradicated but lung function had significantly improved in two children and stabilized in another two children [28]. This retrospective report did not describe the health status of symptomatic patients at commencement of therapy and whether respiratory symptoms were attributed to the fungal pathogens.

In certain clinical scenarios, treatment for *Scedosporium* spp. and *L. prolificans* may be indicated. In a multinational survey of 45 lung transplant centers, 10% of respondents deemed *Scedosporium* spp. to be a contraindication to lung transplantation, rising to 31% for *L. prolificans* [29]. Treatment decisions can be difficult due to inherent resistance, with the best evidence favoring a combination antifungal approach [30]. Treatment is likely best guided by sensitivity testing.

23.5 Exophiala dermatitidis

E. dermatitidis is another fungal species that may be isolated from lower respiratory tract samples from pwCF. Prevalence of this organism varies in clinical studies and may relate to culture techniques, particularly the duration of the culture, with longer incubation periods tending to generate greater yields. One study identified *E. dermatitidis* in the sputum of 17 out of 98 pwCF. Of the 17 patients identified with *E. dermatitidis*, four were diagnosed as having symptomatic infection with *E. dermatitidis* and received treatment with broad spectrum antifungals. There was apparent clearance of the organism from subsequent sputum samples in only one patient, but partial reduction in isolation of E. dermatitidis in the other three cases [31]. In two of the cases, treatment was associated with an improvement in clinical symptoms. In one of these cases, there was also a radiological improvement, but this patient had a concomitant history of ABPA. Patients had evidence of IgG antibodies to E. dermatitidis and increased levels were associated with a greater number of IV antibiotic courses received during the preceding year, worse percentage predicted FEV_1 and increased levels of inflammation. However, comorbidities and co-infections were potential confounders, as higher levels of antibodies were seen in patients with exocrine pancreatic insufficiency and higher rates of colonization with other pathogenic microorganisms [32]. In a recent UK monocenter retrospective study, 31 pwCF with a history of E. dermatitidis were matched with a control population of 62 pwCF who had never had E. dermatitidis cultured from the respiratory tract [33]. The rate of lung function decline was higher following isolation of E. dermatitidis (-1.824 %FEV1/year, p<0.01). However, although 14 patients received antifungals, their rates of lung function decline were not significantly different from the other 17 patients who were not treated. Several more recent studies have found that the presence of E. dermatitidis in sputum from adults with CF is not associated with adverse health status [23, 34, 35]. E. dermatitidis was isolated at least once from a sputum sample in 31 of 1312 Dutch pwCF, with no difference in lung function or BMI between those with and without E. dermatitidis [23]. In another study at a UK pediatric CF center, E. dermatitidis was isolated from 27 of 244 patients (11%) on more than one occasion [34]. There were no significant differences in spirometry, number of intravenous antibiotic days and BMI between cases and controls. In addition, there was also no clinically significant difference in spirometry, mean number of IV antibiotic days and BMI in cases pre and post E. dermatitidis isolation. Another recent UK study identified 21 pwCF with

E. *dermatitidis* and 105 pwCF without *E. dermatitidis* [35]. There were no differences in baseline lung function or BMI, or rate of change in lung function or number of exacerbations over 12 months between the two groups. The study also evaluated treatment outcomes for participants with and without *E. dermatitidis* who had received treatment with intravenous antibiotics for an infective exacerbation. There were no difference in clinical outcome measures between pwCF with and without *E. dermatitidis*, despite the omission of specific antifungal therapy [35]. At present, most published studies do not support routine targeted antifungal therapy for the majority of pwCF who harbor *E. dermatitidis*.

23.5 Other fungal species

Other fungal species including Alternaria, Cladosporium, Penicillium, Trichosporon spp. are also occasionally encountered in CF respiratory samples. In many cases carriage may be transient, and the clinical significance is unclear. Apart from a few case reports, there is little to inform about potential fungal bronchitis.

23.7 Impact of CFTR modulator therapy

CFTR modulator therapy has been shown to alter the CF airway microbiome and circulating inflammatory markers [36]. A reduced rate of isolation of *Aspergillus* in pwCF receiving ivacaftor has been reported in one study [37] and CFTR modulators have been shown to have the potential to dampen *Aspergillus*-induced host inflammation which may be more relevant for bronchitis than for ABPA [38, 39]. At present, it is too early to speculate whether CFTR modulation will change the natural history of fungal bronchitis in CF.

23.8 Lung transplant recipients

There are higher rates of invasive fungal disease in CF lung transplant recipients, with *Aspergillus* species were most commonly responsible for colonization. Many transplant centers provide antifungal prophylaxis to lung transplant recipients, although there is no consensus on the choice of antifungal agent. The most common antifungal used is voriconazole, followed by itraconazole and inhaled amphotericin B [40]. Evidence is currently lacking to support the use of inhaled amphotericin B alone for the primary treatment of *Aspergillus* tracheobronchitis.

23.9 Conclusion

In conclusion, fungal species can be frequently isolated from the lower airways of pwCF. The clinical relevance is often uncertain, and in many cases the fungi are often regarded as bystanders rather than as significant respiratory pathogens. Comparison between studies is often hampered by a lack of standardization of methodologies for detecting fungi and/or host responses, a lack of a uniform definition of fungal bronchitis, and potential confounding factors such as patient comorbidities and co-pathogens. Individual patient factors are also likely to play a role. Antifungal medications can have significant adverse effects including hepatotoxicity, gastrointestinal disturbance and QTc prolongation, and can interact with other CF medications including CFTR modulators [41, 42]. At present, there is insufficient evidence to support routine targeting of fungi with antifungals either during acute exacerbations or for longer term colonization, without first optimizing all other standard CF therapies. Future prospective studies are required to further elucidate the clinical relevance of fungal bronchitis in CF. and in particular if treatment leads to improved clinical outcomes.

Chapter 23 - Fungal bronchitis in cystic fibrosis

- Jones AM, Horsley A, Denning DW. What is the importance of classifying Aspergillus disease in cystic fibrosis patients? Expert Rev Respir Med. 2014;8:389–92. DOI:10.1586 /17476348.2014.915751
- [2] Coughlan CA, Chotirmall SH, Renwick J, Hassan T, Low TB, Bergsson G, et al. The effect of Aspergillus fumigatus infection on vitamin D receptor expression in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2012;186:999–1007. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201203-04780C
- [3] Chaudhary N, Datta K, Askin FB, Staab JF, Marr KA. Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator regulates epithelial cell response to Aspergillus and resultant pulmonary inflammation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2012;185:301–10. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201106-1027OC
- [4] McMahon MA, Chotirmall SH, McCullagh B, Branagan P, McElvaney NG, Logan PM. Radiological abnormalities associated with Aspergillus colonization in a cystic fibrosis population. Eur J Radiol. 2012;81:e197–202. DOI:10.1016/j.ejrad.2011.01.114
- [5] Breuer O, Schultz A, Garratt LW, Turkovic L, Rosenow T, Murray CP, et al. Aspergillus infections and progression of structural lung disease in children with cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2020;201:688–96. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201908-1585OC
- Hong G, Alby K, Ng SCW, Fleck V, Kubrak C, Rubenstein RC, et al. The presence of Aspergillus fumigatus is associated with worse respiratory quality of life in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2020;19:125–30. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2019.08.008
- [7] de Boer K, Vandemheen KL, Tullis E, Doucette S, Fergusson D, Freitag A, et al. Exacerbation frequency and clinical outcomes in adult patients with cystic fibrosis. Thorax. 2011;66:680–5. DOI:10.1136/thx.2011.161117

- [8] Fillaux J, Brémont F, Murris M, Cassaing S, Rittié JL, Tétu L, et al. Assessment of Aspergillus sensitization or persistent carriage as a factor in lung function impairment in cystic fibrosis patients. Scand J Infect Dis. 2012;44:842–7. DOI:10.3109/00365548.2012.6 95454
- [9] Baxter CG, Moore CB, Jones AM, Webb AK, Denning DW. IgE-mediated immune responses and airway detection of Aspergillus and Candida in adult cystic fibrosis. Chest. 2013;143:1351–7. DOI:10.1378/chest.12-1363
- [10] de Vrankrijker AM, van der Ent CK, van Berkhout FT, Stellato RK, Willems RJ, Bonten MJ, et al. Aspergillus fumigatus colonization in cystic fibrosis: implications for lung function? Clin Microbiol Infect. 2011;17:1381–6. DOI:10.1111/j.1469-0691.2010.03429.x
- [11] Shoseyov D, Brownlee KG, Conway SP, Kerem E. Aspergillus bronchitis in cystic fibrosis. Chest. 2006;130:222–6. DOI:10.1378/ chest.130.1.222
- [12] Brandt C, Roehmel J, Rickerts V, Melichar V, Niemann N, Schwarz C. Aspergillus bronchitis in patients with cystic fibrosis. Mycopathologia. 2018;183:61–9. DOI:10.1007/ s11046-017-0190-0
- [13] Aaron SD, Vandemheen KL, Freitag A, Pedder L, Cameron W, Lavoie A, et al. Treatment of Aspergillus fumigatus in patients with cystic fibrosis: a randomized, placebo-controlled pilot study. PLoS One. 2012;7:e36077. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0036077
- [14] Hong G, Desai S, Moss RB, Eschenhagen P, Quon BS, Schwarz C. Clinician variability in the diagnosis and treatment of Aspergillus fumigatus-related conditions in cystic fibrosis: an international survey. J Cyst Fibros. 2022;21:136–42. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2021.07.008

- [15] Boyle M, Moore JE, Whitehouse JL, Bilton D, Downey DG. The diagnosis and management of respiratory tract fungal infection in cystic fibrosis: a UK survey of current practice. Med Mycol. 2019;57:155–60. DOI:10.1093/ mmy/myy014
- [16] Francis F, Enaud R, Soret P, Lussac-Sorton F, Avalos-Fernandez M, MucoFong Investigation G, et al. New insights in microbial species predicting lung function decline in CF: lessons from the mucofong project. J Clin Med. 2021;10:3725. DOI:10.3390/jcm10163725
- [17] Chotirmall SH, O'Donoghue E, Bennett K, Gunaratnam C, O'Neill SJ, McElvaney NG. Sputum Candida albicans presages FEV₁ decline and hospital-treated exacerbations in cystic fibrosis. Chest. 2010;138:1186–95. DOI:10.1378/chest.09-2996
- [18] Al Shakirchi M, Klingspor L, Bergman P, Hjelte L, de Monestrol I. A 16-year retrospective study on fungal prevalence and diversity in patients with cystic fibrosis: *Candida dubliniensis* was associated with a decline in lung function. Int J Infect Dis. 2020;96:663–70. DOI:10.1016/j. ijid.2020.05.063
- [19] AbdulWahab A, Salah H, Chandra P, Taj-Aldeen SJ. Persistence of *Candida dubliniensis* and lung function in patients with cystic fibrosis. BMC Res Notes. 2017;10:326. DOI:10.1186/s13104-017-2656-z
- [20] Trejo-Hernández A, Andrade-Domínguez A, Hernández M, Encarnación S. Interspecies competition triggers virulence and mutability in *Candida albicans-Pseudomonas aeruginosa* mixed biofilms. Isme j. 2014;8:1974–88. DOI:10.1038/ismej.2014.53
- [21] Alam F, Catlow D, Di Maio A, Blair JMA, Hall RA. Candida albicans enhances meropenem tolerance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in a dual-species biofilm. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2020;75:925–35. DOI:10.1093/jac/ dkz514

- [22] Noni M, Katelari A, Kaditis A, Theochari I, Lympari I, Alexandrou-Athanassoulis H, et al. Candida albicans chronic colonisation in cystic fibrosis may be associated with inhaled antibiotics. Mycoses. 2015;58:416–21. DOI:10.1111/myc.12338
- [23] de Jong CCM, Slabbers L, Engel TGP, Yntema JB, van Westreenen M, Croughs PD, et al. Clinical relevance of Scedosporium spp. and Exophiala dermatitidis in patients with cystic fibrosis: a nationwide study. Med Mycol. 2020;58:859–66. DOI:10.1093/mmy/ myaa003
- [24] Schwarz C, Brandt C, Antweiler E, Krannich A, Staab D, Schmitt-Grohé S, et al. Prospective multicenter German study on pulmonary colonization with Scedosporium / Lomentospora species in cystic fibrosis: epidemiology and new association factors. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0171485. DOI:10.1371/ journal.pone.0171485
- [25] Blyth CC, Middleton PG, Harun A, Sorrell TC, Meyer W, Chen SC. Clinical associations and prevalence of *Scedosporium* spp. in Australian cystic fibrosis patients: identification of novel risk factors? Med Mycol. 2010;48 Suppl 1:S37-44. DOI:10.3109/136937 86.2010.500627
- [26] Parize P, Billaud S, Bienvenu AL, Bourdy S, le Pogam MA, Reix P, et al. Impact of Scedosporium apiospermum complex seroprevalence in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2014;13:667–73. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2014.01.011
- [27] Noni M, Katelari A, Kapi A, Stathi A, Dimopoulos G, Doudounakis SE. Scedosporium apiospermum complex in cystic fibrosis; should we treat? Mycoses. 2017;60:594–9. DOI:10.1111/myc.12634
- [28] Bentley S, Davies JC, Carr SB, Balfour-Lynn IM. Combination antifungal therapy for Scedosporium species in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2020;55:1993–5. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.24789

- [29] Rammaert B, Puyade M, Cornely OA, Seidel D, Grossi P, Husain S, et al. Perspectives on Scedosporium species and Lomentospora prolificans in lung transplantation: results of an international practice survey from ESCMID fungal infection study group
- and study group for infections in compromised hosts, and European confederation of medical mycology. Transpl Infect Dis. 2019;21:e13141. DOI:10.1111/tid.13141
- [30] Schwarz C, Brandt C, Melichar V, Runge C, Heuer E, Sahly H, et al. Combined antifungal therapy is superior to monotherapy in pulmonary scedosporiosis in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2019;18:227–32. DOI:10.1016/j. icf.2018.08.012
- [31] Kondori N, Gilljam M, Lindblad A, Jönsson B, Moore ER, Wennerås C. High rate of *Exophiala dermatitidis* recovery in the airways of patients with cystic fibrosis is associated with pancreatic insufficiency. J Clin Microbiol. 2011;49:1004–9. DOI:10.1128/jcm.01899-10
- [32] Kondori N, Lindblad A, Welinder-Olsson C, Wennerås C, Gilljam M. Development of IgG antibodies to Exophiala dermatitidis is associated with inflammatory responses in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2014;13:391–9. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2013.12.007
- [33] Ayling-Smith J, Speight L, Dhillon R, Backx M, White PL, Hood K, et al. The presence of Exophiala dermatitidis in the respiratory tract of cystic fibrosis patients accelerates lung function decline: a retrospective review of lung function. J Fungi (Basel). 2022;8:376. DOI:10.3390/jof8040376
- [34] Mills R, Rautemaa-Richardson R, Wilkinson S, Patel L, Maitra A, Horsley A. Impact of airway *Exophiala* spp. on children with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2021;20:702–7. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2021.03.012

- [35] Tewkesbury DH, Looi E, Barry PJ, Edwards G, Green H, Smith M, et al. Isolation of Exophiala dermatitidis is not associated with worse clinical outcomes during acute pulmonary exacerbations in cystic fibrosis. J Med Microbiol. 2022;71. DOI:10.1099/ jmm.0.001431
- [36] Ronan NJ, Einarsson GG, Twomey M, Mooney D, Mullane D, NiChroinin M, et al. CORK study in cystic fibrosis: sustained improvements in ultra-low-dose chest CT scores after CFTR modulation with ivacaftor. Chest. 2018;153:395–403. DOI:10.1016/j. chest.2017.10.005
- [37] Heltshe SL, Mayer-Hamblett N, Burns JL, Khan U, Baines A, Ramsey BW, et al. Pseudomonas aeruginosa in cystic fibrosis patients with G551D-CFTR treated with ivacaftor. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;60:703–12. DOI:10.1093/cid/ciu944
- [38] Mainz JG, Arnold C, Wittstock K, Hipler UC, Lehmann T, Zagoya C, et al. Ivacaftor reduces inflammatory mediators in upper airway lining fluid from cystic fibrosis patients with a G551D mutation: serial non-invasive home-based collection of upper airway lining fluid. Front Immunol. 2021;12:642180. DOI:10.3389/fimmu.2021.642180
- [39] Currie AJ, Main ET, Wilson HM, Armstrong-James D, Warris A. CFTR modulators dampen Aspergillus-induced reactive oxygen species production by cystic fibrosis phagocytes. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2020;10:372. DOI:10.3389/fcimb.2020.00372
- [40] Samanta P, Clancy CJ, Nguyen MH. Fungal infections in lung transplantation. J Thorac Dis. 2021;13:6695-707. DOI:10.21037/jtd-2021-26
- [41] Burgel PR, Paugam A, Hubert D, Martin C. Aspergillus fumigatus in the cystic fibrosis lung: pros and cons of azole therapy. Infect Drug Resist. 2016;9:229–38. DOI:10.2147/idr. S63621

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 23 - Fungal bronchitis in cystic fibrosis

[42] van der Meer R, Touw DJ, Heijerman HGM. Prevention of drug-related complications in cystic fibrosis. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2019;25:666–73. DOI:10.1097/ mcp.000000000000625

Authors

Carsten Schwarz, Amparo Solé, Christian Benden

Introduction

In recent decades, several studies have been conducted regarding fungal colonization and infection of the airways in people with cystic fibrosis (pwCF). The most common fungal species in pwCF are, by far, Aspergillus fumigatus for filamentous fungi and Candida albicans for yeasts. However, the pattern of fungal species associated with CF has considerably diversified recently [1-10]. Thus, some Scedosporium species (Scedosporium boyidii, Scedosporium apiospermum, Scedosporium aurantiacum, Scedosporium *minutisporium*) and the closely related species Lomentospora prolificans have been globally recognized as significant fungal pathogens in CF. potentially causing severe fungal infections that are frequently difficult to treat. In addition, very rare fungal species such as Exophiala dermatitidis, Arxula adeninivorans and Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans have also been described to cause severe fungal pneumonia in pwCF [11-16]. Frequently, invasive fungal infections have delays in diagnosis and therefore inadequate treatment.

In this chapter, we will define pulmonary fungal infections, and describe the cornerstones of the diagnostic and therapeutic approach.

24.1 Definition of pulmonary fungal infections

In CF, different entities or categories in terms of pulmonary fungal diseases have been discovered. Beside fungal airway colonization, host responses can be divided into the allergic and the infectious groups. The allergic group present as sensitization or allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis or mycosis. The infectious group includes pulmonary fungal infection (invasive pulmonary infection. IPI), fungal bronchitis and aspergilloma [4, 5, 17-24]. In this chapter, we focus on IPI. As bronchopulmonary infections or exacerbations in CF are usually caused by bacteria, no commonly agreed upon definition for pulmonary fungal infections existed in the past. However, in recent years, a definition has been developed and published by international experts in the field [8, 21, 25, 26]. This internationally accepted definition of pulmonary fungal infection in CF is:

- Increased sputum production
- Multiple isolation of the same fungal species from sputum or bronchoalveolar lavage (more than twice over a 6-month period)
- Pulmonary infiltrate(s) on chest CT, MRI imaging or chest X-ray
- Antibiotic treatment failure (more than two antibiotic treatments, duration ≥ 2 weeks)
- Unclear lung function decline (exclusion of newly diagnosed CF-related diseases, e.g. CF-related diabetes mellitus)
- Exclusion of new/other bacteria (e.g. nontuberculous mycobacteria or Pseudomonas aeruginosa)

24.1.1 Exclusion of ABPA

Although this definition of pulmonary fungal infection in CF probably helps to identify patients with fungal pneumonia, it can still be challenging to confirm the diagnosis. CT or MRI imaging can help diagnose fungal pneumonia, based on the typical findings previously described [11, 22] of ground glass density surrounding a nodule, also known as "halo sign", or consolidations with internal ground glass density. But other specific hints for severe non-specific pulmonary infections in CF include findings like semi-solid and ground glass nodules, and particularly, peripheral well-circumscribed nodules [27, 28]. The definitive diagnosis of IFI is by microbiology or histopathology. However, many pwCF receiving highly effective CF transmembrane conductance regulatory (CFTR) modulator therapy produce less sputum, which complicates collection of sputum samples for analysis. Meanwhile, bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) or induced sputum is not feasible in a routine setting. For this reason, new methods are needed to detect microbiological colonization or infections with bacteria or fungi.

A novel diagnostic tool has been proposed in recent years relying on the measurement of fungus-specific host response. This antigen-reactive T cell enrichment assay (ARTE) might be useful to measure fungus-specific T cell responses during the onset of fungal infections [23, 24, 29, 30]. This method reflects the direct host-pathogen reaction, therefore identifying the relevant pathogen in usually co-colonized pwCF could be possible. despite negative culture-based detection methods or PCR-based methods from low quality samples. In addition, an easier and less time-consuming diagnostic tool is the above-mentioned fungus-specific IgG. In a recent publication, it could be shown that A. fumigatus specific IgG might be helpful in the diagnosis and treatment follow-up of A. fumigatus infection, as A. fumigatus-specific IgG decreases after therapy [31].

Serological techniques such as galactomannan in blood or BAL, or other Aspergillus antigens measured by lateral flow devices have also helped to diagnose aspergillosis within hours with a specificity and sensitivity of more than 80%, particularly in severe, life-threatening cases [32-34]. Although not commercially available, some serological methods have recently also been proposed for Scedosporium/Lomentospora. Two of them are based on ELISA systems, using a total extract or recombinant proteins as antigen [35, 36]. An additional, newly developed assav based on a rapid dot immunobinding assav (DIA), which detects serum IgG against a total extract of these fungi in less than 15 minutes with 90.48% sensitivity and 79.30% specificity [37].

A. fumigatus or non-Aspergillus species pneumonia is a new disease entity in pwCF which is not easy to diagnose as bacteria are the main reason for infections with similar symptoms [38, 39]. Therefore this pathology needs the attention of radiologists and clinicians. The usual gold-standard diagnostic approach would be transbronchial biopsy of the region with infiltrate to directly detect fungal growth [40]. In CF, this intervention is usually too dangerous as pneumothorax can cause severe clinical deterioration [41].

24.2 Treatment of pulmonary fungal infections

The treatment of fungal infections can be challenging in pwCF. A. *fumigatus* infection is usually treated with monotherapy using voriconazole, posaconazole, isavuconazole, caspofungin, micafungin or anidulafungine or lipidic amphotericin B [22, 42]. Susceptibility testing is considered important if clinical response lacks, particularly since azole resistance has recently been described [43, 44].

European Cystic Fibrosis Society

316

Chapter 24 - Pulmonary fungal infections in cystic fibrosis

Candida spp. are the most common yeast isolated in respiratory samples in pwCF. A 6-year retrospective study in 9 CF centers in Europe found that Candida spp. were present with a mean frequency of detection ranging from 33.8% up to 77.9% [3]. However, infections caused by this fungus are only rarely described [3, 22]. In fact, the pathogenicity of Candida spp. in CF and their influence on disease progression is less clearly understood than with filamentous fungi and continues to be debated. In the late 1990s, registry data from 7010 pwCF showed the association of *Candida* spp. and lower FEV_1 [41], although it is unknown whether this was due to a direct effect of Candida spp., an observation for its predilection for damaged pulmonary parenchyma or a finding associated with antibiotic treatment used more often in those with greater disease severity. More recently, the potential of Candida spp. to cause lung function decline was again demonstrated, as well as the yeast's ability to cause both localized and systemic infections, and induce oral and genital thrush, vascular access device-related infections and post-transplantation complications [7, 39, 45]. However, whether treatment against Candida spp. influences the course of disease or the drop in lung function remains unknown and needs further investigation. In the very rare cases of pulmonary infection highly probably due to Candida spp., the accurate identification of the infecting Candida species is crucial in determining which antifungal agent to use, because of the occurrence of fluconazole-resistant Candida species [42]. In C. albicans infections, it is recommended to start with an azole, preferably fluconazole, and to modify treatment if needed, according to susceptibility tests. Echinocandins (e.g. caspofungin, anidulafungin, micafungin) are effective drugs for C. glabrata and C. tropicalis infections. Amphotericin B is also useful for *Candida* spp. infections but has the disadvantage of nephrotoxicity, hypokalemia and acute infusion-related side effects [10]. However. Candida spp. are still rarely identified as causing

acute pulmonary infection in CF requiring treatment. Further research is needed to determine their true position as pathogenic organisms in CF.

Treatment of pulmonary fungal infections in CF remains challenging when they are caused by multi-resistant fungi such as Scedosporium species and Lomentospora prolificans, or the emerging Rasamsonia species. These fungi exhibit a primary resistance or low susceptibility to most available antifungal drugs [6, 46]. In recent years, a lot of effort has been invested performing studies to address this issue. Firstly, susceptibility testing is mandatory for all antifungal treatments, as resistance can occur [6, 8, 47]. Single studies on Scedosporium/Lomentospora infections recommend the option of combined antifungal therapy [8, 25, 48]. In those clinical settings, a combination of two or even three different antifungals might be necessary and is therefore recommended [8, 22, 25, 26, 49]. Ideally, the treatment combination should combine an oral azole (voriconazole, posaconazole, and isavuconazole), an intravenous echinocandin, and inhaled lipidic amphotericin B. In Rasamsonia infection, micafungin would be preferred in combination, and in infections with L. prolificans, terbinafine might be suitable as well as miltefosine, in combination with an echinocandin and azole [8, 22, 25, 50]. E. dermatitidis can also cause pulmonary fungal infections in pwCF, and it was first described in the 1990s [13, 14]. Antifungal therapy recommendations are mainly focused on therapy with amphotericin B, flucytosine, or azoles [13, 14, 21], but susceptibility testing should also be performed initially. In rare, single cases, T. mycotoxinivorans could also cause severe infections in pwCF, as described in single publications. The recommended treatment regimens in such cases are a combination of amphotericin B (intravenous or inhaled) and an azole as with monotherapy; however, breakthrough infections might occur [15, 51-54]. As recommended for other fungi, it is also crucial to perform susceptibility testing in

Chapter 24 - Pulmonary fungal infections in cystic fibrosis

pwCF with lung infections with Trichosporon spp.

All detected fungal species in respiratory samples of pwCF should be considered as potentially pathologic. This is illustrated by first in-human detection of *A. adeninivorans* in a pwCF causing a life-threatening invasive pulmonary infection [11].

An additional important question for clinicians is whether colonization without clinical implications should be treated to prevent clinical deterioration and chronic lung damage, in particular, if multi-resistant fungi such as *L. prolificans* are detected, which potentially contraindicate lung transplantation [4, 55].

24.3 Specific aspects in CF

Some CF-specific aspects differ from other diseases, requiring adjustment of azole dose and drug level monitoring for drugs with a low volume of distribution. The following factors can potentially require higher dosing and therapeutic drug monitoring: delayed absorption of oral antifungal drugs due to pancreatic insufficiency and fat malabsorption, increased total body volume leading to higher volume distribution with low drug concentrations, enhanced hepatic and renal drug clearance due to hypermetabolic state [56, 57]. In addition, pwCF usually have many co-medications, particularly drugs with severe interactions [58]. Drug-drug interactions with CFTR modulators are typical and in patients with elexacaftor, tezacaftor and ivacaftor, the modulator therapy needs to be adjusted to a lower dosage when given with concomitant drugs [59-61].

24.4 Future treatment direction

As pwCF live longer, they have greater opportunity to become infected or colonized with multidrug-resistant bacteria and fungi. Therefore, new therapies are needed. The antifungal pipeline currently includes different, very potent drugs such as fosmanogepix, ibrexafungerp, olorofim, opelconazole, and rezafungin [62]. The drug olorofim is particularly relevant for CF. This orotamide will have a central role in the treatment of multi-resistant mold infections, including azole-resistant aspergillosis, L. prolificans, and endemic mycoses. In addition, opelconazole is the first broad spectrum triazoles antifungal drug formulated for inhalation. A phase II study of opelconazole in lung transplant recipients is starting and is will likely have a superior safety profile than systemic azole treatment [62].

Chapter 24 - Pulmonary fungal infections in cystic fibrosis

- [1] Pihet M, Carrere J, Cimon B, Chabasse D, Delhaes L, Symoens F, et al. Occurrence and relevance of filamentous fungi in respiratory secretions of patients with cystic fibrosis-a review. Med Mycol. 2009;47:387–97. DOI:10.1080/13693780802609604
- [2] Düesberg U, Wosniok J, Naehrlich L, Eschenhagen P, Schwarz C. Risk factors for respiratory Aspergillus fumigatus in german cystic fibrosis patients and impact on lung function. Sci Rep. 2020;10:18999. DOI:10.1038/ s41598-020-75886-w
- [3] Schwarz C, Bouchara JP, Buzina W, Chrenkova V, Dmeńska H, de la Pedrosa EGG, et al. Organization of patient management and fungal epidemiology in cystic fibrosis. Mycopathologia. 2018;183:7–19. DOI:10.1007/ s11046-017-0205-x
- [4] Singh A, Ralhan A, Schwarz C, Hartl D, Hector A. Fungal pathogens in CF airways: leave or treat? Mycopathologia. 2018;183:119–37. DOI:10.1007/s11046-017-0184-y
- [5] Bouchara JP, Symoens F, Schwarz C, Chaturvedi V. Fungal respiratory infections in cystic fibrosis (CF): recent progress and future research agenda. Mycopathologia. 2018;183:1–5. DOI:10.1007/s11046-017-0241-6
- [6] Schwarz C, Vandeputte P, Rougeron A, Giraud S, Dugé de Bernonville T, Duvaux L, et al. Developing collaborative works for faster progress on fungal respiratory infections in cystic fibrosis. Med Mycol. 2018;56:42–59. DOI:10.1093/mmy/myx106
- [7] Chotirmall SH, McElvaney NG. Fungi in the cystic fibrosis lung: bystanders or pathogens? Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2014;52:161–73. DOI:10.1016/j.biocel.2014.03.001

- [8] Ramirez-Garcia A, Pellon A, Rementeria A, Buldain I, Barreto-Bergter E, Rollin-Pinheiro R, et al. Scedosporium and Lomentospora: an updated overview of underrated opportunists. Med Mycol. 2018;56:S102–25. DOI:10.1093/mmy/myx113
- [9] Bouchara JP, Hsieh HY, Croquefer S, Barton R, Marchais V, Pihet M, et al. Development of an oligonucleotide array for direct detection of fungi in sputum samples from patients with cystic fibrosis. J Clin Microbiol. 2009;47:142–52. DOI:10.1128/jcm.01668-08
- [10] Middleton PG, Chen SC, Meyer W. Fungal infections and treatment in cystic fibrosis. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2013;19:670–5. DOI:10.1097/MCP.0b013e328365ab74
- [11] Roehmel JF, Tintelnot K, Bernhardt A, Seibold M, Staab D, Schwarz C. Arxula adeninivorans causing invasive pulmonary mycosis and fungaemia in cystic fibrosis. Lancet. 2015;385:1476. DOI:10.1016/s0140-6736(15)60260-4
- [12] Zalar P, Novak M, de Hoog GS, Gunde-Cimerman N. Dishwashers--a man-made ecological niche accommodating human opportunistic fungal pathogens. Fungal Biol. 2011;115:997–1007. DOI:10.1016/j.funbio.2011.04.007
- [13] Kusenbach G, Skopnik H, Haase G, Friedrichs F, Döhmen H. Exophiala dermatitidis pneumonia in cystic fibrosis. Eur J Pediatr. 1992;151:344–6. DOI:10.1007/bf02113255
- [14] Haase G, Skopnik H, Kusenbach G. Exophiala dermatitidis infection in cystic fibrosis. Lancet. 1990;336:188–9. DOI:10.1016/0140-6736(90)91721-l
- [15] Hickey PW, Sutton DA, Fothergill AW, Rinaldi MG, Wickes BL, Schmidt HJ, et al. *Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans*, a novel respiratory pathogen in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Clin Microbiol. 2009;47:3091–7. DOI:10.1128/jcm.00460-09

- [16] Hirschi S, Letscher-Bru V, Pottecher J, Lannes B, Jeung MY, Degot T, et al. Disseminated Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans, Aspergillus fumigatus, and Scedosporium apiospermum coinfection after lung and liver transplantation in a cystic fibrosis patient. J Clin Microbiol. 2012;50:4168–70. DOI:10.1128/ jcm.01928-12
- [17] Baxter CG, Dunn G, Jones AM, Webb K, Gore R, Richardson MD, et al. Novel immunologic classification of aspergillosis in adult cystic fibrosis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2013;132:560–6.e10. DOI:10.1016/j. jaci.2013.04.007
- [18] Brandt C, Roehmel J, Rickerts V, Melichar V, Niemann N, Schwarz C. Aspergillus bronchitis in patients with cystic fibrosis. Mycopathologia. 2018;183:61–9. DOI:10.1007/ s11046-017-0190-0
- [19] Shoseyov D, Brownlee KG, Conway SP, Kerem E. Aspergillus bronchitis in cystic fibrosis. Chest. 2006;130:222–6. DOI:10.1378/ chest.130.1.222
- [20] Cohen-Cymberknoh M. Fungal infection and ABPA in CF. Paediatr Respir Rev. 2013;14:S34–
 5. DOI:10.1016/S1526-0542(13)70030-7
- [21] Schwarz C, Hartl D, Eickmeier O, Hector A, Benden C, Durieu I, et al. Progress in definition, prevention and treatment of fungal infections in cystic fibrosis. Mycopathologia. 2018;183:21–32. DOI:10.1007/s11046-017-0182-0
- [22] Schwarz C, Brandt C, Whitaker P, Sutharsan S, Skopnik H, Gartner S, et al. Invasive pulmonary fungal infections in cystic fibrosis. Mycopathologia. 2018;183:33–43. DOI:10.1007/s11046-017-0199-4
- [23] Scheffold A, Schwarz C, Bacher P. Fungus-specific CD4 T cells as specific sensors for identification of pulmonary fungal infections. Mycopathologia. 2018;183:213–26. DOI:10.1007/s11046-017-0229-2

- [24] Bacher P, Steinbach A, Kniemeyer O, Hamprecht A, Assenmacher M, Vehreschild MJ, et al. Fungus-specific CD4(+) T cells for rapid identification of invasive pulmonary mold infection. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;191:348–52. DOI:10.1164/rccm.201407-1235LE
- [25] Schwarz C, Brandt C, Melichar V, Runge C, Heuer E, Sahly H, et al. Combined antifungal therapy is superior to monotherapy in pulmonary scedosporiosis in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2019;18:227–32. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2018.08.012
- [26] Schwarz C, Eschenhagen P, Bouchara JP. Emerging fungal threats in cystic fibrosis. Mycopathologia. 2021;186:639–53. DOI:10.1007/s11046-021-00574-w
- [27] Marchiori E, Zanetti G, Hochhegger B, Irion KL, Carvalho AC, Godoy MC. Reversed halo sign on computed tomography: stateof-the-art review. Lung. 2012;190:389–94. DOI:10.1007/s00408-012-9392-x
- [28] Hussien A, Lin CT. CT findings of fungal pneumonia with emphasis on aspergillosis. Emerg Radiol. 2018;25:685–9. DOI:10.1007/ s10140-018-1621-z
- [29] Bacher P, Scheffold A. Flow-cytometric analysis of rare antigen-specific T cells. Cytometry A. 2013;83:692–701. DOI:10.1002/ cyto.a.22317
- [30] Bacher P, Schink C, Teutschbein J, Kniemeyer O, Assenmacher M, Brakhage AA, et al. Antigen-reactive T cell enrichment for direct, high-resolution analysis of the human naive and memory Th cell repertoire. J Immunol. 2013;190:3967–76. DOI:10.4049/ jimmunol.1202221
- [31] Eschenhagen P, Grehn C, Schwarz C. Prospective evaluation of Aspergillus fumigatus-specific IgG in patients With cystic fibrosis. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2020;10:602836. DOI:10.3389/ fcimb.2020.602836

- [32] Jenks JD, Prattes J, Frank J, Spiess B, Mehta SR, Boch T, et al. Performance of the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid Aspergillus galactomannan lateral flow assay with cube reader for diagnosis of invasive pulmonary aspergillosis: a multicenter cohort study. Clin Infect Dis. 2021;73:e1737–44. DOI:10.1093/ cid/ciaa1281
- [33] Hoenigl M, Egger M, Boyer J, Schulz E, Prattes J, Jenks JD. Serum lateral flow assay with digital reader for the diagnosis of invasive pulmonary aspergillosis: a two-centre mixed cohort study. Mycoses. 2021;64:1197– 202. DOI:10.1111/myc.13352
- [34] Egger M, Penziner S, Dichtl K, Gornicec M, Kriegl L, Krause R, et al. Performance of the euroimmun Aspergillus antigen ELISA for the diagnosis of invasive pulmonary aspergillosis in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid. J Clin Microbiol. 2022;60:e0021522. DOI:10.1128/jcm.00215-22
- [35] Mina S, Staerck C, Marot A, Godon C, Calenda A, Bouchara JP, et al. Scedosporium boydii CatA1 and SODC recombinant proteins, new tools for serodiagnosis of Scedosporium infection of patients with cystic fibrosis. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2017;89:282–7. DOI:10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2017.08.013
- [36] Martin-Souto L, Buldain I, Areitio M, Aparicio-Fernandez L, Antoran A, Bouchara JP, et al. ELISA test for the serological detection of Scedosporium/Lomentospora in cystic fibrosis patients. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2020;10:602089. DOI:10.3389/ fcimb.2020.602089
- [37] Martin-Souto L, Antoran A, Areitio M, Aparicio-Fernandez L, Martin-Gomez MT, Fernandez R, et al. Dot Immunobinding Assay for the Rapid Serodetection of Scedosporium/Lomentospora in Cystic Fibrosis Patients. J Fungi (Basel). 2023;9. DOI:10.3390/ jof9020158

- [38] Emerson J, Rosenfeld M, McNamara S, Ramsey B, Gibson RL. *Pseudomonas aerugino*sa and other predictors of mortality and morbidity in young children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2002;34:91–100. DOI:10.1002/ppul.10127
- [39] Hector A, Kirn T, Ralhan A, Graepler-Mainka U, Berenbrinker S, Riethmueller J, et al. Microbial colonization and lung function in adolescents with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2016;15:340–9. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2016.01.004
- [40] Mousset S, Buchheidt D, Heinz W, Ruhnke M, Cornely OA, Egerer G, et al. Treatment of invasive fungal infections in cancer patients-updated recommendations of the infectious diseases working party (AGIHO) of the German society of hematology and oncology (DGHO). Ann Hematol. 2014;93:13–32. DOI:10.1007/s00277-013-1867-1
- [41] Navarro J, Rainisio M, Harms HK, Hodson ME, Koch C, Mastella G, et al. Factors associated with poor pulmonary function: cross-sectional analysis of data from the ERCF. European epidemiologic registry of cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J. 2001;18:298–305. DOI:10.1183/09031936.01.00068901
- [42] Ruhnke M, Cornely OA, Schmidt-Hieber M, Alakel N, Boell B, Buchheidt D, et al. Treatment of invasive fungal diseases in cancer patients-revised 2019 recommendations of the infectious diseases working party (AGIHO) of the German society of hematology and oncology (DGHO). Mycoses. 2020;63:653–82. DOI:10.1111/myc.13082
- [43] Prigitano A, Esposto MC, Biffi A, De Lorenzis G, Favuzzi V, Koncan R, et al. Triazole resistance in Aspergillus fumigatus isolates from patients with cystic fibrosis in Italy. J Cyst Fibros. 2017;16:64–9. DOI:10.1016/j. jcf.2016.06.006

Chapter 24 - Pulmonary fungal infections in cystic fibrosis

- [44] Risum M, Hare RK, Gertsen JB, Kristensen L, Johansen HK, Helweg-Larsen J, et al. Azole-resistant Aspergillus fumigatus among Danish cystic fibrosis patients: increasing prevalence and dominance of TR(34)/L98H. Front Microbiol. 2020;11:1850. DOI:10.3389/fmicb.2020.01850
- [45] Chotirmall SH. Candida albicans in cystic fibrosis: "opening statements presented, let the trial begin". Pediatr Pulmonol. 2016;51:445–6. DOI:10.1002/ppul.23315
- [46] Hong G, White M, Lechtzin N, West NE, Avery R, Miller H, et al. Fatal disseminated Rasamsonia infection in cystic fibrosis post-lung transplantation. J Cyst Fibros. 2017;16:e3–7. DOI:10.1016/j.jcf.2017.01.005
- [47] Hamprecht A, Morio F, Bader O, Le Pape P, Steinmann J, Dannaoui E. Azole resistance in Aspergillus fumigatus in patients with cystic fibrosis: a matter of concern? Mycopathologia. 2018;183:151–60. DOI:10.1007/ s11046-017-0162-4
- [48] Schwarz C, Thronicke A, Staab D, Tintelnot K. Scedosporium apiospermum: a fungal pathogen causing pneumonia in a patient with cystic fibrosis. JMM Case Rep. 2015;2:e000061. DOI:10.1099/jmmcr.0.000061
- [49] Bentley S, Davies JC, Carr SB, Balfour-Lynn IM. Combination antifungal therapy for Scedosporium species in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2020;55:1993–5. DOI:10.1002/ ppul.24789
- [50] Cuenca-Estrella M, Alastruey-Izquierdo A, Alcazar-Fuoli L, Bernal-Martinez L, Gomez-Lopez A, Buitrago MJ, et al. In vitro activities of 35 double combinations of antifungal agents against Scedosporium apiospermum and Scedosporium prolificans. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2008;52:1136–9. DOI:10.1128/aac.01160-07
- [51] Shah AV, McColley SA, Weil D, Zheng X. Trichosporon mycotoxinivorans infection in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Clin Microbiol. 2014;52:2242–4. DOI:10.1128/jcm.03309-13

- [52] Kröner C, Kappler M, Grimmelt A-C, Laniado G, Würstl B, Griese M. The basidiomycetous yeast trichosporon may cause severe lung exacerbation in cystic fibrosis patients – clinical analysis of trichosporonpositive patients in a munich cohort. BMC Pulm Med. 2013;13:61. DOI:10.1186/1471-2466-13-61
- [53] Yang YL, Liu YW, Chen HT, Tsai MS, Chu WL, Lo HJ. Genotype analysis based on intergenic spacer 1 sequences of *Trichosporon* asahii collected in Taiwan. Med Mycol. 2013;51:880–3. DOI:10.3109/13693786.2013.8 00240
- [54] Agarwal R, Chakrabarti A, Shah A, Gupta D, Meis JF, Guleria R, et al. Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis: review of literature and proposal of new diagnostic and classification criteria. Clin Exp Allergy. 2013;43:850–73. DOI:10.1111/cea.12141
- [55] Viñado C, Girón RM, Ibáñez E, García-Ortega A, Pérez I, Polanco D, et al. Filamentous fungi in the airway of patients with cystic fibrosis: just spectators? Rev Iberoam Micol. 2021;38:168–74. DOI:10.1016/j. riam.2021.03.005
- [56] Mourad A, Perfect JR. Tolerability profile of the current antifungal armoury. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2018;73:i26–32. DOI:10.1093/ jac/dkx446
- [57] Rivosecchi RM, Samanta P, Demehin M, Nguyen MH. Pharmacokinetics of azole antifungals in cystic fibrosis. Mycopathologia. 2018;183:139–50. DOI:10.1007/s11046-017-0189-6
- [58] Van Daele R, Spriet I, Wauters J, Maertens J, Mercier T, Van Hecke S, et al. Antifungal drugs: what brings the future? Med Mycol. 2019;57:S328–43. DOI:10.1093/mmy/myz012
- [59] King JA, Nichols AL, Bentley S, Carr SB, Davies JC. An update on CFTR modulators as new therapies for cystic fibrosis. Paediatr Drugs. 2022;24:321–33. DOI:10.1007/s40272-022-00509-y

Inflammation and infection in cystic fibrosis

[60] Tsai A, Wu SP, Haseltine E, Kumar S, Moskowitz SM, Panorchan P, et al. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling of CFTR modulation in people with cystic fibrosis transitioning from mono or dual regimens to triple-combination elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor. Pulm Ther. 2020;6:275-86.

DOI:10.1007/s41030-020-00124-7 [61] Eschenhagen P, Schwarz C. [Therapy of cystic fibrosis - new drugs give hope]. Dtsch Med Wochenschr. 2020;145:1486-9.

[62] Hoenigl M, Sprute R, Egger M, Arastehfar A, Cornely OA, Krause R, et al. The antifungal pipeline: fosmanogepix, ibrexafungerp, olorofim, opelconazole, and rezafungin. Drugs. 2021;81:1703-29. DOI:10.1007/s40265-

DOI:10.1055/a-1140-3937

021-01611-0

Chapter 24 - Pulmonary fungal infections in cystic fibrosis

Chapter 24 - Pulmonary fungal infections in cystic fibrosis

www.ecfs.eu





©2024 European Cystic Fibrosis Society. All rights reserved. ISBN XXX-3-00-000000-X